Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Bonn

Extension properties of complex analytic objects

by

Sergey Ivashkovich



Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Preprint Series 2013 (15)

Extension properties of complex analytic objects

Sergey Ivashkovich

Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Vivatsgasse 7 53111 Bonn Germany Université de Lille-I UFR de Mathématiques 59655 Villeneuve d'Ascq France

IAPMM National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine 3-b, Naukova Str. 79060 L'viv Ukraine

EXTENSION PROPERTIES OF COMPLEX ANALYTIC OBJECTS

S. IVASHKOVICH

CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Chapter I. Around Theorems of Hartogs, Levi and Schwarz	2
1. Theorems of Hartogs and Levi and their immediate consequences	2
2. Non-standard versions of Levi's theorem	8
3. Schwarz reflection principle and its versions	16
4. Analytic objects and extensions along pseudoconvex exhaustions	18
Chapter II. Analytic Sets and Meromorphic Mappings	23
5. Analytic sets, ramified covers and currents	23
6. Extension properties of holomorphic mappings	28
7. Cycle space associated with a meromorphic mapping	32
8. Meromorphic mappings with values in Kähler spaces	43
9. Pluriclosed metrics and spherical shells	48
Chapter III. Applications	57
10. Coverings of compact complex manifolds	57
11. Sets of normality of families of meromorphic mappings	61
12. Separate analyticity and Rothstein-type theorems	67
13. Vanishing cycles in holomorphic foliations and foliated shells	70
Chapter IV. Holomorphic Bundles and Coherent Analytic Sheaves	79
14. Holomorphic bundles and coherent analytic sheaves	79
15. Levi flat hypersurfaces and roots of holomorphic line bundles	82
16. Thullen-type extension of bundles with constraints on curvature	86
17. Plateau problem, extension from the boundary and fillings	91
18. Appendix I. Placements of Hartogs figures	94
19. Appendix II. Historical notes	97
References	98

Introduction

In this survey we shall try to describe one of the remarkable features of complex analysis and geometry: the phenomenon of analytic continuation. The latter consists in the fact that the objects of study in this discipline, we shall call them *complex analytic objects*, often extend to a larger domain that there was their domain of definition at the beginning. The first and simplest example is the following Bochner-Hartogs extension theorem:

Date: May 16, 2013.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary - 32D15.

Key words and phrases. Analytic object, analytic sheaf, analytic set, analytic continuation, analytic cover, complex Plateau problem, current, meromorphic mapping, singularities, spherical shell.

Supported in part by the grants ANR-10-BLAN-0118 and Labex CEMPI ANR-11-LABX-0007-01.

S. IVASHKOVICH

Let K be a compact in a domain $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \ge 2$, such that $D \setminus K$ is connected. Then every holomorphic function in $D \setminus K$ extends to a holomorphic function in D.

We shall explain in this text that this statement holds true for a great number of various analytic objects. The formal definition of the notion of a complex (and real) analytic object will be postponed to section 4. For the moment it will be sufficient to say that holomorphic and meromorphic functions, mappings, foliations, holomorphic bundles and coherent analytic sheaves are complex analytic objects.

The Table of Contents tells sufficiently about the content of this survey and therefore let us only very briefly outline the main goals of this text. We try to formulate in a possibly best and complete way the main results obtained in the subject since the very beginning at the end of 19th century. But as a rule the proofs of the principal statements will be sketched only in the case when they are not yet described in the monographic literature. The only exception is made for the beginning of Chapter I where the classical results are discussed. In the former case we send the interested reader to the corresponding surveys and books for more details. A specific attention will receive the developments which took place since the appearance of the book of Y.-T. Siu, [Si3], in 1974.

The extension phenomena, being one of the decisive features of complex analytic objects, makes its way accompanied from the very beginning with important applications and motivations. One of the first examples again belongs to F. Hartogs:

Let $f(z_1,...,z_n)$ be a function of $n \ge 2$ complex variables which is separately analytic, i.e., for every fixed n-1 variables f is holomorphic as a function of the remaining one. Then f is holomorphic as a function of n variables.

We pay a specific attention to such king of applications and motivations of extension results as well as formulate some open questions. A short historical note is added at the end of the text.

Acknowledgement. 1. This work in its final part was done during the Authors stay at Max-Planck-Institute für Mathematik, Bonn. I would like to thank this Institution for the hospitality. 2. I would like to express my gratitude to Vsevolod Shevchishin and Alexander Sukhov for the help in presenting sections 3 and 16 of this text.

3. This survey was written for the volume of Russian Mathematical Surveys dedicated to Evgeni M. Chirka on his 70^{th} anniversary. I would like to use this occasion to express to him my gratitude for many useful discussions along several decades and to wish him a long and productive scientific life.

Chapter I. Around Theorems of Hartogs, Levi and Schwarz

1. Theorems of Hartogs and Levi and their immediate consequences

For a positive real number r we denote by $\Delta_r(z_0) = \Delta(z_0, r)$ the disk of radius r in \mathbb{C} centered at z_0 , *i.e.*, $\Delta_r(z_0) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - z_0| < r\}$. Δ_r stands for the disk centered at the origin, Δ for the unit disk. By A_{r_1,r_2} we denote the open annulus of radii $r_1 < r_2$, *i.e.*, $A_{r_1,r_2} := \{z \in \mathbb{C} : r_1 < |z| < r_2\}$. The option $r_1 = 0$ is not excluded and $A_{0,r}$ will be denoted as Δ_r^* , the punctured disk. A ring domain in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} , $n \ge 1$, is defined as $R_{r_1,r_2}^{n+1} := A_{r_1,r_2} \times \Delta^n$, *i.e.*, R_{r_1,r_2}^{n+1} is a product of an annulus and the unit polydisk Δ^n .

1.1. Theorems of Hurwitz and Levi.

Theorem 1.1. (A. Hurwitz, [Hw]). Let f be a holomorphic function in $R_{1-r,1}^2$. Suppose that for some sequence $\{z_{\nu}\}$ of distinct complex numbers converging to zero restrictions $f_{z_{\nu}} := f(\cdot, z_{\nu})$ holomorphically extend from $A_{1-r,1}$ to Δ . Then f holomorphically extends to the bidisk Δ^2 as a function of two variables. The proof goes as follows, see Fig.3(a). Write $f(\lambda, z) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} a_n(z)\lambda^n$, where a_n are holomorphic in Δ . The fact that $f(\cdot, z_{\nu})$ is holomorphic in Δ as a function of λ means that $a_n(z_{\nu}) = 0$ for all negative n. The set $A := \{z \in \Delta : a_n(z) = 0 \quad \forall n = -1, ...\}$ is analytic. Since it contains a converging sequence it is the whole of Δ . I.e., $a_n \equiv 0$ for all n < 0. Therefore f is holomorphic in Δ^2 .

Definition 1.1. A subset $A \subset \Delta^n$ is called *thick at origin* if for any neighborhood $V \ni 0$ the intersection $A \cap V$ is not contained in a proper analytic subset of V.

Theorem 1.2. Let f be a holomorphic function in the ring domain $R_{1-r,1}^{n+1}$. Suppose that for z in some subset $A \subset \Delta^n$, thick at origin, restrictions $f_z := f(\cdot, z)$ holomorphically extend from $A_{1-r,1}$ to Δ . Then f holomorphically extends to Δ^{n+1} as a function of n+1 variables.

Proof is the same as that of Theorem 1.1. Recall that a complex manifold/space X is called Stein if there exists a proper holomorphic imbedding $i: X \to \mathbb{C}^N$ for some N.

Corollary 1.1. Let X be a Stein manifold (or, a reduced Stein space) and let $f : R_{1-r,1}^{n+1} \to X$ be a holomorphic mapping. Suppose that for z in some subset $A \subset \Delta^n$, thick at origin, restrictions $f_z := f(\cdot, z)$ holomorphically extend from $A_{1-r,1}$ to Δ . Then f holomorphically extends to Δ^{n+1} .

Indeed, $i \circ f$ is defined by N holomorphic functions, say $f_1, ..., f_N$. Extending every f_k to Δ^{n+1} by Theorem 1.2 we extend $i \circ f$ to a holomorphic mapping from Δ^{n+1} to \mathbb{C}^N . Its image is contained in i(X) because the last is closed in \mathbb{C}^N . This gives us the extension of f itself.

Recall that a meromorphic function f on a complex manifold/normal space D is defined as locally being a quotient of two holomorphic functions. In more colloquial terms there should exist an open covering $\{D_{\alpha}\}$ of D and $h_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}(D_{\alpha}), g_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}^*(D_{\alpha})$ such that $h_{\alpha}g_{\beta} = h_{\beta}g_{\alpha}$ on $D_{\alpha} \cap D_{\beta}$. Then $f = h_{\alpha}/g_{\alpha}$ on D_{α} . Taking a finer covering one can additionally suppose that for every $x \in D_{\alpha}$ germs of h_{α} and g_{α} are relatively prime in \mathcal{O}_x . Under this assumption we call a point x an *indeterminacy point* of f if $h_{\alpha}(x) = g_{\alpha}(x) = 0$. Observe that the set I_f of *indeterminacy points* of f is analytic of complex codimension ≥ 2 . By P_f denote the divisor of poles of f, by Z_f its divisor of zeroes. Then $I_f = P_f \cap Z_f$.

Before stating the Theorem of Levi about extension of meromorphic functions let us prove a lemma. Let \mathcal{O} be an integral domain and \mathcal{M} be its field of quotients (field of fractions). In our applications \mathcal{O} will be the ring $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$ of holomorphic functions in the unit disk and then $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(\Delta)$ will be the field of meromorphic functions in Δ .

Lemma 1.1. A formal power series

$$F(\lambda) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{-1} a_n \lambda^n \in \mathcal{O}[[\lambda]]$$
(1.1)

represents a rational function $\frac{P(\lambda)}{Q(\lambda)}$ with $P, Q \in \mathcal{O}[\lambda]$ and $\deg Q \leq N$ if and only if

$$\begin{vmatrix} a_{-n_1} & a_{-n_2} & \dots & a_{-n_{N+1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ a_{-n_1-N} & a_{-n_2-N} & \dots & a_{-n_{N+1}-N} \end{vmatrix} = 0$$
(1.2)

for all (N+1)-tuples $n_1 < ... < n_{N+1}$.

Proof. Indeed, we look for a non-zero polynomial $Q(\lambda) = c_0 + c_1 \lambda + ... + c_N \lambda^N$ with coefficients in \mathcal{O} such that $F \cdot P \in \mathcal{O}[\lambda]$. But this condition means that for every $k \ge 1$ one should have

$$a_{-k}c_0 + \dots + a_{-k-N}c_N = 0. (1.3)$$

The last means that vectors $b_k := (a_{-k}, a_{-k-1}, ..., a_{-k-N}), k \in \mathbb{N}$ belong to the hyperplane with equation (1.3) in the \mathcal{M} -linear space \mathcal{M}^{N+1} . The latter means that every N+1 of them are linearly dependent, and this is precisely what tells the condition (1.2).

Theorem 1.3. (E. Levi, [Lv]). Let f be a meromorphic function in $R^2_{1-r,1}$. Suppose that for some sequence $\{z_{\nu}\}$ of distinct complex numbers converging to zero restrictions $f_{z_{\nu}} := f(\cdot, z_{\nu})$ meromorphically extend from $A_{1-r,1}$ to Δ and that the number of poles counted with multiplicities of these extensions is uniformly bounded. Then f meromorphically extends to the bidisk Δ^2 as a function of two variables.

Proof. If $f \equiv \infty$ there is nothing to prove. If $f \not\equiv \infty$ but $f(\cdot, 0) \equiv \infty$ we can multiply it by z^d with an appropriate d. This will not change the number of poles of $f(\cdot, z_{\nu})$ for $z_{\nu} \neq 0$ and we can suppose that $f(\cdot, 0) \not\equiv \infty$. Remark that the positive part $f^+(\lambda, z) := \sum_{n \geq 0} a_n(z)\lambda^n$ of the Laurent expansion of f is already holomorphic in the bidisk. Our task therefore is to extend $f^-(\lambda, z) := \sum_{n < 0} a_n(z)\lambda^n$. By Lemma 1.1 applied to the ring \mathbb{C} the extendability of $f^-(\lambda, z_{\nu})$ to the disk together with the condition on poles means that for $a_n = a_n(z_{\nu})$ the determinants (1.2) vanish. Therefore they vanish identically as functions of z. And therefore, again by Lemma 1.1 but this time applied to the ring $\mathcal{O}(\Delta)$, we have that $f^-(\lambda, z)$ is rational over the field $\mathcal{M}(\Delta)$. I.e., is meromorphic in Δ^2 .

Example 1.1. The condition on uniform boundedness of poles in Levi's theorem cannot be removed. Take a sequence of polynomials $P_n(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} (z-1/j)$ and consider the following function

$$f(\lambda, z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{P_n(z)}{n!} \frac{1}{\lambda^n}.$$

f is holomorphic in $\mathbb{C}^* \times \mathbb{C}$ and for every $z_{\nu} = \frac{1}{\nu}$ its restriction to $\Delta \times \{z_{\nu}\}$ writes as

$$f(\lambda, z_{\nu}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\nu} \frac{P_n(z_{\nu})}{n!} \frac{1}{\lambda^n}.$$

It is meromorphic and has a pole at origin of multiplicity ν . But for every $z \notin \{1, ..., \frac{1}{\nu}, ...\}$ the restriction $f(\cdot, z)$ has essential singularity at zero, *i.e.*, f is not extendable meromorphically to a neighborhood of the origin as a function of two variables.

Theorem of Levi extends with the same proof to the case of several variables. In the following theorem by saying that $f(\cdot, z)$ is well defined we mean that $A_{1-r,1} \times \{z\} \not\subset I_f$.

Theorem 1.4. Let f be a meromorphic function in the ring domain $R_{1-r,1}^{n+1}$. Suppose that for z in some subset $A \subset \Delta^n$ thick at origin restrictions $f_z := f(\cdot, z)$ are well defined, meromorphically extend from $A_{1-r,1}$ to Δ and the number of poles counted with multiplicities of these extensions is uniformly bounded. Then f extends to Δ^{n+1} as a meromorphic function of n+1 variables.

Remark 1.1. In applications one usually refers to theorems above in a less precise form asking, for example, that $f(\cdot, z)$ extends to Δ for z in some non-empty open subset U of Δ^n . Or, that this U is not contained in a countable union of locally closed proper analytic subsets of Δ^n . Under these (and analogous) assumptions it is straightforward to deduce the existence of such $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $A \subset \Delta^n$ thick at some point that $f(\cdot, z)$ extends to Δ with the number of poles bounded by N for $z \in A$.

1.2. Theorem of Hartogs, globalizations. A typical example of the situation described in Remark 1.1 is the Hartogs-type extension statement, the so called *Hartogs' Lemma*. It is explained on the Fig.1(a). We call a Hartogs figure in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} , $n \ge 1$, the following domain

$$H_r^{n+1} := \left(A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^n\right) \bigcup \left(\Delta \times \Delta_r^n\right) = R_{1-r,1}^{n+1} \cup \left(\Delta \times \Delta_r^n\right).$$
(1.4)

Here Δ_r^n stands for the polydisk of radius r > 0 in \mathbb{C}^n . As we just explained every holomorphic/meromorphic function in H_r^{n+1} extends to a holomorphic/meromorphic function in Δ^{n+1} . And one more variation. Let $\varphi : \overline{\Delta} \to \Delta^n$ be a holomorphic mapping continuous up to the boundary. Denote by C its graph in Δ^{n+1} . Let V_r^{n+1} be a domain in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} which contains the ring domain $R_{1-r,1}^{n+1}$ plus a neighborhood of the graph C, a "curved" Hartogs figure, see Fig. Theorems of Hartogs and Levi and their immediate consequences



FIGURE 1. Fig.(a) shows the standard Hartogs figure, Fig.(b) a "curved" one. It should be underlined that both cases (a) and (b) were treated in [Ht2]. Fig.(c) explains how Hartogs thought about the Fig.(a) himself: function in question was supposed to be holomorphic in $B \times K$ plus in a neighborhood of ∂B times B'.

1(b). Then every function holomorphic in V_r^{n+1} holomorphically extends to Δ^{n+1} . The simplest way to prove this is to develop f into Taylor series with center at $(\lambda, \varphi(\lambda))$ and observe that for $|\lambda| \sim 1$ the radius of convergence (in z direction) is big. This gives an estimate for the coefficients of the Taylor series, and this estimate is preserved along the graph C by the maximum principle. To make the things easier remark that we can suppose f to be bounded. Let us state these results as a theorem.

Theorem 1.5. (Hartogs' Lemma, F. Hartogs, [Ht2]). Every holomorphic function in H_r^{n+1} or V_r^{n+1} extends to a holomorphic function in the unit polydisk Δ^{n+1} .

The same holds for meromorphic functions too, it follows from the theorem above via the Corollary 1.4 below. The following theorem in the case of holomorphic functions is also stated in [Ht2]. The first rigorous proof, using the Green formula, was given by S. Bochner in [Bo] both for holomorphic and meromorphic cases.

Theorem 1.6. (Bochner-Hartogs). Let D be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and $K \in D$ a compact in D such that $D \setminus K$ is connected. Then every holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) function in $D \setminus K$ extends to a holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) function in D.

Let $\rho(z) = ||z||^2$ be the Euclidean distance function in \mathbb{C}^n . Fix $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small. Consider the set $T \subset \mathbb{R}^+$ of t-s such that the theorem holds for every compact $K \subseteq D$ with connected complement satisfying

 $i) K \subset \{\rho < t\};$

ii) $K \subset D_{\delta} := \{z \in D : \operatorname{dist}(z, \partial D) \ge \delta\}.$

T is obviously closed and contains a neighborhood of zero. Indeed, if $0 \notin D$ there is nothing to prove. If $0 \in D$ then for t > 0 small enough K can be removed by just one Hartogs figure.



FIGURE 2. Fig.(a): if $t \leq t_1$ there is nothing to prove, if our compact K is contained in $\{\rho < t_2 + \varepsilon\} \cap D_{\delta}$ then the bump $K \setminus \{\rho < t_2\}$ can removed by appropriately placed Hartogs figures over the level set $\{\rho = t_2 + \varepsilon\}$. For $t = t_3$ no new problems appear, and for $t = t_3 + \varepsilon$ the newly appeared peace of $D_{\delta} \cap \{\rho < t_3 + \varepsilon\}$ on the left can be again easily removed by Hartogs figures. But if one tries to extend a function along a family of slices as on Fig.(b), there L_t approaches L_0 , one might get in trouble with monodromy.

Let us see that T is also open. Let $t \in T$, set $\Sigma_t := D \cap \{\rho = t\}$. One obviously finds an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for every $x \in \Sigma_t$, dist $(x, \partial D) \ge \delta$, there exists an imbedding $i : \Delta^n \to D$ with the property that $i(H_r^n) \subset D \setminus \{\rho > t + \varepsilon\}$ and $i(\Delta^n) \ni x$. Now let K be a compact in $D \cap \{\rho < t + \varepsilon\}$. Using the bumping explained above one extends any holomorphic/meromorphic function from $D \setminus K$ to $(D \cap \{\rho < t\}) \setminus \tilde{K}$. Here \tilde{K} is equal to K minus corresponding polydisks (a finite number of them, in fact). The complement to \tilde{K} is the union of the complement to K and these polydisks, therefore it is also connected. Theorem follows by taking $\delta \to 0$.

Remark 1.2. A nice proof of the holomorphic case of this theorem, following ideas of L. Ehrenpreis from [Eh], can be found in [Ho1]. Many more other approaches are spread over the literature. We gave here the proof "by bumping" for the following two reasons. First: this way makes possible to get the needed statement reasonably simply and directly from the Hartogs' Lemma. Second: this method works not only for functions but also for other analytic objects and will be repeatedly used along this survey.

1.3. Relation to the Levi and Poincaré problems. Recall that a Riemann domain (D,p) over a complex manifold X is called *locally pseudoconvex over a point* $z \in X$ if there exists a Stein neighborhood $U \ni z$ such that all connected components of $p^{-1}(U)$ are Stein. (D,p) is called locally pseudoconvex over X if it is locally pseudoconvex over every point of X.

Theorem 1.7. (Docquier-Grauert, [DG]). Let (D,p) be a Riemann domain over a Stein manifold X of dimension $n \ge 2$. If every holomorphic imbedding $h: H_r^n \to D$ extends to a holomorphic immersion $\hat{h}: \Delta^n \to D$ then D is a Stein manifold.

As an obvious corollary from this criterion one gets one theorem of K. Stein: a regular cover of a Stein manifold is Stein itself. Recall that the locally pseudoconvex envelope of a Riemann domain (D,p) over a complex manifold X is the smallest locally pseudoconvex domain over X containing (D,p). Denote it as (\hat{D},\hat{p}) .

Corollary 1.2. Let (D,p) be a domain over a complex manifold X. Then every holomorphic/meromorphic function on D extends to a holomorphic/meromorphic function \hat{f} on \hat{D} .

For the proof of this corollary let us recall the construction of the pseudoconvex envelope first. Let \mathcal{P} denote the set of pseudoconvex domains over X which contain (D,p). This \mathcal{P} is non-empty, it contains (X,Id) , and possesses a natural pre-order: $(R_1,p_1) \leq (R_2,p_2)$ if there exists a local homeomorphism $\varphi : R_1 \to R_2$ commuting with projections. In this case we say actually that (R_2,p_2) contains (R_1,p_1) . This pre-order is directed in the sense that for any given $(R_1,p_1), (R_2,p_2) \in \mathcal{P}$ there exists (R_3,p_3) such that $(R_3,p_3) \leq (R_1,p_1)$ and $(R_3,p_3) \leq (R_2,p_2)$. Such (R_3,p_3) can be constructed as a fiber product of (R_1,p_1) with (R_2,p_2) over X: $R_1 \times_X R_2 := \{(x_1,x_2) \in R_1 \times R_2 : \mathsf{pr}_1(x_1) = p_2(x_2)\}$. This product with a natural projection to X is obviously locally pseudoconvex over X and is smaller than both of (R_1,p_1) and (R_2,p_2) . The smallest element of \mathcal{P} is our locally pseudoconvex envelope (\hat{D},\hat{p}) of (D,p). Now let a holomorphic/meromorphic function f on D be given. Its domain of existence, see the Cartan-Thullen construction in Theorem 4.1, must be necessarily locally pseudoconvex over X by Hartogs (resp. Levi) theorem and Docquier-Grauert criterium. Therefore it contains the pseudoconvex envelope (\hat{D},\hat{p}) of (D,p). Corollary follows. In the particular case when X is a Stein manifold the pseudoconvex envelope is actually the envelope of holomorphy.

Corollary 1.3. Let (D,p) be a domain over a Stein manifold X and let (\hat{D},\hat{p}) be its envelope of holomorphy. Then every meromorphic function extends to a meromorphic function \hat{f} on (\hat{D},\hat{p}) .

This gives the solution of the Poincaré problem for domains in Stein manifolds:

Corollary 1.4. Let D be a domain in a Stein manifold, then every meromorphic function in D can be represented as a quotient of two holomorphic ones.

Indeed, by Corollary 1.3 our meromorphic function f can be extended to a meromorphic function \hat{f} on the envelope of holomorphy \hat{D} of D. \hat{D} is Stein and therefore we can apply

Theorem A of Cartan to the sheaf of ideals \mathcal{J}_P of holomorphic functions vanishing along the divisor of poles P of \hat{f} . In particular we can find a global section g of this sheaf, *i.e.*, a holomorphic function on \hat{D} vanishing along P with multiplicities not less than those of \hat{f} . Then $g\hat{f}$ is holomorphic. Corollary is proved.

1.4. Levi and Riemann theorems on complex spaces. All complex spaces in this text are supposed to be reduced, Hausdorff and countable at infinity.

Remark 1.3. Normality, if needed, will be required each time separately. One of the equivalent definitions of normality says that bounded holomorphic functions extend across proper analytic sets, *i.e.*, the Riemann extension theorem holds true on such spaces. This obviously implies that on normal space holomorphic functions extend across analytic sets of codimension two (without the assumption of boundedness). Let us state the Riemann theorem in a slightly more general form.

Theorem 1.8. Let A be a proper analytic subset of a normal complex space X and f an L^2 bounded holomorphic function on $X \setminus A$. Then f extends to a holomorphic function on X.

Extension of f across $A \setminus \text{Sing } X$, after the application of the Fubini theorem, reduces to a simple one-dimensional argument. Extension across Sing X goes due to the supposed normality of X. Now let us state one more frequently used version of Levi's theorem.

Corollary 1.5. Let A an analytic subset of codimension ≥ 2 of a reduced, normal complex space X. Then every meromorphic function on $X \setminus A$ extends to a meromorphic function on X.

Let f be our function. The problem is local, therefore we can suppose that there exists an analytic cover $\mathbf{c} : X \to \Delta^n$, see subsection 5.2, $n = \dim X$. Let d be the order of \mathbf{c} . We can suppose that $\pi(A)$ is contained in the ramification divisor \mathcal{R} of \mathbf{c} . Indeed, $A \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ (here $\tilde{\mathcal{R}} := \mathbf{c}^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$ stands for the branching divisor of \mathbf{c}), is obviously removable by Theorem 1.4. Let $a_1(z), ..., a_d(z)$ be the elementary symmetric functions of the branches of f at \mathbf{c} -preimages of z. They are well defined and meromorphic on $\Delta^n \setminus \mathcal{R}$. Take any point $z \in \mathcal{R} \setminus \pi(A \cup I_f)$. Then for some neighborhood U of z either f or 1/f is holomorphic in $\pi^{-1}(U)$. In the former case symmetric functions $a_1(z), ..., a_d(z)$ are obviously bounded in $U \setminus \mathcal{R}$ and by Riemann theorem holomorphically extend to U. In the latter case one proves meromorphicity of $a_1(z), ..., a_d(z)$ using holomorphicity of 1/f plus obvious algebraic manipulation. Therefore our symmetric functions meromorphically extend to $\Delta^n \setminus \pi(A \cup I_f)$ and, since the last is of codimension at least two, again by Theorem 1.4 all a_j extend to Δ^n . Denote by $w = [w_0 : w_1]$ homogeneous coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 and consider the following analytic set in $\Delta^n \times \mathbb{P}^1$

$$\Gamma' := \{(z,w) : w_1^d + a_1(z)w_1^{d-1}w_0 + \dots + a_d(z)w_0^d = 0\}.$$
(1.5)

Denote by Γ the irreducible component of the fiber product $X \times_{\Delta^n} \Gamma'$ which contains the graph of f over $X \setminus A$. Γ will be the graph of the desired extension of f to X.

1.5. Separate analyticity and domains of convergence. W. Osgood proved in [Os1] that a *bounded* separately holomorphic function in the bidisk is holomorphic. The proof was achieved by reducing the problem to the case of continuous functions by the means of Schwarz lemma. In his remarkable paper [Ht1] F. Hartogs removed the condition of boundedness in Osgood's theorem and obtained his famous *separate analyticity theorem*.

Theorem 1.9. (*F. Hartogs*, [Ht1]). Let $f : \Delta^p \times \Delta^q \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function of two (vector) complex variables defined in the unit polydisk Δ^{p+q} , $p,q \ge 1$. Suppose that for every $z_1 \in \Delta^p$ the function $f(z_1, \cdot)$ is holomorphic in Δ^q and the same for every $z_2 \in \Delta^q$. Then f is holomorphic in Δ^{p+q} .

A version stated in the Introduction is clearly equivalent to this one. The proof can be found in any text book on several complex variables and will be not reproduced here. Let us only say that in modern texts Theorem 1.9 is deduced from Hartogs' Lemma 1.5 and Osgood's theorem. This was not the way of Hartogs (in fact [Ht1] precedes [Ht2]). His proof is closer in spirit to

the proof of the following highly non-trivial generalization of Theorem 1.9, which is due to J. Siciak. For the elements of pluripotential theory see subsection 5.3.

Theorem 1.10. (J. Siciak, [Sc]). Let E and F be a non-pluripolar compacts in Δ^p and Δ^q respectively and let $f: E \times F \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function such that $f(z_1, \cdot)$ is holomorphic in Δ^q for every $z_1 \in E$, and the same for every $z_2 \in F$. Then f holomorphically extends to a neighborhood of $E^* \times F^*$, where E^* (resp. F^*) is the set of pluriregular points of E (resp. of F).

We shall treat the separate analyticity properties of meromorphic mappings with values in general complex spaces in section 12 and Theorem 1.10 will play a key role there. The envelope of holomorphy of $E^* \times F^*$ (to which f from Theorem 1.10, in fact, extends) is explicitly described in [Sc], see Corollary 12.2 in subsection 12.2. For the proof of this result we refer to [JP].

Already in the paper of Cartan and Thullen, see [CT], questions about domains of existence of holomorphic/meromorphic functions were considered together with properties of domains of their convergence/normality. The following statement in the holomorphic case follows immediately from the maximum principle.

Proposition 1.1. Let X be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and let $\{f_k\}$ be a sequence of holomorphic/meromorphic functions in X. Denote by D the maximal open subset of X such that $\{f_k\}$ converge on compacts of D. Then D is pseudoconvex.

Remark 1.4. The case of meromorphic functions is much more delicate. It is, probably, sufficient to say that it is not obvious what does the convergence of meromorphic functions mean. This will be discussed in section 11, see Corollary 11.3 there.

1.6. Singularities. One more remarkable result of Hartogs is the following theorem.

Theorem 1.11. (F. Hartogs, [Ht3]). Let S be a non-empty closed subset of the unit polydisk Δ^{n+1} such that $S \subset \Delta^n \times \Delta_{1-\varepsilon}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$ and such that there exists a natural k such that for every $z' \in \Delta^n$ the set $S_{z'} := S \cap \Delta_{z'}$ consists of not more than k points. If there exists a holomorphic function f in $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus S$ such that f doesn't extend to a neighborhood of any point of S then S is an analytic subset of Δ^{n+1} .

One also has the same statements with f being meromorphic. Indeed, by Corollary 1.4 we can represent f = g/h where g, h are holomorphic in $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus S$. Now S must be singular for both g and h. This theorem of Hartogs was generalized by Oka. Recall that a closed subset $S \subset \Delta^{n+1}$ is called pseudoconcave if $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus S$ is a domain of holomorphy.

Theorem 1.12. (K. Oka, [Ok]). Let S be a pseudoconcave subset of the unit polydisk Δ^{n+1} such that $S \subset \Delta^n \times \Delta_{1-\varepsilon}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Set

$$\mathcal{S} := \{ z \in \Delta^n : S_z := (\{z\} \times \Delta) \cap S \text{ consists of a finite number of points } \}.$$

If S is not pluripolar then S is a complex hypersurface in Δ^{n+1} .

For the proof and more statements of such type we refer to the book of Nishino [Ni].

2. Non-standard versions of Levi's Theorem

In this section we shall give a few non standard versions of the Levi's extension theorem.

2.1. A non-linear version: formulation and example. Let a sequence of holomorphic functions $\{\varphi_k : \Delta_{1+r} \to \Delta\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be given such that φ_k converge uniformly on Δ_{1+r} to some $\varphi_0 : \Delta_{1+r} \to \Delta$. We say that such sequence is a *test sequence* if $(\varphi_k - \varphi_0)|_{\partial \Delta}$ doesn't vanish for $k \gg 0$ and

$$\operatorname{VarArg}_{\partial\Delta}(\varphi_k - \varphi_0)$$
 stays bounded when $k \to +\infty$. (2.1)

Denote by C_k the graph of φ_k in $\Delta_{1+r} \times \Delta$, by C_0 the graph of φ_0 . Let f be a meromorphic function in the ring domain $R^2_{1-r,1+r}$. Suppose that for every k the restriction $f|_{C_k \cap R^2_{1-r,1+r}}$

extends to a meromorphic function on the curve C_k and that the number of poles counting with multiplicities of these extensions is uniformly bounded.

Theorem 2.1. There exists an analytic family of holomorphic graphs $\{C_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$, parameterized by a Banach ball \mathcal{A} of infinite dimension, such that:

- i) $f|_{C_{\alpha} \cap R^2_{1-r,1+r}}$ extends to a meromorphic function on C_{α} for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ and the number of poles counting with multiplicities of these extensions is uniformly bounded.
- ii) Moreover, f meromorphically extends as a function of two variables (λ,z) to the pinched domain P := Int (U_{α∈A}C_α) swept by C_α.



FIGURE 3. Fig. (a) illustrates horizontal disks in Theorems 1.1 and 1.3, and Fig. (b) the non-linear version of Theorem 2.1. The brighter dashed zone on this picture represents the ring domain $R_{1-r,1+r}^2$ and curves are the graphs C_{α} . Around C_{α_0} , the graph of $\varphi_0 = \varphi_{\alpha_0}$, the analytic family $\{C_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ fills in an another (darker) dashed zone, a pinched domain \mathcal{P} . On this picture there is exactly one pinch, the point at which most of graphs intersect.

Let us discuss the notions of a *pinched domain* and *analytic family*, which appear in the context of Theorem 2.1. By an *analytic family* of holomorphic mappings from Δ to Δ we understand the quadruple $(\mathcal{X}, \pi, \mathcal{A}, \Phi)$ where:

- \mathcal{X} is a complex manifold, which is either of finite dimension or a Banach one;
- a holomorphic submersion $\pi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{A}$, where \mathcal{A} is a positive dimensional complex (Banach) manifold such that for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ the preimage $\mathcal{X}_{\alpha} := \pi^{-1}(\alpha)$ is a disk;
- a holomorphic map $\Phi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{C}^2$ of generic rank 2 such that for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ the image $\Phi(\mathcal{X}_\alpha) = C_\alpha$ is a graph of a holomorphic function $\varphi_\alpha : \Delta \to \Delta$. We write $\varphi(\lambda, \alpha) := \varphi_\alpha(\lambda)$.

In our applications \mathcal{A} will be always a neighborhood of some α_0 and without loss of generally we may assume for convenience that $\varphi_{\alpha_0} \equiv 0$, *i.e.*, that $C_{\alpha_0} = \Delta \times \{0\}$. When \mathcal{A} is a onedimensional disk we say that our family is a *complex one-parameter* analytic family. Denote as $\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ the image $\Phi(\mathcal{X})$, where $(\mathcal{X},\pi,\Delta,\Phi)$ is some complex one-parameter analytic family of complex disks in Δ^2 . Point λ_0 such that $\varphi(\lambda_0,\alpha) \equiv 0$ as a function of α we call **a** pinch of $\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ and say that $\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ has a pinch at λ_0 . Let us describe the shape of $\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ near a pinch λ_0 . Since $\varphi(\lambda_0,\alpha) \equiv 0$ we can divide it by $(\lambda - \lambda_0)^{l_0}$ with some (taken to be maximal) $l_0 \ge 1$. I.e., in a neighborhood of $(\lambda_0,\alpha_0) \in \Delta \times \mathcal{A}$ we can write

$$\varphi(\lambda,\alpha) = (\lambda - \lambda_0)^{l_0} \varphi_1(\lambda,\alpha), \qquad (2.2)$$

where $\varphi_1(\lambda_0, \alpha) \not\equiv 0$. Set

$$\Phi_1: (\lambda, \alpha) \to (\lambda, \varphi_1(\lambda, \alpha)). \tag{2.3}$$

The image of Φ_1 contains a bidisk $\Delta_r^2(\lambda_0, 0)$ of some radius r > 0 centered at $(\lambda_0, 0)$. Therefore with some constant c > 0 one has

$$\bar{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi} \supset \Delta_r^2(\lambda_0, 0) \cap \{ |z| < c |\lambda - \lambda_0|^{l_0} \}.$$

$$(2.4)$$

Definition 2.1. A pinched domain is an open neighborhood \mathcal{P} of $\overline{\Delta} \setminus \Lambda$, where Λ is a finite set of points in Δ , such that in a neighborhood of every $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$ domain \mathcal{P} contains

$$\Delta_r^2(\lambda_0, 0) \cap \{ |z| < c |\lambda - \lambda_0|^{t_0} \} \setminus \{ (\lambda_0, 0) \}.$$
(2.5)

We shall call l_0 the order of the pinch λ_0 . After shrinking Δ (in λ -variable) if necessary, we can suppose that a domain $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ which corresponds to a complex one-parameter analytic family $(\mathcal{X}, \pi, \mathcal{A}, \Phi)$ has only finite number of pinches, say at $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_N$ of orders $l_1, ..., l_N$ respectively, and therefore $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi} := \overline{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi} \setminus \{\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_N\}$ is a pinched domain. Remark that $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_{\mathcal{X},\Phi}$ obviously contains every curve in a neighborhood \mathcal{B} of $\varphi_0 \equiv 0$ of the following subspace of finite codimension

$$\{\varphi \in \operatorname{Hol}(\Delta, \Delta) : \operatorname{ord}_{0}(\varphi, \lambda_{j}) \geqslant l_{j}\} \subset \operatorname{Hol}(\Delta, \Delta).$$

$$(2.6)$$

Remark 2.1. Therefore, let us make the following precisions: our pinched domains will be always supposed to have only finitely many pinches and moreover, these pinches *do not belong* to the corresponding pinched domain *by definition*. At that point it will be sufficient for us to remark that, as it is not difficult to see, the extension along one-parameter analytic families is equivalent to that of along of infinite dimensional ones, and both imply the extension to pinched domains. See [Iv12] for more details.

Example 2.1. Without the condition (2.1) on the sequence $\{\varphi_k\}$ the theorem fails to be true. Let the function f be defined by the following series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 3^{-4n^3} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left[z - \left(\frac{2}{3}\lambda\right)^j \right] \lambda^{-n^2} z^n.$$
(2.7)

Then f is holomorphic in the ring domain $R := \mathbb{C}^* \times \mathbb{C}$, holomorphically extends along every $C_k := \{z = \left(\frac{2}{3}\lambda\right)^k\}$, but there doesn't exist an analytic family $\{\varphi_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ parameterized by a disk $\mathcal{A} \ni 0$, $\varphi_0 \equiv 0$, such that $f|_{C_\alpha \cap (\mathbb{C}^* \times \mathbb{C})}$ meromorphically extends to C_α for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$. The sequence $\varphi_k(\lambda) = \left(\frac{2}{3}\lambda\right)^k$ here converge to $\varphi_0 \equiv 0$ and is not a test sequence. See [Iv12] for more details.

Definition 2.2. Let's say that our functions $\{\varphi_k\}$ or, corresponding graphs $\{C_k\}$, are in general position if for every point $\lambda_0 \in \Delta$ there exists a subsequence $\{\varphi_{k_p}\}$ such that zeroes of $\varphi_{k_p} - \varphi_0$ do not accumulate to λ_0 .

Theorem 2.1 implies the following *non-linear* Levi-type extension theorem:

Corollary 2.1. If under the conditions of Theorem 2.1 curves $\{C_k\}$ are in general position then f extends to a meromorphic function in the bidisk $\Delta_{1+r} \times \Delta$.

Remark 2.2. a) Let us explain the condition of the general position. Take the sequence $C_k = \{z = \frac{1}{k}\lambda\}$ in \mathbb{C}^2 . Then the function $f(\lambda, z) = e^{\frac{z}{\lambda}}$ is holomorphic in $R := \mathbb{C}^* \times \mathbb{C}$ and extends holomorphically onto every curve C_k . But it is not holomorphic (even not meromorphic) on \mathbb{C}^2 . It is also holomorphic when restricted to any curve $C = \{z = \varphi(\lambda)\}$ provided $\varphi(0) = 0$. Therefore the subspace H_0 of $\varphi \in \text{Hol}(\Delta_{1+r}, \Delta)$ such that f extends along the corresponding curve is of codimension one. In fact this is the general case: the Banach ball \mathcal{A} in Theorem 2.1 appears as a neighborhood of the limit point α_0 in the subspace of finite codimension of a well chosen Banach space of holomorphic functions.

b) In order to prove Corollary 2.1 remark that pinches that appeared along the proof of Theorem 2.1 are limits of zeroes of φ_k . General condition assumption means that for every $\lambda_0 \in \Delta$ we can take a subsequence such that the resulting pinched domain will not have a pinch in λ_0 . The rest follows.

2.2. Finite dimensional families. Let us discuss the *finite dimensional* case in Theorem 2.1 first, *i.e.*, when φ_k ad hoc belong to some finite dimensional family \mathcal{A} , ex. family of lines or quadrics. In that case the proof is rather straightforward. To see this denote by $L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ the Sobolev space of complex valued functions on the unit circle having their first derivative in L^2 . This is a complex Hilbert space with the scalar product $(h,g) = \int_0^{2\pi} [h(e^{i\theta})\overline{g}(e^{i\theta}) + h'(e^{i\theta})\overline{g}'(e^{i\theta})]d\theta$. Recall that by Sobolev Imbedding Theorem $L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1) \subset C^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{S}^1)$, where $C^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ is the space of Hölder $\frac{1}{2}$ - continuous functions on \mathbb{S}^1 . Denote by $H^{1,2}_+(\mathbb{S}^1)$ the subspace of $L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ which consists from functions holomorphically extendable to the unit disk Δ . By $H^{1,2}_-(\mathbb{S}^1)$ denote the subspace of functions holomorphically extendable to the complement of the unit disk in the Riemann sphere \mathbb{P}^1 and zero at infinity. Observe the following orthogonal decomposition

$$L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1) = H^{1,2}_+(\mathbb{S}^1) \oplus H^{1,2}_-(\mathbb{S}^1).$$
(2.8)

We shall consider only the holomorphic case. After shrinking, if necessary, we can suppose that our function f is holomorphic in a neighborhood of $\bar{R}^2_{1-r,1}$. Consider the following analytic mapping $F: L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1) \to L^{1,2}(\mathbb{S}^1)$

$$F:\varphi(\lambda) \to f(\lambda,\varphi(\lambda)), \tag{2.9}$$

and consider also the following integral operator $\mathcal{F}: H^{1,2}_+(\mathbb{S}^1) \to H^{1,2}_-(\mathbb{S}^1)$

$$\mathcal{F}(\varphi)(\lambda) = \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} \frac{f(\zeta, \varphi(\zeta)) - f(\lambda, \varphi(\lambda))}{\zeta - \lambda} d\zeta.$$
(2.10)

From the well known facts about the Hilbert transform, see §3 in [Iv12] for example, we get that $f(\lambda, \varphi(\lambda))$ extends to a holomorphic function in Δ_{1+r} if and only if $\mathcal{F}(\varphi) = 0$. Therefore we are interested in the zero set \mathcal{A}^0 of a holomorphic map $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to H^{1,2}_{-}(\mathbb{S}^1)$. But the zero set \mathcal{A}^0 of a holomorphic maping from a finite dimensional manifold is an analytic set. Since this set contains a converging sequence $\{\alpha_k\}$ it has positive dimension and therefore contains a complex disk through α_0 .

Remark 2.3. a) If C_k are intersections of $\Delta_{1+r} \times \Delta$ with algebraic curves of bounded degree, then they are included in a finite dimensional analytic (even algebraic in this case) family.

b) If $\varphi_k(\partial \Delta) \subset M$, where *M* is totally real in $\partial \Delta \times \overline{\Delta}$, and have bounded Maslov index then they are included in a finite dimensional analytic family.

c) If we do not suppose *ad hoc* that φ_k belong to some finite dimensional analytic family of holomorphic functions then the argument above is clearly not sufficient. The (well known) problem here is that a Banach (or, even Hilbert) analytic set has no *a priori* any analytic structure. The following simple example is very instructive. Take the following holomorphic map $\mathcal{F}: l^2 \to l^2 \oplus l^2$

$$\mathcal{F}: \{z_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \to \{\{z_k(z_k - 1/k)\} \oplus \{z_k z_j\}_{j > k}\}.$$
(2.11)

The zero set of \mathcal{F} is a sequence $\{Z_k = (0, ..., 0, 1/k, 0, ...)\}_{k \ge 1} \subset l^2$ together with zero. These Z_k -s might well be ours φ_k -s and therefore we cannot conclude the existence of families in the zero set of our \mathcal{F} from (2.10) at this stage. Example 2.1 has precisely the feature just explained.

d) Let us remark that if $\{\varphi_k\}$ are taken from a finite dimensional family then they form a test sequence (for a generic choice of r), but in general a test sequence doesn't belong to any finite dimensional family. Take for example $\varphi_k(\lambda) = \frac{1}{k}\lambda^2 + e^{-k}\lambda^k$.

2.3. Sketch of the proof of Theorem 2.1. Let us explain the main lines of the proof of Theorem 2.1 in the general case. In the notations of the proof of Theorem 1.3 we can suppose that $\varphi_0 \equiv 0$, $f = f^-$ and the last is holomorphic in $A_{1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon} \times \Delta_{1+2\varepsilon}$. For $|\lambda| \sim 1$ the Taylor expansion of f writes as

$$f(\lambda, z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{\partial^n f(\lambda, 0)}{\partial z^n} z^n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n(\lambda) z^n, \qquad (2.12)$$

and we have the estimates

$$|A_n(\lambda)| = \frac{1}{n!} \left| \frac{\partial^n f(\lambda, 0)}{\partial z^n} \right| \leqslant \frac{C}{(1+\varepsilon)^n},$$
(2.13)

for some constant C, all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and all $\lambda \in \mathbb{S}^1 := \partial \Delta$. Under the assumptions of the Theorem we see that meromorphic extensions $f_k(\lambda)$ of $f(\lambda, \varphi_k(\lambda))$ have uniformly bounded number of poles counted with multiplicities. As well as the numbers of zeroes of φ_k are uniformly bounded too. Up to taking a subsequence we can suppose that:

a) The number of poles of f_k -s, counted with multiplicities, is constant, say M, and these poles converge to the finite set $b_1, ..., b_M \in \Delta_{1-\varepsilon}$ with corresponding multiplicities, *i.e.*, some of $b_1, ..., b_M$ may coincide.

b) The number of zeroes of φ_k , counted with multiplicities, is also constant, say N and these zeroes converge to a finite set $a_1, ..., a_N$ with corresponding multiplicities.

Step 1. For every k take a Blaschke product P_k having zeroes exactly at poles of f_k with corresponding multiplicities and subtract from $\{P_k\}$ a converging subsequence with the limit

$$P_0(\lambda) = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \frac{\lambda - b_i}{1 - \bar{b}_i \lambda}.$$
(2.14)

Holomorphic functions $g_k := P_k f_k$ have uniformly bounded modulus on Δ and converge to some g_0 , which is bounded with modulus by C (a constant from (2.13)). Therefore f_k converge on compacts of $\Delta \setminus \{b_1, ..., b_M\}$ to a meromorphic function, which is nothing but A_0 , and it satisfies the estimate

$$|A_0(\lambda)| \leqslant \frac{CC_1}{|\lambda - b_1| \dots |\lambda - b_M|},\tag{2.15}$$

where $C_1 = \max\{\prod_{i=1}^M |1 - \bar{b}_i \lambda| : |\lambda| \leq 1\}.$

Step 2. Repeating the same argument one gets the estimate

$$|A_1(\lambda)| \leqslant \frac{1}{|\lambda - a_1| \dots |\lambda - a_N| |\lambda - b_1| |\lambda - b_N|} \cdot \frac{CC_1 C_2}{1 + \varepsilon}$$
(2.16)

for $\lambda \in \Delta \setminus \{a_1, ..., a_N, b_1, ..., b_M\}$. Here $C_2 = \max\{\prod_{i=1}^N |1 - \bar{a}_i \lambda| : |\lambda| \leq 1\}$. Step 3. By induction one proves that A_n extends to a meromorphic function in Δ with the estimate

$$|A_n(\lambda)| \leqslant \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^N |\lambda - a_j|^n \prod_{j=1}^M |\lambda - b_j|} \cdot \frac{C'}{(1+\varepsilon)^n}$$
(2.17)

for $\lambda \in \Delta \setminus \{a_1, ..., a_N, b_1, ..., b_M\}$. Remark that (2.17) means, in particular, that $A_0, ..., A_n$ have no other poles than $a_1, ..., b_N$ with corresponding multiplicities.

Estimate (2.17) implies that (2.12) converges in the domain

$$\{(\lambda, z) \in \Delta^2 : |z| < c|\lambda - a_{j_1}|^{l_1} \dots |\lambda - a_{N_1}|^{l_{N_1}}\} \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^M \{\lambda = b_i\},$$
(2.18)

for an appropriately chosen c > 0. Here N_1 is the number of *different* a_j -s, which are denoted as $a_{j_1}, ..., a_{N_1}$ having corresponding multiplicities $l_1, ..., l_{N_1}$. In particular we mean here that b_i are different from a_{j_1} for all i, j_1 . Estimate (2.17) implies also that the extension of $f \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{M} (\lambda - b_j)$ to (2.18) is locally bounded near every vertical disk $\{\lambda = b_{i_1}\}$ and therefore extends across it by Riemann extension theorem. We conclude that f extends as a meromorphic function to the pinched domain

$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ (\lambda, z) \in \Delta^2 : |z| < c |\lambda - a_{j_1}|^{l_1} \dots |\lambda - a_{N_1}|^{l_{N_1}} \right\},$$
(2.19)

and this proves the part (i) of Theorem 2.1. For the rest we refer to [Iv12].

2.4. A "generalized Hartogs' Lemma". Let us give one more non-standard version of the Levi's extension theorem. It turns out that the statement of Hartogs theorem given on Fig. 1(b) remains true when φ is not necessarily holomorphic. Let $\varphi : \Delta_{1+r} \to \Delta$ be a continuous function with graph C. And let V be a domain which contains $R^2_{1-r,1+r}$ plus a neighborhood of C.

Theorem 2.2. (E. Chirka, [Ch3]). Every function meromorphic in V meromorphically extends to Δ^2 .

This theorem follows from a more general one. Recall that a symplectic form on a real manifold X is a closed 2-form ω which is non-degenerate at any point on X. In this case X has even dimension, $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(X) = 2n$, and ω^n is a volume form on X. Our principle example of symplectic forms are Kähler forms on complex manifolds. Let (X, ω) be a symplectic manifold. A real two-manifold $M \subset X$ is called ω -positive if $\omega|_M$ never vanish. By $c_1(X)$ denote the first Chern class of X, it is uniquely determined by the symplectic structure ω . By $c_1(X)[M]$ denote its value on M. Recall finally that a *rational curve* in a complex manifold X is an image of a non-constant holomorphic map $h: \mathbb{P}^1 \to X$.

Theorem 2.3. Let M be a ω -positive immersed two-sphere in a disk-convex Kähler surface (X,ω) having only positive transversal self-intersections and such that $c_1(X)[M] > 0$. Then for any neighborhood U of M its envelope of meromorphy (\hat{U},π) contains a rational curve C such that $c_1(X)[C] > 0$.

For the notion of disk-convexity see subsection 6.3. For the moment it is sufficient to note that every compact complex manifold is disk-convex. In some cases like $X = \mathbb{P}^2$ this C is symplectically isotopic to M. More precisely we mean that there exists an isotopy $\{M_t\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ of ω -positive surfaces with transversal self-intersections such that $M_0 = M$ and $M_1 = C$. But in general this is not always the case.

Example 2.2. For $k \ge 1$ denote by H_k the projectivization of the bundle $E_k = \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(-k) \to \mathbb{P}^1$. H_k are called Hirzebruch surfaces. Denote by E_0 the exceptional curve in H_k and by F a fiber. Note that $E_0^2 = -k, F^2 = 0$ and $E_0 \cdot F = 1$. Let C be a smooth, irreducible complex curve in H_k which is not E_0 . Then $C = nE_0 + mF$ in homology. We have that $0 \le C \cdot E_0 = -kn + m$, and therefore $m \ge kn$. Therefore $C^2 = -n^2k + 2nm \ge 2n^2k - n^2k = n^2k$. Now take k = 3 and take $E_0 \cup F_{z_1} \cup F_{z_2}$, *i.e.*, the union of E_0 with two distinct fibers. Changing intersections by handles near points z_1 and z_2 we obtain an imbedded symplectic sphere M with $M^2 = 1$. This M is not isotopic to any smooth rational curve C, because for such C we should have either $C^2 \ge 3$ or $C^2 = 0$ and not $C^2 = M^2 = 1$.

Let us explain how Theorem 2.2 follows from Theorem 2.3. As it was explained at the beginning of the proof of Theorem 1.3 we can suppose that f is holomorphic in $A_{1-r,1+r} \times \Delta$ and $f = f^-$, *i.e.*, f is holomorphic on $(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \overline{\Delta}_{1-r}) \times \Delta$. Graph of φ can be obviously extended to a continuous graph M over \mathbb{P}^1 , and, after perturbing M, we find that f is meromorphic in a neighborhood of a *smooth* sphere M, which is homologous to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{pt\}$ in $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1 =: X$. Therefore $c_1(X)[M] = 2$. Making dilatations along second coordinate we can make M to be \mathcal{C}^1 -close to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{pt\}$ and therefore symplectic. Result follows now from Theorem 2.3.

Example 2.3. Let $(X, \omega) = (\mathbb{P}^2, \omega_{FS})$ be the complex projective plane with the Fubini-Study form and let $M \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ be and imbedded symplectic sphere, therefore $\delta = 0$. Recall that the first Chern class $c_1(\mathbb{P}^2)$ is represented by $3\omega_{FS}$. Therefore

$$c_1(\mathbb{P}^2)[M] = \int\limits_M c_1(\mathbb{P}^2) = 3 \int\limits_M \omega_{FS} > 0,$$

i.e., we find ourselves under the assumptions of Theorem 2.3 and conclude that for every neighborhood $U \subset M$ its envelope of meromorphy \hat{U} contains an imbedded rational curve C. Since $\mathbb{P}^2 \setminus C$ is affine and, in particular, Stein we see that $\hat{U} = \mathbb{P}^2$. In particular every function meromorphic in a neighborhood of such M is rational.

Example 2.4. Let X be a ball in \mathbb{C}^2 , ω the standard Euclidean form. Blow up the origin in \mathbb{C}^2 and denote by E the exceptional curve. By \hat{X} denote the blown-up ball X. \hat{X} is also Kähler, denote by ω_0 some Kähler form there. Consider a sufficiently small \mathcal{C}^1 -perturbation of E. This will be a ω_0 -symplectic sphere in \hat{X} , denote it by M. Chern class of the normal bundle to M is equal to that of for E and therefore is -1. So $c_1(\hat{X})[M] = 1$ and Theorem 2.3 applies. We got the following result.

Corollary 2.2. The envelope of meromorphy of any neighborhood of M contains E.

One can then blow down the picture to obtain downstairs a sphere M_1 the image of M under the blown-down map. This M_1 is homologous to zero, so cannot be symplectic, and for this M_1 our Theorem 2.3 cannot be applied.

Remark 2.4. Condition $c_1(X)[M] > 0$ in the Theorem 2.3 cannot be dropped. In [Nm1] Nemirovski, using results of Eliashberg-Harlamov and Forstneric, [F], showed that any imbedded complex curve C with $c_1(X)[M] \leq 0$ can be perturbed to an imbedded surface M which has a basis of Stein neighborhoods.

2.5. Sketch of the proof of Theorem 2.3. Now let us give a sketch of the proof of Theorem 2.3. It will crucially use the Gromov's theory of pseudoholomorphic curves. An almost complex structure on a real manifold X is a smooth section J of End(TX) such that $J^2 \equiv -\text{Id}$. J is said to be tamed by a symplectic form ω if $\omega(v, Jv) > 0$ for every non-zero $v \in TX$. Let (S, j) be a complex curve, here j stands for a complex structure on S. A J-holomorphic map is a \mathcal{C}^1 -map $u: (S, j) \to (X, J)$ such that du commutes with the almost complex structures, $du \circ j = J \circ du$. Its image M = u(S) is called a J-complex curve or a J-complex sphere if $(S, j) = \mathbb{P}^1$.

Step 1: Deformation of structures. Let U be a given neighborhood of M. Fix some other neighborhood U_1 of M which is relatively compact in U. Using ω -positivity of M we construct a smooth family $\{J_t\}_{t\in[0,1]}$ of almost complex structures on X satisfying the following properties:

- a) J_0 is the given integrable structure on X.
- b) For any $t \in [0,1]$ one has $\{x \in X : J_t(x) \neq J_0(x)\} \subseteq U_1$.
- c) M is J_1 -holomorphic.
- d) All $\{J_t\}$ are tamed by our Kähler form ω .

Denote by (\hat{U},π) the envelope of meromorphy of U. We lift then structures J_t to (\hat{U},π) in the following way. Having the natural imbedding $i: U \hookrightarrow \hat{U}$ we define the lift \hat{J}_t by setting $\hat{J}_t|_{i(U)} := i_*J_t$ and extend \hat{J}_t outside i(U) as given integrable structure J_0 on \hat{U} . Again, \hat{J}_t differs from J_0 only in $i(U_1)$. With some ambiguity of notations we denote \hat{J}_t still as J_t . $i(U_1)$ and i(U) will be identified with U_1 and U in the sequel.

Step 2: Deformation of M as a pseudoholomorphic curve. We construct a "semi-continuous" family of reduced J_t -complex curves $M_t \subset \hat{U}$ such that:

a) $M_1 = M$.

b) Each M_t is a union of its components, $M_t = \bigcup_i M_{t,i}$, and each component $M_{t,i}$ is a J_t complex sphere eventually with singularities. Further, each component $M_{t,i}$ is defined with
its multiplicity $m_{t,i} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each t one has $[M_t] = \sum_i m_{t,i} \cdot [M_{t,i}]$ in homology. In
particular, for each t there exists a component M_{t,i_0} satisfying

$$c_1(X)[M_{t,i_0}] > 0. (2.20)$$

c) There are finitely many "critical values" $t_1^* = 1 > t_2^* > \cdots > t_m^* = 0$ such in each subinterval $(t_{j+1}^*, t_j^*]$ the number of the components $M_{t,i}$, their homology classes $[M_{t,i}]$ and their multiplicities $m_{t,i}$ remain constant.

Remark 2.5. Semi-continuity of the family $\{M_t\}_{t\in[0,1]}$ means more precisely the following. M_t converges to $M_{t_k^*}$ when $t \searrow t_k^*$ in the sense described below. But then only those components of $M_{t_k^*}$ are subject to further deformation which satisfy (2.20).

Step 3: Kontinuitätssatz. Note that $\Sigma_t = M_t \setminus U_1$ is a complex curve in \hat{U} with boundary on ∂U_1 , and $\Sigma_1 = \emptyset$. Therefore by an appropriate version of the "continuity principle" Σ_t and therefore M_t stay in \hat{U} . But M_0 is holomorphic and satisfies $c_1(X)[X][M_0] > 0$ by Step 2. This finishes the proof.

Let us make few extended remarks with some more indications for the proofs of these steps. The first step of the proof is a simple topological fact. Steps 2 and 3 turn to be quite technical. Step 2 has two ingredients: a piece of Fredholm theory in moduli space of pseudoholomorphic curves and Gromov compactness theorem.

Remark 2.6. Fredholm theory. This part is quite far from the main lines of this survey and we shall not stop on it, see however §2 in [IS3] for detailed proof. Let us just formulate the final statement. For a given symplectic manifold (X, ω) we denote by \mathcal{J}_{ω} the space of ω -tamed $\mathcal{C}^{k,\alpha}$ -smooth almost complex structures on X. Further, in the case when (X, ω) is a Kähler manifold and $U \subset X$ an open set we denote by \mathcal{J}_0 the (integrable) complex structure on X and by $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(U)$ the subspace of those $J \in \mathcal{J}_{\omega}$ which coincide with \mathcal{J}_0 outside U. It is well-known that both \mathcal{J}_{ω} and $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}(U)$ are contractible Banach manifolds.

Theorem 2.4. a) Let (X, ω) be a complex Kähler surface, $U \subset X$ an open set, $[M] \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ a homology class representable by a sphere. Then for a generic path $h : [0,1] \to \mathcal{J}_{\omega}(U)$ for every $t \in [0,1]$ the structure $J_t := h(t)$ is regular and the moduli space \mathcal{M}_{J_t} of J_t -complex spheres in [M] is a smooth manifold of expected dimension.

b) If for such a path h(t) and some value $t_0 \in [0,1]$ the space $\mathcal{M}_{J_{t_0}}$ is non-empty and contains a J_{t_0} -complex curve $M_0 = u_0(S)$, then for every t sufficiently close to t_0 there exists a J_t -complex curve M = u(S) parameterized by the map $u: S \to X$ close to $u_0: S \to X$.

Let us notice that the both assumptions $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} X = 2$ and $S \cong \mathbb{S}^2$ in this theorem are essential: the assertion is wrong if either $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} X > 2$ or if S is a Riemann surface of higher genus. Further, there is another, hidden condition needed to make Theorem 2.4 meaningful. Namely, we need that one of the spaces \mathcal{M}_{J_t} is non-empty. Since this space has expected dimension $2 \cdot (c_1(X)[M] - 1)$, it must be non-negative. This explains the origin of the condition $c_1(X)[M] > 0$ in Theorem 2.3.

The meaning of Theorem 2.4 is that the set of t-s in [0,1] for which we can construct spheres M_t is open. Now we need to prove that it is also closed. To perform this second part of Step 2 and then Step 3 we need to recall the language, which was used in [IS2] to state the Gromov compactness theorem. Let us make this very briefly.

Remark 2.7. Stable topology in Gromov compactness theorem.

Definition 2.3. A stable curve over an almost-complex manifold (X, J) is a pair (C, u), where C is a connected complex nodal curve, possibly with boundary $\partial C = \bigcup_{i=1}^{d} \gamma_i$, and $u: C \to X$ is a J-holomorphic map which satisfies the following conditions:

- 1) if C_j is an irreducible component of C biholomorphic to \mathbb{P}^1 and $u(C_j) = \{point\}$, then C_j contains at least three nodes of C;
- 2) if C_j is a torus and again $u(C_j) = \{point\}$ then C_j contains at least one node of C.

Definition 2.4. A connected, oriented real surface with boundary $(\Sigma, \partial \Sigma)$ parameterizes a complex nodal curve C if there is a continuous map $\sigma : \Sigma \to C$ such that:

- 1) if $a \in C$ is a nodal point then $\gamma_a = \sigma^{-1}(a)$ is a smooth imbedded circle in $\Sigma \setminus \partial \Sigma$, and if $a \neq b$, then $\gamma_a \cap \gamma_b = \emptyset$;
- 2) $\sigma: \Sigma \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} \gamma_{a_i} \to C \setminus \{a_1, \dots, a_N\}$ is a diffeomorphism. Here a_1, \dots, a_N are all the nodes of C.

Let a sequence $\{J_n\}$ of continuous almost complex structures on X be given which uniformly converge to a continuous structure J_{∞} .

Definition 2.5. We say that stable J_n -complex curves (C_n, u_n) converge to a stable J_∞ -complex curve (C_∞, u_∞) in *Gromov topology*, if all C_n and C_∞ are parameterized by the same real surface Σ and there exist parameterizations $\sigma_n : \Sigma \to C_n$ and $\sigma_\infty : \Sigma \to C_\infty$ such that

- i) $u_n \circ \sigma_n$ converges to $u_\infty \circ \sigma_\infty$ in $C^0(\overline{\Sigma}, X)$ -topology;
- ii) if $\{a_i\}$ is the set of nodes of C_{∞} and $\gamma_i := g_{\infty}^{-1}(a_i)$ are the corresponding circles in Σ , then on any compact $K \in \Sigma \setminus \bigcup_i \gamma_i$ the convergence $u_n \circ \sigma_n \longrightarrow u_{\infty} \circ \sigma_{\infty}$ is $L^{2,p}$ -smooth;
- iii) on any compact $K \in \Sigma \setminus \bigcup_i \gamma_i$ the complex structures $\sigma_n^* j_n$ converge to the complex structure $\sigma_\infty^* j_\infty$ in C^∞ -topology.

Here j_n and j_∞ are complex structures on C_n and C_∞ respectively. The following result is the Gromov compactness theorem, see [Gro].

Theorem 2.5. Let (C_n, u_n) be a sequence of stable over X J_n -holomorphic curves such that:

- a) J_n are of class \mathcal{C}^0 and are uniformly converging to $J \in \mathcal{C}^0$;
- b) area $[u_n(C_n)] \leq M$ for all n;
- c) u_n converge near the boundary.

Then there is a subsequence (C_{n_k}, u_{n_k}) which converges to a *J*-holomorphic stable over *X* curve (C_{∞}, u_{∞}) . Moreover, for each boundary component γ there is an imbedding $\varphi_{\infty} : A_r \to C_{\infty}$ such that $u_n \circ \varphi_n \to u_{\infty} \circ \varphi_{\infty} = h_{\infty}$ on A_r .

For more details and proof we refer to [IS4]. This theorem comes out in deformation of curves in Step 2 as follows. Since our J_t -complex curves M_t are compact and symplectic and since they are isotopic on each interval $[t_k^*, t_{k+1}^*)$ we have that

$$\operatorname{area}_{\omega}M_t = \int\limits_{M_t} \omega$$

doesn't change when $t \to t_{k+1}^*$. Therefore Gromov compactness theorem gives us that M_t converges to some $M_{t_{k+1}^*}$ which is $J_{t_{k+1}^*}$ -complex but may be reducible.

Discussion of the details on the continuity principle, *i.e.*, the step 3, we shall postpone till section 8, where a more general statement will naturally come out.

3. Schwarz reflection principle and its versions

3.1. Reflection of functions and varieties from totally real submanifolds. The formulation of the classical Reflection principle of H. A. Schwarz [Sw1] can be found in any text book on complex analysis. It obtained further developments along different lines. Let us start with a slight variation of it. Consider a real analytic totally real submanifold $W \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Without loss of generality we may suppose that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} W = n$. One can find local holomorphic coordinates in a neighborhood of a given point $p \in W$ such that $W = \mathbb{R}^n$ in these coordinates. Denote by Δ the unit disc in \mathbb{C} , by **S** the unit circle. Let $\beta \subset \mathbf{S}$ be a non-empty open subarc of **S**. Let $u : \Delta \to \mathbb{C}^n$ be a holomorphic mapping continuous up to β and such that $u(\beta) \subset W$. Now the Schwarz Reflection Principle applies and we get that u holomorphically extends to some neighborhood V of β by reflection:

$$u(\zeta) := \begin{cases} u(\zeta) \text{ for } \zeta \in \bar{\Delta} \cap V, \\ \bar{u}(1/\bar{\zeta}) \text{ for } \zeta \in V \setminus \Delta. \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

It turns out that an analogous statements holds true also in non-integrable case.

Theorem 3.1. Let (X, J) be a real analytic almost complex manifold and W a real analytic J-totally real submanifold of X. Let $u : \Delta \to X$ be a J-holomorphic map continuous up to β and such that $u(\beta) \subset W$. Then u extends to a neighborhood of β as a (real analytic) J-holomorphic map.

In this case there is no reflection like (3.1), since a general almost complex structure doesn't admits any local (anti)-holomorphic maps. But the extension result still holds. For the proof of our Reflection Principle of Theorem 3.1, see [IS7], we need to study not only real analytic boundary values but also the smooth ones (with finite smoothness). For the method to work we need the precise regularity and a certain kind of uniqueness of smooth *J*-complex discs attached to a *J*-totally real submanifold. The result obtained is the following

Theorem 3.2. Let $u: (\Delta, \beta) \to (X, W)$ be a *J*-holomorphic map of class $L^{1,2} \cap C^0(\Delta \cup \beta)$, where *W* is *J*-totally real. Then:

- (i) for any integer $k \ge 0$ and real $0 < \alpha < 1$ if $J \in \mathcal{C}^{k,\alpha}$ and $W \in \mathcal{C}^{k+1,\alpha}$ then u is of class $\mathcal{C}^{k+1,\alpha}$ on $\Delta \cup \beta$;
- (ii) for $k \ge 1$ the condition $u \in L^{1,2} \cap C^0(\Delta \cup \beta)$ and $u(\beta) \subset W$ can be replaced by the assumption that $\overline{u(\Delta)}$ is compact and the cluster set $cl(u,\beta)$ is contained in W.

Remark 3.1. If J is of class C^0 and W of C^1 then $u \in C^{\alpha}$ up to β for all $0 < \alpha < 1$. This is proved in [IS5], Lemma 3.1. The rest is done in [IS7].

Let D be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n stable under the conjugation map: $z \to \overline{z}$, and let A be an analytic set in $D \setminus \mathbb{R}^n$ of pure dimension 1. Denote by \overline{A} the image of A under the conjugation.

Theorem 3.3. (H. Alexander, [Ad]). Then intersection of the closure $cl(A \cup \overline{A})$ with D is an analytic set in D.

For the proof we refer to [Ad] and [Si3]. The case dim $A \ge 2$ is simpler and will be explained in section 5. Let us mention few open questions in this concern.

1. Let (X, J) be a real analytic almost complex manifold and W a real analytic J-totally real submanifold of X. Let C^+ be J-complex curve in $X \setminus W$. Does there exists a neighborhood V of W and a J-complex curve C^- in $V \setminus W$ (reflection of C^+) such that $\overline{(C^+ \cup C^-)} \cap V$ is a J-complex curve in V?

2. The following question is a particular case of the previous one. Let C be a J-complex curve in the complement of a point. Will its closure \overline{C} be a J-complex curve?

3.2. Segre varieties and mappings between real analytic hypersurfaces. Another line of developments can be described as follows. The central problem here is the following. Given bounded domains D and D' in \mathbb{C}^n with smooth, real analytic boundaries and let $f: D \to D'$ be a proper holomorphic map (or, even a biholomorphic map). Does f extends to a holomorphic map between open neighborhoods of \overline{D} and $\overline{D'}$? Dimension one case was solved already by Schwarz, it is explained on the Fig.4. If $n \ge 2$ and D, D' are strictly pseudoconvex C. Fefferman in [Fe] proved that a biholomorphic map $f: D \to D'$ smoothly extends to the boundary (for that it is sufficient that ∂D and $\partial D'$ are of class \mathcal{C}^{∞}), and then S. Pinchuk in [Pn] proved, by inventing the reflection in higher dimensions, that the extended f is actually real analytic. The weakly pseudoconvex case for general proper holomorphic mappings was resolved affirmatively in [BR] and [DF]. The general case in dimensions ≥ 3 in the following theorem is still open.

Theorem 3.4. (Diederich-Pinchuk, [DP1].[DP2]). Let $D, D' \in \mathbb{C}^n$ be relatively compact domains in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$, with real analytic boundaries and let $f: D \to D'$ be a proper holomorphic mapping.

i) If n = 2 then f holomorphically extends to a neighborhood of \overline{D} .

ii) If $n \ge 3$ then the same as in (i) holds under an additional assumption that f is continuous up to the boundary.



FIGURE 4. H.A. Schwarz proved in [Sw2, Sw3] that a conformal mapping f between simply connected regions D and D' with real analytic boundaries continuously extends to the boundary and then his reflection principle from [Sw1], applied locally near $p \in \partial D$ and $p' = f(p) \in \partial D'$, gives the affirmative answer to the main problem in dimension one. Continuous extension to the boundary for Jordan boundaries was conjectured by W. Osgood and proved by C. Carathéodory in [Ca].

A *real analytic* hypersurface M in a neighborhood of the origin of \mathbb{C}^n is a level set of a real analytic function ρ in a neighborhood U of zero with nowhere vanishing gradient. I.e., $M = \{z \in U : \rho(z) = 0\}$ and $\nabla \rho(z) \neq 0 \ \forall z \in U$. We shall usually suppose that $0 \in M$ and consider a germ (M, 0). Sometimes it is convenient to consider ρ as a convergent power series in (z, \overline{z}) . A germ (M, 0) is called *real algebraic* if the defining function ρ can be taken to be a polynomial. A germ (M, 0) is called Levi non-degenerate at zero if the Levi form

$$L_{\rho}(0) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 \rho(0)}{\partial z_k \partial \bar{z}_j}\right)_{k,j=1,\dots,n}$$
(3.2)

is non-degenerate. If (M,p) and (M',p') are germs of real hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^n and $\mathbb{C}^{n'}$ respectively then by a germ of a holomorphic mapping $f: (M,p) \to (M',p')$ we understand a germ of a holomorphic mapping $f: (\mathbb{C}^n,p) \to (\mathbb{C}^{n'},p')$ such that $f(M) \subset M'$. Recall that a proper holomorphic correspondence between D and D' is an irreducible analytic subset $\Gamma \subset D \times D'$ such that both projections $\operatorname{pr}_1|_{\Gamma}: \Gamma \to D$ and $\operatorname{pr}_2|_{\Gamma}: \Gamma \to D'$ are finite proper mappings. Now let us state two closely related results.

Theorem 3.5. (S. Webster, [We]). Let $f : (M,0) \to (M',0)$ be a germ of a biholomorphic mapping between the germs of a Levi non-degenerate real algebraic hypersurfaces in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$. Then the graph Γ_f of f is an open subset of a complex affine subvariety of $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^n$.

Theorem 3.6. (*R. Shafikov*, [Sf]). Let *D* and *D'* two relatively compact, smoothly bounded domains in \mathbb{C}^n with real algebraic boundaries. There exists a proper holomorphic correspondence

between D and D' if and only if there exist points $p \in \partial D$ and $p' \in \partial D'$ and a germ of a biholomorphism $f: (M,p) \to (M',p')$.

Remark 3.2. a) These results reduce the problem of global classification of bounded domains with real algebraic boundaries to a local one, and this was solved in [CM], also the real analytic case.

b) Correspondences naturally appear in the context of both theorems. Take, for example,

$$D = \{|z|^2 + |w|^2 < 1\}$$
 and $D' = \{|z'|^2 + |w'|^4 < 1\}$

Mapping $f(z', w') = (z', w'^2)$ is a proper holomorphic mapping from D' to D which is locally biholomorphic on $D' \setminus \{w' = 0\}$. Therefore for any point $p \in D \setminus \{w = 0\}$ a germ of the inverse f^{-1} will be a germ of a biholomorphism between ∂D and $\partial D'$ which extends only to a correspondence. Finally:

Theorem 3.7. (Pinchuk-Sukhov, [PS]). Let (M,0) and (M',0') be the germs of real analytic strictly pseudoconvex hypersurfaces, $n' \leq 2n$, and let $f: (M,0) \to (M',0')$ be a germ of a smooth CR-mapping. Then f holomorphically extends to a neighborhood of the origin.

Recall that a smooth function/mapping $f: M \to \mathbb{C}$ is called CR (*i.e.*, Cauchy-Riemann), if it satisfies the Cauchy-Riemann equation in every complex tangential direction. Wether this statement holds without the assumption $n' \leq 2n$ is still open.

Remark 3.3. The principal tool in the proof of latter three theorems are Segre varieties, introduced by B. Segre in [Sg1] and reintroduced to the subject by S. Webster in [We]. These are germs of complex hypersurfaces

$$Q_{\zeta} := \{ z : \rho(z, \bar{\zeta}) = 0 \}, \tag{3.3}$$

where ρ is a defining function of the germ (M,0). One observes that holomorphic germ $f: (M,0) \to (M',0')$ sends Q_{ζ} to $Q_{f(\zeta)}$. After that one extends f along Segre varieties first and then using "reflection" $\zeta \to Q_{\zeta}$ both in the source and in the target extends the map. We send an interested reader to surveys [BER], [DP3] and [Vit] for much more results on this subject.

4. Analytic objects and extensions along pseudoconvex exhaustions

It will convenient to formalize the notion of a "complex analytic object", as well as state some general properties of these objects.

4.1. Analytic objects and maximal extensions. Let us denote by \mathcal{T}_{lc} the category of *locally connected, Hausdorff* topological spaces and let \mathcal{T}_0 be some subcategory of \mathcal{T}_{lc} . About subcategory \mathcal{T}_0 we shall assume the following: if $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ and if (D, φ) is a domain *over* X then $D \in \mathcal{T}_0$. In our applications \mathcal{T}_0 will be:

- the category of smooth real analytic manifolds \mathcal{R} .
- the category of reduced complex spaces \mathcal{C} .

Recall that a sheaf of sets over $X \in \mathcal{T}_{lc}$ is a triple (\mathcal{S}, π, X) , where \mathcal{S} is a topological space and $\pi : \mathcal{S} \to X$ is a surjective local homeomorphism. By \mathcal{S}_x we denote the stalk of \mathcal{S} at $x \in X$.

Definition 4.1. A category of analytic objects \mathcal{A} over \mathcal{T}_0 is defined by the following data:

A01) for every $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ a sheaf of sets \mathcal{A}^X over X is specified, we write it as $(\mathcal{A}^X, \pi_X, X)$ in more details;

AO2) the family $\{\mathcal{A}^X : X \in \mathcal{T}_0\}$ is coherent in the sense that for every morphism $f : X \to Y$ in \mathcal{T}_0 the inverse image $f^{-1}\mathcal{A}^Y$ is a subsheaf of \mathcal{A}^X .

Recall that the inverse image of a sheaf $(\mathcal{A}^Y, \pi_Y, Y)$ under a continuous map $f: X \to Y$ is the fiber product

 $X \times_Y \mathcal{A}^Y := \{(x, s) \in X \times \mathcal{A}^Y : f(x) = \pi_Y(s)\}$

with a natural projection to X which is obviously a surjective local homeomorphism, *i.e.*, $f^{-1}\mathcal{A}^Y$ is a sheaf. By saying that $f^{-1}\mathcal{A}^Y$ is a subsheaf of \mathcal{A}^X we mean as usually that an inclusion $\iota_f: f^{-1}\mathcal{A}^Y \to \mathcal{A}^X$ is specified. We shall ask from ι the following

AO3) if $f: X \to Y$ is a locally homeomorphic morphism in \mathcal{T}_0 then ι_f is bijective.

With some abuse of notations we shall write simply that $f^{-1}\sigma \in \Gamma(f^{-1}(U), \mathcal{A}^X)$ for $\sigma \in \Gamma(U, \mathcal{A}^Y)$. A good example for the beginning is the category \mathcal{C}_T of continuous mappings with values in some fixed topological space T. I.e., \mathcal{C}_T^X is the sheaf of sets of continuous mappings from X to T. In practice one rather rarely needs to work the whole category \mathcal{A} , but only with the sheaf \mathcal{A}^X for some given X. The last will be called the *sheaf of analytic objects on* X. Sections of \mathcal{A}^X on some open $D \subset X$ will be called simply an *analytic object* on D. We are interested in maximal domains of existence of a given analytic object or, a given family of analytic objects. As it is well known this task requires, in general, to consider analytic objects *over* a given space X. If \mathcal{A}^X is a sheaf of analytic objects on X then via the axioms (AO2) and (AO3) for every domain (D,φ) over X we have the sheaf $\mathcal{A}^D \cong \varphi^{-1}\mathcal{A}^X$ and its global sections will be called analytic objects *over* X, *i.e.*, an analytic object over X is a triple (D,φ,σ) where $(D,\varphi) \to (D',\varphi')$ is called a mapping *over* X if it commutes with projections, *i.e.*, $\varphi' \circ \psi = \varphi$. Such ψ is necessarily a local homeomorphism.

Remark 4.1. Cartan-Thullen construction, [CT]. Denote by I some non-empty set of indices. A family of analytic objects $(D', \varphi', \{\sigma'\}_{i \in I})$ is an extension of the family $(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I})$ if there exists a mapping $\psi : D \to D'$ over X such that for every $i \in I$ one has $\psi^{-1}\sigma'_i = \sigma_i$. Denote by $\mathcal{E}(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I})$ the category of all extensions of $(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I})$ with obvious morphisms between extensions. The final object of this category is called the maximal extension of $(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I})$ and is denotes as $(\hat{D}, \hat{\varphi}, \{\hat{\sigma}_i\}_{i \in I})$. It is easy to see that the maximal extension, if exists, is unique. Indeed, let $(D', \varphi', \{\sigma'_i\}_{i \in I})$ be another maximal extension and let $\hat{\psi} : D \to \hat{D}, \psi' : D \to D'$ be corresponding mappings over X. By maximality there exist $f' : D' \to \hat{D}$ and $\hat{f} : \hat{D} \to D'$ such that $\hat{f} \circ \hat{\psi} = \psi'$ and $f' \circ \psi' = \hat{\psi}$. Take some $x \in D$ and let $y = \psi'(x) \in D'$. Then $f'(y) = (f' \circ \psi')(x) = \hat{\psi}(x)$ and therefore $(\hat{f} \circ f')(y) = (\hat{f} \circ \hat{\psi})(x) = \psi'(x) = y$. I.e., the set of $y \in D'$ such that $(\hat{f} \circ f')(y) = y$ is not empty. This set is obviously open, because both \hat{f} and f' are mappings over X. Finally it is obviously closed. Therefore $f' : D' \to \hat{D}$ is a homeomorphism.

Definition 4.2. We shall say that a category \mathcal{A} of analytic objects possesses the uniqueness property (or, satisfies the uniqueness theorem) if for every connected $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ and any two sections σ_1, σ_2 of \mathcal{A}^X such that $\sigma_1|_V = \sigma_2|_V$ for some non-empty open $V \subset X$ one has $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2$ on X.

Let us point out that if $\sigma_1(x) = \sigma_2(x)$ for some $x \in X$ then they are equal in some neighborhood of x by the very definition of a section of a sheaf. Here one requires more: σ_1 and σ_2 should be equal everywhere. Category C_T of continuous mappings with values in T doesn't satisfy the uniqueness theorem (=uniqueness property). Category of real analytic mappings \mathcal{M}_T with values in a real analytic manifold T is a category over \mathcal{R} which satisfies the uniqueness theorem.

Theorem 4.1. (Cartan-Thullen). Let \mathcal{A} be a category of analytic objects over a category $\mathcal{T}_0 \subset \mathcal{T}_{lc}$. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

- i) for every $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ and every family $(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I})$ of sections of \mathcal{A}^X over X there exists a maximal extension;
- ii) for every $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ every section of \mathcal{A}^X over X admits a maximal extension;
- iii) category A possesses the uniqueness property;
- iv) for every $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ the total space of \mathcal{A}^X is Hausdorff.

Proof. (i) obviously implies (ii). Let us prove that (ii) implies the uniqueness property, *i.e.*, (iii). Let a connected $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$, non-empty open $V \subset X$ and sections $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \Gamma(X, \mathcal{A}^X)$ be such that $\sigma_1|_V = \sigma_2|_V$. By assumption there exists a maximal extension (D, φ, σ) of $(V, \mathsf{ld}, \sigma_1|_V) = (V, \mathsf{ld}, \sigma_2|_V)$. Because of maximality of (D, φ, σ) there exist for i = 1, 2 locally homeomorphic mappings $\psi_i : X \to D$, commuting with projections, such that $\psi_i^{-1}\sigma = \sigma_i$. Connectivity of X obviously implies that $\psi_1 = \psi_2$. Therefore we get that $\sigma_1 = \psi_1^{-1}\sigma = \psi_2^{-1}\sigma = \sigma_2$. Uniqueness property is proved.

Now let us prove that $(i\!i\!i)$ implies (i). Fix some domain (D, φ) over some $X \in \mathcal{T}_0$ and some family $\{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I}$ of sections of \mathcal{A}^X on D. denote by \mathcal{A}_I^X the direct product of I copies of \mathcal{A}^X . The total space of \mathcal{A}_I^X we denote with same letter. The base \mathcal{B}_I of the topology on \mathcal{A}_I^X is defined as follows: for an open $U \subset X$ and a family $\{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I}$ of sections of \mathcal{A}^X on U set $\tilde{U} = \bigcup_{x \in U} \prod_{i \in I} \sigma_i(x)$. To check that \mathcal{B}_I is a base take another open $\tilde{V} = \bigcup_{x \in V} \prod_{i \in I} \tau_i(x)$ such that $\tilde{V} \cap \tilde{U} \neq \emptyset$. This means that there exists $z \in V \cap U$ such that $\sigma_i(z) = \tau_i(z)$ for all $i \in I$. Let $z \in W \subset V \cap U$ be some connected neighborhood of z. By uniqueness property we have that $\sigma_i|_W = \tau_i|_W$. Therefore $\tilde{V} \cap \tilde{U} \supset \tilde{W} := \bigcup_{x \in W} \prod_{i \in I} \sigma_i(x)$.

The natural projection $\pi: \mathcal{A}_I^X \to X$ is locally homeomorphic and $(D, \varphi, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I}))$ is naturally mapped to (\mathcal{A}_I^X, π) , *i.e.*, there exists a locally homeomorphic map $i: D \to \mathcal{A}_I^X$ commuting with projections φ and π . Let \hat{D} be the connected component of i(D) in \mathcal{A}_I^X . It easy to check that $(\hat{D}, \pi|_{\hat{D}})$ is the required maximal extension.

The last item to prove is that the uniqueness property (iii) is equivalent to the separability of the topology on \mathcal{A}^X , *i.e.*, to (iv). Indeed, let $\sigma_1(x) \neq \sigma_2(x)$ for some $x \in X$. Take a connected neighborhood U of x. Then for every $y \in U$ we have that $\sigma_1(y) \neq \sigma_2(y)$ by uniqueness. Vice versa, suppose that uniqueness theorem fails for sections of \mathcal{A}^X , *i.e.*, there exist $\sigma_1 \neq \sigma_2 \in \Gamma(X, \mathcal{A}^X)$ such that $\sigma_1|_V = \sigma_2|_V$ for some open non-empty $V \subset X$. Therefore the set W of $x \in X$ such that $\sigma_1(x) = \sigma_2(x)$ is non-empty and is obviously open. But it is not the whole of X. Take some $y \in \partial W$, *i.e.*, $\sigma_1(y) \neq \sigma_2(y)$ but every neighborhood of y intersects W, where these sections coincide. I.e., \mathcal{A}^X is not Hausdorff. \Box

4.2. Real and complex analytic objects: examples. Let us adopt the following

Definition 4.3. A category of analytic objects over the category \mathcal{R} will be called a category of real analytic objects. A category of analytic objects over the category \mathcal{C} will be called a category complex analytic objects.

Sections of \mathcal{A}^X will be called *real* or *complex* analytic objects on X. For the time being the reader could think about the following couple of examples:

- \mathcal{O}_Y is the category of holomorphic maps with values in a complex space Y, \mathcal{M}_Y stays for the category of meromorphic mappings with values in Y with the usual pull-backs as inverse transforms in both cases. I.e., \mathcal{O}_Y^X (resp. \mathcal{M}_Y^X) is the sheaf of germs of holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) mappings from open subsets of X to Y. These categories do satisfy the uniqueness theorem and therefore for them the maximal extensions do exist.
- The category \mathcal{A} of analytic sets, *i.e.*, \mathcal{A}^X is a sheaf of locally closed analytic sets in X without taking into account multiplicities. Inclusions ι in these examples are obvious.
- The category Coh of coherent analytic sheaves, *i.e.*, Coh^X (or, Coh(X) in standard notations) is the sheaf of sets which elements are coherent analytic sheaves on X. Two sheaves \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 on X are said to be equal, *i.e.*, represent the same element of Coh^X if they are isomorphic. In particular, for a morphism $f: X \to Y$ (*i.e.*, a holomorphic mapping) and a coherent analytic sheaf \mathcal{F} on Y the inclusion is $\iota_f(f^{-1}\mathcal{F}) = \mathcal{O}_X \otimes_{f^{-1}\mathcal{O}_Y} f^{-1}\mathcal{F}$, the so called analytic inverse image, which is coherent if \mathcal{F} was such. Categories \mathcal{A} and Coh do not satisfy the uniqueness theorem and therefore maximal extensions for them in general do not exist.

By a q-concave Hartogs figure in \mathbb{C}^n we shall understand the following domain

$$H_r^{n,q} := A_{1-r,1}^{n-q} \times \Delta^q \cup \Delta^{n-q} \times \Delta_r^q.$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

Here $A_{1-r,1}^q := \Delta^q \setminus \overline{\Delta}_{1-r}^q$ denotes a "generalized annulus" of dimension q. Note that $H_r^{n,n-1} = H_r^n$ in our notations. Correspondingly $H_r^{n,n-q}$ will be called a q-convex Hartogs figure.

Definition 4.4. We say that a category of complex analytic objects \mathcal{A} is a q-Hartogs category (for some $q \ge 1$) if the q-Hartogs-type extension lemma is valid for objects of \mathcal{A} , i.e., if the natural transform, which corresponds to the canonical inclusion $H_r^{n,n-q} \subset \Delta^n$ is surjective for every

n > q and any 0 < r < 1. In other words this means that every analytic object $\sigma \in \Gamma(H_r^{n,n-q},\mathcal{A})$ has an extension $\tilde{\sigma} \in \Gamma(\Delta^n,\mathcal{A})$.

Remark 4.2. a) Category $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ is 1-Hartogs (theorem of Levi), while is *Coh* not. But it has a subcategory of sheaves satisfying the gap-sheaf condition which is 2-Hartogs, see Theorem 14.1. By Theorem 8.1 the category \mathcal{M}_Y for a disk-convex Kähler space Y is 1-Hartogs too.

b) A (singular) holomorphic foliation of codimension d on X is defined by a meromorphic section of the appropriate Grassmann bundle Gr(TX). The products $U \times Gr(T_xX) \equiv Gr(TX)|_U$, where U is a local chart, are projective. Therefore the 1-Hartogs extension works. Involutibility, being an analytic condition, is preserved by extension. Uniqueness condition is also obvious. Therefore the category \mathcal{F}_d of codimension d singular holomorphic foliations is 1-Hartogs and possesses maximal extensions.

c) Roots of holomorphic line bundles do satisfy the 1-Hartogs property but do not satisfy the uniqueness theorem, see section 15.

d) Solutions of a general (*i.e.*, non-holomorphic) elliptic systems do satisfy uniqueness theorem but are not necessarily Hartogs in general. We shall not speak about real analytic objects in this text any more.

e) The interested reader may look to the recent survey [McK] and find out an impressive number of examples of complex analytic objects.

4.3. Extension accross q-concave boundary points. Along our exposition we adopt the following strategy. First, we look to the model situation: whether a given analytic object can be extended from a Hartogs figure $H_r^{n,q}$ of a appropriate concavity to the associated polydisk Δ^n ? Then we use various ways to deduce from such local statement the global ones. Two such methods were already explained: the Docquier-Grauert theorem and bumping. Now we want to discuss one more: extension of analytic objects along the levels of an appropriate exhaustion functions. Let U be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and ρ a real-valued function on U of class \mathcal{C}^2 .

Definition 4.5. Function ρ is called strongly q-convex at $z_0 \in U$ if the Levi form $L_{\rho}(z)$, see (3.2), has at least n-q+1 positive eigenvalues.

We say that ρ is q-convex in U if it is q-convex at every $z \in U$. One is of course interested not with q-convex functions themselves but with their level sets. In the case when $\nabla \rho(z) \neq 0$ one can always take a composition of $h \circ \rho$ with a sufficiently convex growing function h in such a way that $L_{h(\rho)}(z)$ will be positive along $\nabla \rho(z)$. Therefore q-convexity means that there exists at least (n-q) positive eigenvalues which correspond to eigenvectors **tangent** to $\Sigma_0 := \{\rho = 0\}$. Now it is easy to see that if ρ is strongly q-convex at z_0 then one can imbed a polydisk $i : \Delta^n \to U$ in such a way that $z_0 \in i(\Delta^n)$ and $i(H_r^{n,q}) \subset \{\rho > 0\}$. Here $H^{n,q}$ stands for a q-concave Hartogs figure, see (4.1). The same can be done also when z_0 is a **critical** point of ρ , see Appendix I for example. The property of being q-convex doesn't depend on the choice of a coordinate system and therefore can be translated to real functions on complex manifolds. Moreover it is given in such a fashion that strong q-convexity is preserved under the restrictions onto a complex submanifolds, *i.e.*, if ρ is strongly q-convex on X and Y is a complex submanifold of X then $\rho|_Y$ is strongly q-convex on Y. This leads to the following

Definition 4.6. A real-valued function ρ on a complex space X is called strongly q-convex at $x_0 \in X$ if there exists an open neighborhood $U \ni x_0$ and a holomorphic imbedding $h: U \to \tilde{U}$ into an open subset of some \mathbb{C}^n , and a strongly q-convex at $h(x_0)$ function $\tilde{\rho}$ on \tilde{U} such that $\rho = \tilde{\rho} \circ h$.

Let $\rho: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be an continuous exhaustion function, *i.e.*, such that for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$ the lower level set $X_t^- := \{\rho < t\}$ is relatively compact. If such ρ can be taken to be strongly q-convex we call X q-complete. Let D be a domain in a complex space X and $x_0 \in \partial D$. D is said to be q-concave at x_0 if there is a neighborhood $U \supset x_0$ and a strongly q-convex at x_0 function $\rho: U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $D \cap U = \{x \in U : \rho(x) > 0\}$. We are going to discuss few general principles.

GP 1. If the category A of complex analytic objects is an (n-q)-Hartogs category then analytic objects from A tend to extend across the q-concave boundary points.

By saying "tend to extend" we mean simply that this is not always true. If X is smooth at x_0 and the analytic object in question satisfies the uniqueness theorem then GP1 is certainly true. Therefore it holds for holomorphic/meromorphic functions and holomorphic mappings for example. But, as we shall see in section 15, it turns to be wrong for the roots of holomorphic line bundles (they do not satisfy the uniqueness theorem). If X is singular at x_0 then the situation becomes even worse. Let E be a curve in \mathbb{P}^2 of degree 3, *i.e.*, an elliptic curve. Its self-intersection is 9. Blow up 10 points on E to make its self-intersection negative. Then there exists a 1-convex (and therefore disk-convex) neighborhood Y of E which can be blown down to normal space X with one singular point x_0 , the image of E. A holomorphic inclusion $i: X \setminus \{x_0\} \to Y$ doesn't extend to x_0 holomorphically despite of the fact that Y is Kähler and doesn't contain rational curves. The last follows from Lemma 6.1.

GP 2. If analytic objects from \mathcal{A} extend across q-concave boundary points and, in addition, obey an appropriate uniqueness theorem then they extend along q-convex exhaustions.

By an "appropriate" uniqueness theorem we mean for example that if σ_1, σ_2 are two objects from \mathcal{A}^U for some neighborhood U of a q-concave point $x_0 \in \{\rho = 0\}$ such that $\sigma_1|_{\rho>0} = \sigma_2|_{\rho>0}$ then $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2$. See subsection 5.1 about analytic set for a meaningful example of a such situation. Now let $\rho : X \to (a, b)$ is a proper strongly q-convex exhaustion function and suppose our object σ is extended to $X_{t_0}^+ := \{\rho(x) > t_0 \in (a, b)\}$. Applying *GP1* we extend σ locally across every boundary point and then, using uniqueness, we can glue these extensions and obtain the extension of σ to $X_{t_1}^+$ for some $t_1 < t_0$.

GP 3. If analytic objects from \mathcal{A} extend across 1-concave boundary points in dimension q then they extend across (n-q)-concave boundary points in dimension n.

This can be seen by placing Hartogs domains appropriately from the pseudoconcave side, see Appendix I.

4.4. Bumping. Let D be a relatively compact domain in a q-complete complex space X and let K be a compact in D with connected complement.

GP 4. If the category \mathcal{A} of complex analytic objects is (n-q)-Hartogs and satisfies an appropriate uniqueness theorem then every analytic object $\sigma \in \Gamma(D \setminus K, \mathcal{A}^X)$ extends to D.

Remark 4.3. In [Be] it is proved that for every reduced, Hausdorff complex space with countable basis Morse functions are dense in the space of smooth functions. In particular, if X admits a strongly q-convex exhaustion function ρ then it can be always supposed to be Morse and, moreover, that for any $t \in (a,b)$ the level set $\Sigma_t := \{\rho(x) = t\}$ contains at most one critical point. The property to be Morse is local and therefore we can suppose that X is an analytic subset of some domain \tilde{U} in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $X = X^1 \supset X^2 \supset ...$ be the usual stratification of X by the successive singular loci. Connected components S_j^{α} of $X^{\alpha} \setminus X^{\alpha+1}$ are called strata of X. $\{S_j^i\}$ form a locally finite system in \tilde{U} and the boundary ∂S_j^i of each stratum is a disjoin union of lower dimensional strata. If $x \in S_j^{\alpha} \subset \partial S_i^{\beta}$ then $T_x(S_j^{\alpha}, S_i^{\beta})$ is defined to be the set of $\dim S_i^{\beta}$ -dimensional complex planes H through x which are limits of tangent planes $T_y S_i^{\beta}$ when $y \in S_i^{\beta}$ tends to x. A smooth function ρ on \tilde{U} is called a Morse function on X if its restriction to the positive dimensional strata is Morse in the standard sense and if for every $x \in S_j^{\alpha} \subset \partial S_i^{\beta}$ the restriction $d\rho(x)|_H$ doesn't vanish for every $H \in T_x(S_j^{\alpha}, S_i^{\beta})$. Remark that local minima of a Morse function on a complex space are isolated. This is important for bumping method to work. For example one has the following:

Corollary 4.1. Let D be a domain in a (n-1)-complete, normal complex space X and let $K \in D$ be a compact with connected complement. Then every meromorphic function f in $D \setminus K$ extends to a meromorphic function \tilde{f} in D.

Let $p_1, ..., p_M \in X$ be the minima of the exhaustion ρ , *i.e.*, $\rho(x) = 0$ only for $x = p_1, ..., p_M$. Fix some $\delta > 0$ and let S be the set of $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$ such that the assertion holds for compacts in $X_s^- \cap D$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(K, \partial D) > \delta$, here $X_s^- := \{\rho < s\}$. S contains a neighborhood of the origin. Indeed, if $p_1, ..., p_M \notin D$ or, $\operatorname{dist}(p_i, \partial D) < \delta$ there is nothing to prove. Otherwise fix some $p_i \in D$. For s small enough (D, p_i) imbeds to $(\mathbb{C}^N, 0)$. Now extension can be performed along the level sets of $||z||^2$ as an exhaustion function. S is also obviously closed. To see that S is open fix some $s_0 \in S$. Take some $s > s_0$ and cover $\Sigma_s := \{\rho = s\}$ by open sets $\{U_j\}$ such that for every U_j there exists a cover $\pi_j : U_j \to \Delta^n$ as in the Projection Lemma 18.1. Every restriction $f|_{U_j \cap X_s^+}$ extends to a neighborhood of $\Sigma_s \cap U_j$. These extensions are univalent because the eventual ramification divisors do not intersect $\Sigma_s \cap U_j$ and therefore are empty. Moreover, these extensions and coincide one with another due to the uniqueness theorem. I.e., f extends itself to a neighborhood of $\Sigma_s \cap U_j$. For s close enough to s_0 we have that $\Sigma_{s_0} \cap D_{\delta} \subset \bigcup_j U_j$ for some finite collection of j-s, here $D_{\delta} := \{x \in D : \operatorname{dist}(,\partial D) \ge \delta\}$. Now let $K \Subset D_{\delta} \cap X_s$ be our compact. By local extension proved above and once more by uniqueness f uniquely extended to $(D \setminus K) \cup \bigcup_j U_j$. Therefore $s \in S$. Corollary is proved.

Remark 4.4. This Corollary was recently proved in [MP] by a different method. We shall extend this corollary to the case of meromorphic mappings and analytic sets, see Corollaries 5.2 and 9.7.

Chapter II. Analytic Sets and Meromorphic Mappings

5. Analytic sets, ramified covers and currents

5.1. Extension properties of analytic sets. An analytic subset in a complex space X is a closed subset $A \subset X$ such that for every point $a \in A$ there exists a neighborhood $U \ni a$ and a finite number of holomorphic functions $h_1, ..., h_k \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ such that $A = \{z \in U : h_1(z) = ... = h_k(z) = 0\}$. A *locally closed* analytic subset of X is a subset $A \subset X$, which is an analytic subset of some open subset U of X. Let us start with an example of a non-extendable analytic set.

Example 5.1. Take a smooth, closed Jordan curve $\gamma : [0,1] \to \Delta$ which is not real analytic at any of its points. Denote by D^+ the interior and by $D^- = \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \overline{D}^+$ the exterior of γ . Consider the function $r(t) = \sqrt{1 - |\gamma(t)|^2}$. Let g be the solution of the Dirichlet problem on D^- with boundary condition $g|_{\gamma} = \ln r$. Denote by h the harmonic conjugate to g, h is also smooth on \overline{D}^- . Let A' be the graph (z, f(z)) of the holomorphic function $f = \exp(g + ih)$ in \mathbb{C}^2 . It is not difficult to see that A' closes to a complex curve in $\mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}}^4$. Indeed, let $[Z_0 : Z_1 : Z_2]$ be homogeneous coordinates in \mathbb{P}^2 . In the affine chart $\mathbb{C}^2 = U_0 = \{Z_0 \neq 0\}$ take the standard affine coordinates $z_1 = Z_1/Z_0$ and $z_2 = Z_2/Z_0$. We have that $z_2 \to f(0)$ when $z_1 \to \infty$. Therefore in the affine chart $U_1 = \{Z_1 \neq 0\}$ we shall have: $Z_0/Z_1 \to 0$ and $Z_2/Z_1 \to 0$ on A', which means that $A = A' \cup \{0\}$ is an analytic set. We got an analytic subset (a complex curve, in fact) $A \subset \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}}^4$ which closes to a compact surface with boundary $\Gamma(t) = (\gamma(t), r(t))$ on the unit sphere. But since the curve Γ is not real analytic at any of its points our A cannot be extended as an analytic subset to a neighborhood of any point of Γ .

However, if the dimension of an analytic set $A \subset D$ under the extension is bigger than the degree of concavity of the domain D then A extends to a neighborhood of the corresponding concave point of ∂D . As a model domain consider a q-concave Hartogs figure in \mathbb{C}^n defined by (4.1). One has the following

Theorem 5.1. (W. Rothstein, [Rt2]). Let A be a purely (q+1)-dimensional analytic subset of the q-concave Hartogs figure $H_r^{n,q}$, $q \ge 1$. Then A extends uniquely to a purely (q+1)-dimensional analytic subset \tilde{A} of the unit polydisk Δ^n .

Example 5.1 shows that this result is precise. It shows that a complex hypersurface A in Hartogs figure $H_r^n = H_r^{n,n-1}$ doesn't necessary extend to Δ^n , but it does extend to Δ^n from $H_r^{n,n-2}$. The situation with hypersurfaces can be made fairly precise.

Theorem 5.2. (G. Dloussky, [DI]). Let D be a domain in a Stein manifold, \tilde{D} its envelope of holomorphy and let A be a complex hypersurface D. Then the envelope of holomorphy of $D \setminus A$ is either \tilde{D} or, $\tilde{D} \setminus \tilde{A}$, where \tilde{A} is a complex hypersurface extending A.

And more generally:

Theorem 5.3. (E. Chirka, [Ch2]). Let D be a domain in a Stein manifold, D its envelope of holomorphy and A a closed pluripolar subset of D. Then the envelope of holomorphy of $D \setminus A$ is of the form $\tilde{D} \setminus \tilde{A}$, where \tilde{A} is a closed pluripolar (possibly empty) subset of \tilde{D} .

Let us give a corollary from the Rothstein's theorem.

Corollary 5.1. Let D be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n and A an analytic subset of $D \setminus \mathbb{R}^n$ whose every branch has dimension ≥ 2 . Then $\overline{A} \cap D$ is an analytic subset of D.

The proof goes as follows. For every point $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \cap D$ one can put an 1-concave Hartogs figure $H_r^{n,1}$ to $D \setminus \mathbb{R}^n$ in such a way that the associated polydisk will contain x, see Lemma 2.20 in [Si3]. The result follows now from Theorem 5.1. The case of dim A = 1 was considered in section 3. One more result of that type is the following theorem of Thullen-Remmert-Stein.

Theorem 5.4. Let S is an analytic subset in a complex space X of dimension $q \ge 0$ and let G be an open subset of X which contains $X \setminus S$ and intersects each branch of S of dimension q. Let A be a pure q-dimensional analytic subset of G. Then the closure \overline{A} of A is an analytic subset of X.

In the case of analytic sets GP 1 and 2 work due to the appropriate mentioned uniqueness property, see Theorem 8.3 in [ST2] and gives the following.

Theorem 5.5. (W. Rothstein, [Rt2], H. Fujimoto, [Fu1]). Purely (q+1)-dimensional analytic sets extend across q-concave boundary points on reduced complex spaces. Moreover, they extend along q-convex exhaustions.

Local extension follows from Theorem 5.1 together with Projection Lemma 18.1. An important point is that this local extension is unique. After that one can glue the local extensions to obtain the global one. This implies a result in the spirit of Theorem 1.6 for analytic sets.

Corollary 5.2. Let D be a relatively compact domain in a q-complete, reduced complex space X and let K be a compact in D with connected complement. Then every purely (q+1)-dimensional analytic subset of $D \setminus K$ uniquely extends to a purely (q+1)-dimensional analytic subset of D.

The proof goes by bumping similarly to that of Corollary 4.1. We end up with the following two related results.

Theorem 5.6. (E. Bishop, [Bs1]). Let S be an analytic subset in an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let A be an analytic subset of $\Omega \setminus S$ of locally finite volume near S. Then \overline{A} is an analytic subset of Ω .

Denote by B_r the ball of radius r in \mathbb{C}^n centered at the origin. Now one deduces the following.

Theorem 5.7. (W. Stoll, [Stl]). A subvariety X in \mathbb{C}^n of pure dimension $p \ge 0$ is algebraic if and only if there exists a constant C > 0 such that for every $r \gg 0$

$$\operatorname{vol}_{2p}(X \cap B_r) \leqslant Cr^{2p}.$$
(5.1)

Indeed, the condition (5.1) means exactly that X regarded as an analytic set in $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{P}^n \setminus \mathbb{P}^{n-1}$ has bounded volume with respect to the Fubini-Study metric. For more details and proofs of the results mentioned in this subsection we refer to [Ch1] and [Si3].

5.2. Extension of analytic covers. Recall that a *regular cover* is a locally homeomorphic map $\mathbf{c}: \tilde{X} \to X$ between Hausdorff topological spaces such that for every $x_0 \in X$ there exists a neighborhood $U_0 \ni x_0$ such that its preimage $\mathbf{c}^{-1}(U_0)$ is at most countable disjoint union of its connected components U_i and for every i the restriction $\mathbf{c}|_{U_i}: U_i \to U_0$ is a homeomorphism. As it is well known (and obvious) if $\mathbf{c}: \tilde{X} \to X$ is a regular cover then for every path $\gamma: [0,1] \to X$ and every $a \in \tilde{X}$ such that $\mathbf{c}(a) = \gamma(0)$ there exists a unique lift $\tilde{\gamma}$ of γ starting at a, *i.e.*, a path $\tilde{\gamma}: [0,1] \to \tilde{X}$ such that $\tilde{\gamma}(0) = a$ and $(\mathbf{c} \circ \tilde{\gamma})(t) = \gamma(t)$ for all $t \in [0,1]$.

An unramified analytic cover of complex spaces is by definition a regular cover of normal complex spaces. One can consider two different natural notions of extension of unramified covers. Let (\tilde{X}, c_X, X) be an unramified cover over X. One says that it extends to an unramified cover (\tilde{Y}, c_Y, Y) over Y if there exists a holomorphic imbedding $\varphi : X \to Y$ and a holomorphic imbedding/immersion $\Phi : \tilde{X} \to \tilde{Y}$ such that the following diagram

is commutative. Depending on whereas Φ is an *imbedding* or an *immersion* one gets the different notions of the extension of covers.

Example 5.2. Take as $X = \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \mathbb{R}^2$ and as \tilde{X} a *d*-sheeted cover of *X*. It cannot be extended over any point of \mathbb{R}^2 in the first sense because holomorphic functions on this \tilde{X} do not separate points. But it obviously extends to a trivial cover $(\mathbb{C}^2, \mathsf{Id}, \mathbb{C}^2)$ after "gluing the sheets".

Definition 5.1. A ramified analytic cover (or, simply an analytic cover) is a triple (\tilde{X}, c, X) , where

- i) \tilde{X} is a locally compact, Hausdorff topological space, X is a normal complex space;
- ii) $\mathbf{c}: \tilde{X} \to X$ a continuous, surjective, zero-dimensional, proper map for which there exists a negligible subset $\mathcal{R} \subset X$ such that $\mathbf{c}|_{\tilde{X} \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{R}}} : \tilde{X} \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{R}} \to X \setminus \mathcal{R}$ is a finite unramified cover, where $\tilde{\mathcal{R}} := \mathbf{c}^{-1}(\mathcal{R})$;
- iii) and such that $\tilde{X} \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is dense in \tilde{X} and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ doesn't separate \tilde{X} .

Zero-dimensional means that for every $x \in X$ the preimage $c^{-1}(x)$ is discrete. Since c is in addition proper it is a *finite* map. A subset \mathcal{R} of a normal complex space X is called *negligible* if for any neighborhood V of any point of \mathcal{R} every bounded holomorphic function on $V \setminus \mathcal{R}$ holomorphically extends to V. $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ doesn't separate \tilde{X} if for every point $r \in \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ and every connected neighborhood $V \ni r$ the difference $V \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is connected as well. $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is called the *branching divisor* of the cover, and \mathcal{R} the *ramification divisor*. By the well known theorem of Grauert and Remmert one knows that \tilde{X} inherits a unique structure of a normal complex space such that c becomes holomorphic and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ analytic. Therefore, \mathcal{R} and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}$ are indeed divisors. Different proofs of Grauert-Remmert theorem can be found in [GR1], [Ni], also in [NS] and [De]. One can remark that either of the proofs simultaneously proves the removability of codimension two singularities for analytic covers. Therefore we get the following statement, which was our goal.

Proposition 5.1. Let A be a codimension ≥ 2 analytic subset of a normal complex space Y. Then any analytic cover X over $Y \setminus A$ uniquely extends to an analytic cover \tilde{X} over the whole of Y. Moreover X injects to \tilde{X} .

More details on the proof can be found in section 3 of [Iv11], where we follow [De].

Example 5.3. Consider as $X = \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}}^4$ and let $A_1 \subset X$ be an unextendable complex curve constructed in Example 5.1. A_1 cuts the unit sphere by a curve which is a graph of a curve $\gamma_1 \subset \Delta$ on the first coordinate plane, see construction there. Take this γ_1 sufficiently close to $\partial \Delta$. Do the same over the second coordinate plane to get another curve A_2 . $X \setminus (A_1 \cup A_2)$ has homotopy type of \mathbb{C}^* and therefore we can construct a finite cover \tilde{X} of X ramified over $A = A_1 \cup A_2$ of any given degree d. Let **c** be the corresponding projection. $(\tilde{X}, \mathbf{c}, X)$ cannot be extended to any neighborhood of any point of $A \cap \partial \mathbb{B}^4$ because, otherwise its ramification curve A would extend to this neighborhood.

5.3. Elements of pluripotential theory. In order to proceed further we need to recall some generalities on pluripotential theory, for the proofs we mostly refer to [Kl]. Recall that a subset $S \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ is called *locally pluripolar* if for every point $s \in S$ there exists a neighborhood $U \ni s$ and

a plurisubharmonic (psh for short) function u in U, which is not identically equal to $-\infty$, such that

$$S \cap U \subset \{x \in U : u(x) = -\infty\}.$$

S is locally complete pluripolar if in the situation as above $S \cap U = \{z \in U : u(z) = -\infty\}$. By Josefson's theorem, see [K1], every locally pluripolar set is globally pluripolar or, simply, pluripolar. That means that there exists a psh-function $u \not\equiv -\infty$ in \mathbb{C}^n such that $S \subset \{z : u(z) = -\infty\}$. One has also that countable unions of pluripolar sets are pluripolar. Let S be a subset of an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Consider the following class of functions

$$\mathcal{U}(S,\Omega) = \{ u \in \mathcal{P}_+(\Omega) : u | S \ge 1 \},\$$

where by $\mathcal{P}_{+}(\Omega)$ we denote the class of non-negative plurisuperharmonic functions in Ω .

Definition 5.2. The lower regularization w_* of the function

$$w(\zeta, S, \Omega) = \inf\{u(\zeta) : u \in \mathcal{U}(S, \Omega)\}$$

is called a \mathcal{P} -measure of S in Ω , i.e.,

$$w_*(z, S, \Omega) = \liminf_{\zeta \to z} w(\zeta, S, \Omega).$$
(5.3)

Note that w_* is plurisuperharmonic in Ω .

Definition 5.3. A point $s_0 \in \Omega$ is called a *locally regular* point of S if for all $\varepsilon > 0$ one has $w_*(s_0, S \cap \Delta^n(s_0, \varepsilon), \Delta^n(s_0, \varepsilon)) = 1$. We shall also say that S is locally regular at s_0 .

Theorem 5.8. (Two Constants Theorem). Let v be plurisubharmonic in Ω such that $v|_S \leq M_0$ and $v|_{\Omega} \leq M_1$. Then for $z \in \Omega$ one has

$$v \leqslant M_0 \cdot w_*(z) + M_1 \cdot [1 - w_*(z)]. \tag{5.4}$$

Indeed, function $\frac{M_1-v}{M_1-M_0}$ obviously belongs to $\mathcal{U}(S,\Omega)$ and therefore it should be \geq than ω_* . This gives (5.4). We shall repeatedly use the following statement.

Proposition 5.2. Let Ω be a pseudoconvex domain in \mathbb{C}^n . If a subset $S \subset \Omega$ is not locally regular at all its points then S is pluripolar.

In fact the set $\{s \in S : w_*(s) > w(s)\}$ is *negligible* and therefore pluripolar, see [Kl]. The following lemma can be proved by Taylor expansion using (5.4).

Lemma 5.1. Suppose that function f is holomorphic and bounded with modulus by M in $\Delta^n \times \Delta^q_{\varepsilon}$ for some $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. Suppose that for $s \in S \subset \Delta^n$ the restriction $f_s = f(s, \cdot)$ extends holomorphically to Δ^q and that all these extensions are also bounded with modulus by M. If $s_0 \in \Delta^n$ is a locally regular point of S then for every 0 < R < 1 there exists r > 0 such that f holomorphically extends to $\Delta^n(s_0, r) \times \Delta^q(R)$ and is bounded with modulus by $\frac{2M}{(1-R)^q}$ there.

Denote by (z_1, z_2) the coordinates in $\mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}^q$ and write

$$f(z_1, z_2) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}^q} a_m(z_1) z_2^m.$$

Functions $|a_m|$ are plurisubharmonic in Δ^n and satisfy

$$|a_m| \leq \frac{M}{\varepsilon^{|m|}}$$
 on Δ^n and $|a_m| \leq M$ on S.

Let w_* be the \mathcal{P} -measure of S in Δ^n . For a given c < 1 there exists r > 0 such that $\omega_*(z_1) \ge c$ when $z_1 \in \Delta^n(s_0, r)$. Theorem 5.8 tells now that for $z_1 \in \Delta^n(s_0, r)$ one has

$$|a_m(z_1)| \leqslant M + \frac{M}{\varepsilon^{|m|}}(1-c) \leqslant 2M,$$

if c was taken close to 1. The statement of Lemma follows.

5.4. Positive currents. Denote by $\mathcal{D}^{k,k}(\Omega)$ the space of \mathcal{C}^{∞} -forms of bidegree (k,k) with compact support on a complex manifold Ω . $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{k,k}(\Omega)$ is real if $\bar{\varphi} = \varphi$. The dual space $\mathcal{D}_{k,k}(\Omega)$ is the space of currents of bidimension (k,k) or, bidegree (n-k,n-k), $n = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \Omega$. $T \in \mathcal{D}_{k,k}(\Omega)$ is real if $\langle T, \bar{\varphi} \rangle = \overline{\langle T, \varphi \rangle}$ for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{k,k}(\Omega)$.

Definition 5.4. A current $T \in \mathcal{D}_{k,k}(\Omega)$ is called positive if for all $\varphi_1, ..., \varphi_k \in \mathcal{D}^{1,0}(\Omega)$

$$\left\langle T, \frac{i}{2}\varphi_1 \wedge \bar{\varphi}_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{i}{2}\varphi_k \wedge \bar{\varphi}_k \right\rangle \ge 0.$$
(5.5)

T is negative if -T is positive.

Positive currents have coefficients measures. Current T is called *closed* if dT = 0, *pluriclosed* if $dd^cT = 0$, *plurinegative* if $dd^cT \leq 0$. We shall have mostly the following two examples in mind.

• Let A be a pure k-dimensional analytic subset in Ω , then the *current of integration* [A] on A, which is a closed positive current in Ω of bidimension (k,k), see [Lg], is defined as

$$\left\langle [A],\varphi\right\rangle := \int_{A}\varphi. \tag{5.6}$$

• Let $f: \Omega \to X$ be a holomorphic mapping to a complex manifold/space X. Suppose X is possesses a closed (or, pluriclosed/plurinegative) metric form ω , then $f^*\omega$ is a positive closed (resp. pluriclosed/plurinegative) form on Ω . Moreover, if f has some mild "singularities" in Ω , ex. points of indeterminacy, then $f^*\omega$ often extends across these singularities as a closed (resp. pluriclosed/plurinegative) current.

Let T be a current of dimension k with coefficients measures. Its mass on an open $U \subset \Omega$ is

$$||T||(U) = \sup\{|\langle T, u\rangle| : u \in \mathcal{D}^k(U), |u(x)| \le 1 \text{ for all } x \in U\}.$$
(5.7)

Here |u(x)| is the Euclidean norm of the k-covector u(x). If T has locally integrable coefficients then its mass norm coincides with L^1 -norm. If T = [A] is a current of integration on analytic set A then its mass is equal to the volume of A. Let S be a closed subset in Ω . We say that a current T, defined on $\Omega \setminus S$, has locally finite mass near S if for any open, relatively compact $U \Subset \Omega$ one has $||T|| (U \setminus S) < \infty$. For a current T, which has locally finite mass near a closed set $S \subset \Omega$, one denotes by \tilde{T} its trivial extension to Ω . It is defined as follows. Take a sequence of functions $\chi_n \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that

- $\chi_n \equiv 0$ in a neighborhood of S;
- $\chi \nearrow 1$ uniformly on compacts of $\Omega \setminus S$.

Then \tilde{T} is defined as the limit of $\chi_n T$. This limit exists and doesn't depend on the choice of χ_n , see [Kl, Lg] for more details. If T was positive on $\Omega \setminus S$ its trivial extension stays to be positive. When S is, in addition, complete pluripolar one can chose χ_n to be plurisubharmonic, see [E11].

Theorem 5.9. (H. El Mir, [El1]). Let S be a closed, complete pluripolar subset of an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let T be a positive, closed current on $\Omega \setminus S$ such that T has a locally finite mass near S. Then the trivial extension \tilde{T} of T is a closed positive current on Ω .

An important case when S is an analytic subset of Ω was proved previously by H. Skoda in [Sk1]. Via the analyticity of upper level sets of Lelong numbers for positive closed currents, proved by Siu in [Si4], this theorem implies the Theorem 5.6 of Bishop.

Theorem 5.10. (H. El Mir, [El2]). Let S be a closed, complete pluripolar subset of an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let T be a positive, plurinegative current on $\Omega \setminus S$ such that T has a locally finite mass near S. Then dd^cT has a locally finite mass near S and the residual current R, defined as

$$R := dd^c T - dd^c \tilde{T}, \tag{5.8}$$

is closed, positive and supported on S.

In particular T is again plurinegative. If S is compact then the condition on T can be relaxed.

Theorem 5.11. (K. Dabbek, F. Elkhadra, H. El Mir, [DEM]). Let K be a complete pluripolar compact in an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and let T be a positive, plurinegative current on $\Omega \setminus K$. Then T has a finite mass near K and therefore the conclusion of Theorem 5.10 holds.

Theorem 5.12. For every 0 < r < 1 there exists a constant C_r such that for every pure q-dimensional variety A in Δ^n one has

$$\operatorname{vol}(A \cap \Delta_{1-r}^{n}) \leqslant C_r \operatorname{vol}(A \cap H_r^{n,q}).$$
(5.9)

When n = 2, q = 1 this was proved by Oka in [Ok], the general case is due to Riemenschneider, see [Rn]. For positive, plurinegative, bidimension (q,q)-currents an analogous Oka-type inequality was proved by Fornaess and Sibony in [FS]. Namely, if T is such then one has

$$|T||(\Delta_{1-r}^{n}) + ||dd^{c}T||(\Delta_{1-r}^{n}) \leqslant C_{r}||T||(H_{r}^{n,q}).$$
(5.10)

We refer to the survey of H. Skoda [Sk2] and lectures of H. El Mir [El2] for much more results on extension of currents, as well as to the paper [FS] for more details about the Oka-type inequalities.

6. EXTENSION PROPERTIES OF HOLOMORPHIC MAPPINGS

Along the following sections we shall generalize results on extension of holomorphic and meromorphic functions to the case of mappings with values in complex spaces. In this section we would like to describe complex spaces X such that holomorphic mappings with values in X extend as well as holomorphic functions do.

6.1. Mappings with values in *q***-complete complex spaces.** As it was remarked in Corollary 1.1 holomorphic mappings with values in Stein spaces extend from the Hartogs figure to the associated polydisk. Remark that by theorem of Narasimhan [Nr] Stein spaces are precisely 1-complete ones. In [IS1] the following generalization of Corollary 1.1 was proved.

Theorem 6.1. Let X be a q-complete complex space. Then every holomorphic mapping $f : H_r^{n,n-q} \to X$ extends to a holomorphic mapping $\hat{f} : \Delta^n \to X$.

The proof uses the result of Barlet, [Ba2], about the existence on q-complete complex spaces certain dd^c -exact strictly positive (q,q)-forms. It should be said that in [IS1] it was proved that every *meromorphic* $f: H_r^{n,n-q} \to X$ meromorphically extends to Δ^n . But going through the proof one can observe that if f was supposed to be holomorphic on $H_r^{n,n-q}$ the extension will stay holomorphic. In fact the proof becomes much more easier, one only need to use the Rouché Principle of Theorem 11.2 from section 11.

6.2. Stein neighborhoods of Stein subvarieties and rational curves. One more observation which can be made from Corollary 1.1 is that finding "big" Stein subsets in X might be useful for our task of extension of holomorphic mappings with values in X.

Theorem 6.2. (Y.-T. Siu, [Si6]) Let Γ be a Stein subspace of a complex space X. Then there exists an open $U \supset \Gamma$ which is Stein. If, moreover, Γ and X are smooth then there exists a neighborhood $U \supset \Gamma$ which is biholomorphic to a neighborhood of the zero section in the normal bundle \mathcal{N}_{Γ} to Γ in X.

For the proof we refer to [Si6] or to [Co] and [Dm1]. Remark that a biholomorphism in Theorem 6.2, which is proved to be identity on Γ , provides a holomorphic retraction $\mathsf{r}: U \to \Gamma$. Now let us turn to holomorphic mappings with values in a given complex space X. Remark that if X contains a rational curve then Hartogs-type extension theorem for holomorphic maps with values in X fails. Indeed, let

$$\pi: \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}^1 \quad \pi: (z_1, z_2) \to [z_1: z_2] \tag{6.1}$$

be the standard projection which sends a point $z = (z_1, z_2)$ to the line l_z passing through z and the origin. The limit set at zero of this map is the whole \mathbb{P}^1 . Therefore π doesn't extend to zero. Let now $C = h(\mathbb{P}^1)$ be a rational curve in X. Then the composition $f = h \circ \pi : \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to X$ doesn't extend to the origin for the same reasons as π . Our first result, which will be proved in the next subsection, says that for Kähler X rational curves are the *only* obstructions for holomorphic extension. Let us derive a lemma which explains this. Let S is a compact complex curve in a complex manifold X. We suppose that X is equipped with some distance d compatible with its topology. Denote by S'_{ε} a domain in S which is the interior of the complement to the ε -neighborhood of a finite number of points p_1, \dots, p_N . We shall always suppose that $N \ge 1$ (if not we just mark some $p_1 \in S$) and that all singular points of S are among p_1, \dots, p_N . Recall that an *analytic disk* in X is a holomorphic map φ of a neighborhood of $\overline{\Delta}$ to X.

Lemma 6.1. Suppose that for every $\delta > 0$ there exists an analytic disk $\varphi : \overline{\Delta} \to X$ such that:

- i) S'_{ε} is contained in a δ -neighborhood of $\varphi(\bar{\Delta})$;
- ii) $\min\{d(x,y): x \in \varphi(\partial \Delta), y \in S'_{\varepsilon}\} > 2\delta;$
- iii) the intersection of $\varphi(\bar{\Delta})$ with the boundary of the δ -neighborhood of S'_{ε} is contained in the δ -neighborhood of the boundary $\partial S'_{\varepsilon}$.

Then S is a rational curve.

Indeed, since S'_{ε} is Stein we can apply Theorem 6.2 and find a Stein neighborhood $U \supset \bar{S}'_{\varepsilon}$ with a holomorphic retraction $\mathbf{r}: U \to S'_{\varepsilon}$. We can suppose that U is a δ -neighborhood of S'_{ε} for some $\delta > 0$. Let $\varphi: \bar{\Delta} \to X$ be an analytic disk satisfying (i) - (ii). Set $D := \varphi^{-1}(U)$. Conditions (i) - (iii) imply that $\mathbf{r} \circ \varphi: D \to S'_{\varepsilon}$ is proper and surjective. I.e., is a ramified analytic cover. Let γ be one of the generators of $H_1(S,\mathbb{Z})$ and let $\tilde{\gamma}$ be its lift to D. Then $\tilde{\gamma}$ is homologous to some linear combination of boundary components of D. Consequently γ must be homologous to a cycle in $\partial S'_{\varepsilon}$. This shows that $H_1(S,\mathbb{Z}) = 0$, *i.e.*, S is a Riemann sphere.

6.3. Holomorphic mappings with values in Kähler spaces. Recall that a complex space X is called *disk-convex* if for every compact $K \subset X$ there exists another compact $\hat{K} \subset X$ such that for every analytic disk $\varphi : \bar{\Delta} \to X$ with $\varphi(\partial \Delta) \subset K$ one has $\varphi(\bar{\Delta}) \subset \hat{K}$. Every compact space is obviously disk-convex. As well as every Stein or, holomorphically convex one. We are prepared to state and prove the following

Theorem 6.3. For a disk-convex Kähler space X the following conditions are equivalent:

i) every holomorphic mapping $f: H_r^{n+1} \to X$ holomorphically extends to Δ^{n+1} ;

ii) X doesn't contain rational curves.

Proof. We need to prove that $(\ddot{u}) \Rightarrow (i)$ only. The proof will be done in four steps. For $z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in \Delta^n$ denote $\Delta_z := \{z\} \times \Delta$. Let U be the maximal open subset of Δ^n such that f holomorphically extends to the Hartogs figure over U

$$H_{U}^{n+1}(r) := A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^{n} \cup \Delta \times U.$$

$$(6.2)$$

Step 1. Vanishing of the homology of Hartogs domains. Let H^c stand for the homology with compact supports.

Lemma 6.2. For any domain $U \subset \Delta^n$ one has

$$H_2^c(H_U^{n+1}(r)) = 0. (6.3)$$

For the proof write the Mayer-Vietoris sequence for the homology groups of the pair of domains $\Delta \times U$ and $A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^n$:

$$\dots \to H_2^c(A_{1-r,1} \times U) \stackrel{\beta}{\to} H_2^c(\Delta \times U) \to H_2^c(H_U^{n+1}(r)) \to H_1^c(A_{1-r,1} \times U) \stackrel{\alpha}{\to}$$

$$H_1^c(\Delta \times U) \oplus H_1^c(A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^n) \to \dots.$$
(6.4)

Here we used the obvious fact that $H_2^c(A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^n) = 0$. Denote by π_1 and π_2 the natural projections of $\mathbb{C}^{n+1} = \mathbb{C}^n \times \mathbb{C}$ onto the first and second factors respectively. If $\gamma \in H_1^c(A_{1-r,1} \times U)$ is such that $\gamma \sim 0$ in $\Delta \times U$ then $\pi_1(\gamma) \sim 0$ in U. And if $\gamma \sim 0$ in $A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta^n$ then $\pi_2(\gamma) \sim 0$ in $A_{1-r,1}$. Therefore from Künneth formula for the product $A_{1-r,1} \times U$ one has for such γ that $\gamma \sim 0$ in $A_{1-r,1} \times U$. This proves the injectivity of the homomorphism α . The surjectivity of β is obvious. This gives the result.

For a holomorphic map $f: H_U^{n+1}(r) \to (X, \omega)$ define the following *area function*

$$a(z) = \operatorname{area}_{\omega} f(\Delta_z) = \int_{\Delta} f|_{\Delta_z}^* \omega, \qquad (6.5)$$

i.e., a(z) is the area of the image of the disk Δ_z . In what follows without any additional explanations we shall suppose, after shrinking $A_{1-r,1}$ if necessary, that f is defined in a neighborhood of $\overline{\Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1}}$ and therefore the formula (6.5) has perfectly sense.

Step 2. Estimate of the area. Suppose we extended f to $H_U^{n+1}(r)$ for some, taken to be maximal domain $U \subset \Delta$. If $U \neq \Delta^n$ take some point $s_0 \in \partial U \cap \Delta^n$ and take a sequence of analytic disks $\Delta_k = \Delta \times \{s_k\}, s_k \in U$, approaching the disc $\Delta_0 := \Delta \times \{s_0\}$. Let $\tilde{\omega} := f^*\omega$ be the pull-back of ω by f. This is a closed (1,1)-form on $H_U^{n+1}(r)$. Due to Lemma 6.2 and usual duality $\tilde{\omega} = d\gamma$ for some smooth 1-form γ on $H_U^{n+1}(r)$. This gives the following estimate of the areas of the analytic discs $\Gamma_{f_k} :=$ the graph of $f|_{\Delta_k}$ in $\Delta^{n+1} \times X$:

$$\mathrm{area}[\Gamma_{f_k}] = \pi + \int_{\Delta_k} \tilde{\omega} = \pi + \int_{\partial \Delta_k} \gamma.$$

The last quantity obviously stays bounded when $k \to \infty$. Bishop compactness theorem tells us now that some subsequence of graphs $\{\Gamma_{f_k}\}$ (we suppose that it is the sequence itself) converges to a complex analytic variety Γ of pure dimension one in $\Delta_0 \times X$.

Step 3. The structure of the limit. Γ decomposes as $\Gamma = \hat{\Gamma} \cup \Gamma_0$, where Γ_0 is the graph of $f|_{\Delta_0}$ and all irreducible components of $\hat{\Gamma}$ are rational curves. This follows from the description of convergence in Gromov compactness theorem, see Theorem 2.5 and definitions involved there. But it can be also seen straightforwardly from Lemma 6.1. Therefore all compact components of Γ are rational curves. Since we do not have them in X we see that Γ_{f_k} converge to Γ_0 .

Step 4. Extension to a neighborhood of s_0 . Take a Stein neighborhood U of Γ_0 in $\Delta^{n+1} \times X$. Then all Γ_{f_k} will belong to U for k >> 1. Also some neighborhood of the boundary $\partial \Gamma_{f_0}$ is in U (after shrinking if necessary). We are exactly in the conditions of Hurwitz Theorem 1.1 as it was explained at the beginning of this section. Therefore we can extend f to a neighborhood of s_0 . Theorem is proved.

6.4. Holomorphic mappings to hyperbolic spaces. For generalities on Kobayashi pseudodistance we refer to [Ko]. A complex space X is called Kobayashi hyperbolic (simply hyperbolic along this text) if the Kobayashi pseudo-distance is actually a distance on X. It that case this distance is compatible with the given topology of X, denote it as $d_k(...)$. In the case $X = \Delta$ the Kobayashi distance coincides with the Poincaré distance. It is also obvious from the very definition of d_k that holomorphic mappings are distance decreasing. This implies the following

Proposition 6.1. The family $\mathcal{O}(\Delta, X)$ of holomorphic mappings form the unit disk to a Kobayashi hyperbolic complex space is equicontinuous. If (X, d_k) is complete then every bounded subfamily $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{O}(\Delta, X)$ is relatively compact.

Here by saying that \mathcal{F} is **bounded** we mean that there exists a compact $K \subset X$ such that $f(\Delta) \cap K \neq \emptyset \ \forall f \in \mathcal{F}$. Mappings with values in **complete** hyperbolic spaces satisfy the following

Definition 6.1. We say that holomorphic mappings from Δ to a complex space X satisfy the disk condition if any sequence $\{\varphi_k : \Delta \to X\}$ of holomorphic mappings with values in X which for some 0 < r < 1 uniformly converge on $A_{1-r,1}$ converge uniformly on the whole of Δ .

The proof follows from the uniform equicontinuity of $\{\varphi_k\}$. This implies the following

Theorem 6.4. Every holomorphic mapping $f: H_r^{n+1} \to X$, where X is a complete Kobayashi hyperbolic complex space, extends to a holomorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \to X$.

The proof of Theorem 6.3 goes through. Remark that Step 2 is not needed, Step 3 is straightforward from the disk-condition.

Remark 6.1. In fact for *compact* hyperbolic spaces a much stronger extension statement holds true: every holomorphic mapping $f : \Delta^* \to X$ extends to the origin, see [Kw]. This can be viewed as a characterization of compact Kobayashi hyperbolic manifolds. For *complete* hyperbolic manifold this is not true: Δ^* is complete.

A close class to hyperbolic spaces are spaces with non-positive holomorphic sectional curvature. Let $h = hdz \otimes d\bar{z}$ be a Hermitian pseudo-metric on the unit disk. "Pseudo" means that $h \ge 0$ but may vanish somewhere. Metric h has non-positive curvature if

$$K_h(z) = -\frac{2}{h(z)}\Delta\ln h(z) \leqslant 0 \tag{6.6}$$

at every $z \in \Delta$ such that h(z) > 0. Let furthermore (X,h) be a Hermitian space, *i.e.*, a complex space with a Hermitian metric h. For a holomorphic mapping $f : \Delta \to X$ we get canonically the induced metric $h_f = h_f dz \wedge d\bar{z}$ on Δ . h_f is a non-negative real function, uniquely determined by f (and h). We say that h has a *non-positive holomorphic sectional curvature* if for any holomorphic mapping $f : \Delta \to X$ the induced metric $h_f = h_f dz \wedge d\bar{z}$ has non-positive curvature. Corresponding K_{h_f} is called the holomorphic curvature of h along the holomorphic (or, complex) disk $f(\Delta)$.

Theorem 6.5. (B. Shiffman, [Sh1], P. Griffiths, [Gr]). Let (X,h) be a complete Hermitian space with non-positive holomorphic sectional curvature. Then every holomorphic mapping $f: H_r^{n+1} \to X$ extends to a holomorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \to X$.

Denote by [z, w] the closed interval in \mathbb{C} from z to w, by $S_r = \partial \Delta_r$ the circle of radius r. In what follows $L_h(\gamma)$ stands for the length of the curve γ with respect to the pseudo-metric h. The key point is the following

Lemma 6.3. Let 0 < a < b < 1 and $c = (b+a)[2\pi b(b-a)]^{-1}$. Let h be a Hermitian pseudo-metric on Δ with non-positive curvature. Then for all $z, w \in \Delta_a$ one has

$$L_h([z,w]) \leqslant c|z-w|L_h(S_b). \tag{6.7}$$

Proof. Remark that non-positivity of curvature (6.6) means that $\ln h$ is subharmonic. Therefore \sqrt{h} is subharmonic too. By the definition of arc length

$$L_h(S_b) = b \int_0^{2\pi} \sqrt{h(be^{i\theta})} d\theta \quad \text{and} \quad L_h([z,w]) = |z-w| \int_0^1 \sqrt{h(tz+(1-t)w)} dt.$$

For $s \in \Delta_b$ by Poisson's formula we have

$$\sqrt{h(s)} \leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{(b^2 - |s|^2)}{|be^{i\theta} - s|^2} \sqrt{h(be^{i\theta})} d\theta.$$

Since obviously $(b^2 - |s|^2)|be^{i\theta} - s|^{-2} \leq (b+a)/(b-a)$ for |s| < a we see that

$$L_h([z,w]) \leqslant \frac{|z-w|}{2\pi} \frac{b+a}{b-a} \int_0^{2\pi} \sqrt{h(be^{i\theta})} d\theta = cL_h(S_b),$$

as stated.

From Lemma 6.3 we immediately see that holomorphic mappings with values in a complete Hermitian manifold of non-positive holomorphic sectional curvature satisfy the disk condition of Definition 6.1. Theorem 6.5 follows.

Remark 6.2. As it was explained in section 1 from Docquier-Grauert theorem it follows that holomorphic mappings with values in manifolds as in Theorems 6.3, 6.5, 6.4 extend from domains over Stein manifolds to their envelopes of holomorphy (and moreover to locally pseudoconvex envelopes for the case of domains over arbitrary manifolds).

7. Cycle space associated with a meromorphic mapping

The remaining part of this chapter will be devoted to the extension of meromorphic mappings.

7.1. Meromorphic mappings. Let D and X be reduced complex spaces. D will be also always supposed to be normal. By pr_1 and pr_2 denote the natural projections of the product $D \times X$ onto D and X respectively. Let A be a proper analytic subset of D and $f: D \setminus A \to X$ be a holomorphic mapping.

Definition 7.1. We say that f defines a meromorphic map from D to X if the closure of the graph of f is an analytic set Γ_f in $D \times X$ and the restriction $pr_1|_{\Gamma_f} : \Gamma_f \to D$ is proper.

This notion defines the meromorphicity in the sense of Remmert, [R], (other types of meromorphicity will be not considered in this text). We shall denote this meromorphic mapping also as f (*i.e.*, in the same way as its holomorphic part), and by Γ_f the graph of either of these mappings. Projection $\operatorname{pr}_1|_{\Gamma_f} : \Gamma_f \to D$ is surjective and maps irreducible components of Γ_f to irreducible components of D. The minimal analytic set A such that f is holomorphic on $D \setminus A$ is called the *indeterminacy set* of f and will be denoted as I_f . Since D is *normal* the set I_f is of codimension ≥ 2 and $x \in I_f$ if and only if dim $(\operatorname{pr}_1|_{\Gamma_f})^{-1}(x) > 0$.

Remark 7.1. 1. If V is an irreducible complex subvariety of D, which doesn't belong entirely to I_f , then the restriction of f to V is the meromorphic map having as the graph the *irreducible component* of $\Gamma_f \cap (V \times X)$ which projects to V generically one to one. In particular, this graph is not necessarily the whole intersection $\Gamma_f \cap (V \times X)$.

2. One more important remark is that if dim D = 1 then every meromorphic map $f : D \to X$ is holomorphic (whatever X is). This follows from the fact that $\operatorname{codim} I_f \ge 2$ and therefore $I_f = \emptyset$ in this case. As well as if dim $D \ge 2$ and dim V = 1 with $V \not\subset I_f$, then the restriction of f to V is holomorphic.

3. The *full image* of a set $L \subset D$ under f is defined as $f[L] := \operatorname{pr}_2(\Gamma_f \cap [L \times X])$. It is probably worth to notice once more that since D is normal $x \in I_f$ if and only if dim $f[x] \ge 1$. This follows from the obvious observation that $I_f = \operatorname{pr}_1\left(\{(x_1, x_2) \in \Gamma_f : \dim_{(x_1, x_2)} \operatorname{pr}_1|_{\Gamma_f}^{-1}(x_1) \ge 1\}\right)$.

In order to better understand the notion of a meromorphic map let us give the description of meromorphic maps in the case when X is projective. Recall that a complex projective manifold/algebraic space is a compact complex manifold/space X which admits a holomorphic imbedding $i : X \to \mathbb{P}^N$ into a complex projective space for some N. Let us see that a meromorphic mapping from a domain D with values in \mathbb{P}^N can be naturally represented by N meromorphic functions on D. This will be explained in the process of the proof of the following related fact.

Proposition 7.1. Let $f: D \to \mathbb{P}^N$ be a meromorphic mapping. Then for every point $x_0 \in D$ there exists a neighborhood $V \ni x_0$ and holomorphic functions $\varphi^0, ..., \varphi^N$ in V such that

$$f(z) = [\varphi^0(z) : ... : \varphi^N(z)].$$
(7.1)

Proof. Denote by $[w_0: w_1: ...: w_N]$ the homogeneous coordinates of \mathbb{P}^N . Let $U_j = \{w \in \mathbb{P}^N : w_j \neq 0\}$ and let $w_0/w_j, ..., w_N/w_j$ be the affine coordinates in U_j . Set $D_j = f^{-1}(U_j)$. Since U_0 is isomorphic to \mathbb{C}^N the restriction $f|_{D_0}: D_0 \longrightarrow U_0$ is given by holomorphic functions $w_1/w_0 = f^1(z), ..., w_N/w_0 = f^N(z)$. The coordinate change in \mathbb{P}^N shows that $f|_{D_0 \cap D_j}: D_0 \cap D_j \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^N$ is given by functions $w_1/w_0 = 1/f^j(z), ..., w_N/w_0 = f^N(z)/f^j(z)$ which are holomorphic in D_j . Therefore functions $f^1, ..., f^N$ are meromorphic on $D_0 \cup D_j$. This proves that $f^1, ..., f^N$ are meromorphic on $\bigcup_{i=0}^N D_j = D$.
Remark 7.2. I.e., we proved on this stage that a meromorphic mapping $f: D \to \mathbb{P}^N$ can be globally represented by N meromorphic functions $f^1, ..., f^N$, *i.e.*, they are meromorphic on the whole of D. In particular meromorphic functions on D are precisely the meromorphic mappings from D to \mathbb{P}^1 .

If $f^1 \equiv ... \equiv f^N \equiv 0$ then $f(D) \equiv 0 \in U_0$. If not, let $f_1 \not\equiv 0$. One finds holomorphic functions h_j et $g_j \ 0 \leq j \leq N$ in a neighborhood V of a given point $x_0 \in D$, $g_j \not\equiv 0$ for j = 1, ..., N, such that

$$f^1 = \frac{h_1}{g_1}, \dots, f^N = \frac{h_N}{g_N}$$

And therefore gets

$$f := \left[1 : \frac{h_1}{g_1} : \dots : \frac{h_N}{g_N}\right] = \left[\prod_{j=1}^N g_j : h_1 \prod_{j=2}^N g_j : \dots : h_N \prod_{j=1}^{N-1} g_j\right].$$

This proves that f can be locally written in the form (7.1) as claimed.

Remark 7.3. a) If the zero sets of φ^j contain a common divisor then we can divide all φ^j by its equation and get a representation such that $GCD(\varphi^1, ..., \varphi^N) = 1$ in every $\mathcal{O}_x, x \in V$. In that case the indeterminacy set of f is

$$I_f \cap V = \{ z \in V : \varphi^0(z) = \dots = \varphi^N(z) = 0 \}.$$
(7.2)

Representation (7.1) satisfying (7.2) will be called *reduced*.

b) In section 6 we considered an example of a holomorphic mapping (6.1) $\pi : \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}^1$ which doesn't extend to the origin holomorphically. But it is easy to see that π extends to zero meromorphically. Indeed, if (z_1, z_2) and $[w_0 : w_1]$ denote the standard coordinates in \mathbb{C}^2 and homogeneous coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 then the graph of π in $\mathbb{C}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ closes to an analytic set which is defined by the equation $z_2w_0 - z_1w_1 = 0$.

Now it is clear that Theorem 1.4 gives the following statement.

Corollary 7.1. Let $f: R_{1-r,1}^{n+1} \to X$, $n \ge 1$, be a meromorphic mapping to a complex algebraic space. Suppose that for z in some subset A, which is not contained in a countable union of locally closed proper analytic subsets, the restriction f_z of f to $A_{1-r,1} \times \{z\}$ is well defined and extends to Δ . Then f extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \to X$.

7.2. Boundedness of area and volume, normality of the image space. As one can suggest from the very definition of a meromorphic mapping f the most interesting information about it is concentrated in that part of its graph Γ_f which lies over the indeterminacy set I_f . Let us make few remarks on this issue. Given a holomorphic mapping $f: D \setminus A \to X$ between complex manifolds/spaces, where $\operatorname{codim} A \ge 2$. By Bishop's Theorem 5.6 its graph Γ_f extends to an analytic subset of $D \times X$ (or, equivalently, its closure is analytic) if and only if its volume is locally bounded near A, *i.e.*, for every compact $K \subset D$ one has

$$\operatorname{vol}\left[\Gamma_f \cap (K \times X)\right] < \infty. \tag{7.3}$$

Example 7.1. Consider a Hopf surface $X^2 := \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}/z \sim 2z$. The natural projection $\pi : \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to X^2$ covers X by infinitely many times. In fact every shell $\frac{1}{2^{n+1}} \leq ||z|| \leq \frac{1}{2^n}$ is mapped by π onto X^2 . Therefore the volume of the graph of π is not locally bounded near $A = \{0\}$ and π doesn't extend meromorphically to zero.

The remark about local boundedness of volume of a meromorphic map near its indeterminacy set suggests one possible way to extend them: try to estimate the volume of Γ_f near the eventual singularity S. This approach in principle can work only if S is "reasonably small". But even in this case it looks to be problematic as the following example of Shiffman and Taylor shows.

Example 7.2. Let D be the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$ and $S = \{z_2 = ... = z_n = 0\}$. Then there exists a plurisubharmonic function in D, real analytic on $D \setminus S$ such that

$$\int_{D(r)\backslash S} (dd^c u)^n = +\infty$$

for every 0 < r < 1.

Remark that if X is Kähler and ω is a Kähler form on X and if $f: D \setminus S \to X$ is holomorphic then $\tilde{\omega} := f^* \omega$ is a closed positive (1,1)-current on $D \setminus S$. If f extends trough S then $\tilde{\omega}$ extends too. In particular, locally there should exist in this case a plurisubharmonic function u such that $\tilde{\omega} = dd^c u$. And now the example above shows what type of difficulties could occur: the unboundedness of the integral shows that the volume of Γ_f is not locally finite near S. Details about this example can be found in [Si5]. In [Si5] this difficulty has been overcome in the Kähler case by using the analyticity of superlevel sets of Lelong numbers of $\tilde{\omega}$ and its powers. Our approach will be different and will work not only in the case of Kähler targets. Namely, it is not difficult to show that for Kähler ω the areas of disks

$$\mathrm{area}(f(\Delta_{z'})) = \int_{f(\Delta_{z'})} \omega = \int_{\Delta_{z'}} \tilde{\omega}$$

 $z' = (z_1, ..., z_{n-1}) \in \Delta^{n-1}$ are uniformly bounded. Also in Example 7.2 this is true, if one understands $\int_{\Delta_{z'}} \tilde{\omega}$ as $\int_{\Delta_{z'}} dd^c u$. Our approach will be based on this observation. The key point in this approach is Theorem 7.3, see the following section.

Remark 7.4. Now let us briefly discuss our basic assumptions on the source and target spaces of a meromorphic mapping. The source space, say D, will be always supposed to be normal (and reduced). The reason can be seen from Corollary 1.5, *i.e.*, this is needed already to extend functions. The image space will be supposed to be just reduced. But let us note that in the proofs we can always suppose that X is, in addition, also normal. Indeed, let $n: \tilde{X} \to X$ be the normalization of X. n is a holomorphic map which is bimeromorphic. In addition it is biholomorphic outside of the preimage of the proper analytic subset \mathcal{N} of X of non-normal points of X. Now, let $f: D \to X$ be our meromorphic mapping, which we want to extend to some $\tilde{D} \supset D$. If $f(D) \notin \mathcal{N}$ we can lift it to $\tilde{f}: D \to \tilde{X}$, extend (if possible), and then pull down the extension obtained. If $f(D) \subset \mathcal{N}$ then do the same for $X = \mathcal{N}$. Therefore we can suppose in the process of proof, if needed, that the target space X is normal.

7.3. Sequences and families of meromorphic disks. Let X be a complex space, equipped with some Hermitian metric h. By ω we denote, as usually, (1,1)-form canonically associated with h. Let ω_0 be some metric form on D (usually clear from the context). Set $\omega = \omega_0 + \omega_h$, this is a metric form on $D \times X$. Let $q \ge 1$ be the dimension of D. The volume of the graph Γ_{φ} of a meromorphic mapping $\varphi: D \to X$ is given by

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{\varphi}) = \int_{\Gamma_{\varphi}} \omega^{q} = \int_{D} (\varphi^{*} \omega_{h} + \omega_{0})^{q}.$$
(7.4)

Here by $\varphi^* \omega_h$ we denote the preimage of ω_h under φ , *i.e.*, $\varphi^* \omega_h = (\mathsf{pr}_1)_* \mathsf{pr}_2^* \omega_h$.

Remark 7.5. Let us give the sense to the formula (7.4). The first integral there has perfectly sense since we are integrating a smooth form over a complex variety. Denote by $I_{\varphi}^{\varepsilon}$ the ε -neighborhood of the indeterminacy set I_{φ} of φ . Then (7.4) shows that the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{D \setminus \bar{I}_{\varphi}^{\varepsilon}} \left(\omega_0 + \varphi^* \omega_h \right)^n = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{D \setminus \bar{I}_{\varphi}^{\varepsilon}} \sum_{p=0}^n C_n^p \omega_0^{n-p} \wedge \varphi^* \omega_h^p \tag{7.5}$$

exists. Therefore all $\varphi^* \omega_h^p$ are well defined on D as positive currents.

Definition 7.2. By a meromorphic q-disc in a complex space X we shall understand a meromorphic mapping $\varphi : D \to X$, where D is a relatively compact domain in some irreducible, normal complex space of pure dimension $q \ge 1$.

We shall mostly suppose that φ is defined in a neighborhood of \overline{D} . The case q = 1 is quite special. In that case meromorphic disk is actually holomorphic, see Remark 7.1. When $D = \Delta$ we called such disk an analytic disk. Recall furthermore that the Hausdorff distance between two subsets A and B of a metric space (Y, ρ) is a number $\rho(A, B) = \inf\{\varepsilon : A^{\varepsilon} \supset B, B^{\varepsilon} \supset A\}$. Here by A^{ε} we denote the ε -neighborhood of the set A, i.e. $A^{\varepsilon} = \{y \in Y : \rho(y, A) < \varepsilon\}$. Now let $\{\varphi_r : D \to X\}$ be a sequence of meromorphic mappings. **Definition 7.3.** We shall say that $\{\varphi_r\}$ strongly converge on compacts in D to a meromorphic map $\varphi: D \to X$, if for every relatively compact open $D_1 \Subset D$ the graphs $\Gamma_{\varphi_r} \cap (D_1 \times X)$ converge in the Hausdorff metric on $D_1 \times X$ to the graph $\Gamma_{\varphi} \cap (D_1 \times X)$.

We shall write $\varphi_r \to \varphi$ to denote the strong convergence. Later on in section 11 we shall see that a strongly converging sequence converges in (even a stronger) topology of cycles. In particular the volumes of Γ_{φ_r} over compacts in D stay uniformly bounded, see Theorem 11.1. For the proof of the following lemma we refer to [Iv6], Lemma 2.3.1.

Lemma 7.1. Let $\{\varphi_r : D \to X\}$ be a sequence of meromorphic q-disks in a complex space X. Suppose that there exists a compact $K \subset X$ and a constant $C < \infty$ such that:

a) $\varphi_r(D) \subset K$ for all r;

b) $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{\varphi_r}) \leqslant C \text{ for all } r.$

Then there exists a subsequence $\{\varphi_{r_j}\}$ such that:

- 1) the sequence $\{\Gamma_{\varphi_{r_j}}\}$ converges in Hausdorff metric to an analytic subset Γ of $D \times X$ of pure dimension q;
- 2) $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\varphi} \cup \hat{\Gamma}$, where Γ_{φ} is the graph of some meromorphic mapping $\varphi : D \to X$ and $\hat{\Gamma}$ is a pure q-dimensional analytic subset of $D \times X$ such that $A := \operatorname{pr}_1(\hat{\Gamma})$ is a proper analytic subset of D;
- 3) $\varphi_{r_i} \to \varphi$ on compacts in $D \setminus A$;
- 4) one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{\varphi_{r_j}}) \geqslant \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{\varphi}) + \operatorname{vol}(\hat{\Gamma}).$$
(7.6)

- 5) For every $1 \leq p \leq \dim X 1$ there exists a positive constant $\nu_p = \nu_p(K,h)$ such that the volume of every pure p-dimensional compact analytic subset of X which is contained in K is not less then ν_p .
- 6) Put $\hat{\Gamma} = \bigcup_{p=0}^{q-1} \Gamma_p$, where Γ_p is a union of all irreducible components of $\hat{\Gamma}$ such that $\dim[\mathsf{pr}_1(\Gamma_p)] = p$. Then

$$\operatorname{vol}_{2q}(\hat{\Gamma}) \geqslant \sum_{p=0}^{q-1} \operatorname{vol}_{2p}(A_p) \cdot \nu_{q-p}, \tag{7.7}$$

where $A_p = \mathsf{pr}_1(\Gamma_p)$.

Now let us turn to the families of meromorphic disks. Let S be a set, and $W \subseteq \mathbb{C}^q$ an open subset equipped with the usual Euclidean metric from \mathbb{C}^q .

Definition 7.4. By a family of meromorphic q-disks in a complex space X we shall understand a subset $\mathcal{F} \subset S \times W \times X$ such that, for every $s \in S$ the set $\mathcal{F}_s = \mathcal{F} \cap \{s\} \times W \times X$ is a graph of a meromorphic mapping of W into X. If S is equipped with topology we shall say that the family \mathcal{F} is continuous at point $s_0 \in S$ if $\mathcal{H} - \lim_{s \to s_0} \mathcal{F}_s = \mathcal{F}_{s_0}$.

Here by $\mathcal{H} - \lim_{s \to s_0} \mathcal{F}_s$ we denote the limit of closed subsets of \mathcal{F}_s in the Hausdorff metric on $W \times X$. As we already mentioned after Definition 7.3 such continuity is equivalent to the continuity in the cycle topology of Definition 7.7. \mathcal{F} is continuous if it is continuous at each point of S. If W_0 is open in W then the restriction \mathcal{F}_{W_0} is naturally defined as $\mathcal{F} \cap (S \times W_0 \times X)$. Now let S be a complex space itself.

Definition 7.5. We call a family \mathcal{F} meromorphic if the closure $\hat{\mathcal{F}}$ of the set \mathcal{F} is an analytic subset of $S \times W \times X$ and the natural projection $\hat{\mathcal{F}} \to S \times W$ is proper.

Our main statement about meromorphic families Theorem 7.1 concerns with the interaction of notions of continuity and meromorphicity of families of meromorphic q-disks. Consider a meromorphic mapping $f: V \times W_0 \longrightarrow X$ to a reduced complex space X, where V is a domain in \mathbb{C}^p and $W_0 \Subset W \Subset \mathbb{C}^q$ are domains in \mathbb{C}^q , $p, q \ge 1$. Let S be some subset of V and $s_0 \in S$ some accumulation point of S. Suppose that for each $s \in S$ the restriction $f_s = f|_{\{s\} \times W_0}$ is well

defined, *i.e.*, $W_s := \{s\} \times W_0 \not\subset I_f$, and meromorphically extends to W. We suppose additionally that there is a compact $K \subset X$ such that for all $s \in S$ one has $f_s(W) \subset K$. Let, as in Lemma 7.1 denote by $\nu_j = \nu_j(K)$ the minima of volumes of *j*-dimensional compact analytic subsets contained in our compact $K \subset X$. Fix some $W_0 \Subset W_1 \Subset W$ and put

$$\nu = \min\{ \operatorname{vol}(A_{q-j}) \cdot \nu_j : j = 1, \dots, q \},$$
(7.8)

where A_{q-j} are running over all (q-j)-dimensional analytic subsets of W, intersecting \overline{W}_1 . Clearly $\nu > 0$. In the following theorem the volumes of graphs are taken over W.

Theorem 7.1. Suppose that there exists a neighborhood $U \ni s_0$ such that, for all $s_1, s_2 \in S \cap U$

$$|\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{s_1}}) - \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{s_2}})| < \nu/2.$$

$$(7.9)$$

If $s_0 \in S$ is a locally regular point of S then there exists a neighborhood $V_1 \ni s_0$ in V such, that f meromorphically extends to $V_1 \times W_1$.

Proof. The proof will be done in three steps.

Step 1. $\{\Gamma_{f_s}\}$ is continuous at s_0 . Indeed, let $s_n \in S, s_n \to s_0$ as $n \to \infty$. Then from (7.9) we see that $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{s_n}})$ are uniformly bounded and thus by Lemma 7.1 $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \subset (W_0 \times X)$ extends to a graph of meromorphic mapping over W. The graph of this extension be also denoted as $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$. Now if one could find a sequence $s_n \in S, s_n \longrightarrow s_0$ as $n \longrightarrow \infty$ such that $\Gamma_{f_{s_n}} \not\longrightarrow \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ in Hausdorff metric, then by Lemma 7.1, using the boundedness of volumes of Γ_{f_s} , one finds a subsequence, still denoted as s_n such that $\Gamma_{f_{s_n}} \longrightarrow \Gamma \supset \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$, but not equal $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$. But then, by the relations (7.6) and (7.7) of Lemma 7.1 one has that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{s_n}}) \geqslant \nu + \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}),$$

which contradicts (7.9).

Our aim is to prove now that the family $\mathcal{F} = \bigcup_{s \in S} \Gamma_{f_s} \subset S \times W_0 \times X$ extends to a meromorphic family on $V_1 \times W_1 \times X$ for some neighborhood $V_1 \ni s_0$.

Step 2. \mathcal{F} extends to a neighborhood of $\{s_0\} \times \operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$. Fix a point $z_0 \in \operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \cap (W_0 \times X)$. Here we consider $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ as analytic space itself. So $\operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ is connected dense subset in $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ and $\operatorname{Sing} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} := \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \setminus \operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ is a proper analytic subset of $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$. Take a point $z_1 \in \operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \cap (W \times X)$ and take a path $\gamma : [0,1] \longrightarrow \operatorname{Reg} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}}$ from z_0 to z_1 . We shall prove that there is a neighborhood Ω of $\gamma([0,1])$ in $W \times X$ and a neighborhood $V \ni s_0$ such that $\mathcal{F} \cap (V \times \Omega)$ extends to an analytic set in $V \times \Omega$.

By T denote the set of those $t \in [0,1]$ that there exists a neighborhoods $\Omega_t \supset \gamma([0,t])$ and $V_t \ni s_0$ such that $\mathcal{F} \cap V_t \times \Omega_t$ extends to an analytic set in $V_t \times \Omega_t$. Note that T is open and contains the origin. Now let t_0 be the cluster point of T. Find the chart $\Sigma \cong \Delta^q \times \Delta^n$ for the space $W \times X$ in the neighborhood of $\gamma(t_0)$ with coordinates $u_1, \ldots, u_q, v_1, \ldots, v_n$ in such a way that $\gamma(t_0) = 0$ and $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \cap \Sigma = \{(u, v) : v = F_0(u)\}$ for some holomorphic map $F_0 : \Delta^q \longrightarrow \Delta^n$. By the Hausdorff continuity of our family $\{\Gamma_{f_s}\}$ in $s_0 \ \Gamma_{f_s} \cap \Omega = \{(u, v) : v = F_s(u)\}$ for s close to s_0, F_s holomorphic and continuously depending on s.

Take $t_1 \in T$ close to t_0 , such that $\gamma([0, t_1]) \subset \Sigma$. We have some neighborhoods $V_{t_1} \ni s_0, \Omega_{t_1} \ni \gamma(t_1)$ such that \mathcal{F} extends analytically to $V_{t_1} \times \Omega_{t_1}$. Let $u_1 \in \Delta^q$ be such that $\gamma(t_1) = (u_1, F_0(u_1))$. Then there is a neighborhood, say $\Delta^q_r(u_1)$, such that $\Gamma_{f_s} \cap (V_{t_1} \times \Delta^q_r(u_1) \times \Delta^n)$ is defined by the equation v = F(u, s), where $F(u, s) = F_s(u) : V_{t_1} \times \Delta^q_r(u_1) \to \Delta^n$ as above. From the condition of the Lemma we see that for $s \in S$ close to $s_0 F(u, s)$ extends onto Δ^q . So by Lemma 5.1 F(u, s) extends holomorphically to $V_{t_0,\varepsilon} \times \Delta^q_{1-\varepsilon}$, where ε is arbitrarily small $(V_{t_0,\varepsilon}$ depending on ε). But this means that \mathcal{F} extends analytically onto $V_{t_0} \times \Delta^q_{1-\varepsilon} \times \Delta^n$. Thus T is closed and coincides with [0,1].

We proved in fact that for any compact subset $R \subset \operatorname{\mathsf{Reg}}_{\Gamma_{s_0}} \cap (W_1 \times X)$ there are neighborhoods $V_R \ni s_0, \Omega_R \supset R$ such that Γ_f analytically extend to $V_R \times \Omega_R$.

Step 3. \mathcal{F} is analytic near s_0 . Cover the set $\operatorname{Sing} \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \cap [\{s_0\} \times \overline{W}_1 \times X]$ with a finite number of open charts of the form $1/2V_{\alpha} \times \Omega_{\alpha}$, where $V_{\alpha} \cong \Delta^q$ and $\Omega_{\alpha} \cong \Delta^n$, and such that $\Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \cap (V_{\alpha} \times \Omega_{\alpha})$ is analytic cover of V_{α} . By Step 1 we can find an open neighborhoods $V_R \ni s_0$ and $\Omega_R \supset R = \Gamma_{f_{s_0}} \setminus [\bigcup_{\alpha} 1/2V_{\alpha} \times \Omega_{\alpha}]$ such that \mathcal{F} analytically extends to $V_R \times \Omega_R$.

Fix now some α . All that remained to prove is that Γ_f analytically extends to $V'_{\alpha} \times V_{\alpha} \times \Omega_{\alpha}$ for some neighborhood of $V'_{\alpha} \ni s_0$. But this again follows from Lemma 5.1 applied to the coefficients of polynomials which define the cover $\Gamma_{f_s} \cap (V_{\alpha} \times \Omega_{\alpha}) \to V_{\alpha}$. Theorem is proved.

7.4. Cycle space associated with a meromorphic mapping. We shall freely use the results from the theory of cycle spaces developed by D. Barlet in [Ba1]. Recall that an analytic qcycle in a reduced, normal complex space Y is a formal sum $Z = \sum_j n_j Z_j$, where $\{Z_j\}$ is a locally finite sequence of analytic subsets of pure dimension q and n_j are positive integers called multiplicities of Z_j . By $|Z| := \bigcup_j Z_j$ we denote the support of Z. Set $A^q(r, 1) = \Delta^q \setminus \overline{\Delta}^q(r)$, *i.e.*, $A^q(r, 1) = A^q_{r,1}$ in our previous notations. Let X be a reduced, normal complex space equipped with some Hermitian metric and let a holomorphic mapping $f : \overline{\Delta}^n \times \overline{A}^q(r, 1) \to X$ be given. We shall start with the following space of cycles related to f. Fix some positive constant C and consider the set $\mathcal{C}_{f,C}$ of all analytic q-cycles Z in $Y := \Delta^{n+q} \times X$ such that:

(a) $Z \cap [\Delta^n \times \overline{A^q}(r, 1) \times X] = \Gamma_{f_z} \cap [\overline{A}_z^q(r, 1) \times X]$ for some $z \in \Delta^n$, where Γ_{f_z} is the graph of the restriction $f_z := f \mid_{A_z^q(r,1)}$. Here $A_z^q(r,1) := \{z\} \times A^q(r,1)$. This means, in particular, that for this z the mapping f_z extends meromorphically from $\overline{A}_z^q(r,1)$ to $\overline{\Delta}_z^q := \{z\} \times \overline{\Delta}^q$.

(b) $\operatorname{vol}(Z) < C$ and the support |Z| of Z is connected.

We put $C_f := \bigcup_{C>0} C_{f,C}$ and we are going to show that C_f is an analytic space of finite dimension in a neighborhood of each of its points.

Definition 7.6. By a coordinate chart adapted to Z we shall understand an open set V in Y such that $V \cap |Z| \neq \emptyset$ together with an isomorphism j of V onto a closed subvariety \tilde{V} in the neighborhood of $\bar{\Delta}^q \times \bar{\Delta}^k$ such that $j^{-1}(\bar{\Delta}^q \times \partial \Delta^k) \cap |Z| = \emptyset$.

We shall denote such a chart as (V, j). The image j(Z) of cycle Z under the isomorphism j is the image of the underlying analytic set together with multiplicities. Sometimes we shall, following Barlet, denote: $\Delta^q = U, \Delta^k = B$ and call the quadruple E = (V, j, U, B) a *scale* adapted to Z. If $\operatorname{pr} : \mathbb{C}^q \times \mathbb{C}^k \to \mathbb{C}^q$ is the natural projection, then the restriction $\operatorname{pr}|_{j(Z)}: j(Z) \to \Delta^q$ is a branched cover of degree say d. The number k depends on the imbedding dimension of Y (or X in our case). Sometimes we shall skip j in our notations and consider $Z \cap V$ as an analytic subset readily in a neighborhood of $\overline{\Delta}^q \times \overline{\Delta}^k$ such that $Z \cap (\overline{\Delta}^q \times \partial \Delta^k) = \emptyset$. The branched cover $\operatorname{pr}|_Z: Z \cap (\Delta^q \times \Delta^k) \to \Delta^q$ defines in a natural way a mapping $\varphi_Z : \Delta^q \to \operatorname{Sym}^d(\Delta^k)$, the d-th symmetric power of Δ^k , by setting $\varphi_Z(z) = (\operatorname{pr}|_Z)^{-1}(z)$. This allows to represent a cycle $Z \cap \Delta^{q+k}$ with $|Z| \cap (\overline{\Delta}^q \times \partial \Delta^k) = \emptyset$ as the graph of a d-valued holomorphic map.

Definition 7.7. The topology defined by parameterizations φ_Z is called the cycle topology.

This defines a metrizable topology on the space of q-cycles in Y, and this topology is equivalent to the **topology of currents**: $Z_r \to Z$ if for any continuous (q,q)-form χ with compact support one has

$$\int_{Z_r} \chi \to \int_Z \chi,$$

see [Fj]. It is also equivalent to the *Hausdorff* topology under an additional condition of *bound-edness of volumes*, *i.e.*, $Z_r \to Z$ if and only if for every compact $K \Subset Y$ there exists $C_K > 0$ such that $\operatorname{vol}_{2q}(Z_r \cap K) \leq C_K$ and $Z_r \cap K \to Z \cap K$ with respect to the Hausdorff distance. We denote the space of q-cycles on Y endowed with the topology described as above by $\mathcal{C}_q^{\mathsf{loc}}(Y)$. By $\mathcal{B}_q(X)$ we denote the Barlet space of *compact* q-cycles in X, *i.e.*, cycles with compact support.

Without loss of generality we suppose that our holomorphic mapping f is defined on $\Delta^n(a) \times A^q(r_1, b)$ with $a, b > 1, r_1 < r$. Now, each $Z \in C_f$ can be covered by a finite number of adapted

neighborhoods (V_{α}, j_{α}) . Such covering we be called an *adapted covering*. Denote the union $\bigcup_{\alpha} V_{\alpha}$ by W_Z . Taking this covering to be small enough, we can furthermore suppose the following.

- (c) If $V_{\alpha_1} \cap V_{\alpha_2} \neq \emptyset$, then on every irreducible component of the intersection $Z \cap V_{\alpha_1} \cap V_{\alpha_2}$ a point x_1 is fixed so that:
 - (c₁) either there exists a polycylindric neighborhood $\Delta_1^q \subset \Delta^q$ of $\operatorname{pr}_{\alpha_1}(j_{\alpha_1}(x_1))$ such that the chart $V_{12} = j_{\alpha_1}^{-1}(\Delta_1^q \times \Delta^q)$ is adapted to Z and is contained in V_{α_2} , where V_{12} is given the same imbedding j_{α_1} , here $\operatorname{pr}_{\alpha}$ is the projection pr which corresponds to the chart V_{α} ; (c₂) or, this is fulfilled for V_{α_2} instead of V_{α_1} .
- (d) For some fixed 1 < c < a if $y \in V_{\alpha}$ is such that $\operatorname{pr}_1(y) \in \overline{\Delta}^n(c) \times A^q(\frac{r+1}{2}, 1)$, then $\operatorname{pr}_1(\overline{V}_{\alpha}) \subset \overline{\Delta}^n(\frac{a+c}{2}) \times A^q(r, 1)$. Here by $\operatorname{pr}_1 : \Delta^{n+q} \times X \to \Delta^{n+q}$ we denote the natural projection.

Case (c_1) can be realized when the imbedding dimension of V_{α_1} is smaller or equal to that of V_{α_2} , and (c_2) in the opposite case, see [Ba1], pp. 91-92. Let E = (V, j, U, B) be a scale on the complex space Y. Denote by $H_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B)) := \mathsf{Hol}_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$ the Banach analytic set of all d-sheeted analytic subsets on $\bar{U} \times B$, contained in j(Y). As it was told the subsets W_Z together with the topology of uniform convergence on $H_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$ define a metrizable topology on our cycle space \mathcal{C}_f , which is equivalent to the topology of currents.

We refer the reader to [Ba1] for the definition of the isotropicity of the family of elements from $H_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$ parameterized by some Banach analytic set S. Space $H_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$ can be endowed by another (more rich) analytic structure. This new analytic space will be denoted by $\hat{H}_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$. The crucial property of this new structure is that the tautological family $\hat{H}_Y(\bar{U}, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B)) \times U' \to \mathsf{Sym}^d(B)$ is isotropic in $H_Y(\bar{U}', \mathsf{Sym}^d(B))$ for any relatively compact polydisk $U' \in U$, see [Ba1]. The key point is that for isotropic families $\{Z_s : s \in S\}$ parameterized by Banach analytic sets the following projection changing theorem of Barlet holds.

Theorem 7.2. (D. Barlet, [Ba1]). If the family $\{Z_s : s \in S\} \subset H_Y(\overline{U}, \text{Sym}^d(B))$ is isotropic, then for any scale $E_1 = (V_1, j_1, U_1, B_1)$ in $U \times B$ adapted to some Z_{s_0} , there exists a neighborhood U_{s_0} of s_0 in S such that $\{Z_s : s \in U_{s_0}\}$ is again isotropic in V_1 .

This means, in particular, that the mapping $s \to Z_s \cap V_1 \subset H_Y(\overline{U}_1, \mathsf{Sym}^d(B_1))$ is analytic, i.e., can be extended to a neighborhood of any $s \in U_{s_0}$. Neighborhood means here a neighborhood in some complex Banach space where \mathcal{S} is defined as an analytic subset. This leads naturally to the following

Definition 7.8. A family \mathcal{Z} of analytic cycles in an open set $W \subset Y$, parameterized by a Banach analytic set \mathcal{S} , is called analytic in a neighborhood of $s_0 \in \mathcal{S}$ if for any scale E adapted to Z_{s_0} there exists a neighborhood $U \ni s_0$ such that the family $\{Z_s : s \in U\}$ is isotropic.

7.5. Analyticity of C_f and construction of \mathcal{G}_f . Let $f : \overline{\Delta}^n \times \overline{A}^q(r, 1) \to X$ be our map. Take a cycle $Z \in C_f$ and a finite covering (V_α, j_α) satisfying conditions (c) and (d). As above, put $W_Z = \bigcup V_\alpha$. We divide V_α 's into two types.

Type 1. These are V_{α} as in (d). For them put

$$H_{\alpha} := \bigcup_{z} \{ [\Gamma_{f_{z}} \cap \bar{A}_{z}^{q}(r,1) \times X] \cap V_{\alpha} \} \subset H_{Y}(\bar{U}_{\alpha}, \mathsf{Sym}^{d_{\alpha}}(B_{\alpha})).$$
(1.2.1)

The union is taken over all $z \in \Delta^n$ such that V_{α} is adapted to Γ_{f_z} .

Type 2. These are all others. For V_{α} of this type we put $H_{\alpha} := \hat{H}_Y(\bar{U}_{\alpha}, \mathsf{Sym}^{d_{\alpha}}(B_{\alpha})).$

All H_{α} are open sets in complex Banach analytic subsets and for V_{α} of the first type they are of dimension n and smooth. The latter follows from Barlet-Mazet theorem, which tells that if $h: A \to S$ is a holomorphic injection of a finite dimensional analytic set A into a Banach analytic set S, then h(A) is also an Banach analytic set of finite dimension, see [Mz].

For every irreducible component of $V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \cap Z_l$ we fix a point $x_{\alpha\beta l}$ on this component (the subscript *l* indicates the component), and a chart $V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \supset (V_{\alpha\beta l}, \varphi_{\alpha\beta l}) \ni x_{\alpha\beta l}$ adapted to this

component as in (c). Put $H_{\alpha\beta l} := \hat{H}(\Delta^q, \mathsf{Sym}^{d_{\alpha\beta l}}(\Delta^p))$. In the sequel it will be convenient to introduce an order on our finite covering $\{V_\alpha\}$ and write $\{V_\alpha\}_{\alpha=1}^N$.

Consider finite products $\Pi_{(\alpha)}H_{\alpha}$ and $\Pi_{(\alpha\beta l)}H_{\alpha\beta l}$. In the second product we take only triples with $\alpha < \beta$. These are Banach analytic spaces and by the Projection Changing Theorem of Barlet, for each pair $\alpha < \beta$ we have two holomorphic mappings $\Phi_{\alpha\beta} : H_{\alpha} \to \Pi_{(l)}H_{(\alpha\beta l)}$ and $\Psi_{\alpha\beta} : H_{\beta} \to \Pi_{(l)}H_{\alpha\beta l}$. This defines two holomorphic maps $\Phi, \Psi : \Pi_{(\alpha)}H_{\alpha} \to \Pi_{\alpha < \beta, l}H_{\alpha\beta l}$. The kernel \mathcal{A} of this pair, i.e., the set of $h = \{h_{\alpha}\}$ with $\Phi(h) = \Psi(h)$, consists exactly from analytic cycles in the neighborhood W_Z of Z. This kernel is a Banach analytic set, and moreover the family \mathcal{A} is an analytic family in W_Z in the sense of Definition 7.8.

Lemma 7.2. \mathcal{A} is an analytic set of finite dimension.

Proof. Take a smaller covering $\{V'_{\alpha}, j_{\alpha}\}$ of Z. Namely, $V'_{\alpha} = V_{\alpha}$ for V_{α} of the first type and $V'_{\alpha} = j^{-1}_{\alpha}(\Delta^q_{1-\varepsilon} \times \Delta^k)$ for the second. In the same manner define H'_{α} and $H' := \Pi_{\alpha}H'_{\alpha}$. Repeating the same construction as above we obtain a Banach analytic set \mathcal{A}' . We have a holomorphic mapping $K : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}'$ defined by the restrictions. The differential $dK \equiv K$ of this map is a compact operator by Montel's theorem.

Let us show that we also have an inverse *analytic* map $F : \mathcal{A}' \to \mathcal{A}$. The analyticity of F means more precisely that it should be defined in some neighborhood of \mathcal{A}' in H'. For scales $E_{\alpha} = (V_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha}, B_{\alpha}, j_{\alpha})$ of the second type the mapping $F_{\alpha} : \mathcal{A}' \to H_Y(\bar{U}_{\alpha}, \mathsf{Sym}^{d_{\alpha}}B_{\alpha})$ is defined by the isotropicity of the family \mathcal{A}' as in [Ba1]. In particular, this F_{α} extends analytically to a neighborhood in H'(!) of each point of \mathcal{A}' .

For scales $E_{\alpha} = (V_{\alpha}, U_{\alpha} = U'_{\alpha}, B_{\alpha}, j_{\alpha})$ of the first type define F_{α} as follows. Let $Y = (Y_{\alpha})$ be some point from H'. Using the fact that $H_{\alpha} = H'_{\alpha}$ in this case, we can correctly define $F_{\alpha}(Y) := Y_{\alpha}$ viewed as an element of H_{α} . This directly defines F_{α} on the whole H'. Analyticity is also obvious.

Put $F := \prod_{\alpha} F_{\alpha} : \mathcal{A}' \to \mathcal{A}$. F is defined and analytic in a neighborhood of each point of \mathcal{A}' . Observe further that $\mathsf{Id} - dK \circ dF$ is Fredholm. Since $\mathcal{A}' \subset \{h \in \prod_{(i)} H'_i : (\mathsf{Id} - K \circ F)(h) = 0\}$, we obtain that \mathcal{A}' is an analytic subset in a complex manifold of finite dimension. \Box

Remark 7.6. a) Isotropicity condition was crucial to get the inverse map F in the proof.

b) If Z was compact cycle then this proof gives the proof of the Douadi's theorem: the space of compact analytic cycles is a finite dimensional analytic space in a neighborhood of each of its points. Remark that in this case one needs to consider only scales of type 2.

Therefore C_f is an analytic space of finite dimension in a neighborhood of each of its points. $C_{f,C}$ are open subsets of C_f . Note further that for $C_1 < C_2$ the set C_{f,C_1} is an open subset of C_{f,C_2} . This implies that for each irreducible component \mathcal{K}_C of $\mathcal{C}_{f,C}$ there is a unique irreducible component \mathcal{K} of \mathcal{C}_f containing \mathcal{K}_C and moreover \mathcal{K}_C is an open subset of \mathcal{K} . Of course, in general the dimension of irreducible components of \mathcal{C}_f is not bounded, and in fact the space \mathcal{C}_f is to big. Let us denote by \mathcal{G}_f the union of irreducible components of \mathcal{C}_f that contain at least one irreducible cycle or, in other words, a cycle of the form Γ_{f_z} for some $z \in \Delta^n$. Denote by $\mathcal{Z}_f := \{Z_a : a \in \mathcal{C}_f\}$ the universal family.

Lemma 7.3. 1. Irreducible cycles form an open dense subset \mathcal{G}_f^0 in \mathcal{G}_f .

2. The dimension of \mathcal{G}_f is not greater than n.

Proof. 1. \mathcal{G}_f^0 is clearly open, this follows immediately from (4) and (6) of Lemma 7.1. Denote by $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$ the normalization of \mathcal{C}_f and denote by $\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_f$ the pull-back of the universal family under the normalization map $\mathcal{N} : \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f \to \mathcal{C}_f$. Consider the following "forgetting of extra compact components" mapping $\Pi : \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f \to \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$. Note that each cycle $Z \in \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$ can be uniquely represented as $Z = \Gamma_{f_s} + \sum_{j=1}^N B_s^j$, where each B_s^j is a compact analytic q-cycle in $\Delta_s^q(r) \times X$ with connected

support. Mark those B_s^j , which possess the following property: there is a neighborhood in V of Z in $\hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$ such that every cycle $Z_1 \in V$ decomposes as $Z_1 = \hat{Z}_1 + B_1$, where B_1 is a compact cycle in a neighborhood of B_s^j in the Barlet space $\mathcal{B}_q(X)$. Our mapping $\Pi : \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f \to \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$ sends each cycle Z to the cycle obtained from this Z by deleting all the marked components. This is clearly an analytic map. Every irreducible cycle is clearly a fixed point of Π . Thus the set of fixed points is open in $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_f \subset \hat{\mathcal{C}}_f$ and so contains the whole $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_f$.

Now we shall prove that every fixed point Z of Π is a limit of irreducible cycles. For the sequel remark that the compositions $\psi := p \circ \mathbf{ev} : \mathcal{Z}_f \to \Delta^{n+q}$ and $\varphi := \mathbf{pr}_1 \circ \mathbf{ev} \circ \pi^{-1} : \mathcal{C}_f \to \Delta^n$ are well defined. Here $\mathbf{pr}_1 : \Delta^{n+q} \times X \to \Delta^n$ is one more natural projection and $\mathbf{ev} : \mathcal{Z}_f \to \Delta^{n+q} \times X$ is the natural evaluation map. Let $\varphi(Z) = s \in \Delta^n$ and $Z = \Gamma_{f_s} + \sum_{j=1}^N B_s^j$. Z being a fixed point of Π means that in any neighborhood of Z one can find a cycle Z_1 such that $Z_1 = \Gamma_{f_{s_1}} + \sum_{j=2}^N B_{s_1}^j$, where $B_{s_1}^j$ are compact cycles close to B_s^j . Observe that every cycle in a neighborhood of Z_1 has the same form, *i.e.*, in its decomposition one has $j \ge 2$. This follows from Lemma 7.1. Since Z_1 is also a fixed point for Π , we can repeat this procedure N times to obtain finally an irreducible cycle in a given neighborhood of Z. We conclude that \mathcal{G}_f^0 is dense in \mathcal{G}_f .

2. Take an irreducible $Z \in \mathcal{G}_f^0 \cap \operatorname{Reg}(\mathcal{G}_f)$. Take a neighborhood $Z \in V \subset \operatorname{Reg}(\mathcal{G}_f)$ that consists from irreducible cycles only. Then $\varphi \mid_{V} : V \to \Delta^n$ is injective and holomorphic. Therefore $\dim \mathcal{G}_f \leq n$.

Definition 7.9. We shall call the space \mathcal{G}_f the cycle space associated to a meromorphic map f. By $\mathcal{G}_{f,C}$ we shall denote the open subset of \mathcal{G}_f consisting of Z with $\operatorname{vol}(Z) < C$.

7.6. Proof of the Main Statement. Now we are ready to state and prove the main result of this section, namely Theorem 7.3. From now on we restrict our universal family \mathcal{Z}_f onto \mathcal{G}_f without changing notations. I.e., now $\mathcal{Z}_{f,C} := \{Z_a : a \in \mathcal{G}_{f,C}\}, \mathcal{Z}_f := \bigcup_{C>0} \mathcal{Z}_{f,C} \text{ and } \pi : \mathcal{Z}_f \to \mathcal{G}_f$ is the natural projection. \mathcal{Z}_f is a complex space of finite dimension. We have an evaluation map

$$\mathbf{ev}: \mathcal{Z}_f \to \Delta^{n+q} \times X,\tag{7.10}$$

defined by $Z_a \in \mathcal{Z}_f \to Z_a \subset \Delta^{n+q} \times X$. Evaluation map (7.10) will be used in the proof of the theorem below. Recall that we suppose that our complex space X is equipped with some Hermitian metric h.

Theorem 7.3. Let a holomorphic map $f : \overline{\Delta}^n \times \overline{A}^q(r, 1) \to X$ into a complex space X be given. Suppose that:

- 1) for every $z \in \overline{\Delta}^n$ the restriction f_z extends meromorphically to the q-disk $\overline{\Delta}^q_z$;
- 2) the volumes of graphs of these extensions are uniformly bounded;

3) there exists a compact $K \subseteq X$ which contains $f(\bar{\Delta}^n \times \bar{A}^q(r,1))$ and $f(\bar{\Delta}^q_z)$ for all $z \in \bar{\Delta}^n$. Then f extends meromorphically to Δ^{n+q} .

Proof. Denote by $\nu = \nu_q(K)$ the minimal volume of a compact q-dimensional analytic subsets in K, $\nu > 0$ by Lemma 7.1. Denote by W the maximal open subset of Δ^n such that f extends meromorphically onto $\Delta^n \times A^q(r, 1) \cup W \times \Delta^q$. Set $S = \Delta^n \setminus W$. Let

$$S_l = \{ z \in S : \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_z}) \leqslant l \cdot \frac{\nu}{2} \}.$$

$$(7.11)$$

The maximality of W (and thus the minimality of S) and Theorem 7.1 imply that $S_{l+1} \setminus S_l$ are pluripolar and by the Josefson theorem so is S. In particular, $W \neq \emptyset$. Consider the analytic space

$$\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,c} := \{ Z \in \mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0} : \|\varphi(Z)\| < c \},$$
(7.12)

where $0 < c \leq 1$ is fixed. C_0 is taken here such that $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_z}) \leq C_0$ for all $z \in \overline{\Delta}^n$. Since, by Lemma 7.3 cycles of the form Γ_{f_z} are dense in $\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}$, we have that for every $Z \in \mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}$ in fact $\operatorname{vol}(\operatorname{ev}(Z)) \leq C_0$. Therefore we see that $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_{f,C_0,1} \cap \varphi^{-1}(\Delta^n(1))$ is closed and open in $\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}$ and in fact coincides with $\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}$. Closures we take in the cycle space \mathcal{G}_f .

For any c < 1 the set $\bar{\mathcal{G}}_{f,C_0,c} = \varphi^{-1}(\bar{\Delta}^n(c))$ is compact by the Harvey-Shiffman generalization of Bishop's theorem. Therefore $\varphi : \mathcal{G}_{f,2C_{0,1}} \to \Delta^{n}$ is proper. Therefore $\mathbf{ev} : \mathcal{Z}_{f} \to \Delta^{n+q} \times X$ is also proper and by the Remmert proper mapping theorem its image is an analytic set extending the graph of f. The latter follows from the fact that $\varphi(\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}) \supset W$ and therefore in fact $\varphi(\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0,1}) = \Delta^n(1).$

7.7. Versions of Levi's theorem. It should be said that Theorem 7.3 will be not always sufficient for us in this text. Moreover, if one looks on it from the point of view of Levi's Theorem 1.4 one naturally becomes interested wether it is possible to give a more precise statement. Two points should be explained here.

First is about boundedness of volumes condition. Of course it is a necessary condition. But also it is not difficult to see that in the case $X = \mathbb{P}^1$ this is exactly the boundedness of poles counted with multiplicities (remark that winding numbers of $f(z_1, \cdot)|_{\partial \Delta}$ are fixed). Therefore for general X it is the boundedness of volumes condition which replaces the boundedness of number of poles in Levi's theorem.

Second, in applications one often deals with the situation where a holomorphic map f: $\Delta^n \times A^q(r,1) \to X$ extends from $A^q_z(r,1)$ to Δ^q_z not for all $z \in \Delta^n$ but only for z in some "thick" set S. Recall that a subset $S \subset \Delta^n$ we call thick at s_0 if for any neighborhood U of $s_0 \cup U \cap S$ is not contained in a proper analytic subset of U. In the case of dimension one, *i.e.*, n = 1 the set S is thick at s_0 if and only if S contains a sequence $\{s_n\}$ which converges to s_0 .

Theorem 7.4. Let $f: \Delta \times A^q_{1-r,1} \to X$ be a holomorphic map to a reduced complex space X. Suppose that for a sequence $\{s_n\}$ of points in Δ , converging to the origin the restrictions $f_{s_n} := f \mid_{A^q_{s_n}}$ extend meromorphically to $\Delta^q_{s_n}$. Suppose in addition that:

- 1) there exists a compact $K \in X$ such that $\left[\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} f(\Delta_{s_n}^q)\right] \cup f(\Delta \times A_{1-r,1}^q) \subset K$; 2) volumes of graphs $\Gamma_{f|_{\Delta_{s_n}}}$ are uniformly bounded.

Then there exists an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that f extends as a meromorphic map to $\Delta(\varepsilon) \times \Delta^q$.

In dimensions starting from two the situation becomes more complicated, the same statement for $f: \Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1} \to X$ with $n \ge 2$ fails to be true as the following example shows, see [Iv5].

Example 7.3. There exists a compact complex 4-fold X^4 and holomorphic mapping $f: \Delta \times$ $\Delta_{\frac{1}{2}} \times \tilde{A}(\frac{1}{2}, 1) \rightarrow X^4$ such that:

(1) for any $s \in S = \{(z_0, z_2) \in \Delta \times \Delta_{\frac{1}{2}} : |z_0|^2 > |z_2|^2\}$ the restriction $f_s = f|_{A_s(r,1)}$ extends holomorphically to Δ_s ;

(2) for any t > 1 there is a constant $C_t < \infty$ such that for all $s \in S_t = \{(z_0, z_2) \in \Delta \times \Delta_{\frac{1}{2}} : t \in C_t \}$

 $\begin{aligned} |z_0|^2 > t \cdot |z_2|^2 \} \text{ one has } \operatorname{area}(\Gamma_{f_s}) \leqslant C_t; \\ (3) \text{ but for all } z \in \Delta^2 \setminus \overline{S} = \{(z_0, z_2) \in \Delta \times \Delta_{\frac{1}{2}} : |z_0|^2 < |z_2|^2 \} \text{ the inner circle of the inner cinner circle of the inner circle of$ annulus $A_z(r,1) := \{z_1 \in \Delta_z : 1 > |z_1|^2 > r^2\}$ consists from essentially singular points of $f_z : A_z(r,1) \to X^4$, here $r^2 = |z_2|^2 - |z_0|^2$.

Remark that S_t in this example is thick at origin. Let us give a condition on X sufficient to maintain the conclusion of Theorem 7.4 also for $n \ge 2$. Denote by $\mathbf{ev} : \mathcal{Z} \to X$ the natural evaluation map from the universal space \mathcal{Z} over $\mathcal{B}_q(X)$ to X.

Definition 7.10. Let us say that X has unbounded cycle geometry in dimension q if there exists a path $\gamma: [0,1[\to \mathcal{B}_q(X) \text{ with } \mathsf{vol}_{2q}(\mathbf{ev}(Z_{\gamma(t)})) \to \infty \text{ as } t \to \infty \text{ and } \mathbf{ev}(Z_{\gamma(t)}) \subset K \text{ for all } t, \text{ where } t \in \mathbb{C}$ K is some compact in X.

Theorem 7.5. Let $f: \Delta^n \times A^q(r,1) \to X$ be a holomorphic mapping into a normal, reduced complex space X. Suppose that there is a constant $C_0 < \infty$ and a compact $K \subseteq X$ such that for s in some subset $S \subset \Delta^n$, which is thick at origin the following holds:

(a) the restrictions $f_s := f|_{A^q_s(r,1)}$ extend meromorphically onto the polydisk Δ^q_s , and

 $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_s}) \leq C_0 \text{ for all } s \in S;$

(b) $f(\Delta^n \times A^q(r,1)) \subset K$ and $f_s(\Delta^q) \subset K$ for all $s \in S$.

If X has bounded cycle geometry in dimension q, then there exists a neighborhood $W \ni 0$ in Δ^n and a meromorphic extension of f onto $W \times \Delta^q$.

We shall use the Theorem 7.5 also in the case when q = 1 (but not only). In this case it admits a nice refinement. A 1-cycle $Z = \sum_j n_j Z_j$ is called rational if all Z_j are rational curves, *i.e.*, an images of the Riemann sphere \mathbb{P}^1 in X under a non constant holomorphic mappings. Considering the space of rational cycles $\mathcal{R}(X)$ instead of Barlet space $\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ we can define as in Definition 7.10 the notion of bounded rational cycle geometry.

Corollary 7.2. Suppose that in the conditions of Theorem 7.5 one has additionally that q = 1. Then the conclusion of this theorem holds provided X has bounded rational cycle geometry.

Let us give the proofs of Theorems 7.4, 7.5 and of Corollary 7.2.

Case n = 1. Define \mathcal{G}_0 as the set of all limits $\{\Gamma_{f_{s_n}}, s_n \in S, s_n \to 0\}$. Consider the union $\hat{\mathcal{G}}_0$ of those components of $\mathcal{G}_{f,2C_0}$ that intersect \mathcal{G}_0 . At least one of these components, say \mathcal{K} , contains two points a_1 and a_2 such that Z_{a_1} projects onto Δ_0^q and Z_{a_2} projects onto Δ_s^q with $s \neq 0$. This is so because S contains a sequence converging to zero. Consider the restriction $\mathcal{Z}_f \mid_{\mathcal{K}}$ of the universal family to \mathcal{K} . This is a complex space of finite dimension. Join the points a_1 and a_2 by an analytic disk $h : \Delta \to \mathcal{K}$, $h(0) = a_1, h(1/2) = a_2$. Then the composition $\psi = \varphi \circ h : \Delta \to \Delta$ is not degenerate because $\psi(0) = 0 \neq s = \psi(1/2)$. Here $\varphi := \operatorname{pr}_1 \circ \operatorname{ev} \circ \pi^{-1} : \mathcal{C}_f \to \Delta^n$ was defined in the proof of Lemma 7.3. Map φ restricted to \mathcal{G}_f will be denoted also as φ . Therefore ψ is proper and obviously such is the map $\operatorname{ev} : \mathcal{Z} \mid_{\psi(\Delta)} \to F(\mathcal{Z} \mid_{\psi(\Delta)}) \subset \Delta^{1+q} \times X$. Therefore $\operatorname{ev}(\mathcal{Z} \mid_{\psi(\Delta)})$ is an analytic set in $W \times \Delta^q \times X$ for small enough W extending Γ_f by the reason of dimension. This proves Theorem 7.4.

Case $n \ge 2$. We shall treat this case in two steps.

Step 1. Fix a point $z \in \Delta^n$ such that $\varphi(\mathcal{G}_f) \ni z$. Then there exists a relatively compact open $V \subset \mathcal{G}_f$, which contains \mathcal{G}_{f,C_0} such that $\varphi(V)$ is an analytic variety in some neighborhood W of z. Indeed, consider the analytic subset $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ in \mathcal{G}_f . Every Z_a with $a \in \varphi^{-1}(z)$ has the form $B_a + \Gamma_{f_z}$, where B is a compact cycle in $\Delta_z^q \times X$. Therefore connected components of $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ parameterize connected and closed subvarieties in $\mathcal{B}_q(\Delta^q \times X)$. Holomorphicity of f on $\Delta^n \times A^q(r, 1)$ and condition (b) of the Theorem 7.5 imply that $B_a \subset \overline{\Delta}_z^q \times K$. So, if $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ had non compact connected components, this would imply the unboundedness of cycle geometry of X.

Therefore all connected components of $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ should be compact. Let \mathcal{K} denote the union of connected components of $\varphi^{-1}(z)$ intersecting \mathcal{G}_{f,C_0} . Since \mathcal{K} is compact, there obviously exist a relatively compact open $V \Subset \mathcal{G}_f$ containing \mathcal{G}_{f,C_0} and \mathcal{K} , and a neighborhood $W \ni z$ such that $\varphi \mid_V : V \to W$ is proper. By the Remmert's proper mapping theorem. $\varphi(V) \subset W$ is an analytic subset of W.

Step 2. If S is thick at z then there exists a neighborhood $W \ni z$ such that f meromorphically extends onto $W \times \Delta^q$. Indeed, since $\varphi(V) \supset S \cap W$ and S is thick at the origin, the first step implies that $\varphi(V) \cap W = W$. Since $V \Subset \mathcal{G}_f$ there exist a constant C s.t. $\operatorname{vol}\{Z_s : s \in V\} \leqslant C$. This allows to apply the Theorem 7.3 and obtain the extension of f onto $W \times \Delta^q$. This proves the Theorem 7.5.

Case q = 1. The limit of a sequence of analytic disks of bounded area is an analytic disk plus a rational cycle, see Lemma 6.1. Therefore we need to consider only the space of rational cycles in this case. The rest is obvious. This gives Corollary 7.2.

7.8. A remark about spaces with bounded cycle geometry. To apply the Theorem 7.5 one needs to check the boundedness of cycle geometry of the space X. We shall do that for a wide class of complex spaces in Proposition 7.2 below.

Remark 7.7. We start from the following simple observation:

Every compact complex manifold of dimension q+1 carries a strictly positive (q,q)-form $\Omega^{q,q}$ with $dd^c\Omega^{q,q} = 0$.

Indeed, either a compact complex manifold carries a dd^c -closed strictly positive (q,q)-form or it carries a bidimension (q+1,q+1)-current T with $dd^cT \ge 0$ but $\ne 0$. In the case of dim X = q+1such current is nothing but a nonconstant plurisubharmonic function, which doesn't exists on compact X.

a) Let us introduce the class \mathcal{G}_q of normal complex spaces, carrying a nondegenerate positive dd^c -closed strictly positive (q,q)-forms. Note that the sequence $\{\mathcal{G}_q\}$ is rather exhaustive: \mathcal{G}_q contains all compact complex manifolds of dimension q+1.

b) Introduce furthermore the class of normal complex spaces \mathcal{P}_q^- which carry a strictly positive (q,q)-form $\Omega^{q,q}$ with $dd^c \Omega^{q,q} \leq 0$. Note that $\mathcal{P}_q^- \supset \mathcal{G}_q$.

Proposition 7.2. Let $X \in \mathcal{P}_q^-$ and let \mathcal{K} be an irreducible component of $\mathcal{B}_k(X)$ such that $\mathbf{ev}(\mathcal{Z}|_{\mathcal{K}})$ is relatively compact in X. Then:

- 1) \mathcal{K} is compact.
- 2) If $\Omega^{q,q}$ is a dd^c-negative (q,q)-form on X, then $\int_{Z_s} \Omega^{q,q} \equiv const$ for $s \in \mathcal{K}$.
- 3) X has bounded cycle geometry in dimension k.

Proof. 1) Let $\mathbf{ev} : \mathcal{Z} \mid_{\mathcal{K}} \to X$ be the evaluation map, and let $\Omega^{q,q}$ be a strictly positive dd^c negative (q,q)-form on X. Then $\int_{Z_s} \Omega^{q,q}$ measures the volume of Z_s . Let us prove that the
function $v(s) = \int_{Z_s} \Omega^{q,q}$ is plurisuperharmonic on \mathcal{K} . Take an analytic disk $\varphi : \Delta \to \mathcal{K}$. Then for
any nonnegative test function ψ on Δ by Stokes theorem and reasons of bidegree we have

$$\begin{split} <\psi, \Delta\varphi^*(v)> &= \int_{\Delta} \Delta\psi \cdot \int_{Z_{\varphi(s)}} \Omega^{q,q} = \int_{\mathcal{Z}|_{\varphi(\Delta)}} dd^c(\pi^*\psi) \wedge \Omega^{q,q} = \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{Z}|_{\varphi(\Delta)}} \pi^*\psi \wedge dd^c \Omega^{q,q} \leqslant 0. \end{split}$$

Here $\pi : \mathcal{Z} \mid_{\mathcal{K}} \to \mathcal{K}$ is the natural projection. So $\Delta \varphi^*(v) \leq 0$ for any analytic disk in \mathcal{K} in the sense of distributions. Therefore v is plurisuperharmonic.

Note that by Harvey-Shiffman generalization of Bishop's theorem $v(s) \to \infty$ as $s \to \partial \mathcal{K}$. So by the minimum principle $v \equiv \text{const}$ and \mathcal{K} is compact again by Bishop's theorem.

2) The same computation shows that $\int_{Z_s} \Omega^{q,q}$ is plurisuperharmonic for any dd^c -negative (q,q)-form. Since \mathcal{K} is proved to be compact, we obtain the statement.

3) Let \mathcal{R} be any connected component of $\mathcal{B}_q(X)$. Write $\mathcal{R} = \bigcup_j \mathcal{K}_j$, where \mathcal{K}_j are irreducible components. From (1) we have that v is constant on \mathcal{R} . So if $\{\mathcal{K}_j\}$ is not finite then \mathcal{R} has an accumulation point $s = \lim s_j$ by Bishop's theorem, where all s_j belong to different components \mathcal{K}_j of \mathcal{R} . This contradicts the fact that $\mathcal{B}_q(X)$ is a complex space.

Remark 7.8. Remark that a Kähler spaces obviously have bounded cycle geometry in all dimensions. Indeed, if ω is Kähler then $d\omega^q = 0$ for any q.

8. Meromorphic mappings with values in Kähler spaces

8.1. Hartogs-type extension theorem for Kähler spaces. Let h be some Hermitian metric on a complex manifold X and let ω_h be the associated (1,1)-form. Recall that ω_h (and h itself) is called Kähler if $d\omega_h = 0$. When X is a (reduced) complex space a metric form ω on X is defined as follows. Let $\{U_\alpha\}$ be a locally finite, open covering of X such that for every α there exists a holomorphic imbedding $i_\alpha : U_\alpha \to V_\alpha$, where V_α is open in some \mathbb{C}^N . Then $\omega|_{U_\alpha}$ should be the restriction of a metric form $\tilde{\omega}_\alpha$ in V_α to $i_\alpha(U_\alpha)$ i.e., $\omega|_{U_\alpha} = i_\alpha^* \tilde{\omega}_\alpha$. ω is called Kähler if every $\tilde{\omega}_\alpha$ is Kähler, *i.e.*, closed. Complex projective space \mathbb{P}^n carries the so called Fubini-Study

form, which in homogeneous coordinates $Z = [z_0 : ... : z_n]$ writes as $dd^c \ln ||Z||^2$ and is therefore Kähler. As a result every projective manifold/algebraic space is Kähler. As it was remarked in Corollary 7.1 every algebraic space possesses the Hartogs extension property for meromorphic mappings. This can be generalized to the case of Kähler spaces.

Theorem 8.1. Let X be a disk-convex, reduced Kähler space. Then every meromorphic mapping $f: H_r^{n+1} \to X$, $n \ge 1$, extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \to X$.

Proof. As it was explained in Remark 7.4 we can suppose that X is normal.

Step 1. Area function. For $z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in \Delta^n$ set $\Delta_z := \{z\} \times \Delta$. Let U be the maximal open subset of Δ^n such that f meromorphically extends to a Hartogs figure over U, i.e., to $H_U^{n+1}(r)$, see (6.2). Remark that the area function (6.5) is well defined for $z \in U$ such that Δ_z is not entirely contained in the *indeterminacy set* I_f of f. As it was explained in Remark 7.1 for such z the restriction $f|_{\Delta_z}$ is well defined and holomorphic. Set

$$A'_{\mathbf{v}} := \{ z \in \Delta^n : \Delta_z \cap H^{n+1}_U(r) \subset I_f \}$$

$$(8.1)$$

and call $A_v := A'_v \times \Delta$ the vertical subset of I_f . It is clear that A_v is an analytic subset of $H^{n+1}_U(r)$ of codimension ≥ 2 and that A'_v itself is a proper analytic subset (of codimension ≥ 2) of Δ^n . Therefore the formula (6.5) has perfectly sense and the integral in the right hand side of it is finite for every $z \in U \setminus A'_v$. We need to prove more: that a(z) is locally bounded in $(\overline{U} \cap \Delta^n) \setminus A'_v$. Step 2. Vanishing of the cohomology of Hartogs domains. Let us improve Lemma 6.2 and prove that for any domain $U \subset \Delta^n$ and any analytic set A in $H^{n+1}_U(r)$ of codimension ≥ 2 one has

$$H_{DR}^2\left(H_U^{n+1}(r)\setminus A\right) = 0, (8.2)$$

where H_{DR} stands for the de Rham cohomology. Indeed, duality (see [Rh], Théorème 17, Chapitre IV) it follows from (6.3) that

$$H_{DR}^{2}\left(H_{U}^{n+1}(r)\right) = 0.$$
(8.3)

Consider the exact sequence

$$H^{2}\left(H_{U}^{n+1}(r)\right) \to H^{2}\left(H_{U}^{n+1}(r) \setminus A\right) \to H^{3}_{A}\left(H_{U}^{n+1}(r)\right)$$

$$(8.4)$$

Since A has real codimension at least four we have that $\mathcal{H}^{j}_{A}(\mathbb{C}) = 0$ for j = 1, 2, 3 and therefore the result follows.

Let $\tilde{\omega} := f^* \omega$ be the pull-back of the Kähler form. It is a smooth closed 2-form on $H_U^{n+1}(r) \setminus I_f$. By (8.2) this form is exact, *i.e.*, there exists a smooth 1-form γ on $H_U^{n+1}(r) \setminus I_f$ such that

$$d\gamma = \tilde{\omega}.\tag{8.5}$$

Step 3. Extension outside of the vertical analytic set. We shall prove that f meromorphically extends to $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus A_v$. Take a point $s_0 \in (\partial U \cap \Delta^n) \setminus A'_v$ and find a neighborhood V of it such that $V \subseteq \Delta^n \setminus A_v$. Then for $z \in U \cap V$, if V was taken small enough, one has for some constant C independent of $z \in V$

$$a(z) = \int_{\Delta_z} \tilde{\omega} = \int_{\partial \Delta_z} \gamma \leqslant C. \tag{8.6}$$

Boundedness of the cycle geometry of a Kähler space permits us to apply Theorem 7.5 to this case. Indeed, U is obviously thick at s_0 . Therefore f extends to $W \times \Delta$ for some neighborhood and the step is proved.

Step 4. Extension across an analytic sets. In the previous step we proved that f holomorphically extends to $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus A_v$. The last step of the proof used the following Thullen-type meromorphic extension statement.

Lemma 8.1. Let $f: \Delta^{n+1} \setminus A \to X$ be a meromorphic mapping into a disk-convex Kähler space, where A is analytic subset in Δ^{n+1} of codimension ≥ 2 . Then f extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \to X$.

45

Take a point $s_0 \in A$ and choose coordinates in a neighborhood $U = \Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta^2$ of it such that the restriction $\pi_A : A \to \Delta^{n-2}$ of the natural projection $\pi : \Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta^2 \to \Delta^{n-1}$ is proper (we suppose that A is of pure codimension two for simplicity). Then the area function a(z) is well defined for $z \in \Delta^{n-1}$ because $A_v = \emptyset$ now. Repeating Step 3 we extend f to Δ^{n+1} . Lemma and theorem are proved.

Let us give a non-linear version of Theorem 8.1 in the spirit of Theorem 2.1. Let's call a family $\{\varphi_t \in \mathsf{Hol}(\Delta_{1+\varepsilon}, \Delta) : t \in T\}$ a *test family* if the exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every pair $s \neq t \in T$ there exists a radius $1 - \varepsilon/2 < r < 1 + \varepsilon/2$ such that $(\varphi_s - \varphi_t)|_{\partial \Delta_r}$ doesn't vanish and has winding number $\leq N$. As usual by C_t we denote the graph of φ_t .

Corollary 8.1. Let X be a reduced, disk-convex complex space and $f: R^2_{1-r,1+r} \to X$ a meromorphic mapping. Suppose that there exists an uncountable test family of holomorphic maps $\{\varphi_t: \Delta_{1+\varepsilon} \to \Delta: t \in T\}$ such that $f|_{C_t \cap R^2_{1-r,1+r}}$ holomorphically extends to C_t for every $t \in T$. Then f extends to a meromorphic mapping from a pinched domain \mathcal{P} to X.

For the proof we refer to [Iv12].

8.2. Banach neighborhoods of stable curves. To finish the sketch of the proof of Theorem 2.3 we need to explain a necessary version of a continuity principle, *i.e.*, the step 3. But in order to do so we shall need first to describe neighborhoods of *non-compact* curves in stable topology. This description will allow us to draw analytic families through two sufficiently close curves, see Proposition 8.1 below.

Let U be an open set in some complex Banach space L.

Definition 8.1. We say that a closed subset $\mathcal{M} \subset U$ is a Banach analytic set of finite codimension if for every point $m \in \mathcal{M}$ there exists a neighborhood B of m and an analytic map $F: B \to \mathbb{C}^N$, for some N, such that $\mathcal{M} \cap B = \{x \in B : F(x) = 0\}$.

As we already know nothing good can be said about Banach analytic sets in general. A converging sequence of points in l^2 , see example in Remark 2.3 (c), can be realized as a Hilbert analytic set. Moreover, every metric compact, e.g., interval [0,1], can be realized as a Banach analytic set in an appropriate Banach space, see [Rm] p. 33. However, the structure of Banach analytic sets of *finite codimension* is pretty nice according to the following theorem, which is due to Ramis.

Theorem 8.2. Let $\mathcal{M} \subset U$ be a Banach analytic set of finite codimension, $0 \in \mathcal{M}$. Then there is a neighborhood $B \ni 0$ such that $\mathcal{M} \cap B$ is a finite union of irreducible components \mathcal{M}_j , each of them being a finite ramified cover of a neighborhood of zero in the subspace L_j of L of finite codimension.

Fix now a complex space X and a stable curve (C_0, u_0) over X parameterized by a real surface Σ , see Definition 2.4. The key result we need is the following.

Theorem 8.3. There exist a Banach analytic sets of finite codimension \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{C} and holomorphic maps $\mathcal{U}: \mathcal{C} \to X$ and $\pi: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}$, such that:

a) for any $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ fiber $C_{\lambda} := \pi^{-1}(\lambda)$ is a nodal curve parameterized by Σ and $C_{\lambda_0} = C_0$ for some $\lambda_0 \in \mathcal{M}$;

b) $(C_{\lambda}, u_{\lambda})$ with $u_{\lambda} := \mathcal{U}|_{C_{\lambda}}$ is a stable curve over X and $u_{\lambda_0} = u_0$;

c) if (C', u') is sufficiently close to (C_0, u_0) in Gromov topology, then there exists $\lambda' \in \mathcal{M}$ such that $(C', u') = (C_{\lambda'}, \mathcal{U}|_{\lambda'})$.

Proof. Let us sketch the proof of this theorem assuming for simplicity that X is a manifold. Let (C_0, u_0) be our stable curve over X. Denote by E the pull-back u_0^*TX of the tangent bundle to X together with natural holomorphic structure on it. We suppose that u_0 extends $L^{1,p}$ -smoothly onto the boundary of C_0 to be able to consider the $L^{1,p}$ -sections of E, here some p > 2 is fixed.

Cover C_0 by a finite family of open sets U_i with boundaries in such a way that intersections $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$ have piecewise smooth boundaries. In the case when U_i contains a nodal point it should be a union of two disks. We take U_i sufficiently small to find a coordinate chart V_i containing $u_0(U_i)$.

If U_i is smooth, consider a complex Banach manifold of holomorphic maps $\mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_i, V_i)$ with a tangent space at $u_i^0 = u_0 |_{U_i}$ equal to $\mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_i, E)$, the space of holomorphic $L^{1,p}$ -sections of E over U_i . If U_i is a neighborhood of a node, we consider a complex Banach manifold of holomorphic $L^{1,p}$ -maps from \mathcal{A} to V_i with tangent space at u_i equal to $\mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_i, E)$, the space of pairs of holomorphic $L^{1,p}$ -sections f_1 and f_2 over the components \mathcal{A}_0^1 and \mathcal{A}_0^2 of the standard node \mathcal{A}_0 respectively, such that $f_1(0) = f_2(0)$.

Denote by B_i open neighborhoods of u_i^0 in these Banach manifolds. Repeat the same construction for $U_{ij}, i < j$, using as a coordinate chart V_i , and get the Banach manifolds $\mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_{ij}, V_i)$ with tangent spaces $\mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_{ij}, E)$.

Denote by $\varphi_{ij}: V_j \to V_i$ the coordinate change. We can consider the following analytic map between complex Banach manifolds

$$\Phi: \Pi_i B_i \to \Pi_{i < j} \mathcal{H}^{1, p}(U_{i, j}, V_i), \qquad (\Phi(\{h_i\}))_{ij} := \varphi_{ij}(h_j) - h_i.$$
(8.7)

Zero level set of this map is a Banach analytic set and is by construction some neighborhood in Gromov topology of (C_0, u_0) in the space of stable complex curves over X. Denote this neighborhood by \mathcal{M} . Differential $d\Phi_{u_0}$ of this map at u_0 coincides with the differential of Čech complex

$$\begin{aligned}
\delta : & \sum_{i=1}^{l} \mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_i, E) &\longrightarrow & \sum_{i < j} \mathcal{H}^{1,p}(U_{ij}, E) \\
\delta : & (v_i)_{i=1}^{l} &\longmapsto & (v_i - v_j)
\end{aligned}$$
(8.8)

This differential has the following properties:

i) the image $\text{Im}(\delta)$ is of finite codimension and closed; more over, $\text{Coker}(\delta) = H^1(C_0, E)$ = $H^1(C_{comp}, E)$, where C_{comp} denotes the union of compact irreducible components of C_0 ;

ii) the kernel $\text{Ker}(\delta)$ admits a closed complementing.

Denote by $T = \operatorname{Im} d\Phi_{u_0}$ and by S its finite dimensional complement. Let π_T be a projection onto T parallel to S. Implicit function theorem applied to $\pi_T \circ \Phi$ tells us that \mathcal{M} is contained in complex Banach manifold \mathcal{N} with tangent space at u_0 equal to $\operatorname{Ker} d\Phi = \operatorname{Ker} \delta = \mathcal{H}^{1,p}(C_0, E)$. Now our \mathcal{M} is a Banach analytic subset of \mathcal{N} defined by the equation $\pi_S \circ \Phi = 0$, where π_S is a projection onto finite dimensional vector space S parallel to T. Therefore \mathcal{M} is of finite codimension.

For more details on the proof we refer to [IS3]. The following proposition is an immediate corollary of Theorem 8.3 and will be used in the proof of the Continuity principle. Consider a sequence (C_n, u_n) of stable curves over a complex manifold X, which converges in Gromov topology to (C_0, u_0) . We suppose that C_n are smooth, except C_0 .

Proposition 8.1. There exist a natural N and smooth complex surface C together with a surjective holomorphic map $\pi_{\mathcal{C}} : \mathcal{C} \to \Delta$ and holomorphic map $\mathcal{U} : \mathcal{C} \to X$ such that the family $\{(C_{\lambda}, u_{\lambda})\}$ with $C_{\lambda} := \pi_{\mathcal{C}}^{-1}(\lambda)$ and $u_{\lambda} := \mathcal{U}|_{C_{\lambda}}$ is a holomorphic family of stable curves over X joining (C_N, u_N) with (C_0, u_0) . More precisely:

1) For every $\lambda \in \Delta$ $C_{\lambda} = \pi_{\mathcal{C}}^{-1}(\lambda)$ is a connected nodal curve with boundary ∂C_{λ} and the pair $(C_{\lambda}, u_{\lambda} := \mathcal{U}|_{C_{\lambda}})$ is a stable curve over X.

2) For λ outside of zero C_{λ} is connected and smooth.

3) (C_0, u_0) is our limit and there is $\lambda_N \in \Delta$ such that $(C_{\lambda_N}, u_{\lambda_N}) = (C_N, u_N)$.

4) There are open subsets $W_1, ..., W_m$ of C such that every W_j is biholomorphic to $\Delta \times A_j$, where A_j is an annulus in \mathbb{C} and the following diagrams are commutative

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
W_j &\sim & \Delta \times A_j \\
\pi_{\mathcal{C}} \downarrow & & \downarrow \pi_{\Delta} \\
\Delta &= & \Delta
\end{array}$$
(8.9)

Each annulus $C_{\lambda} \cap W_j \cong \{\lambda\} \times A_j$ is adjacent to one boundary component of C_{λ} , and the number m of domains W_j is equal to the number of boundary components of every C_{λ} .

Proof. Let a sequence of stable curves over X converges to (C_0, u_0) . Take a neighborhood \mathcal{M} of (C_0, u_0) in Gromov topology, which is realized as a Banach analytic set of finite codimension in Banach ball **B**. Denote by λ_0 the point on \mathcal{M} which corresponds to (C_0, u_0) . By the theorem of Ramis \mathcal{M} in the neighborhood of λ_0 has finite number of irreducible components. One of them, denote it as \mathcal{M}_1 should contain a point λ_N which corresponds to (C_N, u_N) . Further, there is a closed linear subspace L of **B** of finite codimension such that \mathcal{M}_1 is a finite covering of $L \cap \mathbf{B}$. Now one can easily find an analytic disk passing through λ_0 and λ_N .

8.3. Continuity Principle. Let U be a domain in a complex manifold X and let Y be a reduced complex space.

Definition 8.2. An envelope of meromorphy of U relative to Y is a maximal domain (\hat{U}_Y, π) over X, which contains U (i.e., there exists an imbedding $i: U \to \hat{U}_Y$ with $\pi \circ i = \mathsf{Id}$), such that every meromorphic mapping $f: U \to Y$ extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \hat{U}_Y \to Y$.

Theorem 8.4. (Continuity Principle-1) Let U be a domain in a complex Hermitian surface (X, ω) and let $(\hat{U}_Y, \hat{\pi})$ be its envelope of meromorphy relative to a disk-convex Kähler space Y. Let (C_n, u_n) be a sequence of smooth curves over \hat{U}_Y parameterized by the same surface Σ , such that 1) area $(u_n(C_n))$ with respect to $\pi^*\omega$ are uniformly bounded;

1) alca $(u_n(C_n))$ with respect to n ω are uniformity of ω

2) $u_n C^1$ -converges in the neighborhood of ∂C_n ;

3) $(\pi \circ u_n)(C_n)$ are contained in some compact of U.

Then $u_n(C_n)$ are contained in some compact of U_Y .

This result can be reformulated in more familiar terms as follows. Let $\{(C_t, u_t)\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ be a continuous (in the Gromov topology) family of complex curves over X with boundaries, parameterized by a unit interval. More precisely, for each $t \in [0,1]$ a smooth Riemann surface with boundary $(C_t, \partial C_t)$ is given together with the holomorphic mapping $u_t : C_t \longrightarrow X$, which is \mathcal{C}^1 -smooth up to the boundary. Note that C_1 is not supposed to be smooth, *i.e.*, it can be a nodal curve. As well as there is no assumption on hove parameterizations depend on t. Suppose that in the neighborhood V of $u_0(C_0)$ a meromorphic map f into complex space Y is given.

Definition 8.3. We shall say that mapping f meromorphically extends along the family (C_t, u_t) if for every $t \in [0,1]$ a neighborhood V_t of $u_t(C_t)$ is given, and given a meromorphic map $f_t: V_t \longrightarrow Y$ such that

a)
$$V_0 = V$$
 and $f_0 = f$;

b) if $V_{t_1} \cap V_{t_2} \neq \emptyset$ then $f_{t_1}|_{V_{t_1} \cap V_{t_2}} = f_{t_2}|_{V_{t_1} \cap V_{t_2}}$.

Theorem 8.5. (Continuity principle-II). Let U be a domain in a complex Hermitian surface (X, ω) . Let $\{(C_t, u_t)\}_{t \in [0,1]}$ be a continuous family of complex curves over X with boundaries in a relatively compact subdomain $U_1 \in U$. Suppose also that $u_0(C_0) \subset U$ and that C_t for $t \in [0,1[$ are smooth. Then every meromorphic mapping $f : U \to Y$ to a disk-convex Kähler space Y extends meromorphically along the family (C_t, u_t) .

The discussion made above leads to the following

Corollary 8.2. If U is a domain in a complex Hermitian surface (X, ω) and $\{(C_t, u_t)\}$ a family satisfying the conditions of the continuity principle, then this family can be lifted to the envelope \hat{U}_Y , i.e., there exists a continuous family $\{(C_t, \hat{u}_t)\}$ of complex curves in \hat{U}_Y such that $\pi \circ \hat{u}_t = u_t$ for every t.

Of course, the point here is that the map can be extended to the neighborhood of $u_1(C_1)$, which is a reducible curve having in general compact components. For further details on the

proof of the continuity principle we refer to [IS2]. This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.3 and gives, in fact, the following more general statement.

Theorem 8.6. Let M be a ω -positive immersed two-sphere in a compact Kähler surface (X, ω) having only positive transversal self-intersections and such that $c_1(X) \cdot [M] > 0$. Then for any neighborhood U of M its envelope of meromorphy (\hat{U}_Y, π) of U relative to any disk-convex Kähler space Y contains a rational curve C such that $c_1(X) \cdot [C] > 0$.

Example 8.1. This example was explained to us by E. Chirka, and it shows that our continuity principle is not valid when the complex dimension of the manifold X is more than two. Take as X the total space of the bundle $\mathcal{O}(-1) \oplus \mathcal{O}(-1)$ over \mathbb{P}^1 . Denote an affine coordinate on \mathbb{P}^1 by z, coordinates on the fibers by ξ_1, ξ_2 and η_1, η_2 , such that $\eta_1 = z\xi_1$ and $\eta_2 = z\xi_2$. Identify \mathbb{P}^1 with the zero section of the bundle. Consider meromorphic function $f = e^{\xi_2/\xi_1}$. The set of essential singularity of f is $\{\xi_1 = 0\}$, which contains the zero section \mathbb{P}^1 . Consider the following sequence of analytic disks C_n in $U := X \setminus \{\xi_1 = 0\}, C_n := \{\xi_2 = 0, |z| \leq n, \xi_1 = \frac{z}{n}\}$. The limit of this sequence is $C_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \cup \Delta_{\infty}$, where $\Delta_{\infty} := \{\eta_2 = 0, z = \infty, |\eta_1| \leq 1\}$ and f doesn't extend to a neighborhood of this C_0 .

Let us give one corollary of the continuity principle as an illustration.

Corollary 8.3. Let X be a complex surface with one singular normal point p. Let D be a domain in X, $\partial D \ni p$. Suppose there is a sequence (C_n, u_n) of stable curves over $D \subset X$ converging to (C_0, u_0) in Gromov topology and such that

a) there is a compact $K \subset D$ with $u_n(\partial C_n) \subset K$ for all n;

b) $p \in u_0(C_0)$.

Then every meromorphic function from D extends to the neighborhood of p.

9. Pluriclosed metrics and spherical shells

Unlike the Kähler case meromorphic mappings with values in general complex manifolds can have even point singularities. We already saw such example in the case when X is a Hopf surface, see Example 7.1. The singularity set of the projection π there is a point. For more examples see examples 7.3, 9.2 and 10.1 in this text, as well as §3 in [Iv8].

9.1. Pluriclosed and plurinegative metric forms. It was proved by P. Gauduchon in [Ga] that every Hermitian metric on every compact complex surface is conformal to such metric h that its associated (1,1)-form ω_h is dd^c -closed, *i.e.*, $dd^c\omega_h = 0$.

Definition 9.1. Let h be a Hermitian metric on a complex manifold X and let ω_h be the corresponding (1,1)-form. We call ω_h (and h itself) pluriclosed or, dd^c -closed, if $dd^c\omega_h = 0$. The form ω_h (and the metric h) is called plurinegative or, dd^c -negative, if $dd^c\omega_h \leq 0$.

Recall that $d^c := \frac{i}{4\pi}(\bar{\partial} - \partial)$ and therefore $dd^c = \frac{i}{2\pi}\partial\bar{\partial}$, in particular $dd^c \ln |z|^2 = \delta_0$. If X is a complex space we say that a metric form ω is dd^c -closed (resp. dd^c -negative) if it is locally a restriction of such a form under the local imbedding of X to \mathbb{C}^N . Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{C}^n .

Definition 9.2. A subset $K \subset \Omega$ is called (complete) p-polar if for any $a \in \Omega$ there exist a neighborhood $V \ni a$ and coordinates $z_1, ..., z_n$ in V such that the sets $K_{z_I^0} = K \cap \{z_{i_1} = z_{i_1^0}, ..., z_{i_p} = z_{i_p^0}\}$ are (complete) pluripolar in the subspaces $V_{z_i^0} := \{z \in V : z_{i_1} = z_{i_1^0}, ..., z_{i_p} = z_{i_p^0}\}$ for almost all $z_I^0 = (z_{i_1}^0, ..., z_{i_p}^0) \in \pi^I(V)$, where I runs over a finite set of multi-indices with |I| = p, such that $\{(\pi^I)^*\omega_e\}_I$ generates the space of (p, p)-forms. Here $\pi^I(z_1, ..., z_n) = (z_{i_1}, ..., z_{i_p})$ denotes the projection onto the space of variables $(z_{i_1}, ..., z_{i_p})$.

Suppose that K is, in addition, of Hausdorff codimension four. Take a point $a \in K$ and a complex two-dimensional plane $P \ni a$ such that $P \cap K$ is of dimension zero. A sphere $\mathbb{S}^3 = \{x \in P : ||x - a|| = \varepsilon\}$ with $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough will be called a *transverse sphere* if $\mathbb{S}^3 \cap K = \emptyset$.

Theorem 9.1. Let $f : H_r^{n+1} \to X$ be a meromorphic map to a reduced disk-convex complex space X which admits a plurinegative Hermitian metric form. Then:

- i) f extends to a meromorphic map $\hat{f}: \Delta^{n+1} \setminus S \to X$, where S is a closed (n-1)-polar subset of Δ^{n+1} of Hausdorff dimension 2n-2;
- ii) if, in addition, ω is pluriclosed and $S \neq \emptyset$, then for every transverse sphere $\mathbb{S}^3 \subset \Delta^{n+1} \setminus S$ its image $f(\mathbb{S}^3)$ is not homologous to zero in X.

Remark 9.1. A (two-dimensional) *spherical shell* in a complex space X is the image Σ of the standard sphere $\mathbb{S}^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ under a holomorphic map of some neighborhood of \mathbb{S}^3 into X such that Σ is not homologous to zero in X. Theorem states that if the singularity set S of our map f is non-empty and the metric form ω is pluriclosed then X contains spherical shells.

Example 9.1. 1. Let X be the Hopf surface $X = (\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\})/(z \sim 2z)$ and $f : \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to X$ be the canonical projection. The (1,1)-form $\omega = \frac{i}{2} \frac{(dz,dz)}{\|z\|^2} := \frac{i}{2} \frac{dz_1 \wedge d\overline{z}_1 + dz_2 \wedge d\overline{z}_2}{\|z\|^2}$ is well defined on X and $dd^c \omega = 0$. In this example one easily sees that f is not extendable to zero and that the image of the unit sphere from \mathbb{C}^2 is not homologous to zero in X. Note also that $dd^c f^* \omega = dd^c \omega = -c_4 \delta_{\{0\}} dz \wedge d\overline{z}$, where c_4 is the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^2 and $\delta_{\{0\}}$ is the delta-function.

2. In §3.6 of [Iv8] an Example 3.7 of a 4-dimensional compact complex manifold X and a holomorphic mapping $f : \mathbb{B}^2 \setminus \{s_k\} \to X$ is constructed, where $\{s_k\}$ is a sequence of points converging to zero, such that f cannot be meromorphically extended to the neighborhood of any s_k . There one finds also Example 3.6 where the singularity set S is of Cantor-type and pluripolar.

Example 9.2. On a Hopf three-fold $X = (\mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\})/(z \sim 2z)$ the analogous metric form $\omega = \frac{i}{2} \frac{(dz,dz)}{||z||^2}$ is no longer pluriclosed but only plurinegative (i.e. $dd^c \omega \leq 0$). Moreover, if we consider ω as a bidimension (2,2) current, then it will provide us a natural obstruction for the existence of a pluriclosed metric form on X. For this X the natural projection $\pi : \mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\} \to X$ has singularity of codimension three and X doesn't contains spherical shells of dimension two (but it contains a spherical shell of dimension three).

All compact complex surfaces admit pluriclosed Hermitian metric forms, therefore we obtain:

Corollary 9.1. If X is a compact complex surface, then:

- (a) every meromorphic map $f: H_r^{n+1} \to X$ extends to $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus A$, where A is an analytic set of pure codimension two;
- (b) if Ω is a domain on a Stein surface and $K \subseteq \Omega$ is a compact with connected complement, then every meromorphic map $f: \Omega \setminus K \to X$ extends to $\Omega \setminus \{\text{finite set}\}$. If this set is not empty (respectively, if A from (a) is non-empty), then X contains a spherical shell.

Remark 9.2. The fact that in the case of surfaces the singularity set A is a genuine analytic set requires some additional (not complicated) considerations. They are given in §3.4 of [Iv8], where also some other cases when A can be proved to be analytic are discussed.

There is a hope that the surfaces with spherical shells could be classified, as well as surfaces of class VII_0 containing a rational curve. Therefore the following somewhat surprising speculation, which immediately follows from Corollary 9.1, could be of some interest:

Corollary 9.2. If a compact complex surface X is not "among the known ones" then for every domain D in a Stein surface every meromorphic mapping $f: D \to X$ is in fact holomorphic and extends as a holomorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \hat{D} \to X$ of the envelope of holomorphy \hat{D} of D into X.

At this point let us note that the notion of a spherical shell, as we understand it here, is different from the notion of *global spherical shell* from [Ka1] and therefore Corollary 9.2 is indeed not more than a "speculation". A real two-form ω on a complex manifold X is said to "tame" the complex structure J if for any non-zero tangent vector $v \in TX$ we have $\omega(v, Jv) > 0$. This is equivalent to the property that the (1,1)-component $\omega^{1,1}$ of ω is strictly positive. Complex manifolds admitting a *closed* form, which tames the complex structure, are of special interest. The class of such manifolds contains all Kähler manifolds. On the other hand, such metric forms

are dd^c -closed. Indeed, if $\omega = \omega^{2,0} + \omega^{1,1} + \bar{\omega}^{2,0}$ and $d\omega = 0$, then $\partial \omega^{1,1} = -\bar{\partial} \omega^{2,0}$. Therefore $dd^c \omega^{1,1} = 2i\partial \bar{\partial} \omega^{1,1} = 0$. So the Main Theorem applies to meromorphic mappings into such manifolds. In fact, the technique of the proof gives more:

Corollary 9.3. Suppose that a compact complex manifold X admits a strictly positive (1,1)form, which is the (1,1)-component of a closed form. Then every meromorphic map $f: H_U^{n+1}(r) \to X$ extends to Δ^{n+1} .

9.2. Proof in dimension two. Let us outline the proof of the Theorem 9.1, first in dimension two, *i.e.*, when n = 1.

Step 1. Estimate of the Laplacian. Recall that for an open $U \subset \Delta$ we denote by $H^2_U(r)$ the Hartogs figure over U, see (6.2). Let $f: H^2_r \to X$ be our mapping. Performing dilatations in the vertical direction we can without loss of generality suppose that f is defined and holomorphic in a neighborhood of $\Delta \times \partial \Delta$.

Lemma 9.1. If the metric form ω on a disk-convex complex space X is plurinegative and U is maximal open subset of Δ such that f extends to $H^2_U(r)$ then $\partial U \cap \Delta$ is complete polar in Δ .

Take a point $z_0 \in \partial U \cap \Delta$. Choose a relatively compact neighborhood V of z_0 in Δ . Denote by $T = \frac{i}{2} t^{\alpha \bar{\beta}} dz_{\alpha} \wedge d\bar{z}_{\beta}$ the plurinegative current $f^* \omega + dd^c ||z||^2$. Consider the area function

$$a(z_1) = \frac{i}{2} \cdot \int_{|z_2| \le 1} t^{2\bar{2}}(z_1, z_2) dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_2.$$
(9.1)

The condition that dd^cT is negative means that

$$\frac{\partial^2 t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2 \partial \bar{z}_2} + \frac{\partial^2 t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_1 \partial \bar{z}_1} - \frac{\partial^2 t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial z_2 \partial \bar{z}_1} - \frac{\partial^2 t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1 \partial \bar{z}_2} \leqslant 0 \tag{9.2}$$

on $H^2_U(r)$. Now we can estimate the Laplacian of a:

$$\Delta a(z_1) = 2i \int_{|z_2| \leqslant 1} \frac{\partial^2 t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_1 \partial \bar{z}_1} dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 \leqslant 2i \int_{|z_2| \leqslant 1} \left(-\frac{\partial^2 t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2 \partial \bar{z}_2} + \frac{\partial^2 t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial z_2 \partial \bar{z}_1} + \frac{\partial^2 t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1 \partial \bar{z}_2} \right) dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 =$$

$$= 2i \int_{|z_2|=1} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 + 2i \int_{|z_2|=1} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_2 - 2i \int_{|z_2|=1} \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1} dz_2 = \psi(z_1). \tag{9.3}$$

Inequality (9.3) holds for $z_1 \in V \cap U$, but the right hand side ψ is smooth in the whole of V. This means that the area behaves roughly as a superharmonic function. Let φ be a smooth solution of

$$\Delta \varphi = \psi. \tag{9.4}$$

 Set

$$h := a - \varphi. \tag{9.5}$$

Denote by E the set of points $z_0 \in \partial U \cap V$ such that $a(z) \to +\infty$ as $z \in V, z \to z_0$. Note that h(z) also tends to $+\infty$ in this case and note that h is harmonic in $V \setminus E$. For any point $z_{\infty} \in [\partial U \cap V] \setminus E$ we can find a sequence $\{z_n\} \subset V, z_n \to z_{\infty}$ such that $a(z_n) \leq C$. By Theorem 7.4 f extends to $\Delta(\varepsilon, z_{\infty}) \times \Delta$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Therefore a(z) must tend to infinity when $z \to \partial U$ as well as h. By standard argument, see the proof of Lemma 2.4 in [Iv8] for details, this implies that h is superharmonic on the whole of V and therefore its polar set E has zero Hausdorff dimension, see [Gl]. Repeating this argument for $V = \Delta$ we get that E is *complete* polar, $h(z) \to +\infty$ when $z \to E$ and that h is harmonic on $\Delta \setminus E$. Lemma is proved.

Remark 9.3. We can add to E the discrete in $\Delta \setminus E$ set of points s_1 such that $\Delta_{s_1} \cap I_f \neq \emptyset$. Adding to h terms $-\ln \frac{|z_1-s_1|}{2}$ with appropriate coefficients we can insure that the enlarged E is still complete polar, $h = +\infty$ exactly on E and harmonic elsewhere. Set $S_1 = E$ and remark that f is *holomorphic* on $\Delta^2 \setminus (S_1 \times \Delta)$. Finally remark that for pluriclosed ω (9.3) is an *equality*.

Step 2. Extension of the current $T = f^* \omega + dd^c ||z||^2$. Interchanging coordinates in \mathbb{C}^2 and repeating the Step 1 we see that f holomorphically extends to $\Delta^2 \setminus (S_1 \times S_2)$, where S_1 and S_2 are complete polar compacts (after shrinking). Set $S = S_1 \times S_2$, this is a complete pluripolar compact in Δ^2 of Hausdorff dimension zero and f is holomorphic on $\Delta^2 \setminus S$.

50

Lemma 9.2. T has locally summable coefficients on the whole of Δ^2 .

Indeed, consider the area function $a(z_1)$ as in (9.1). We remarked that $h = a - \varphi$ is superharmonic and obviously $\neq +\infty$. Therefore $h \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta)$. Since φ is smooth we get that $a \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta)$. This proves that $t^{2,\bar{2}} \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta^2)$. Analogously $t^{1\bar{1}} \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta^2)$. Positivity of T means that $t^{1\bar{1}}t^{2\bar{2}} - |t^{1\bar{2}}|^2 \ge 0$ and therefore

$$\int_{\Delta^2} |t^{1\bar{2}}| \leq \int_{\Delta^2} \sqrt{t^{1\bar{1}}} \sqrt{t^{2\bar{2}}} \leq \left(\int_{\Delta^2} t^{1\bar{1}} \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Delta^2} t^{2\bar{2}} \right)^{1/2}.$$
(9.6)

Which means that $t^{1\bar{2}} \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta^2)$. Lemma is proved.

 $T := f^* \omega + dd^c ||z||^2$ has coefficients in $L^1_{loc}(\Delta^2)$ and therefore has trivial extension \tilde{T} to Δ^2 . Set $\mu_T := dd^c \tilde{T} - \widetilde{dd^c T}$. By Theorem 5.11 μ_T is a non-positive measure supported on S.

Step 3. Appearance of shells. Suppose that the metric form ω on X is pluriclosed. Take a relatively compact disc $D \in \Delta$ such that $\partial D \cap S_1 = \emptyset$ and set $W_D := D \times \Delta$. Set furthermore $\partial_0 W_D := \overline{D} \times \partial \Delta$ and $W_{\partial D} = \partial D \times \overline{\Delta}$. Therefore $\partial W_D = \partial_0 W_D \cup W_{\partial D}$. Denote by $dd^c a$ the smooth by (9.3) extension of $dd^c a$ from $D \setminus S_1$ to D. From (9.3) we see that

$$\widetilde{dd^c a} = \frac{i}{8\pi} \Delta a dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 = \frac{-1}{4\pi} \left(\int_{\partial \Delta} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 + \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1} dz_2 \right) dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1.$$
(9.7)

Lemma 9.3. If ω is pluriclosed then for a relatively compact disk $D \in \Delta$ such that $\partial D \cap S_1 = \emptyset$ one has the following two relations

$$\int_{\partial W_D} d^c T = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a}$$
(9.8)

and

$$\int_{\partial W_D} d^c T = \int_{\partial D} d^c h. \tag{9.9}$$

Proof. Write $8\pi d^c T = 2i(\overline{\partial} - \partial)T = (\partial - \overline{\partial})\left[t^{\alpha\bar{\beta}}dz_{\alpha} \wedge d\bar{z}_{\beta}\right] =$

$$= \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 - \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_2} d\bar{z}_2 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 + \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_1 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 + \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1} dz_1 \wedge dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_2} d\bar{z}_2 \wedge dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 + \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_1} dz_1 \wedge dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_1 \wedge dz_2 \wedge d\bar{z}_2.$$
(9.10) herefore we get

$$\int_{\partial_0 W_D} d^c T = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_D \left(\int_{\partial \Delta} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 - \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_2} d\bar{z}_2 + \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1} dz_2 \right) dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a} - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_D \int_{\partial \Delta} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_2} d\bar{z}_2 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_D \int_{\partial \Delta} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1.$$
(9.11)

At the same time again from (9.10) we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{W_{\partial D}} d^{c}T &= \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial D} \int_{\Delta} \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{2}} dz_{2} \wedge dz_{1} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_{2}} d\bar{z}_{2} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{1} + \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} dz_{1} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} dz_{1} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} d\bar{z}_{1} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} d\bar{z}_{1} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} dz_{1} \wedge dz_{2} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{2}}}{\partial z_{1}} dz_{1} \wedge d\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \frac{2}{j} \int_{\partial D} (\partial - \bar{\partial}) a = \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{W_{\partial D}} d\left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{i}{4\pi} \int_{\partial D} (\bar{\partial} - \partial) a = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (W_{\partial \Delta})} \left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \\ &+ \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a = -\frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a = \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a = \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a = \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{1\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a = \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \int_{\partial D} d^{c} a - \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W)} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{2} - t^{2\bar{1}} dz_{2} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{\partial (\partial_{0}W} \left(t^{2\bar{2}} dz_{1} \wedge \partial\bar{z}_{1}$$

$$-\frac{1}{8\pi}\int_{\partial_0 W} d\left(t^{1\bar{2}}dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_2 - t^{2\bar{1}}dz_2 \wedge \partial\bar{z}_1\right) = \int_{\partial D} d^c a + \frac{1}{8\pi}\int_D \int_{\partial \Delta} \left(\frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial\bar{z}_1}d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1}dz_2\right) \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1$$

$$\tag{9.12}$$

From (9.11) and (9.12) we get

$$\int_{W_{\partial D}} d^c T + 2 \int_{\partial_0 W_D} d^c T = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_D \int_{\partial \Delta} \left(\frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial z_2} dz_2 - \frac{\partial t^{1\bar{1}}}{\partial \bar{z}_2} d\bar{z}_2 \right) \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_D \int_{\partial \Delta} \left(\frac{\partial t^{1\bar{2}}}{\partial \bar{z}_1} d\bar{z}_2 - \frac{\partial t^{2\bar{1}}}{\partial z_1} dz_2 \right) \wedge dz_1 \wedge d\bar{z}_1 = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a} + \int_{\partial_0 W_D} d^c T,$$

and this gives (9.8). As for (9.9) remark that since $h = a - \varphi$ with

$$dd^{c}\varphi = \frac{i}{2\pi}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{i}{8\pi}\Delta\varphi dz_{1} \wedge d\overline{z}_{1} = \frac{i}{8\pi}\Delta a dz_{1} \wedge d\overline{z}_{1} = \widetilde{dd^{c}a},$$

we get

$$\int_{\partial D} d^c h = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_{\partial D} d^c \varphi = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_D dd^c \varphi = \int_{\partial D} d^c a - \int_D \widetilde{dd^c a} = \int_{\partial W_D} d^c T.$$

Corollary 9.4. Suppose that ω is pluriclosed and that for a relatively compact disk $D \subseteq \Delta$ such that $\partial D \cap S_1 = \emptyset$ one has

$$\int_{\partial W_D} d^c T = 0. \tag{9.13}$$

Then f meromorphically extends to W_D .

Indeed, denote by $\mu_h := dd^c h$ the negative measure supported on S_1 . Using smoothing by convolution and (9.8) we obtain

$$\mu_h(D \cap S_1) = \int_D dd^c h = \int_{\partial D} d^c h = \int_{\partial W_D} d^c T.$$
(9.14)

If the latter is zero, as assumed, we get that h is smooth in D. That means that a is smooth, *i.e.*, that the area function is bounded near S_1 . Theorem 7.3 with n = q = 1 gives the extension of f across S_1 . Corollary is proved.

Remark 9.4. Now let us explain how do shells appear.

- By Stokes' formula $\int_{\partial W_D} d^c T = \int_{W_D} dd^c T = \mu_T(W_D \cap S)$, the latter is a negative measure supported on the singular set S. Therefore if this integral is non-zero for some W_D we can find a ball $B \subset W_D$ with $\partial B \cap S = \emptyset$ such that $\int_B d^c T \neq 0$.
- At the same time $\int_{\partial B} d^c T = \int_{f(\partial B)} d^c \omega$. If the latter is non-zero this means that $f(\partial B) \not\sim 0$, *i.e.*, is a spherical shell in X.

9.3. Proof in all dimensions. We pass to the case $n \ge 2$. To extend f from H_r^{n+1} to Δ^{n+1} it is obviously sufficient to extend f from $\Delta^{n-1} \times H_r^2$ to Δ^{n+1} . If, in addition, some singularities appear they will be of the same nature in both cases. We denote the coordinates in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} as $z = (z', z_n, z_{n+1})$, where $z' := (z_1, ..., z_{n-1})$ and set $\Delta_{z'}^2 := \{z'\} \times \Delta^2$. Our problem is local and it is not difficult to see that after a shrinking and choosing the slope of coordinates (z_n, z_{n+1}) appropriately we can suppose that our f is holomorphic on $\Delta^{n-1} \times A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta$. This implies that the indeterminacy set $I_{f_{z'}}$ of every restriction $f_{z'} := f|_{\{z'\} \times H_r^2}$ is discrete. Remark also that $I_f \cap (\{z'\} \times H_r^2) = I_{f_{z'}}$.

Step 4. Let us state this step in the form of a lemma.

52

Lemma 9.4. Suppose that the metric form ω is plurinegative. Then there exists a closed (n-1)polar subset $S \subset \Delta^{n+1}$ of Hausdorff dimension 2n-2 and a holomorphic extension of f to $(\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta^2) \setminus S$ such that the current $T := f^* \omega$ has locally summable coefficients in a neighborhood
of S. Moreover, $dd^c \tilde{T}$ is negative.

Proof. Remark that by Steps 1,2 for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ the restriction $f_{z'} := f|_{\{z'\} \times H_r^2}$ holomorphically extends to $\Delta_{z'}^2 \setminus S_{z'}$, where $S_{z'}$ are closed complete pluripolar subsets in $\Delta_{z'}^2$ of Hausdorff dimension zero. In addition $S_{z'} = S_{z',1} \times S_{z',2}$ for some complete polar closed subsets $S_{z',1}$ and $S_{z',2}$ in Δ . We want to prove that f extends to a full-dimensional neighborhood of every point of $\Delta_{z'}^2 \setminus S_{z'}$. Denote by $\pi_n : \Delta^{n+1} \to \Delta^n$ (resp. $\pi_{n+1} : \Delta^{n+1} \to \Delta^n$) the natural projection $\pi_n : (z', z_n, z_{n+1}) \to (z', z_n)$ (resp. $\pi_{n+1} : (z', z_n, z_{n+1}))$. Take a point $v = (z', z_n, z_{n+1})$ such that $z_{n+1} \notin S_{z',2}$. Find a point $w = (z', z_n, w_{n+1}) \in \{z'\} \times H_r^2$ such that $w_{n+1} \notin S_{z',2}$ as well. After that find a domain $U \in \{(z', z_n)\} \times \Delta$ containing both z_{n+1} and w_{n+1} such that $\pi_{n+1}(U) \cap S_{z',2} = \emptyset$. Remark that $f|_{\{z'\} \times \Delta \times U}$ is holomorphic. By Theorem 15.1 there exists a Stein neighborhood V of the graph $\Gamma_{f|_{\{z'\} \times \Delta \times U}}$ in $\Delta^{n+1} \times X$. Consider the mapping $\hat{f}(z) = (z, f(z))$ to the graph. Remark that for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we have that $\hat{f}(\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times \partial \Delta \times U) \subset V$. This follows from holomorphicity of f on $\Delta^{n-1} \times A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta$. As well as for some neighborhood $U_0 \in U$ of w_{n+1} we have that $\hat{f}(\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times \Delta \times U_0) \subset V$. This follows from holomorphicity of f on $\Delta^{n-1} \times A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta$. As well as for some neighborhood $U_0 \in U$ of w_{n+1} we have that $\hat{f}(\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times \Delta \times U_0) \subset V$. This follows from holomorphicity of f on $\Delta^{n-1} \times A_{1-r,1} \times \Delta$. As well as for some neighborhood $U_0 \in U$ of $w_{n+1} \to \Delta \times U$ of v. By this we extended f to a neighborhood of $\Delta^{n-1} \setminus \Delta \times Z_0$.

Now let us repeat the same along coordinate z_n . Namely let $v = (z', z_n, z_{n+1})$ be such that $z_{n+1} \in S_{z',2}$ but $z_n \notin S_{z',1}$. Take $w = (z', w_n, z_{n+1})$ such that $w_n \in A_{1-r,1} \setminus S_{z',1}$. Find $U \Subset \Delta \setminus S_{z',1}$ biholomorphic to the disk and such that $U \ni z_n, w_n$. Take ρ such that $\partial \Delta_{\rho} \cap S_{z',2} = \emptyset$ but $\Delta_{\rho} \ni z_{n+1}$. f is up to now holomorphically extended to $\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times U \times \partial \Delta_{\rho}$. As well as for some neighborhood $U_0 \Subset U$ of $w_n f$ is holomorphic in $\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times U \times \Delta_{\rho}$. As above it follows that f holomorphically extends to a neighborhood $\Delta_{\varepsilon}^{n-1} \times U \times \Delta_{\rho}$ of v. I.e., f is holomorphically extended to a neighborhood of $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus \bigcup_{z' \in \Delta^{n-1}} S_{z',1} \times \Delta$.

This gives the extension of f to a neighborhood, say U, of

$$\Delta^{n+1} \setminus \bigcup_{z' \in \Delta^{n-1}} S_{z'}.$$
(9.15)

Set $S := \Delta^{n+1} \setminus U$. This is a closed subset of Δ^{n+1} such that for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ one has $S \cap \Delta^2_{z'} \subset S_{z'}$, *i.e.*, S is (n-1)-polar. Taking coordinates (z_n, z_{n+1}) with different slopes and then intersecting the sets S thus obtained we obtain a closed (n-1)-polar set, call it again S, which for and open set of complex 2-directions has the property that its intersection with every 2-plain in this direction is of dimension zero. By standard geometric measure theory, see ex. [Mt], this implies that S is of Hausdorff dimension 2n-2.

Consider now the current $T = f^*\omega$ defined on U. Note that T is smooth, positive and $dd^cT \leq 0$ there. By Lemma 9.2 for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ one has that $T_{z'} := T \mid_{\Delta_{z'}^2} \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta_{z'}^2)$ and consequently every $T_{z'}$ extends to a plurinegative current $\tilde{T}_{z'}$ on $\Delta_{z'}$. Apply (5.10) our trivial extensions $\tilde{T}_{z'}$ of $T_{z'}$ to obtain that the masses $\|\tilde{T}_{z'}\|(\Delta^2)$ are uniformly bounded on z' on compacts in Δ^{n-1} . On L^1 the mass norm coincides with the L^1 -norm. So taking the second factor in $\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta^2$ with different slopes and using Fubini theorem we obtain that $T \in L^1_{loc}(\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta^2)$. Denote by \tilde{T} the trivial extension of T. All that is left to prove is that $dd^c\tilde{T}$ is negative. It is enough to show that for any collection L of (n-1) linear functions $\{l_1, \ldots, l_{n-1}\}$ the measure $dd^c\tilde{T} \wedge \frac{i}{2}\partial l_1 \wedge \overline{\partial l_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \frac{i}{2}\partial l_{n-1} \wedge \overline{\partial l_{n-1}}$ is nonpositive, see [Ho2]. Complete these functions to a coordinate system $\{z_1 = l_1, \ldots, z_{n-1} = l_{n-1}, z_n, z_{n+1}\}$ and note that for almost all collections L the set $\Delta_{z'}^2 \cap U \supset \Delta_{z'}^2 \setminus S_{z'}$ for all $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$. Therefore $\tilde{T} \mid_{z'}$ are plurinegative for all such z'.

Take a nonnegative function $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Delta^{n+1})$. We have

$$\begin{split} (n-1)! &< dd^c \tilde{T} \wedge \frac{i}{2} \partial l_1 \wedge \overline{\partial l_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \frac{i}{2} \partial l_{n-1} \wedge \overline{\partial l_{n-1}}, \varphi >= \int_{\Delta^{n+1}} \tilde{T} \wedge (dd^c ||z'||^2)^{n-1} \wedge dd^c \varphi = \\ &= \int_{\Delta^{n-1}} (dd^c ||z'||^2)^{n-1} \int_{\Delta^2} (\tilde{T})_{z'} \wedge dd^c \varphi = \int_{\Delta^{n-1}} (dd^c ||z'||^2)^{n-1} \int_{\Delta^2} \tilde{T}_{z'} \wedge dd^c \varphi = \\ &= \int_{\Delta^{n-1}} (dd^c ||z'||^2)^{n-1} \int_{\Delta^2} dd^c (\tilde{T})_{z'} \wedge \varphi \leqslant 0. \end{split}$$

We used here Fubini theorem for L^1 -functions, the fact that $(\tilde{T})_{z'} = \tilde{T}_{z'}$ for currents from L^1_{loc} that are smooth outside of a suitably situated set S, and finally the plurinegativity of $\tilde{T}_{z'}$. Therefore \tilde{T} is plurinegative. Lemma and Step are proved, as well as part (i) of the theorem. \Box

Step 5. The case of a pluriclosed metric form. Let U denotes now the maximal open subset of Δ^{n+1} such that f meromorph8ically extends to U. Set this time $S = \Delta^{n+1} \setminus V$. We have that for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ one has $S \cap \Delta_{z'}^2 \subset S_{z'}$, and the latter is closed, complete polar of Hausdorff dimension zero for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$. Fix a point $a \in S$ and suppose that there is a transversal sphere $\mathbb{S}^3 = \{x \in P : ||x-a|| = \varepsilon\}$ on some two-plane P through a such that $f(\mathbb{S}^3)$ is homologous to zero in X. We shall prove that in this case f meromorphically extends to a neighborhood of a. Write $W = B^{n-1} \times B^2$ for some neighborhood of this point such that $(\bar{B}^{n+1} \times \partial B^2) \cap S = \emptyset$ and for every $z' \in B^{n-1}$ one has $f(\partial B_{z'}^2) \sim 0$.

Lemma 9.5. Suppose that the metric form w on X is pluriclosed and for all $z' \in B^{n-1} f(\partial B_{z'}^2) \sim 0$ in X. Then:

i) $dd^c \tilde{T} = 0$ in the sense of distributions.

ii) There exists a (1,0)-current γ in W, smooth in $W \setminus S$, such that $\tilde{T} = i(\partial \bar{\gamma} - \bar{\partial} \gamma)$.

The proof will be omitted, see however Lemma 2.8 in [Iv8]. Finally we have the following

Lemma 9.6. If \tilde{T} is pluriclosed, then the volumes $\Gamma_{f'_z} \cap B^2_z \times X$ are uniformly bounded for $z \in B^{n-1}_r$ and f extends meromorphically onto W.

Proof. Find $\gamma^{1,0}$ for \tilde{T} as in Lemma 9.5. Smoothing by convolutions we still have $\tilde{T}_{\varepsilon} = i(\partial \bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \bar{\partial} \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0})$. Then for $z' \in B^{n-1}$ and $R_{z'} := R \cap B_{z'}^2$ we have:

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{z'}}) &= \int_{B_{z'}^2 \backslash R_{z'}} S^2 = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{B_{z'}^2 \backslash R_{z'}} \tilde{T}_{\varepsilon}^2 \leqslant \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{B_{z'}^2} \tilde{R}_{\varepsilon}^2 = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{B_{z'}^2} i^2 (\partial \bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \bar{\partial} \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0})^2 \leqslant \\ &\leqslant \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{B_{z'}^2} i^2 d(\bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0}) \wedge d(\bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0}) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{\partial B_{z'}^2} i^2 (\bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0}) \wedge d(\bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} - \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0}) = \\ &= \int_{\partial B_{z'}^2} i^2 (\bar{\gamma}^{1,0} - \gamma^{1,0}) \wedge d(\bar{\gamma}^{1,0} - \gamma^{1,0}) \wedge d(\bar{\gamma}^{1,0} - \gamma^{1,0}) \\ &\leqslant \operatorname{const.} \end{split}$$

In the first inequality we used the positivity of T. In the second – the fact that $-i^2 \bar{\partial} \bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} \wedge \partial \gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0}$ is positive and $\bar{\partial} \bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} \wedge \bar{\partial} \bar{\gamma}_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} = 0$. Finally $\gamma_{\varepsilon}^{1,0} \to \gamma^{1,0}$ on $\bar{B}^{n-1} \times \partial B^2$, since $\gamma^{1,0}$ is smooth there. This gives the required bound for $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{z'}}) = \int_{B_{z'}^2 \setminus A_{z'}} S^2$.

Theorem 7.3 (with q = 2) gives us now the extension of f onto $W \cong B^{n-1} \times B^2$. We proved that if the singularity set S of f is non-empty then X contains spherical shells. Theorem 9.1 is proved.

9.4. Proof of Corollary 9.3, Kähler fibrations. Let us now prove Corollary 9.3. Namely, we suppose that the metric form ω on our space X is the (1,1)-component of some closed real two-form ω_0 , *i.e.*, that there is a (2,0)-form $\omega^{2,0}$ such that $\omega_0 = \omega^{2,0} + \omega + \bar{\omega}^{2,0}$ and $d\omega_0 = 0$. As we remarked before stating Corollary 9.3 such ω is obviously dd^c -closed. Therefore the machinery of the proof of Theorem 9.1 applies to this case. Therefore our mapping f can be extended meromorphically to $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus A$, where A is either empty or is (n-1)-polar of transverse Hausdorff dimension zero.

Suppose $A \neq \emptyset$. Take a point $a \in A$ with a neighborhood $W \ni a$ biholomorphic to $B^{n-1} \times B^2$ and such that $\pi \mid_{\hat{A} \cap W} : B^{n-1} \times B^2 \to B^{n-1}$ is proper. Here $\hat{A} = A \cup I(f)$ is the union of A with the set of points of indeterminacy of f. Let us prove that $dd^c \tilde{T} = 0$ in W, where $T = f^* \omega$ on $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus \hat{A}$. From Lemma 9.5 we see that all we must prove is that $\int_{\partial B^2_{L'}} d^c \tilde{T}_{\varepsilon} = 0$ for all $z' \in B^{n-1}$.

Indeed, let $T^0 = f^* \omega_0$ and $T^{2,0} = f^* \omega^{2,0}$ on $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus \hat{A}$. Then, since $d\tilde{T}^0 = d^c T^0 = 0$, one has:

$$\int_{\partial B^2_{z'}} d^c \tilde{T}_{\varepsilon} = \int_{\partial B^2_{z'}} d^c (\tilde{T}_{\varepsilon} - T^0_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{\partial B^2_{z'}} d^c (-\tilde{T}^{2,0}_{\varepsilon} - \bar{T}^{2,0}_{\varepsilon}).$$

Take a cut-off function η with support in a neighborhood of $B_{z'}^2$. Then

$$\int_{\partial B_{z'}^2} d^c \tilde{T}_{\varepsilon}^{2,0} = \int_{\partial B_{z'}^2} d^c (\eta \tilde{T}^{2,0})_{\varepsilon} = \int_{B_{z'}^2} dd^c (\eta \tilde{T}^{2,0})_{\varepsilon} = 0$$
(2.5.2)

by the reasons of bidegree. So \tilde{T} is pluriclosed on W and we can extend f onto the whole W using Lemma 9.6. Corollary 9.3 is proved.

Let us give a corollary from this result. Recall that a complex deformation of a compact complex manifold X is a complex manifold \mathcal{X} together with a proper surjective holomorphic map $\operatorname{pr} : \mathcal{X} \to \Delta$ od rank one with connected fibers and such that the fiber \mathcal{X}_0 over zero is biholomorphic to X. From [Hi] one knows that if \mathcal{X}_0 is Kähler this doesn't implies that the neighboring fibers X_t are Kähler.

Corollary 9.5. Let $\operatorname{pr} : \mathcal{X} \to Y$ be a complex deformation over a compact complex manifold of dimension $n \ge 2$ with compact Kähler fibers. Let $S \subset Y$ be a closed subset such that $Y \setminus S$ is Stein/or admits an (n-1)-convex exhaustion. Then any meromorphic section of $\operatorname{pr} : \mathcal{X} \to Y$, defined in a neighborhood of S extends to a meromorphic section over the whole of Y.

Remark 9.5. There is no assumption on how the Kähler metrics on fibers depend on the point on the base. Of course the total space \mathcal{X} don't need to be Kähler and even locally Kähler.

Proof. Step 1. Every point $y \in Y$ has a neighborhood U such that $\mathcal{X}_U = \mathsf{pr}^{-1}(U)$ possesses a Hermitian metric such that its Kähler form ω_U is a (1,1)-component of a closed form.

To see this take a coordinate neighborhood $U \ni y$ such that \mathcal{X}_U is diffeomorphic to $U \times \mathcal{X}_y$. Let $\operatorname{pr}_1 : U \times \mathcal{X}_y : \mathcal{X}_y$ be the projection onto the second factor. Let ω_y be a Kähler form on \mathcal{X}_y . Consider the following 1-form on \mathcal{X}_U : $\omega_U = \operatorname{pr}^* dd^c |z|^2 + \operatorname{pr}_1^* \omega_y$, where z is the vector of local coordinates on U. ω_U is d-closed. Its (1,1)-component is positive for U small enough, since ω_y is positive on \mathcal{X}_y .

Let ρ be a strictly plurisubharmonic Morse exhaustion function on the Stein manifold $W := Y \setminus S$. Set $W_t = \{y \in W : \rho(y) > t\}$. Given a meromorphic section v on the neighborhood of S. Then v is defined on some W_t . The set T of t such that v meromorphically extends onto W_t is non-empty and close.

Step 2. *T* is open. Let $t \in T$, then v is well defined and meromorphic on W_t . Set $S_t = \{y \in W : \rho(y) = t\}$. Fix a point $y_0 \in S_t$. Take a neighborhood *U* of y_0 and form ω_U as in the Step 1. If y_0 is a regular point of S_t then there exists a Hartogs figure $H \subset W_t$ such that the corresponding polydisk $D \ni y_0$. By Corollary 9.3 the meromorphic mapping $v : H \to D \times \mathcal{X}_{y_0}$ can be meromorphically extended to *D* and we are done.

If y_0 is a critical point of S_t we can still apply Corollary 9.3 appropriately placing a Hartogs figure near the critical point of a strictly plurisubharmonic Morse function. Therefore v extends to W_t for all t and Corollary is proved.

Definition 9.3. We say that a complex space X possesses a holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) extension property if every holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) mapping $f: H^n_r \to X$ holomorphically (resp. meromorphically) extends to Δ^n .

By Docquier-Grauert Theorem 1.7 for such X every holomorphic/meromorphic mapping from a domain D in Stein manifold with values in X holomorphically/meromorphically extends to the envelope of holomorphy \hat{D} of D.

Corollary 9.6. Let X_t be a complex deformation of a compact Kähler manifold X_0 . Then for $t \sim 0 X_t$ possesses a meromorphic extension property.

Indeed, Step 1 in the proof of the Corollary 9.5 tells us that for $t \sim 0$ the fiber X_t admits a Hermitian metric such that its associated form is a (1,1)-component of a closed form. Therefore Corollary 9.3 applies to X_t .

In concern with the material of this chapter let us ask a few questions.

Question 1. Suppose all X_t for $t \neq 0$ possed meromorphic extension property. Does X_0 possesses it as well? And in other direction: if X_0 possesses a mer. ext. prop. does X_t possesses it for t close to zero?

Conjecture 1. Let $f : \Delta_*^k \to X$ be a meromorphic mapping from a punctured polydisk, $k \ge 2$, to a compact complex space X. Suppose that $\operatorname{vol} f(\Delta_*^k) < \infty$. Prove that f meromorphically extends to zero.

Conjecture 2. Let $f : \Delta_*^{k+1} \to X$ be a meromorphic map from punctured (k+1)-disk into a compact complex space of dimension k+1, $k \ge 1$. Prove that $\operatorname{vol} f(A_{r,1}^k) = O(\log \frac{k+1}{k}(\frac{1}{r}))$.

It is likely that one can say more about the singularity set A of the extended mapping in Theorems 9.1 and 10.2.

Question 2. Let X is a compact complex manifold carrying a pluriclosed metric form, and let $f: H_r^3 \to X$ is a meromorphic mapping. Let S is a minimal closed subset of Δ^3 such that f extends onto $\Delta^3 \setminus S$. If $S \neq \emptyset$ then each connected component of S should be a complex curve.

For a general complex manifold X without special metrics the answer to the last question can be negative, see examples in the last section of [Iv8].

9.5. Extension of meromorphic correspondences along (n-1)-convex exhaustions. Let a meromorphic map $f: D \to Y$ be given, where Y is a reduced complex space and D is a domain in a reduced, normal complex space X which is (n-1)-concave at some point $x_0 \in \partial D$. Let $\pi: (U, x_0) \to (\Delta^n, 0)$ is a projection as in the Projection Lemma 18.1. Denote by d the branching number of π . The composition $f \circ \pi^{-1}$ defines in a natural way a d-valued meromorphic correspondence between $H_r^{n,n-1}$ and X.

Definition 9.4. A d-valued meromorphic correspondence between complex spaces H and X is an irreducible analytic subset $Z \subset H \times X$ such that the restriction $\operatorname{pr}_1|_Z$ of the natural projection onto the first factor to Z is proper, surjective and generically d - to - one. More generally a k-dimensional, $k \ge 0$, meromorphic correspondence is a dim D + k-dimensional analytic set Γ in $D \times X$ such that the restriction $\operatorname{pr}_1|_{\Gamma} : \Gamma \to D$ is proper.

Therefore the extension of f to a neighborhood of x_0 is equivalent to the extension of Z from $H_r^{n,n-1}$ to the associated polydisk. Indeed, suppose that Z extends to Δ^n . Then $Z \circ \pi$ extends to a correspondence \tilde{Z} on U. Denote by \tilde{f} the irreducible component of \tilde{Z} which contains the

graph of f. If f is not singlevalued then it should have a non-empty branching divisor B. But $B \cap D = \emptyset$, contradiction. It is clear that if f was also a correspondence it will produce no additional complications in the question of extending it to a neighborhood of x_0 . So our task is to understand how far the problem of extending of correspondences goes from the problem of extension of mappings. Let Z be a d-valued meromorphic correspondence between the Hartogs figure H and X. Z defines in a natural way a mapping $f_Z : H \to \text{Sym}^d(X)$, the symmetric power of X of degree d. Clearly the extension of Z to Δ^n is equivalent to the extension of f_Z to Δ^n . If X was, for example, a Kähler space, then $\text{Sym}^d(X)$ is a Kähler space by [V]. So, meromorphic correspondences with values in Kähler manifolds are extendable through pseudo-concave boundary points. In fact in [V] it is proved that the Barlet space $B_k(X)$ of k-dimensional compact cycles of a Kähler space X is Kähler again. This implies the extendability also of meromorphic correspondences with values in Kähler spaces.

Corollary 9.7. Let $f: D \to Y$ be a meromorphic correspondence (of any dimension) from a domain D in a normal complex space X to a disk-convex reduced Kähler space Y. Suppose that D is (n-1)-concave at $x_0 \in \partial D$, $n = \dim D$. Then f extends as a meromorphic correspondence to a neighborhood of x_0 in X.

This implies also a Bochner-Hartogs-type statement in the spirit of Theorem 1.6.

Corollary 9.8. Let X be a normal, (n-1)-complete complex space $(n = \dim X)$, D a relatively compact domain in X and $K \subseteq D$ a compact in D such that $D \setminus K$ is connected. Then every meromorphic correspondence between $D \setminus K$ and a disk-convex Kähler space Y can be extended as a meromorphic correspondence to D.

The proof is literally the same as for meromorphic functions, see Corollary 4.1. For the manifolds and spaces carrying a pluriclosed metric form, this is no longer the case, even if they do not contain spherical shells. The following example is constructed in [Iv8], see Example 3.5 there.

Example 9.3. There exists a compact complex (elliptic) surface Y such that:

(a) every meromorphic map $f: H_r^2 \to Y$ extends meromorphically to Δ^2 ;

(b) but there exists a two-valued meromorphic correspondence Z between \mathbb{C}^2_*

and Y that cannot be extended to the origin.

The point here is that $Sym^2 Y$ may contain a spherical shell even if Y contains none.

Chapter III. Applications

10. Coverings of compact complex manifolds

Let us apply the extension results of preceding sections to the case when our mapping $f: D \to X$ is a regular cover, see subsection 5.2. To give an immediate idea of the type of applications we have in mind let's state the following well known fact.

Corollary 10.1. Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n which regularly covers a compact complex manifold X. Then D is a domain of holomorphy.

Proof follows immediately from Theorem 6.4 and Docquier-Grauert criterium of Theorem 1.7. Indeed, since D is Kobayashi hyperbolic so is also the manifold X. Remark that by theorem of Siegel, see [Sg2], such X is projective, in particular Kähler. Our first question will be if one can remove the assumption on D to be bounded?

10.1. Coverings of Kähler manifolds.

Corollary 10.2. Let D be a domain over a Stein manifold which regularly covers a compact Kähler manifold X. Then D is Stein.

Denote as $\mathbf{c}: D \to X$ the covering map. Let us remark that our X cannot contain rational curves. Indeed, let $h: \mathbb{P}^1 \to C \subset X$ be a rational curve. Then $\mathbf{c}^{-1} \circ h$ is well defined, because of simple connectivity of \mathbb{P}^1 . This gives a rational curve in D, contradiction. To prove that Dis Hartogs convex take any locally biholomorphic map $h: H_r^n \to D$. Then $\mathbf{c} \circ h$ extends to a locally biholomorphic map $\hat{h}: \Delta^n \to X$ by Theorem 6.3. Now we can lift \hat{h} back and obtain an extension \tilde{h} of h to Δ^n . Corollary is proved. More generally one has the following.

Corollary 10.3. Let (D,π) be a domain over a complex manifold Y which regularly covers a compact Kähler manifold X. Then (D,π) is locally pseudoconvex over Y.

Proof. Let again $c : D \to X$ be the covering map. Take a point $y_0 \in Y$ and let B_0 be a coordinate ball around y_0 . Denote by $\{B_i\}_{i \ge 1}$ the set of all connected components of $\pi^{-1}(B_0)$. We need to establish the Hartogs convexity of every B_i . In order to do this take a holomorphic imbedding $h : H_r^n \to B_1$ and, applying Theorem 8.1, extend the composition $\mathbf{c} \circ h$ of h with the cover map $\mathbf{c} : D \to X$ to the polydisk Δ^n , *i.e.*, to a meromorphic map $\tilde{h} : \Delta^n \to X$. The simple connectivity of $\Delta^n \setminus I_{\tilde{h}}$ together with the fact that $\mathbf{c} : D \to X$ is a regular covering gives us a locally biholomorphic extension of h to $\Delta^n \setminus I_{\tilde{h}}$ as a mapping with values in B_1 . We want to prove that $I_{\tilde{h}}$ is empty. If this is not the case take a smooth point a on $I_{\tilde{h}}$ and a small polydisk $U = \Delta^n$ with center at a and reduce our situation to the following. There exists a locally biholomorphic map $h : \Delta^n \setminus \Delta^{n-k} \times \{0\} \to B_1, k \ge 2$, such that:

- i) $h_0 := \pi \circ h$ extends to a holomorphic imbedding of Δ^n to B_0 ;
- iii) a fortiori h is an imbedding on $\Delta^n \setminus \Delta^{n-k} \times \{0\}$.

Items (i) and (iii) hold true because π and h are locally biholomorphic, therefore one just needs to take U small enough. Take a resolution of $\mathbf{c} \circ h$, *i.e.*, a complex manifold E together with proper holomorphic surjection $p: E \to \Delta^n$ which is biholomorphic over $\Delta^n \setminus \Delta^{n-k} \times \{0\}$ and such that the lift $\hat{h} := \tilde{h} \circ p$ is holomorphic. Using h and (iii) we can attach E to B_1 , *i.e.*, $Z := E \cup D$ is what is called a local modification of D along a locally closed center $h(\Delta^{n-k} \times \{0\})$. Denote by $\tilde{\mathbf{c}} : Z \to X$ the holomorphic map obtained this way. Take a point $b \in E$ and find a point $c \in D$ such that $\tilde{\mathbf{c}}(b) = \tilde{\mathbf{c}}(c) =: p$. Take a path $\gamma : [0,1] \to Z$ such that $\gamma(0) = c$ and $\gamma(1) = b$. Then the path $\beta := \tilde{\mathbf{c}}(\gamma)$ is closed. It can be lifted by \mathbf{c}^{-1} to D with initial value c. But then it cannot reach b, contradiction. I.e., $I_{\tilde{h}}$ is empty. This means that \tilde{h} is holomorphic on Δ^n and therefore h takes values in B_1 on the whole of Δ^n . The Hartogs convexity of B_1 is proved. Therefore D is locally pseudoconvex.

Remark 10.1. a) In Corollary 10.3 the condition on X to be compact Kähler can be weakened to that of being of class C, *i.e.*, bimeromorphic to a compact Kähler manifold. Indeed, all that we need for the proof is the extendability of meromorphic mappings, and this property is bimeromorphically invariant.

b) In these corollaries we do exploit the fact that a regular cover is locally biholomorphic, but not in a point of extending it. Only in some additional (easy) speculations. Now let us indicate that in some cases the fact that a covering map is not an arbitrary holomorphic map but it is *locally biholomorphic* can be used also in the difficult part of *extending* it.

Definition 10.1. Recall that a complex manifold X is called infinitesimally homogeneous if the global sections of its tangent bundle generate the tangent space at each point.

All parallelizable manifolds are infinitesimally homogeneous, as well as all Stein manifolds and all complex homogeneous spaces under an action of a real Lee group. Every Riemann domain (D,π) over an infinitesimally homogeneous manifold is infinitesimally homogeneous itself. Let (D,π) be such a domain over an infinitesimally homogeneous X.

Theorem 10.1. Let X be a compact, infinitesimally homogeneous, Kähler manifold. Then every locally biholomorphic mapping $f: D \to X$ from a domain D over a complex manifold into X extends to a locally biholomorphic mapping $\hat{f} : \hat{D} \to X$ of the pseudoconvex envelope \hat{D} of D into X.

For the proof we refer to [McK] or [Iv9], the last survey contains more results about the extension of equidimensional mappings. In particular every locally biholomorphic mapping from a domain D in complex manifold Y to \mathbb{P}^n extends to a locally biholomorphic mapping of the pseudoconvex envelope \hat{D} of D to \mathbb{P}^n . This was earlier proved in [Iv1] together with some more results on extension of locally biholomorphic mappings in [Iv2].

10.2. Weak convexity of covers of non-Kähler manifolds. Consider the case when X is a compact complex surface regularly covered by some domain $D \subset M$. We can apply then Corollary 9.1 and get the following

Corollary 10.4. D is either locally pseudoconvex or, equal to a locally pseudoconvex domain minus a discrete set. In the latter case X contains a spherical shell.

When dimension is ≥ 3 the following example of Kato 10.1 shows that one cannot expect that the covering domain of a compact complex manifold is pseudoconvex minus some "small" set.

Example 10.1. (*M. Kato*, [Ka2]). Namely Kato had constructed a compact three-fold X, which is a quotient of $D = \{[z_0 : \ldots : z_3] \in \mathbb{P}^3 : |z_0|^2 + |z_1|^2 < |z_2|^2 + |z_3|^2\}$ by a co-compact properly discontinuous subgroup $G \subset PGL(4, \mathbb{C})$. Denote by $\pi : D \to X$ the natural projection. Consider the hyperplane $P = \{z \in \mathbb{P}^3 : z_0 = 0\} \cong \mathbb{P}^2$. Then $D \cap P = \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}}^2$, here \mathbb{B}^2 is a ball $\{|z_1|^2 > |z_2|^2 + |z_3|^2\}$ in \mathbb{P}^2 . Therefore $\pi \mid_{D \cap P} : \mathbb{P}^2 \setminus \overline{\mathbb{B}}^2 \to X$ cannot be extended to a neighborhood of any point on $\partial \mathbb{B}^2$.

However one can get some minimal convexity. Following the approach of [IS5] let us sketch the proof of the following:

Theorem 10.2. Let X be a compact complex manifold of dimension $n \ge 2$. Then every holomorphic map $f : H_r^{n,1} \to X$ with zero-dimensional fibers extends meromorphically to $\Delta^n \setminus S$, where S is a zero-dimensional complete pluripolar set. If S is non-empty then for every ball B with center $s \in S$ such that $\partial B \cap S = \emptyset$ its image $f(\partial B)$ is not homologous to zero in X, i.e., $f(\partial B)$ is a spherical shell (of dimension n) in X.

Remark 10.2. a) More generally in this theorem one can suppose that X is of any dimension but carries a strictly positive dd^c -closed (n-1, n-1)-form.

b) A spherical shell of dimension n in complex manifold/space X is an image Σ of the unit sphere $\mathbb{S}^{2n-1} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ under a meromorphic map h from a neighborhood of \mathbb{S}^{2n-1} into X such that $\Sigma = h(\mathbb{S}^{2n-1})$ is not homologous to zero in X.

Proof. The proof can be achieved by induction on the dimension n. Case n+1 = 2 is a particular case of Theorem 9.1. Let $f: H_r^{n+1,1} \to X$ be given.

Step 1. Reductions. For $s \in \Delta$ set $A_s^n := A_{1-r,1}^n \times \{s\} \subset H_r^{n+1,1}$. Changing coordinates, as it s explained in [IS5] Lemma 5, we can without loss of generality assume that:

- a) f is non-degenerate and holomorphic on a neighborhood of $\overline{A_{1-r,1}^n \times \Delta}$;
- b) for all $s \in \Delta A_s^n$ contains no curves contracted by f to a point;

c) for all $s \in \Delta$ there do not exist non-empty disjoint open $V_1, V_2 \subset A_s^n$ with $f(V_1) = f(V_2)$.

Denote by U the biggest open subset of Δ such that f can be meromorphically extended onto the Hartogs domain

$$H_U(r) := \left[A_{1-r,1}^n \times \Delta\right] \cup \left[\Delta^n \times U\right].$$

Let ω be a strictly positive (n,n)-form on X with $dd^c \omega = 0$. For $s \in U$ set

$$\mu(s) = \int_{\Delta_s^n} f^* \omega. \tag{10.1}$$

Step 2. The function μ is positive and smooth on U. Moreover, it s Laplacian smoothly extends onto the whole disk Δ . Proof is the same as in Step 1 of the proof of Theorem 9.1. For the case n = 2 see also Lemma 6 from [IS5].

Step 3. We give it in the form of a lemma.

Lemma 10.1. Suppose that f is as above (in particular non-degenerate) and that there exists a sequence $\{s_k\} \in U$ converging to $s_0 \in \Delta$ such that $\mu(s_k)$ is bounded. Then:

- 1) $f_0 := f|_{A_{s_0}^n}$ meromorphically extends to $\Delta_{s_0}^n$;
- 2) the volumes of the graphs $\Gamma_{f_{s_k}}$ are uniformly bounded in k;
- 3) f meromorphically extends to $\Delta^n \times U_0$ for some neighborhood U_0 of s_0 .

The proof of this lemma is based on Theorem 7.5 with q = n. The main point is to bound the volumes of graphs. The latter can be achieved similarly to the proof of an analogous Lemma 7 from [IS5].

Perturbing slightly the slope of coordinates $(z_2, ..., z_{n+1})$ we extend f as a holomorphic, zerodimensional map to $\Delta^{n+1} \setminus S$, where S is an 1-polar closed subset of Δ^{n+1} of zero Hausdorff dimension.

Step 4. $\partial U \cap \Delta$ is complete polar. The proof of this statement is quite similar to the proof of steps 2-3 of Theorem 9.1, see however pp. 705-706 in [IS5] for more details.

Corollary 10.5. The universal cover \tilde{V} of a compact complex n-fold V is weakly (n-1)-convex in the following sense: every meromorphic mapping $f : H_r^{n,1} \to \tilde{V}$ extends to Δ^n unless V contains an n-dimensional spherical shell.

Theorem 10.2 just given is stated in [IS5] as Proposition 12 and its proof follows the lines of the proof of the main result of that paper:

Theorem 10.3. Every meromorphic map $f : H^{3,1}(r) \to X$, where X is a three-dimensional compact complex manifold, extends to a meromorphic map from $\Delta^3 \setminus S$ to X, where S is a closed complete pluripolar subset of Hausdorff dimension zero. Moreover, if $S \neq \emptyset$, then for every transversal sphere \mathbb{S}^5 in $\Delta^3 \setminus S$ its image $f(\mathbb{S}^5)$ is not homologous to zero in X. I.e. if $S \neq \emptyset$ then X should contain a 3-dimensional spherical shell.

Theorems 9.1, 10.2 and 10.3 suggest the following conjecture. In subsection 7.8 we introduced the class \mathcal{G}_q of reduced complex spaces possessing a strictly positive dd^c -closed (q,q)-form.

Conjecture 3. We conjecture that every meromorphic map $f: H^{n,n-q}(r) \to X$, where $X \in \mathcal{G}_q$ and is disk-convex in dimension q (e. compact), extends to a meromorphic map from $\Delta^n \setminus S$ to X, where S is a closed (n-q-1)-polar subset of transverse Hausdorff dimension zero. Moreover, if $S \neq \emptyset$, then for every transversal sphere \mathbb{S}^{2q+1} in $\Delta^n \setminus S$ its image $f(\mathbb{S}^{2q+1})$ is not homologous to zero in X. I.e. if $S \neq \emptyset$ then X should contain a (q+1)-dimensional spherical shell. Moreover, we think that S, if non-empty, should be an analytic set of pure codimension q+1 or, at worst, an at most countable union of analytic sets of pure codimension q+1.

Theorem 9.1 proves this conjecture in the case q = 1, Theorem 10.3 for the case q = 2, both except conjectured analyticity of the singular set S. General case looks to be quite technical. The main difficulty lies in the fact that it is impossible in general to make the reductions (a)-(c) as above (or, as in §1 from [IS5]). Note that reductions (d)-(e) from §1 of [IS5]can be achieved in all dimensions. A part of these reductions is the following theorem proved in [Cha].

Theorem 10.4. Let $f: H_r^n \to X$ be a degenerate meromorphic mapping to a compact complex space. Then f extends to Δ^n .

10.3. Coverings by "large" domains in complex projective space. To stay within a reasonable generality we shall restrict ourselves in this subsection with subdomains of \mathbb{P}^n which cover compact complex manifolds (this includes also subdomains of $\mathbb{C}^n \subset \mathbb{P}^n$). However many statements have an obvious meaning (reformulation) in the case of domains in general complex manifolds. Locally pseudoconvex domains over both \mathbb{C}^n and \mathbb{P}^n are Stein (with one exception: \mathbb{P}^n itself). They can cover both Kähler and non-Kähler manifolds. An example of Stein domain covering a non-Kähler compact manifold is any Inoue surface with $b_2 = 0$. Their universal cover is $\mathbb{C} \times H$, where H is the upper half-plane of \mathbb{C} . A domain $D \subset \mathbb{P}^n$ is said to be "large" if its complement $\Lambda := \mathbb{P}^n \setminus D$ is "small" in some sense. Different authors give different sense to the notion of being "small", see [Ka3, La], and therefore we shall reserve ourselves from giving a precise definition.

Let's start from the remark that if $\Lambda \neq \emptyset$ then its Hausdorff *n*-dimensional (resp. (n-1)-dimensional) measure is non-zero if *n* is even (resp. odd), see [La]. In \mathbb{P}^2 or \mathbb{P}^3 this means the same: $h_2(\Lambda) > 0$. Both cases is easy to realize by examples. We have the following statement.

Proposition 10.1. Suppose a domain $D \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ covers a compact complex threefold X.

Case 1. If the complement $\Lambda = \mathbb{P}^3 \setminus D$ is locally a finite union of two-dimensional submanifolds, then Λ is a union of finitely many complex lines.

Case 2. If the complement $\Lambda = \mathbb{P}^3 \setminus D$ is locally a finite union of three-dimensional submanifolds, then Λ is foliated by complex lines.

Proof. Take a point p on the limit set Λ and find a point $q \in D$ and a sequence of automorphisms $\gamma_n \subset \Gamma$ such that $\gamma_n(q) \to p$. Here Γ is a subgroup of Aut(D) such that $D/\Gamma = X$. Due to the Hausdorff dimension condition on Λ there exists a line $l \ni q$ such that $l \cap \Lambda = \emptyset$. Then $\gamma_n(l)$ will converge to a line in Λ passing through p.

Remark 10.3. In [Ka3] an example of Λ of dimension 3 in \mathbb{P}^3 is constructed.

11. Sets of normality of families of meromorphic mappings

Questions of extension of meromorphic mappings come closely together with questions about their convergence and separate analyticity. Along the following two sections shall say more about these issues.

11.1. Strong convergence of meromorphic mappings. When working with sequences of meromorphic functions and, more generally, mappings one finds himself bounded to consider several notions of their convergence. It occurs that pseudoconvexity or not of domains of convergence/normality in the case of meromorphic mappings crucially depends on the type of convergence one is looking for. Let us describe the ways one can define what does it means that a sequence $\{f_k\}$ of meromorphic mappings between complex manifolds/spaces D and X converge to a meromorphic mapping $f: D \to X$. The only condition that one is supposed to respect is that for holomorphic mappings our notion of convergence should coincide with the uniform convergence on compacts in D. The latter is denoted as $f_k \rightrightarrows f$. The most obvious notion of convergence was already used and called *strong convergence*, see Definition 7.3. It turns that strong convergence is even stronger that it is postulated in its definition.

Theorem 11.1. If f_k strongly converge to f then for every compact $K \subseteq D$ the volumes $\Gamma_{f_k} \cap (K \times X)$ are uniformly bounded and therefore Γ_{f_k} converge to Γ_f in the topology of cycles.

For the proof we refer to [IN]. Here is one more nice feature of the strong convergence.

Theorem 11.2. (Rouché's principle). Let a sequence of meromorphic mappings $\{f_k\}$ between normal complex spaces D and X strongly converge on compacts in D to a meromorphic map f. Then:

(a) If f is holomorphic then for any relatively compact open subset $D_1 \subset D$ all

restrictions $f_k \mid_{D_1}$ are holomorphic for k big enough, and $f_k \rightrightarrows f$. (b) If $\{f_k\}$ are holomorphic then f is also holomorphic and $f_k \rightrightarrows f$.

For the proof we refer to [Iv7]. Strong convergence has also some disadvantages. For example domains of strong convergence and strong normality are quite arbitrary. We shall explain this in more details. Let \mathcal{F} be a family of meromorphic mappings from a normal complex space D to a disk-convex reduced complex space X.

Definition 11.1. The set of normality of \mathcal{F} is the maximal open subset of D, we shall denote it as $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$, such that \mathcal{F} is relatively compact on $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$. If $\mathcal{F} = \{f_k\}$ is a sequence then the set of convergence of \mathcal{F} , denote as $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{F}}$, is the maximal open subset of D such that f_k converge on compacts of this subset.

To be relatively compact in this definition means that from every sequence of elements of \mathcal{F} one can extract a converging on compacts subsequence. The sense of convergence (strong or other, see below) should be each time specified.

Example 11.1. a) Let X be \mathbb{P}^3 blown up in one point. Then for every open subset D of \mathbb{C}^2 one can find a sequence of holomorphic mappings of \mathbb{C}^2 to X with D as its set of strong normality. To see this, let (w_1, w_2, w_3) be coordinates of the affine part of \mathbb{P}^3 . We suppose that the blown-up point is zero in these coordinates. For $a = (a_1, a_2) \neq (0, 0)$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ define a mapping $f_{n,a} : \mathbb{C}^2 \to X$ by $(w_1, w_2, w_3) = (z_1 - a_1, z_2 - a_2, 1/n)$. If one takes A to be the set of all points in $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \overline{D}$ with rational coordinates, then $\mathcal{F} = \{f_{n,a} : n \in \mathbb{N}, a \in A\}$ will be the family with $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}} = D$ in the strong sense.

b) Let X be a Hopf three-fold $X := \mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\}/z \sim 2z$. Denote by $\pi : \mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\} \to X$ the canonical projection. Let $D \in \mathbb{C}^2$ be any bounded domain. Take a sequence $\{a_n\} \subset D$ accumulating to every point on ∂D . Let $g_n : \mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathbb{C}^3$ be defined as $g_n(z) = (z - a_n, 1/n)$. Set $f_n := \pi \circ g_n$. Then the set of strong normality of $\mathcal{F} = \{f_n\}$ has D as one of its connected components.

11.2. Weak convergence. Let D and X be reduced complex spaces, D normal, and let $\{f_k\} \subset \mathcal{M}(D, X)$ be a sequence of meromorphic mappings.

Definition 11.2. We say that f_k converge weakly to $f \in \mathcal{M}(D, X)$ (w-converge) if there exists an analytic subset A in D of codimension at least two such that f_k converge strongly to f on compacts in $D \setminus A$.

If in Example 11.1 (b) one takes a converging to zero sequence $\{a_n\}$ then corresponding f_n will converge on compacts of $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ but the limit will not extend to zero meromorphically. I.e., f_n will not converge weakly in any neighborhood of the origin. If one does the same in Example 11.1 (a) then f_n will converge (but only weakly).

Remark 11.1. f_k converge weakly to f if and only if for every compact of $D \setminus I_f$ all f_k are holomorphic in a neighborhood of this compact for k big enough and uniformly converge there to f as holomorphic mappings. Indeed, let A be the minimal analytic set of codimension ≥ 2 such that f_k converge strongly to f on $D \setminus A$. Then A must be contained in I_f because if there exists a point $a \in A \setminus I_f$ then f is holomorphic in some neighborhood $V \ni a$ and then, by the Rouché Principle f_k for $k \gg 1$ are holomorphic on compacts in $V \setminus A$ and converge uniformly (on compacts) to f there. From here and the fact that $\operatorname{codim} A \geq 2$ one easily gets that f_k are holomorphic on compacts on the whole of V and converge to f uniformly.

Now let us turn to the sets of weak convergence/normality. Sets of strong normality obviously are well defined, *i.e.*, they do exist. The existence of sets of weak normality follows from Remark 11.1, see however the proof of Corollary 1.2.1(a) in [Iv7]. Domains of weak convergence/normality of meromorphic mappings turn to be pseudoconvex for a large class of target manifolds (unlike to the case of strong convergence). This follows from the "mutual propagation principle" of the following theorem.

Theorem 11.3. Let D be a domain in a Stein manifold \hat{D} such that \hat{D} is an envelope of holomorphy of D and let $f_k : \hat{D} \to X$ be a weakly converging on D sequence of meromorphic mappings with values in a disk-convex complex space X. Then:

- (a) If the weak limit f on f_k meromorphically extends from D to \hat{D} then f_k weakly converge to f on the whole of \hat{D} .
- (b) If, in addition, the space X carries a pluriclosed metric form then the weak limit f of f_k meromorphically extends to \hat{D} and then the part (a) applies.

For the proof we refer to [Iv7]. As a result the sets of weak normality are locally pseudoconvex provided the target is disk-convex and carries dd^c -closed metric form. Namely we have the following

Corollary 11.1. Let $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{M}(D,X)$ be a family of meromorphic mappings from a complex manifold D to a disk-convex space X which carries dd^c -closed metric form. Then the set of weak normality $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{F}}$ of \mathcal{F} is pseudoconvex. If $\mathcal{F} = \{f_k\}$ is a sequence then the set of its weak convergence is pseudoconvex.

The proof of this corollary clearly follows from Theorem 11.3.

11.3. Gamma convergence. Let again $\{f_k\}$ be a sequence of meromorphic mappings between complex spaces D and X. Let $f \in \mathcal{M}(D, X)$ be a meromorphic map.

Definition 11.3. We say that $f_k \Gamma$ -converge to f if:

i) there exists an analytic subset $A \subset D$ such that f_k strongly converge to f on compacts of $D \setminus A$;

ii) for every divisor H in X, such that $f(D) \not\subset H$ and every compact $K \subseteq D$

the volumes of $f_k^* H \cap K$ counted with multiplicities are uniformly bounded for $k \gg 1$.

Remark 11.2. This notion is weaker than weak convergence because A can have components of codimension one. It might be convenient to add to A the indeterminacy set of f and then, see Remark 11.1, f_k will converge to f uniformly on compacts of $D \setminus A$ as holomorphic mappings. Condition (\mathbf{i}) is also satisfied for a weakly converging sequence, because divisors f^*H extend from $D \setminus A$ to D and if they have bounded volume on compacts of $D \setminus A$ then the same is true on compacts of D. All this obviously follows from the ingredients involved in the proof of Bishop's compactness theorem, see [St].

Example 11.2. a) Consider the following sequence of holomorphic mappings $f_k : \Delta \to \mathbb{P}^1$:

$$f_k: z \to \left[1: 1 + \frac{1}{z} + \dots + \frac{1}{z^k k!}\right] = \left[z^k: z^k + z^{k-1} + \dots + \frac{1}{k!}\right].$$
(11.1)

It is clear that f_k converge on compacts of $\Delta \setminus \{0\}$ to $f(z) = [1 : e^{\frac{1}{z}}]$ but, as it is clear from the second expression in (11.1), the preimage counting with multiplicities of the divisor $H = \{Z_0 = 0\}$ is k[0] (here $[Z_0 : Z_1]$ are homogeneous coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1), *i.e.*, has unbounded volume. And indeed, this sequence should not be considered as converging one, because its limit is not holomorphic on Δ .

b) Set $f_k(z) = [z : z - \frac{1}{k}] : \Delta \to \mathbb{P}^1$. This sequence clearly converges to the constant map f(z) = [z : z] = [1 : 1] on compacts of $\Delta \setminus \{0\}$. Moreover, the preimage of any divisor $H = \{P(z_0, z_1) = 0\} \not\supseteq f_k(\Delta)$ is $\{z \in \Delta : P(z, z - \frac{1}{k}) = 0\}$, *i.e.*, is a set of points, uniformly bounded in number counting with multiplicities. Therefore this sequence Γ -converge (but doesn't converge weakly).

Example 11.3. Consider the following sequence of meromorphic functions on Δ^2 (*i.e.*, meromorphic mappings to \mathbb{P}^1):

$$f_k(z_1, z_2) = [z_1 : 2^{-k} z_2^k].$$

The limit map is constant f(z) = [1:0]. f_k converge to f strongly (uniformly in fact) on compacts of $\Delta^2 \setminus \{z_1 = 0\}$. If $[Z_0: Z_1]$ are homogeneous coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 then the preimage of the divisor $[Z_1 = 0]$ is $k[z_2 = 0]$, *i.e.*, this sequence doesn't converge even in Γ -sense.

Remark 11.3. Examples 11.2 and 11.3 are examples of sequences converging outside of an analytic set of codimension one, which are not Γ -converging. In the first case the limit doesn't extend to the whole source, in the second it does. Convergence of meromorphic mappings of this type was introduced and studied by Rutishauser in [Ru].

If in Definition 11.1 the underlying convergence is the Γ -convergence we get the corresponding notions of a convergence/normality set. Let us conclude this general discussion with the following

Proposition 11.1. Let X be a disk-convex complex space carrying a pluriclosed metric form. Then the sets of Γ -convergence/normality of meromorphic mappings with values in X are locally pseudoconvex.

For the proof we refer to [IN].

Remark 11.4. Strong convergence (or s-convergence) will be denoted by $f_k \to f$, weak one (or wconvergence) as $f_k \to f$, and Γ -convergence as $f_k \xrightarrow{\Gamma} f$. Note that in the second and third definitions we *impose* that the limit f is defined and meromorphic on the whole of D if, even, the convergence takes place only on some part of D. In the first case the limit exists on the whole of D automatically, see once more Example 11.1 in concern with this.

11.4. Convergence of meromorphic functions. For the better understanding of these notions of convergence let us give their description in the case when X is projective, *i.e.*, imbeds into \mathbb{P}^N for some N. In that special case the notions of convergence listed above permit an explicit analytic description as follows. Every meromorphic mapping f with values in \mathbb{P}^N can be locally represented as (7.1) and its indeterminacy set I_f is then given as in (7.2). One has the following.

Theorem 11.4. Let $\{f_k\}$ be a sequence of meromorphic mappings from a complex manifold D to \mathbb{P}^N . Then:

i) $f_k \xrightarrow{\Gamma} f$ if and only if for any point $x_0 \in D$ there exists a neighborhood $V \ni x_0$, reduced representations $f_k = [f_k^0 : ... : f_k^N]$ and not necessarily reduced representation $f = [f^0 : ... : f^N]$ such that for every $0 \leq j \leq N$ the sequence f_k^j converge to f^j uniformly on V;

ii) $f_k \rightarrow f$ if and only if $f_k \xrightarrow{\Gamma} f$ and the limit representation $f = [f^0 : ... : f^N]$ is reduced; iii) $f_k \rightarrow f$ if and only if $f_k \rightarrow f$ and corresponding non-pluripolar Monge-Ampère masses converge, i.e., for every $1 \le p \le n = \dim D$ one has

$$\left(dd^{c} \|z\|^{2}\right)^{n-p} \wedge \left(dd^{c} \ln \|f_{k}\|^{2}\right)^{p} \rightarrow \left(dd^{c} \|z\|^{2}\right)^{n-p} \wedge \left(dd^{c} \ln \|f\|^{2}\right)^{p} \tag{11.2}$$

weakly on compacts in D.

Here in (11.2) we suppose that $V = \Delta^n$, $z, ..., z_n$ are standard coordinates and $||f||^2 = |f^0|^2 + ... + |f^N|^2$, *i.e.*, $dd^c \ln ||f||^2$ is the pullback of the Fubini-Study form by f. Non-pluripolar MA mass of $\ln ||f||^2$ of order p here means

$$\int_{D\setminus Z_f} \left(dd^c \left\| z \right\|^2 \right)^{n-p} \wedge \left(dd^c \ln \left\| f \right\|^2 \right)^p, \tag{11.3}$$

where Z_f is the analytic sets of common zeroes of $f^0, ..., f^N$. If this couple has ho common divisors then $Z_f = I_f$. For the proof of this theorem we refer to [IN].

Remark 11.5. a) Reducibility or not of the limit representation $f = [f^0 : ... : f^N]$ in this theorem doesn't depend on the choice of *converging* representations $f_k = [f_k^0 : ... : f_k^N]$, provided they are taken to be reduced (the last can be assumed always). Indeed, any other reduced representation of f_k has the form $f_k = [g_k f_k^0 : ... : g_k f_k^N]$, where g_k is holomorphic and nowhere zero. If the newly chosen representations converge to some representation of f then g_k must converge, say to g and this g is nowhere zero by Rouché's theorem. Therefore the obtained representation of the limit is $f = [gf^0 : ... : gf^N]$ and it is reduced if and only if $f = [f^0 : ... : f^N]$ was reduced.

Let us make the following remark. Let ω_{FS} be the Fubini-Study form on \mathbb{P}^N . For a holomorphic map $f: \overline{\Delta} \to \mathbb{C}^N$ (we suppose f to be defined in a neighborhood of the closure $\overline{\Delta}$), the area of $f(\Delta)$ with respect to the Fubini-Study form is

$$\operatorname{area}_{FS} f(\Delta) = \int_{\Delta} f^* \omega_{FS}.$$
(11.4)

Denote by $Z = (Z_0, ..., Z_N)$ coordinates in \mathbb{C}^{N+1} and let $\pi : \mathbb{C}^{N+1} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}^N$ be the standard projection. Consider the following singular (1,1)-form on \mathbb{C}^{N+1}

$$\omega_0 = dd^c \ln \|Z\|^2. \tag{11.5}$$

Lemma 11.1. For a holomorphic lift $F = (f^0, ..., f^N) : \overline{\Delta} \to \mathbb{C}^{N+1}$ of $f : \overline{\Delta} \to \mathbb{P}^N$ (i.e., $f = \pi \circ F$) such that $F|_{\partial \Delta}$ doesn't vanishes one has

$$\operatorname{area}_{FS} f(\Delta) = \int_{\partial \Delta} d^c \ln \|F\|^2 - N_F.$$
(11.6)

Here N_F is the number of zeroes of F counted with multiplicities.

This readily follows from the King's residue formula, see [Kg], but we shall give a simple direct proof. By the very definition of the Fubini-Study form one has $\pi^*\omega_{FS} = \omega_0$. And therefore in a neighborhood of a point $a \in \Delta$ such that $F(a) \neq 0$ one has that $f^*\omega_{FS} = F^*\omega_0$. As the result

$$\operatorname{area}_{FS} f(\Delta) = \int_{\Delta} f^* \omega_{FS} = \int_{\Delta \setminus Z_F} F^* \omega_0, \qquad (11.7)$$

where $Z_F := \{z_1, ..., z_k\}$ is the set of zeroes of F, *i.e.*, such z_l that $f^j(z_l) = 0$ for all j = 0, ..., N. Let n_l be the multiplicity of zero z_l . Then $F(z) = (z - z_i)^{n_l}(g^0(z), ..., g^N(z))$, where at least one of g^j -s is not zero at z_l . We have that

$$dd^{c} \ln \|F\|^{2} = n_{l} \delta_{z_{l}} + dd^{c} \ln \|G\|^{2},$$

where $G(z) = (g^0(z), ..., g^N(z))$. Therefore $dd^c \ln ||G||^2$ is an extension of $F^*\omega_0$ to z_l . The rest obviously follows from the Stokes formula.

Let us observe the following immediate corollary from this lemma.

Corollary 11.2. Let $f_k : D \to \mathbb{P}^N$ be a Γ -converging sequence of meromorphic mappings and let L be a divisor in D such that f_k converge uniformly on compacts of $D \setminus L$. Let $V \cong \Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta$ be a chart adapted to L and to the limit M of $f_k^* H_0$, where $H_0 = [Z_0 = 0]$. Then the areas of the analytic discs $f_k(\Delta_{z'})$ are uniformly bounded in $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Indeed, let (z', z_n) be coordinates in $\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta$. Denote by $F_k = (f_k^0, ..., f_k^N)$ lifts of f_k to \mathbb{C}^{N+1} . Consider restrictions $f_k|_{\Delta_{z'}}$. Due to the fact that our chart is adapted to $M = \lim f_k^* H_0$ we have that f_k^0 doesn't vanishes on $\partial \Delta_{z'}$ for $k \gg 1$ and, since it is also adapted to L the lifts $F_k = (f_k^0, ..., f_k^N)$ converge in a neighborhood of $\partial \Delta_{z'}$. By (11.6) we have

$$\operatorname{area}_{FS} f_k(\Delta_{z'}) \leqslant \int_{\partial \Delta_{z'}} d^c \ln \|F_k\|^2 \leqslant c, \tag{11.8}$$

i.e., the areas are uniformly bounded for $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ and all k.

Now let us discuss the convergence of meromorphic functions. Meromorphic functions on a complex manifold D are exactly the meromorphic mappings from D to \mathbb{P}^1 . I.e., all our previous results and notions are applicable to this case. Therefore we can summarize as follows.

Corollary 11.3. Volumes of graphs of Γ -converging sequence of meromorphic functions are uniformly bounded on compacts. If a sequence $\{f_k\}$ of meromorphic functions converges weakly then it converges strongly. Domains of convergence/normality of meromorphic functions are pseudoconvex for all types of convergence: weak=strong and gamma.

Indeed, let f be the gamma limit of f_k . Inequality (11.8) implies that in an appropriately chosen local coordinates (z', z_n) one has

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_{k}|_{\Delta^{n}}}) = \int_{\Delta^{n}} (dd^{c}||z||^{2})^{n} + \int_{\Delta^{n}} (dd^{c}||z||^{2})^{n-1} \wedge f_{k}^{*} \omega_{FS} \leqslant \int_{\Delta^{n}} (dd^{c}||z||^{2})^{n} + \int_{\Delta^{n-1}} (dd^{c}||z||^{2})^{n-1} \int_{\partial \Delta_{z'}} d^{c} \ln \|F_{k}\|^{2} \leqslant \operatorname{const.}$$
(11.9)

Therefore after going to a subsequence we get that the Hausdorff limit $\hat{\Gamma} := \lim \Gamma_{f_k}$ is a purely *n*-dimensional analytic subset of $D \times \mathbb{P}^1$. We claim that if f_k converge to f weakly then, in fact, $\lim \Gamma_{f_k} = \Gamma_f$. If not take any irreducible component Γ of this limit different from Γ_f . Denote by γ its projection to D. γ is a proper analytic set of codimension at least two D. But then Γ should be contained in $\gamma \times \mathbb{P}^1$ and the last analytic set is of dimension dim D-1. This is impossible, because all components of $\lim \Gamma_{f_k}$ are of pure dimension dim D. Therefore $\gamma = \emptyset$ and $\lim \Gamma_{f_k} = \Gamma_f$. The rest follows from Theorem 11.3 and Proposition 11.1.

11.5. Behavior of volumes of graphs under weak and gamma convergence. Let us discuss the following question: suppose meromorphic mappings $f_k : D \to X$ converge in some sense to a meromorphic map f, what can be said about the behavior of volumes of graphs of f_k over compacts in D? If f_k converge to f strongly then, as it was remarked in Theorem 11.1, for every relative compact $V \subseteq D$ we have that

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_k|_V}) \to \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f|_V}). \tag{11.10}$$

When f_k converges only weakly one cannot, of course expect anything like (11.10). At most what one can expect is that volumes of Γ_{f_k} stay bounded over compacts in D and converge to the volume of Γ_f plus volumes of exceptional components. I.e., the question is if for a weakly converging sequence $\{f_k\}$ one has that for every relatively compact open $V \subseteq D$ there exists a constant C_V such that

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_k|_V}) \leqslant C_V \quad \text{for all} \quad k.$$
 (11.11)

This turns to be wrong in general, the following example was communicated to us by A. Rashkovski, see more details in [IN].

Example 11.4. There exists a sequence $\varepsilon_k \searrow 0$ such that *holomorphic* mappings $f_k : \mathbb{B}^3 \to \mathbb{P}^3$ defined as

$$f_k: (z_1, z_2, z_3) \to [z_1: z_1 - \varepsilon_k: z_2: z_3^k]$$
(11.12)

converge weakly to $f(z) = [z_1 : z_1 : z_2 : 0]$ on compacts of the unit ball $\mathbb{B}^3 \subset \mathbb{C}^3$, but the volumes of graphs of f_k over the ball $\mathbb{B}^3(1/2)$ of radius 1/2 diverge. In fact

$$\mathsf{vol}(\Gamma_{f_k}) \cap (\mathbb{B}^3(1/2) \times \mathbb{P}^3) \ge k.$$
(11.13)

Remark 11.6. Remark that this example has the source and image manifolds of dimension three.

1. A one dimensional manifold X either properly imbeds to \mathbb{C}^n (when X is noncompact) or is projective and therefore imbeds to \mathbb{P}^n . In both cases by Theorem 11.4 we have convergence of reduced representations to a, may be non-reduced representation of the limit. And then the estimate (11.9) applies and gives the uniform bound on volumes.

2. If the dimension n of the source D is 2 the boundedness of volumes of graphs of a weakly converging sequence is automatic. This can be seen at least in two ways.

First, in projective case this readily follows from the following formula of King, see [Kg]:

$$d\left[d^{c}\ln(\|f\|^{2}) \wedge dd^{c}\ln(\|f\|^{2})\right] = \chi_{D \setminus I_{f}}\left[\left(dd^{c}\ln(\|f\|^{2})\right)^{2}\right] - \sum_{j} n_{j}\left[Z_{j}\right],$$
(11.14)

provided I_f has pure codimension two. Z_j are irreducible components (branches) of the indeterminacy set I_f of f. If it has branches of higher codimension then around these branches a higher order non-pluripolar masses can be expressed in a similar way. Now if f_k weakly converge to f formula (11.14) immediately

gives a uniform bound of corresponding MA masses (even together with that concentrated on pluripolar sets I_{f_k}). If n = 2 then that's all we need.

3. Second, using Skoda potentials, or Green functions, as it was done in [Iv7] Theorem 2, one can bound non-pluripolar Monge-Ampère masses of order two also in the case of weakly converging sequence with values in disk-convex Kähler X. This observation implies that if X is disk-convex Kähler and $\dim D = 2$ then the volumes of graphs of weakly converging sequences of meromorphic mappings $D \to X$ are uniformly bounded over compacts in D.

Moreover, it was proved in [Ne] that volumes of weakly converging sequence are bounded also in the case when X is any compact complex surface. The proof uses Kaähler case separately and then the fact that a non-Kähler surface has only finitely many rational curves.

Remark 11.7. Let us remark that there is one more important case when the volumes of graphs of weakly (even Γ) converging sequence necessarily stay bounded: namely when $\{f_k\}$ is a Γ -converging sequence of meromorphic mappings between projective manifolds X and Y. Indeed the volumes of graphs Γ_{f_k} are uniformly bounded as it is straightforward from Besout theorem.

11.6. Rational connectivity of the exceptional components of the limit. Strong convergence obviously implies the weak one:

$$s$$
-convergence \Longrightarrow w-convergence. (11.15)

We want to understand what obstructs a weakly converging sequence to converge strongly. The problem is that by Theorem 11.1 the volumes of graphs of a strongly converging sequence are uniformly bounded over compacts in the source. As we saw starting from dimension three the volumes of graphs of a weakly converging sequence can diverge to infinity over compacts of D. Nevertheless for a sequence Γ_{f_k} of weakly converging meromorphic graphs we can consider the Hausdorff limit $\hat{\Gamma}$ (its always origins after taking a subsequence). Set $\Gamma := \overline{\hat{\Gamma} \setminus \Gamma_{\tau}}$, where Γ_{τ} is the

Hausdorff limit $\hat{\Gamma}$ (its always exists after taking a subsequence). Set $\Gamma := \hat{\Gamma} \setminus \Gamma_f$, where Γ_f is the graph of the limit map f, and call Γ *a bubble*. For $a \in \mathsf{pr}_1(\Gamma)$ set $\Gamma_a := \mathsf{pr}_2(\mathsf{pr}_1^{-1}(a) \cap \Gamma)$. The following theorem describes the structure of the bubble.

Theorem 11.5. Let X be a disk-convex manifold carrying a dd^c-closed metric form and let $f_k : D \to X$ be a weakly converging sequence of meromorphic mappings. Then for every point $a \in \mathsf{pr}_1(\Gamma)$ the fiber Γ_a is rationally connected.

Here by saying that a closed subset Γ_a of a complex manifold is *rationally connected* we mean that every two distinct points $p, q \in \Gamma_a$ can be connected by a chain of rational curves in Γ_a , *i.e.*, by a *connected* union $C = \bigcup_j C_j$ of finitely many rational curves, each entirely contained in Γ_a . For the proof of Theorem 11.5 we refer to [IN].

12. Separate analyticity and Rothstein-type theorems

12.1. A Rothstein-type extension theorem. Let us start with the following Rothstein-type statement.

Theorem 12.1. Let $V \subset \mathbb{C}^p$ and $W_0 \in W \in \mathbb{C}^q$ be domains, $p,q \ge 1$, and let E be a nonpluripolar subset of V. Let furthermore a meromorphic mapping $f: V \times W_0 \to X$ with values in a reduced complex space X be given. Suppose that for every $z \in E$ the restriction $f_z := f \mid_{\{z\} \times W_0}$ is well defined and extends meromorphically to $W_z := \{z\} \times W$. Then for every domain W' such that $W_0 \in W' \in W$ there exists a pluripolar subset $E' \subset E$ such that f meromorphically extends to a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup (E \setminus E') \times W'$.

Proof. Fix some \tilde{W} such that $W' \in \tilde{W} \in W$. For every $z \in E$ the restriction f_z is well defined and extends meromorphically to $\overline{\tilde{W}}$. Fix some compact exhaustion $K_1 \in ... \in K_n \in ...$ of X. Denote by E_n the set of those $z \in E$ that $f_z(\tilde{W}) \subset K_n$. Since $\bigcup_n E_n = E$ we see that starting from some n_0 all E_n are not pluripolar. If we shall prove that for $n \ge n_0$ there exists a pluripolar E'_n and an extension of f to a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup (E_n \setminus E'_n) \times W'$, then f will be extended to a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup (E \setminus E') \times W'$, where $E' = \bigcup_n E'_n$. The latter is pluripolar by Josefson's theorem. Therefore we may additionally suppose that there exists a compact $K \Subset X$ such that $f_z(\tilde{W}) \subset K$ for all $z \in E$. Take ν as in (7.8) before Theorem 7.1 for ours $W' \Subset \tilde{W}$ and K. Let R be the maximal open subset of E such that f extends to a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup R \times W'$. Set $S = E \setminus R$. Define furthermore

$$S_k = \{ z \in S : \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_z}) \leqslant k \frac{\nu}{2} \},\$$

where graphs are taken over \tilde{W} . Note that by Lemma 7.1 S_k are closed and they are increasing. Also $\bigcup_{k \ge 1} S_k = S$. By Theorem 7.1 and maximality of $R = E \setminus S$ the sets $S_{k+1} \setminus S_k$ are not locally regular at any of their points. Therefore the sets $S_1, S_2 \setminus S_1, \ldots$ are pluripolar and so is S. Theorem is proved.

Remark 12.1. This theorem is proved in [Iv6], Corollary 2.5.1. We reproduce it here because in [Iv6] it was mistakenly stated that one can take W' = W. This is not true in general.

We have the following obvious corollary from Theorem 12.1.

Corollary 12.1. If in the conditions of the Theorem 12.1 the complex space X possess the meromorphic extension property then:

- i) one can take $E' = E \setminus E^*$, where E^* is a set of pluriregular points of E; also W' = W in this case, i.e., f extends meromorphically to a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup E^* \times W$;
- ii) if, in addition, if E = V then f extends meromorphically to $V \times W$.

Indeed, f in this case extends to the envelope of holomorphy of the neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup (E \setminus E') \times W'$, which is obviously a neighborhood of $V \times W_0 \cup E^* \times W'$. Taking an increasing exhaustion $W_0 \Subset W_1 \Subset \ldots$ of W and applying the result consecutively for every W_n on the place of W' we get the result.

12.2. Separate analyticity of meromorphic mappings and the radius of meromorphy. Let us turn now to the separate meromorphicity. The following statement for holomorphic functions is due to J. Siciak, see [Sc].

Theorem 12.2. Let E and F be a non-pluripolar subsets in domains $V \in \mathbb{C}^p$ and $W \in \mathbb{C}^q$ respectively, $p, q \ge 1$, and let G be some pluripolar subset of $V \times W$. Let further some mapping $f : E \times F \setminus G \to X$ to a complex space X be given. Suppose that:

i) for every $z \in E$, such that $\{z\} \times F \not\subset G$ the restriction $f_z := f \mid_{\{z\} \times F}$ is well defined and meromorphically extends to $\{z\} \times W$;

ii) for every $w \in F$, such that $E \times \{w\} \not\subset G$ the restriction $f^w := f|_{E \times \{w\}}$ is well defined and meromorphically extends to $V \times \{w\}$.

Then for every $V' \subseteq V$, $W' \subseteq W$ there exist pluripolar subsets $E' \subset E$, $F' \subset F$ and a meromorphic extension \tilde{f} of f to some neighborhood of $(E \setminus E') \times W' \cup V' \times (F \setminus F')$.

Proof. As in the proof of Theorem 12.1 without loss of generality we can suppose that f_z extends to $\overline{\tilde{W}}$ for some $W \in \tilde{W}$ and for all $z \in E$ such that $\{z\} \times F \not\subset G$. Moreover, we can suppose that there exists a compact $K \subset X$ such that $f_z(\tilde{W}) \subset K$ for all $z \in E$. The same for f^w -s: they can supposed to be meromorphic on \tilde{V} for some $V \in \tilde{V}$, the same for all $w \in F$, such that $E \times \{w\} \not\subset G$. Let us prove first that there exists a point $Z_0 = (z_0, w_0) \in E \times F$ such that f holomorphically extends to a neighborhood of Z_0 . Set

$$E_k = \{ z \in E : \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f_z}) \leqslant k \frac{\nu}{2} \},\$$

where ν is defined for $W \in \tilde{W}$ and K as in (7.8). Since E is not pluripolar, there exists k and $z_1 \in E_{k+1} \setminus E_k$ such that $E_{k+1} \setminus E_k$ is locally regular at z_1 . The same reasoning as at the beginning of the proof of Theorem 7.1 shows that the family $\{\Gamma_{f_z} : z \in E_{k+1} \setminus E_k\}$ is continuous
in a neighborhood of z_1 . Take a point $w_0 \in W$ such that f_{z_1} is holomorphic in a neighborhood of w_0 . Remark that this w_0 can be taken to be a locally regular point of $F_{l+1} \setminus F_l$ for some l, where

$$F_l = \{ w \in F : \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{f^w}) \leqslant k \frac{\nu}{2}.$$

 ν should be taken to satisfy (7.8) also for $V' \Subset V$ and K. From Hausdorff continuity of the family Γ_{f_z} in a neighborhood of z_1 we get immediately that all f_z are holomorphic in a neighborhood of w_0 for $z \in E_{k+1} \setminus E_k$ close to z_1 , see the Rouché Principle of Theorem 11.2. Find a point $z_0 \in E_{k+1} \setminus E_k$ close to z_1 where f^{w_0} is holomorphic. Now the separate analyticity Theorem 1.10 for functions tells us that the point $Z_0 = (z_0, w_0)$ is such as needed. To end the proof apply two times coordinatewise the Rothstein-type Theorem 12.1.

Corollary 12.2. Suppose that under the conditions of Theorem 12.2 the space X possesses the meromorphic extension property. Then:

i) one can take $E \setminus E' = E^*$, $F \setminus F' = F^*$ and W' = V, W' = W, and moreover, a neighborhood $\Omega_{E,F}$ to which every such f extends depends only on E and F and is equal to

$$\Omega_{E,F} = \{ (z_1, z_2) \in V \times W : w_*(z_1, E^*, V) + w_*(z_2, F^*, W) > 1 \}.$$
(12.1)

ii) if, in addition, E = V and F = W then f extends meromorphically to $V \times W$.

The reason is that the envelope of holomorphy of any neighborhood of $E^* \times F^*$ contains this $\Omega_{E,F}$, see [Sc], Theorem 7.1. It should be said however that if the target space X doesn't possess a mer. ext. prop. then the "excluded" pluripolar set E' (and F') in both Theorems 12.1 and 12.2 can be bigger than $E \setminus E^*$ (resp. than $F \setminus F^*$). The most striking in this respect is the following example.

Example 12.1. (A. Hirschowitz, [Hr]). There exists a compact complex surface X (of class VII) and a holomorphic mapping $f : \Delta^2 \setminus \{0\} \to X$ such that for any complex curve $C \ni 0$ the restriction $f|_{C\setminus\{0\}}$ holomorphically extends to 0, but f doesn't extend meromorphically to a neighborhood of the origin. Here by saying that $f|_{C\setminus\{0\}}$ holomorphically extends to 0 one means that for a local injective parametrization $j : (\Delta, 0) \to (C, 0)$ the composition $f \circ j$ extends to 0. This example shows that one can have $E = E^* = \Delta$ in our theorems but with non-empty E', (namely $E' = \{0\}$ in this case). This example also shows (and this was the primary reason for constructing it) that the meromorphicity in the sense of Stoll (not considered in this text) is different from the meromorphicity in the sense of Remmert (which we adapt here). For Kähler targets these notions coincide, Siu, [Si5].

We end up with the two following statements.

Theorem 12.3. (B. Shiffman, [Sh3]). Let E be a set of full measure in Δ^n and let $f : E \to X$ be a mapping with values in a reduced complex space X such that for almost every coordinate disk Δ the restriction of f to $\Delta \cap E$ extends to Δ as a holomorphic map with values in X. If the space X possesses the meromorphic extension property then f meromorphically extends to Δ^n .

The proof can be achieved along the similar arguments as presented in this section. Let Ω be an open subset of \mathbb{C} and D a connected open neighborhood of the origin in \mathbb{C} . Let f be a meromorphic mapping from $\Omega \times D$ to a reduced complex space X. For $z \in \Omega$ define the *radius* of meromorphy $r_f(z)$ of f to be the supremum of all r such that f meromorphically extends to a neighborhood of $\{z\} \times \Delta_r$.

Corollary 12.3. If the space X possesses the meromorphic extension property (ex. X is diskconvex Kähler) then function $\ln \frac{1}{r_f(z)}$ is subharmonic in Ω .

The proof is the same as that of Proposition 1.4 from [Si3] and will be omitted. Remark that both Theorem 12.3 and Corollary 12.3 apply when X is disk-convex Kähler due to Theorem 8.1.

Remark 12.2. Our treatment of separate analyticity is rather short. For the case of functions much more results can be found in the book [JP]. The case of mappings deserves a more detailed description which, we hope, will be given elsewhere. For the time being let us underline that our approach to the separate analyticity is based on the following three main ingredients: Theorem 1.10 of Siciak, Theorem of Josefson and Theorem 7.1. The main point is that the mer. ext. property on the image space X occurs to be "almost not needed". What is lost is just a pluripolar set.

12.3. Increasing the dimension of the source manifold. Let us discuss one interesting purely meromorphic phenomena.

Definition 12.1. We say that holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) mappings with values in reduced complex space X are:

- i) Hartogs (n,q)-extendable if every holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) map from $H^{n,q}(r)$ to X extends holomorphically (resp. meromorphically) to Δ^n ;
- ii) Thullen (n,q)-extendable if for any closed pluripolar subset S of Δ^q every holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) map from

$$T_r^{n,q}(S) := \Delta^{n-q} \times (\Delta^q \setminus S) \cup (\Delta_r^{n-q} \times \Delta^q)$$
(12.2)

to X extends holomorphically (resp. meromorphically) to Δ^n .

Note that Hartogs (n,q)-extendibility obviously implies the Thullen-type one. Vice versa is not true. Take the example of Kato 10.1 and let $f: T_r^{2,1}(S) \to X$ be some meromorphic map. While $f: T_r^{2,1}(S)$ is simply-connected we can consider the lift $F = \pi^{-1} \circ f: f: T_r^{2,1}(S) \to D \subset \mathbb{P}^3$. By a Thullen-type extension theorem for meromorphic functions F extends to Δ^2 . But $F(\Delta^2) \cap \partial D = \emptyset$ because one cannot touch ∂D by a bidisk. Thus $\pi \circ F$ gives an extension of f to Δ^2 .

1. Remark that an appropriate Thullen-type extendibility is sufficient for Corollary 12.1.

2. If holomorphic mappings with values in X are Hartogs (n,q)-extendable then they are Hartogs (n',q')-extendable for all (n',q') with either $n' \ge n$ or $q' \ge q$. The proof is straightforward and is given in Lemmas 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 of [Iv6]. In particular the category \mathcal{O}_X for such X is (n-q)-Hartogs.

3. Meromorphic case is surprisingly different. We refer to [Iv6] for the following example which shows that meromorphic Hartogs (2, 1)-extendability doesn't imply Hartogs (3, 1)-extendability!

Example 12.2. There exists a compact complex three-fold X such that:

- (a) For every domain D in \mathbb{C}^2 every meromorphic mapping $f: D \longrightarrow X$ extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{f}: \hat{D} \longrightarrow X$. Here \hat{D} stands for the envelope of holomorphy of D.
- (b) But there exists a meromorphic mapping $F : \mathbb{B}^3 \setminus \{0\} \longrightarrow X$ from punctured 3-ball to X which does not extend to the origin.

13. VANISHING CYCLES IN HOLOMORPHIC FOLIATIONS AND FOLIATED SHELLS

In the present section we shall explain a certain "non-parametric" variation of previous results, a certain mélange of techniques from section 9 and subsections 8.2, 8.3 of section 8. The outcome will be then applied to holomorphic foliations by curves.

13.1. Holomorphic fibrations and generalized Hartogs figures. Let us start from a particular holomorphic foliations by curves, the so called *fibrations* by curves, *i.e.*, triples (W, π, V) where W and V are complex manifolds of dimensions dim $W = \dim V + 1$ and $\pi : W \to V$ is a surjective holomorphic submersion with connected fibers. For $z \in V$ denote by $W_z = \pi^{-1}(z)$ the corresponding fiber. A holomorphic mapping $f : (W, \pi, V) \to (W', \pi', V')$ is said to be a *foliated immersion* if it is an immersion and sends leaves to leaves. By saying this we mean that there exists a holomorphic map $f_v : V \to V'$ such that for all $z \in V$ one has $f(W_z) \subset W'_{f_v(z)}$. **Definition 13.1.** A generalized Hartogs figure is a quadruple (W, π, U, V) , where W and V are complex manifolds, U an open subset of V and $\pi : W \to V$ is a holomorphic submersion such that:

- i) for all $z \in V \setminus U$ the fiber W_z is diffeomorphic to an annulus;
- ii) for $z \in U$ the fiber W_z is diffeomorphic to a disk.

Remark 13.1. a) Generalized Hartogs figures are fibrations of a special type: they are concave in the most naïve and clear sense. Manifold W has a distinguished part of the boundary formed by the outer boundaries $\partial_0 W_z$ of annuli W_z . We shall suppose that W is smooth up to this part of its boundary and denote it by $\partial_0 W$, *i.e.*, $\partial_0 W = \bigcup_{z \in V} \partial_0 W_z$. Projection π is also supposed to be smooth up to $\partial_0 W$ and therefore $\pi : \partial W_0 \to V$ is a circle fibration. For $z \in U$ the outer boundary $\partial_0 W_z$ is actually the boundary of the disc W_z .

b) The standard Hartogs figure $H_r^{n+1} = (\Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1}) \cup (\Delta_r^n \times \Delta)$ carries a natural vertical fibration \mathcal{L}^{v} , (or horizontal in one presents it as in (1.4)). Leaves $\mathcal{L}_{z'}^{\mathrm{v}}$ are discs Δ if ||z'|| < r and annuli for $r \leq ||z'|| < 1+r$. Here $z' = (z_1, ..., z_n)$ and $||\cdot||$ is the polydisk-norm in \mathbb{C}^n . Remark now that $(H_r^{n+1}, \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{v}})$ fits, of course, into the Definition 13.1 with $V = \Delta^n$, $U = \Delta_r^n$ and π being the restriction of the canonical "vertical" projection $\mathbb{C}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ to H_r^{n+1} .

c) Let $P := \Delta^2$ be the unit bicylinder in \mathbb{C}^2 and $B = \partial P$ its boundary. For some $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ let $B^r = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^2 : 1 - r < \max\{|z_1|, |z_2|\} < 1 + r\}$ be a shell around B. Denote by $\pi : \mathbb{C}^2 \to \mathbb{C}$ the canonical projection $\pi(z) = z_1$ onto the first coordinate of \mathbb{C}^2 . Note that B^r is foliated by π over the disc Δ_{1+r} of radius 1+r. Denote this foliation by \mathcal{L}^{v} and call it *a vertical foliation*. Its leaves $\mathcal{L}_{z_1}^{\mathsf{v}} := \pi^{-1}(z_1)$ are discs Δ_{1+r} if $1-r < |z_1| < 1+r$ and are annuli $A_{1-r,1+r} := \Delta_{1+r} \setminus \overline{\Delta}_{1-r}$ if $|z_1| \leq 1-r$.

Definition 13.2. The pair (B^r, \mathcal{L}^v) will be called the standard foliated shell.

Note that the standard foliated shell is also a generalized Hartogs figure. Namely it can be viewed as $(B^r, \pi, A_{1-r,1+r}, \Delta_{1+r})$.

d) The difference between the generalized and the standard Hartogs figures can be understood from the example explained on the Figure 5. Namely the following can happen.

Example 13.1. There exists a generalized Hartogs figure W over a disc (*i.e.*, both $\emptyset \neq U \subset V$ are discs in \mathbb{C}) with the following property: whenever a holomorphic foliated imbedding $h : (z_1, z_2) \rightarrow (h_1(z_1), h_2(z_1, z_2))$ of $H = H_r^2$ into W is given such that $h_1(0) = z^0 \in U$ then necessarily $h_1(\Delta) \subset U$ (whatever r > 0 is).



FIGURE 5. On the left is the standard Hartogs figure imbedded into a generalized Hartogs figure W constructed in [CI]. Every attempt to imbed H_r^2 into this W will look like this picture: if the fiber over the origin in H_r^2 is mapped to a fiber over some point $z_0 \in U$ then the image of H_r^2 will newer leave $W|_U$. The standard foliated shell on the right is foliated by discs and annuli over the disc Δ_{1+r} . In particular, (B^r, \mathcal{L}^v) is a generalized Hartogs figure.

Definition 13.3. If $U = \emptyset$ we call (W, π, \emptyset, V) trivial, if U = V we call (W, π, V, V) complete and in the latter case often denote it as (W, π, V) .

The standard Hartogs figure is newer trivial by definition, *i.e.*, it is commonly accepted that always $\varepsilon > 0$. Let D be a non-empty open subset of V. Set $W|_D = \pi^{-1}(D)$ and consider it also as a generalized Hartogs figure $(W|_D, \pi|_D, D \cap U, D)$, a subfigure of (W, π, U, V) .

13.2. An unparametrized version of Levi's theorem. The following notion comes back to [Ti], see also [Bl]. Let X be a complex space and $f: A_{1-r,1} \to X$ be a holomorphic immersion.

Definition 13.4. We say that f extends to Δ after a reparametrization if for some $\delta > 0$ there exists an imbedding $h: A_{1-\delta,1} \to A_{1-r,1}$ sending $\partial \Delta$ to $\partial \Delta$ and preserving the canonical orientation of $\partial \Delta$, such that $f \circ h$ holomorphically extends to Δ .

It is clear that such h, if it exists, should be holomorphic. We shall use also the following form of this notion. Let γ be a simple oriented loop on a bordered Riemann surface W. The latter should be viewed simply as a collar adjacent to γ . Let $f: W \to X$ be a holomorphic immersion. Suppose that there exist a Riemann surface \widetilde{W} , which is a bordered disc with boundary $\widetilde{\gamma}$ (canonically oriented), and a biholomorphic mapping h from a collar adjacent to $\widetilde{\gamma}$ to W (smooth up to the boundaries) and sending $\widetilde{\gamma}$ onto γ , preserving orientations, such that the composition $f \circ h$ holomorphically extends to the disc \widetilde{W} . Then we shall say that f extends to the disc \widetilde{W} after a reparametrization. If such $\widetilde{W}, \widetilde{\gamma}$ and h do exist but are not specified we shall say simply that f holomorphically extends to a disk after a reparametrization. In the sequel we shall consider only the case when f is a generic injection (i.e. injective outside of a finite set). Then its extension after reparametrization, which we also require to be a generic injection, is unique (if exists). Uniqueness means here up to a biholomorphic automorphism of the disc. Now let's turn to the families of immersions.

Definition 13.5. A holomorphic mapping $f : (W, \pi, V) \to X$ of a fibration (W, π, V) into a complex space X is called generically injective if for all $z \in V$ outside of a proper analytic subset $A \subset V$ the restriction $f_z := f|_{W_z}$ is a generic injection.

Note that we do not ask f to be generically injective itself but only its restrictions onto generic fibers. Actually f may not even be an immersion. However in most cases mappings appearing in this text will be both immersions and generic injections. We shall also need a corresponding notion for the meromorphic case.

Definition 13.6. A meromorphic mapping $f: W \to X$ between complex spaces is a meromorphic immersion if it is an immersion outside of its indeterminacy set I_f . If, moreover, (W, π, V) is a holomorphic fibration then a meromorphic mapping f is called generically injective if $f|_{W_z}$ is a generic injection for z outside of a proper analytic subset of V.

Let a holomorphic generic injection $f: (W, \pi, U, V) \to X$ of a generalized Hartogs figure into a complex space X be given and let \hat{U} be some open subset of V containing U.

Definition 13.7. We say that f extends to the Hartogs figure $(\widetilde{W}, \pi, \widehat{U}, V)$ after a respirometriction if there exists a foliated biholomorphism of trivial figures $h: (\partial_0 \widetilde{W}, \pi, \emptyset, V) \to (\partial_0 W, \pi, \emptyset, V)$ such that $f \circ h$ extends to a generically injective meromorphic map $\widetilde{f}: (\widetilde{W}, \pi, \widehat{U}, V) \to X$.

Remark that if f extends as a meromorphic map being a generic injection on (W, π, U, V) with $U \neq \emptyset$ then its extension will be automatically a generic injection. However in the definition above we do not exclude the case when $U = \emptyset$.

Theorem 13.1. Let $f: (W, \pi, \emptyset, V) \to X$ be a generically injective holomorphic map of a trivial Hartogs figure into a complex space X. Suppose that dim V = 1 and that for some sequence $z_n \to z_0 \in V$ restrictions $f|_{W_{z_n}}: W_{z_n} \to X$ holomorphically extend as generic injections to a discs \widetilde{W}_{z_n} after a reparametrization. Suppose additionally that:

i) $\widetilde{f}|_{\widetilde{W}_{z_n}}(\widetilde{W}_{z_n})$ stay in some compact of X;

ii) area $\left(\widetilde{f}|_{\widetilde{W}_{z_n}}(\widetilde{W}_{z_n})\right)$ are uniformly bounded.

Then there exists a neighborhood $D \ni z_0$ such that f extends meromorphically onto a figure $(\widetilde{W}, \pi, D, V)$ after a reparametrization. Moreover, the extension \widetilde{f} is a generically injective meromorphic map.

Proof. Remark that the statement (i) in this theorem doesn't depend on a particular choice of metric. Writing $\tilde{f}|_{\widetilde{W}_{z_n}}$ here we mean that for every n a reparametrization map $h_{z_n} : \partial \widetilde{W}_{z_n} \to \partial W_{z_n}$ is given such that $\tilde{f}|_{\partial \widetilde{W}_{z_n}} := f|_{\partial W_{z_n}} \circ h_{z_n}$ extends generically injectively and holomorphically to the disc \widetilde{W}_{z_n} .

Set $\tilde{f}_n = \tilde{f}|_{\widetilde{W}_{z_n}}$ and consider $(\widetilde{W}_{z_n}, \tilde{f}_n)$ as complex discs over X in the sense of Definition 2.3, parameterized by a fixed disc Σ . Applying Theorem 2.5 we can find a subsequence from $(\widetilde{W}_{z_n}, \tilde{f}_n)$ that converges in the sense of Definition 2.5 to a stable curve $(\widetilde{W}_0, \tilde{f}_0)$ over X, parameterized again by Σ . Be careful, this \widetilde{W}_0 may have compact components. Denote by \mathcal{C} the space of discs over X which are close to $(\widetilde{W}_0, \tilde{f}_0)$ and which are reparametrizations of restrictions $f|_{W_z}$ near the boundary, here z are close to z_0 .

Cover W_0 as in the proof of Theorem 8.3 by open sets U_i in such a way that:

1) All U_j are either discs, annuli or pants. The boundary annulus is one of them, denote it as U_{j_0}). This covering has the property that each intersecting pair U_i, U_j intersects by an annulus denoted as $U_{i,j}$.

2) For each j, except j_0 , consider a Banach analytic space (manifold if X was a manifold) H_j of holomorphic maps from U_j to X. For j_0 take as H_{j_0} the space $\{f|_{\partial W_z} : z \text{ in a neighborhood of } z_0\}$. This is a one dimensional space of holomorphic maps from U_{j_0} to X. ∂W_z stays here for an annulus adjacent to $\partial_0 W_z$, which is naturally identified with U_{j_0} .

3) The same type Banach analytic spaces $H_{i,j}$ of holomorphic maps $U_{i,j} \to X$ for intersecting U_i and U_j are considered.

Denote by \mathcal{C} the Banach analytic set $\Phi^{-1}(0)$, where Φ is the "gluing" holomorphic map constructed in the same way as in (8.7). We can repeat now the argument of Douady, *i.e.*, Lemma 7.2, and get that \mathcal{C} is finite dimensional analytic set. In fact it is clearly of dimension not more than one. But since it contains the sequence $(\widetilde{W}_{z_n}, \widetilde{f}_n)$ its dimension is actually one. Therefore \mathcal{C} is a usual analytic set by Barlet-Mazet theorem, [Mz], *i.e.*, is a complex curve in our case. Restriction $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{W}$ is an analytic map and it is proper (!), because nondegenerate analytic maps between complex curves are always proper. Therefore its image is the whole of \mathcal{W} . We get an extension \widetilde{f}_z for all z close to z_0 as a family by a tautological map $\widetilde{f}: \widetilde{\mathcal{W}} \to X$. Here $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}$ is a tautological family of discs over \mathcal{W} .

13.3. Vanishing ends in singular holomorphic foliations by curves. One of the ways to define a singular holomorphic foliation by curves \mathcal{L} on a complex manifold X is the following. Take a sufficiently fine open covering $\{\Omega_{\alpha}\}$ of X. Then \mathcal{L} will be defined by the nonvanishing identically holomorphic vector fields $v_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega_{\alpha}, TX)$ which are related on a non-empty intersections $\Omega_{\alpha,\beta} := \Omega_{\alpha} \cap \Omega_{\beta}$ as $v_{\alpha} = h_{\alpha,\beta}v_{\beta}$. Here $h_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathcal{O}^*(\Omega_{\alpha,\beta})$. After dividing by common factors one immediately sees that the singular set of \mathcal{L} , which is defined as $\operatorname{Sing} \mathcal{L} := \{z : v_{\alpha}(z) = 0\}$, is an analytic subset of X of codimension at least two. Set $X^{\text{reg}} := X \setminus \operatorname{Sing} \mathcal{L}$. For a point $z \notin \operatorname{Sing} \mathcal{L}$ the leaf \mathcal{L}_z^0 through z is, by definition, the leaf of the smooth foliation $\mathcal{L}^{\text{reg}} := \mathcal{L}|_{X^{\text{reg}}}$. If $z \in \operatorname{Sing} \mathcal{L}$ then leaves through z are not defined, *i.e.*, a stationary point is not considered as being a trajectory. The pair (X, \mathcal{L}) is called a *foliated manifold* or a *foliated pair*.

Remark 13.2. This notion requires a certain justification. Let A be an analytic set in a complex manifold X of codimension ≥ 2 and let a *smooth* holomorphic foliation by curves \mathcal{L} on $X \setminus A$ be given. The latter is understood classically as being defined by "flowboxes": every point in $X \setminus A$ possesses a "foliated" neighborhood (a flowbox) where leaves of \mathcal{L} are plaques $\{z_1 = c_1, ..., z_{n-1} = c_{n-1}\}, n =$ $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} X$. Then for every point $a \in A$ there exists a neighborhood $\Omega \ni a$ and a holomorphic vector field v on Ω whose trajectories on $\Omega \setminus A$ are the leaves of $\mathcal{L}|_{\Omega \setminus A}$. Indeed, \mathcal{L} naturally indices a holomorphic mapping $\tau : X \setminus A \to P(TX)$ which sends z to the tangent $T_z \mathcal{L}_z \in P(T_z X)$. By Corollary 7.1 τ extends to a meromorphic mapping $\hat{\tau} : X \to P(TX)$. Take a neighborhood $\Omega \ni a$ such that $TX|_{\Omega}$ is

generated by $\partial_{z_1}, ..., \partial_{z_n}$ for some local coordinates $(z_1, ..., z_n)$. Let $w = [w_1 : ... : w_n]$ be the induced homogeneous coordinates on fibers $P(T_z X), z \in \Omega$. Write $\hat{\tau}$ in these coordinates as in Proposition 7.1, *i.e.*, $\hat{\tau}(z) = (z, [\tau_1(z) : ... : \tau_n(z)]$, where τ_j are holomorphic in Ω and without common factors. Now $v := \tau_1 \partial_{z_1} + ... + \tau_n \partial_{z_n}$ is our vector field.

Example 13.2. Let $v = P(x,y)\partial/\partial x + Q(x,y)\partial/\partial y$ be a complex vector field on \mathbb{C}^2 with polynomial coefficients. Trajectories of v define a holomorphic foliation \mathcal{L} , which naturally extends to the complex projective plane \mathbb{P}^2 . Vice versa, every holomorphic foliation on \mathbb{P}^2 is defined as the set of trajectories of a polynomial vector field starting from an appropriately chosen affine chart.

Let (X, \mathcal{L}) be a foliated manifold. Take a point $z^0 \in X^{\text{reg}}$ and denote by $\mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ the leaf of \mathcal{L}^{reg} passing through z^0 . Take a local transverse to \mathcal{L}^{reg} hypersurface D through z^0 , *i.e.*, a complex hypersurface in some neighborhood of z^0 in X^{reg} which is everywhere transverse to the leaves of \mathcal{L}^{reg} . The domain

$$\mathcal{L}_D^0 := \bigcup_{z \in D} \mathcal{L}_z \tag{13.1}$$

we shall call a *Poincaré domain* of \mathcal{L} over the transversalis D. Furthermore recall that a parabolic end of $\mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ is a closed subset $E \subset \mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ which is biholomorphic to the closed punctured disc $\bar{\Delta}^* = \{\zeta \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |\zeta| \leq 1\}$. By ∂E we shall denote the biholomorphic image of the circle $\{|\zeta|=1\}$, the outer boundary of the end E. Foliation \mathcal{L} may have a nontrivial holonomy along ∂E , which can be finite or infinite. Consider the case when holonomy is finite. Recall what does that mean. Take a local transversalis D through some point in ∂E , call it again z^0 . If one takes a point $z \in D$ close to z^0 and travels on \mathcal{L}_z^0 along the path γ_z close to $\gamma_{z^0} = \partial E$ then one certainly hits D in a neighborhood of z^0 by a point g(z). This defines a local biholomorphism $g: (D, z^0) \to (D, z^0)$ which generates a subgroup $\langle g \rangle$ of the group $Bihol(D, z^0)$ of local biholomorphisms of D fixing z^0 . We suppose that $\langle g \rangle$ is finite, *i.e.*, $g^d = \operatorname{Id}$ for some $d \geq 1$ and this d is always taken to be the minimal satisfying this property. This d is called the order of the holonomy of \mathcal{L} along ∂E .

Lemma 13.1. Let $E \subset \mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ be a parabolic end with holonomy of order d. Then for a sufficiently small r > 0 there exists a foliated holomorphic immersion $f : \Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1+r} \to \mathcal{L}_D^0$ such that:

i) $f(\{0\} \times A_{1-r,1+r}) \subset \mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ and the restriction $f|_{\{0\} \times A_{1-r,1+r}} : \{0\} \times A_{1-r,1+r} \to \mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ is a regular cover of order d, i.e., covers d-times some imbedded annulus in $\mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ and $f(\{0\} \times \partial \Delta) = d \cdot \partial E$. ii) For all $z \in \Delta^n$ outside a proper analytic subset $A \subset \Delta^n$ the restriction $f|_{\{z\} \times A_{1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon}} :$

ii) For all $z \in \Delta^n$ outside a proper analytic subset $A \subset \Delta^n$ the restriction $f|_{\{z\} \times A_{1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon}}$: $\{z\} \times A_{1-r,1+r} \to \mathcal{L}_z$ is an imbedding.

For the proof we refer to Lemma 3.1 in [Iv10]. As we see from item (\mathbf{i}) our f is a generic injection of the trivial Hartogs figure $\Delta^n \times A_{1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon}$ over a polydisk in the sense of Definition 13.5 and results of the previous subsection are applicable to such f.

Definition 13.8. A parabolic end E is called a vanishing end of order d if:

i) the holonomy of \mathcal{L} along ∂E is finite of order $d \geq 1$;

ii) the generic injection $f : \Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1+r} \to \mathcal{L}^0_D$, constructed above, extends as a foliated meromorphic immersion $\tilde{f} : \widetilde{W} \to X$ from a complete Hartogs figure $(\widetilde{W}, \pi, \Delta^n)$ over Δ^n to X after a reparametrization;

iii) the intersection of $\widetilde{W}_0 := \pi^{-1}(0)$ with the set of points of indeterminacy $I_{\tilde{f}}$ of \tilde{f} consists of a single point $a \in \widetilde{W}_0$.

The point $q = \tilde{f}|_{\widetilde{W}_0}(a)$ will be called the *endpoint* of the vanishing end E (or of the leaf \mathcal{L}_z^0). Following Brunella, see [Br3], we add all vanishing endpoints to the leaf $\mathcal{L}_{z^0}^0$ and call the curve obtained a *completed leaf* through z^0 . Completed leaf will be denoted as \mathcal{L}_{z^0} . For each $z \in D$ take a holonomy cover $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ of the leaf \mathcal{L}_z^0 . Recall that a holonomy cover of \mathcal{L}_z^0 is a cover with respect to the holonomy subgroup $\text{Hol}(z, \mathcal{L}_z^0)$ of the fundamental group $\pi(z, \mathcal{L}_z^0)$. That means that in the construction of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ two pathes γ_1, γ_2 from z to some $w \in \mathcal{L}_z^0$ define the same point of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ if and only if $\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2^{-1} \in \mathsf{Hol}(z, \mathcal{L}_z^0)$, *i.e.*, if the holonomy along $\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2^{-1}$ is trivial. Set

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0 = \bigcup_{z \in D} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0. \tag{13.2}$$

This set has the natural structure of a complex manifold together with the natural projection $\pi: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0 \to D$ which sends $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ to z. It admits also the natural locally biholomorphic foliated map $p: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0 \to \mathcal{L}_D^0 \subset X^0$ which sends $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ to \mathcal{L}_z^0 with $p|_{\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0}: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0 \to \mathcal{L}_z^0$ being the canonical holonomy covering map. Call $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0$ the holonomy covering Poincaré domain of \mathcal{L} over D or, shorter, a holonomy Poincaré domain.

Vanishing ends of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ are defined similarly to that of \mathcal{L}_z^0 . Let E be a parabolic end of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}^0$ Take $f: \Delta^n \times A_{1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon} \to \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0$ such that:

i) $f: \Delta^n \times A_{1-r,1+r} \to \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0$ is an imbedding; ii) $f(\{0\} \times \partial \Delta) = \partial E$ (note that d = 1 in this case).

The only difference that now f takes values in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0$ and f is an imbedding. The last is because the holonomy of the foliation $\hat{\mathcal{L}}^0$ on $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0$ is trivial.

Definition 13.9. *E* is called a vanishing end of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}^0$ if $h = p \circ f$ extends to a meromorphic foliated immersion $\tilde{h}: \widetilde{W} \to X$ after a reparametrization (not f itself as in Definition 13.8) and \widetilde{W}_0 intersects the indeterminacy set $I_{\tilde{h}}$ of \tilde{h} by exactly one point.

The union of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ with all its vanishing endpoints equipped with an obvious complex structure will be denoted as $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$. We shall call it also *a completed holonomy covering leaf* of the leaf \mathcal{L}_z^0 . Set $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D := \bigcup_{z \in D} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ and call it the *completed* holonomy Poincaré domain over D.

Lemma 13.2. i) The completed holonomy Poincaré domain possesses the natural structure of a foliated complex manifold with foliation given by the natural projection $\pi : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to D$ defined as above by $\pi(\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z) = z$.

ii) The natural foliated holomorphic immersion $p: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D^0 \to \mathcal{L}_D^0$ extends to a meromorphic foliated immersion $p: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to X$ and its restrictions $p|_{\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z}: \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z \to \mathcal{L}_z$ are ramified at vanishing ends.

For the proof we refer to Lemma 3.2 in [Iv10].

Remark 13.3. Cover $p_{z^0} : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0} \to \mathcal{L}_{z^0}$ is an *orbifold cover* in the sense that its ramification index at point *a* depends only on $b := p_{z^0}(a)$. This is also an unbounded cover in the sense that for every *a* there exists a disc-neighborhood $V \ni b$ such that $p_{z^0}^{-1}(V)$ is a disjoint union of discs W_j with centers a_j , preimages of *b*, such that every restriction $p_{z^0}|_{W_j} : W_j \to V$ is a proper cover ramified over *b*.

13.4. Vanishing cycles and simultaneous uniformization. Now let us give the definition of a vanishing cycle in a singular holomorphic foliation by curves. A cycle in \mathcal{L}_z^0 is by definition a closed path (a loop) $\gamma : [0,1] \to \mathcal{L}_z^0$. Let $\hat{\gamma} : [0,1] \to \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ be a cycle in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ which is not homotopic to zero in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$.

Definition 13.10. We say that $\hat{\gamma}$ is a vanishing cycle if for some sequence $z_n \to z$ there exist loops $\hat{\gamma}_n$ in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z_n}^0$ uniformly converging to $\hat{\gamma}$ which are homotopic to zero in the corresponding leaves $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z_n}$.

- (a) We say that $\hat{\gamma}$ is an algebraic vanishing cycle if γ is not homotopic to zero in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ but is homotopic to zero in the completed leaf $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$.
- (b) If $\hat{\gamma}$ is not homotopic to zero also in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ we call it an essential vanishing cycle.

Remark 13.4. There is an analogy (rather deep in fact) between *algebraic/essential* vanishing cycles and poles/essential singularities of meromorphic functions. Really, pole of a meromorphic function f becomes a regular point if one completes \mathbb{C} to \mathbb{P}^1 and considers f as a holomorphic mapping into the latter manifold. However, an essential singular point remains a singularity of f also after this operation. The same happens with cycles. For the moment let us say the following.

a) Suppose $\mathcal{L}^{sing} = \emptyset$, *i.e.*, if \mathcal{L} has no singularities. In that case classically a cycle $\gamma \subset \mathcal{L}_z$ is called *a* vanishing cycle if the following two conditions hold:

- γ is not homotopic to zero in \mathcal{L}_z ;
- there exist a sequence of points $z_n \to z$ and a sequence of loops $\gamma_n : [0,1] \to \mathcal{L}_{z_n}$ such that γ_n uniformly converge to γ and each γ_n is homotopic to zero in \mathcal{L}_{z_n} .

In the smooth case every vanishing cycle is an essential vanishing cycle, more precisely projects to a vanishing cycle under the holonomy covering map $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z \to \mathcal{L}_z$. Let us explain this in more details. In that case vanishing ends do not exist and, in particular, $p_{z^0} : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0} \to \mathcal{L}_{z^0}$ is an unramified cover. Let $\gamma_0 \subset \mathcal{L}_{z^0}$ be a vanishing cycle and $\gamma_n \subset \mathcal{L}_{z_n}$ be cycles homotopic to zero and converging to γ_0 . All γ_n lift to cycles $\hat{\gamma}_n \subset \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z_n}$ converging to the lift $\hat{\gamma}_0 \subset \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}$ of γ_0 . All $\hat{\gamma}_n$ are homotopic to zero. But $\hat{\gamma}_0$ cannot be homotopic to zero. Therefore we get a vanishing cycle $\hat{\gamma}_0$ in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}$. Vice verse, let $\hat{\gamma}_0$ and $\hat{\gamma}_n$ be as above in the holonomy covering leaves. Then $\hat{\gamma}_n$ project to zero because in the latter case its lift $\hat{\gamma}_0$ (as lift of any curve homotopic to zero) should be homotopic to zero itself. Therefore γ_0 is a vanishing cycle in \mathcal{L}_{z^0} .

b) Algebraic vanishing cycles in the leaf $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ can be removed (*i.e.*, one can make these cycles homotopic to zero) by adding to $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ vanishing ends.

c) It is known also (it follows from [Br3]) that if X is Kähler, then all vanishing cycles (of any \mathcal{L}) are algebraic. It follows also from a more general statement of Corollary 13.1.

d) Now the necessity of considering generalized Hartogs figures comes (once more) from the simple observation that: every vanishing cycle produces a natural generalized (or topological) Hartogs figure around it, see the sketch of the proof of Theorem 13.2 below.

e) Classically vanishing cycles became the object of study in foliation theory since the seminal paper of Novikov [N], where he used them to produce a compact leaf in every smooth foliation by surfaces on \mathbb{S}^3 , see also [H].

Further, for $z \in D$ denote by \mathcal{L}_z the universal cover of the completed holonomy leaf \mathcal{L}_z . I.e., we take the orbifold universal cover of \mathcal{L}_z , see Remark 13.3. On the union

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D = \bigcup_{z \in D} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_z \tag{13.3}$$

one defines a natural topology in the following way. An element of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ is a path γ in some leaf $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ starting from z and ending at some point $w \in \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$. γ and γ' define the same point if their ends coincide and they are homotopic (inside $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$) with ends fixed. A neighborhood of $\gamma \subset \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ in $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ is the set of pathes γ' -s in the leaves $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z'}$ with z' close to z which are themselves close to γ . γ' "close" to γ is understood here as closed in the topology of uniform convergence in the space $\mathcal{C}([0,1],X)$ of continuous mappings from [0,1] to X.

Definition 13.11. $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ with the topology just described is called the universal covering Poincaré domain of \mathcal{L} over D.

The natural projection $\pi : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to D$ lifts to $\pi : \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D \to D$ (and will be denoted with the same letter). There is a distinguished section $\sigma : D \to \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ sending z to z. The mapping $p : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to X$ lifts to $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ and stays to be a meromorphic foliated immersion $\tilde{p} : \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D \to X$ in the sense that it is a foliated immersion outside of its indeterminacy set.

Due to the eventual presence of essential vanishing cycles the natural topology on the covering cylinder might be not Hausdorff. Let us explain this in more details. Non-separability of the natural topology on $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ means that:

- there exist $z \in D$ and $w \in \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ and two pathes γ_1, γ_2 from z to w such that $\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2^{-1}$ is not homotopic to zero in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$;
- there exist some sequence $z_n \to z$ in D, some sequence $w_n \in \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z_n}$ converging to w, some sequences of pathes γ_1^n and γ_2^n from z_n to w_n each converging uniformly to γ_1 and γ_2 such that $\gamma_1^n \circ (\gamma_2^n)^{-1}$ are homotopic to zero in \mathcal{L}_{z_n} .

And that exactly means that $\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2^{-1}$ is an essential vanishing cycle. Vice verse, if $\gamma : [0,1] \to \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$ is an essential vanishing cycle starting and ending at z, then γ and the trivial path $\beta \equiv z$ represent two non-separable points in $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$.

Remark 13.5. This explains that apart from the question of existence of compact leaves vanishing cycles come into a play as obstructions to the simultaneous uniformization of leaves. Indeed, take a transversalis D to the leaves of \mathcal{L} . As we just explained a leaf $\mathcal{L}_z \subset \mathcal{L}_D$ containing a vanishing cycle exists if and only if the natural topology of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ is not separable (*i.e.*, is not Hausdorff). Separability of $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_D$ means that the leaves of \mathcal{L} which cut D can be simultaneously uniformized. Therefore a vanishing cycle in some leaf $\mathcal{L}_z \subset \mathcal{L}_D$ is an obstruction to such simultaneous uniformization. \mathcal{L} is called *uniformizable* if for any transversalis D the Poincaré domain \mathcal{L}_D can be uniformized. Therefore \mathcal{L} is uniformizable if and only if it doesn't contain a vanishing cycle in any of its leaves. This explains one more reason for the interest in studying vanishing cycles.

13.5. Vanishing cycles and foliated shells. We approach the main goal in this section, which consists in showing that a vanishing cycle in a *holomorphic* foliation by curves generates a very rich complex geometric object: a *foliated shell*. Let (X, \mathcal{L}) be a foliated manifold and let $h : (B^r, \mathcal{L}^v) \to (X, \mathcal{L})$ be a *foliated holomorphic immersion* of the standard foliated shell into (X, \mathcal{L}) . We suppose in addition that h takes its values in X^{reg} . An immersion between two foliated manifolds is called *foliated* if it sends leaves to leaves. Denote by Σ the image of the boundary B under h.

Definition 13.12. The image $h(B^r)$ is called a foliated shell in (X, \mathcal{L}) if:

- in mersion h is a generic injection, i.e., is such that for all z₁ ∈ Δ_{1+r} except of a finite set the restriction h|_{L^v₁} : {z₁} × A_{1-r,1+r} → X is an imbedding;
- ii) Σ is not homologous to zero in X.

Roughly speaking condition (i) means that h is (much) better than simply an immersion. The main point is of course the condition (\mathbf{i}), see Fig. 5.

Example 13.3. The reader should think about the Hopf surface $H^2 = \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}/z \sim 2z$. The same vertical foliation \mathcal{L}^{v} is invariant under the action $z \sim 2z$ and therefore projects to a foliation \mathcal{L} on H^2 . Let $h : \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to H^2$ be the canonical projection. It obviously induces a "foliated inclusion" $h : (B^r, \mathcal{L}^{\mathsf{v}}) \to (H^2, \mathcal{L})$. $\Sigma = h(B)$ is of course not homologous to zero in H^2 .

We call a (1,1)-form ω on X a taming form for \mathcal{L} if $\omega|_{\mathcal{L}} > 0$. Foliations admitting a pluriclosed taming form we shall call *pluritamed*. Our result is the following.

Theorem 13.2. Let (X, \mathcal{L}) be a disc-convex foliated manifold which admits a dd^c-closed taming form and let $z^0 \in X^{reg}$ be a point. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- i) The leaf $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}$ contains an essential vanishing cycle.
- i) For every transversal $D \ni z^0$ there exists an imbedded disc $z^0 \in \Delta \subset D$ such that

$$\mathcal{L}^0_\Delta \coloneqq \bigcup_{z \in \Delta} \mathcal{L}^0_z$$

contains a foliated shell.

Remark 13.6. a) Statement (ii) means that the mapping $h: B^r \to X$, which "supports" the foliated shell in X, takes values in the cylinder \mathcal{L}_D , but $\Sigma = h(B)$ is not homologous to zero in the whole of X! b) A transversalis D is irrelevant in this theorem: if \mathcal{L}_z contains a vanishing cycle then (\mathbf{i}) is true for *every* transversalis $D \ni z$. c) Let us stress here that X may contain a two-dimensional shell, but it may not be a *foliated* shell for the given foliation \mathcal{L} . A simple example is the elliptic fibration on the same Hopf surface H^2 . This fibration doesn't admit a foliated shell, while H^2 itself does contain a two-dimensional shell.

d) In the process of the proof of Theorem 13.2 one can establish the following useful characterization of shells:

Proposition 13.1. Let w be a dd^c-closed taming form for \mathcal{L} . A holomorphic foliated immersion $h: B^r \to X$ represents a foliated shell if and only if it is a generic injection and

$$\int_{B} d^{c}(h^{*}\omega) \neq 0.$$
(13.4)

I.e., not only h(B) is not homologous to zero in X but, moreover, the distinguished closed 3-form $d^c \omega$ doesn't vanish on h(B). From Proposition 13.1 we immediately obtain the following:

Corollary 13.1. If the taming form ω of the foliation \mathcal{L} is d-closed then \mathcal{L} has no vanishing cycles.

The meaning of Theorem 13.2 is that a topological property of (X, \mathcal{L}) to contain a vanishing cycle is equivalent to a complex geometric (even analytic) property to contain a foliated shell. The last is very restrictive as the following corollary shows.

Corollary 13.2. Let X be a compact complex surface and \mathcal{L} a (singular) holomorphic foliation by curves such that some leaf \mathcal{L}_z of \mathcal{L} contains a vanishing cycle γ . Then:

- i) either X is a modification of a Hopf surface and \mathcal{L}_z is an elliptic curve;
- ii) or, X is a modification of a Kato surface and the closure of \mathcal{L}_z is a rational curve.

13.6. Sketch of the proof of Theorem 13.2. Let us briefly outline the main ingredients of the proof. We start with $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$.

Step 1. This step is purely topological. One proves that if the leaf $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}$ contains an essential vanishing cycle then it also contains an *imbedded* essential vanishing cycle $\hat{\gamma}_0$, see Lemma 3.4 in [Iv10]. This means simply that $\hat{\gamma} : \mathbb{S}^1 \to \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{z^0}$ is an imbedding. Fix a transversalis $D \ni z^0$. Using the fact that for some $z \in D$ close to z^0 there exists an imbedded loop $\hat{\gamma}_z \subset \hat{\mathcal{L}}_z^0$ which bounds a disk in $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_z$, one easily constructs a generalized Hartogs figure (W, π, U, V) where V is a domain in D which contains both z_0 and z, U a neighborhood of z in D, W is an appropriate open subset of $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D$ and π is the restriction to W of the natural projection $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to D$.

Step 2. Restrict the holonomy covering projection $p : \hat{\mathcal{L}}_D \to X$ to W. Remark that on W projection p is a *holomorphic* foliated immersion by construction. Indeed, W can be taken away from vanishing ends. Now using Theorem 13.1 on the place of Theorem 7.4 one can prove the following non-parametric version of Theorem 9.1.

Theorem 13.3. Let (X, \mathcal{L}) be a disk-convex foliated manifold admitting a pluriclosed taming form ω and let $f : (W, \pi, U, V) \to (X, \mathcal{L})$ be a generically injective foliated holomorphic map from a non-trivial generalized Hartogs figure (i.e., $U \neq \emptyset$) to X. Then f extends after a reparametrization to a foliated meromorphic map $\tilde{f} : (\tilde{W} \setminus S, \pi, V) \to (X, \mathcal{L})$ of the complete generalized Hartogs figure minus a proper closed subset S to X. Moreover this S, if non-empty, has the following structure. For every point $s \in S$ there exists a coordinate neighborhood D = $\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta \times \Delta$ of s with coordinates $z = (z', z_n, z_{n+1})$ such that s = 0 in these coordinates and:

i) the restriction to $S \cap D$ of the natural projection $\pi_D : (z', z_n, z_{n+1}) \to z'$ is proper and for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ the intersection $S_{z'} := \Delta^2_{z'} \cap S$ is non-empty;

ii) the restriction to D of the projection $\pi : \tilde{W} \to V$ coincides with the natural projection $\pi_n : (z', z_n, z_{n+1}) \to (z', z_n)$ and for every $z' \in \Delta^{n-1}$ the set $S_{z',1} := \pi_n(S) \cap (\{z'\} \times \Delta)$ is complete polar of Hausdorff dimension zero;

iii) moreover, $f(\partial \Delta_{z'}^2)$ is not homologous to zero in X, i.e., is a foliated shell.

By this theorem p extends after a reparametrization to $\tilde{W} \setminus S$, where \tilde{W} is a complete Hartogs figure over V and S is locally of the form $S = \bigcup_{z' \in \Delta^{n-1}} S_{z'}$, where $S_{z'} = \bigcup_{z_n \in S_{z',1}} S_{z',z_n}$ with $S_{z',1}$ being closed complete polar compact in Δ for every z' and S_{z',z_n} compacts in Δ for every $z_n \in S_{z',1}$.

Step 3. $z^0 = (z'_0, z'_n, z'_{n+1})$ must belong to $S_1 := \bigcup_{z'} S_{z',1}$, otherwise $\hat{\gamma}^0$ would bound a disc. I.e., S_1 and therefore S is non-empty. By item (iii) of Theorem 13.3 this gives a shell $f(\partial \Delta^2_{z'_0})$ in X and this shell is naturally foliated.

Step 4. The implication $(i) \Rightarrow (i)$ is slightly simpler. The mapping $h: (B^r, \mathcal{L}^v) \to (X^0, \mathcal{L})$, which defines a foliated shell in a pluritamed foliated manifold extends to $P^r \setminus \bigcup_{z_1 \in S_1} S_{z_1}$, where P^r is the *r*-neighborhood of the polydisk, and S_1 is as above. S_1 must be non-empty because *h* gives a shell. Let $0 \in S_1$. Then one proves that *h* sends $\{0\} \times (\Delta \setminus S_0)$ to the leaf which contains an essential vanishing cycle. For more details we send the interested reader to [Iv10].

Chapter IV. Holomorphic Bundles and Coherent Analytic Sheaves

14. Holomorphic bundles and coherent analytic sheaves

14.1. Generalities on extensions of bundles and sheaves. Let us discuss now the extension properties of holomorphic bundles and, more generally, coherent analytic sheaves.

1. Let $D \subset D$ be domains in a complex manifold (or, a normal complex space) X and let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic bundle (resp. a coherent analytic sheaf) on D. One says that \mathcal{N} extends from D to \widetilde{D} if there exists a holomorphic bundle $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}$ (resp. a coherent analytic sheaf) on \widetilde{D} and an isomorphism $\varphi: \widetilde{\mathcal{N}}|_D \to \mathcal{N}$ of bundles (resp. of sheaves).

2. If \mathcal{N} is a line bundle then it extends as a bundle if and only if it extends as a coherent analytic sheaf. The way to see this is to pass to the second dual $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}^{**}$ of the extended sheaf, which is reflexive. And then apply Lemma 26 from [Fri] to conclude that $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}^{**}$ is locally free, *i.e.*, is a bundle extension of \mathcal{N} .

3. The feature mentioned in the previous item is specific for line bundles. The rank two subbundle $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{O}^3$ over $\mathbb{C}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ with the stalk $\mathcal{N}_z = \{w : w_1z_1 + w_2z_2 + w_3z_3 = 0\}$ extends to the origin as a coherent sheaf but not as a bundle.

4a. Let a holomorphic bundle \mathcal{F} be defined on a domain $X_{t^*}^+$ in a complex manifold X (ex. $X_{t^*}^+ = \{\rho > t^*\}$ the upper level set of some exhaustion function), and let U be another domain such that $U \cap X_{t^*}^+$ is non-empty and connected. If $\mathcal{F}|_{U \cap X_{t^*}^+}$ is trivial then \mathcal{F} extends to $X_{t^*}^+ \cup U$. Indeed, one can use the trivialization, say $\varphi : \mathcal{F}|_{U \cap X_{t^*}^+} \to \mathbb{C}^r \times (U \cap X_{t^*}^+), r = \mathsf{rk}\mathcal{F}$, to glue \mathcal{F} with the trivial bundle $\mathbb{C}^r \times U$ on U.

4b. At the same time if \mathcal{F} is trivializable on a subdomain $U_1 \subset U \cap X_{t^*}^+$ then it might be not sufficient to make such a gluing. Simply because the trivialization φ need not to extend to $U \cap X_{t^*}^+$ in general.

4c. If there are two such domains U_1 and U_2 and, in addition, $U_1 \cap U_2$ and $U_1 \cap U_2 \cap X_{t^*}^+$ are connected and if \mathcal{F}^i denotes the extensions of \mathcal{F} onto $U_i \cup X_{t^*}^+$ as on the Fig. 6 left, then we get a transition function $\varphi_{12} : U_1 \cap U_2 \cap X_{t^*}^+ \to Gl(r, \mathbb{C})$. In order that \mathcal{F}^i glue together to a holomorphic bundle on $U_1 \cup U_2 \cup X_{t^*}^+$ it is necessary and sufficient that φ_{12} extends to a non-degenerate $Gl(r, \mathbb{C})$ -function on $U_1 \cap U_2$. This last condition need not to be satisfied in general.

5. Finally let us consider a very instructive example.

Example 14.1. Consider the line bundle \mathcal{F} on the punctured bidisk $\check{\Delta}^2$ given by the transition function $e^{\frac{1}{z_1 z_2}}$. Blow up the origin and denote by \mathbb{P}^1 the exceptional divisor. Cover \mathbb{P}^1 by two bidisks U_1 and U_2 as on the Figure 6 right. Then $\mathcal{F}|_{U_j \setminus \mathbb{P}^1}$ is trivial for j = 1, 2 (every holomorphic bundle on $\Delta \times \check{\Delta}$ is trivial) and therefore extends to $\check{\Delta}^2 \cup U_j$ as a holomorphic line bundle \mathcal{F}^j . But the transition function



FIGURE 6. The transition function φ_{12} between $\mathcal{F}_{t^*}^1$ and $\mathcal{F}_{t^*}^2$ is defined only in $U_1 \cap U_2 \cap U_{t^*}^+$ - dashed zone on the left of picture. But it should be defined on $U_1 \cap U_2$. Since the envelope of holomorphy of $U_1 \cap U_2 \cap U_{t^*}^+$ is much smaller then $U_1 \cap U_2$ the extension of φ_{12} to $U_1 \cap U_2$ is not automatic, *i.e.*, cannot be achieved via the classical Hartogs theorem. The transition function φ_{12} between \mathcal{F}^1 and \mathcal{F}^2 on the right is defined only in $(U_1 \cap U_2) \setminus \mathbb{P}^1$. But it should be defined on $U_1 \cap U_2$ in order for \mathcal{F} to extend.

between \mathcal{F}^1 and \mathcal{F}^2 doesn't extend though $\mathbb{P}^1 \cap U_1 \cap U_2$ and therefore \mathcal{F} doesn't extend to the blown up bidisk. And it shouldn't, because otherwise its direct image would extend \mathcal{F} downstairs, and this is not the case. In particular, we see that a Hartogs extension property fails for holomorphic bundles. But this is not the only problem with them: uniqueness property also fails to be true, because all bundles of the same rank are locally isomorphic to the trivial one.

14.2. Gap-sheaves and extension of coherent analytic sheaves. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on a complex space X.

Definition 14.1. For a non-negative integer d the d-th absolute gap-sheaf $\mathcal{F}^{[d]}$ of \mathcal{F} is defined by the presheaf

$$U \to \inf_{A \in \mathcal{A}_d(U)} \Gamma(U \setminus A, \mathcal{F}).$$
(14.1)

Here A runs over the directed set $\mathcal{A}_d(U)$ analytic subsets of U of dimension $\leq d$.

In other words a section $\sigma \in \Gamma(U, \mathcal{F}^{[d]})$ is a collection of sections $\sigma_i \in \Gamma(U_i \setminus A_i, \mathcal{F})$ for some locally finite open covering $\{U_i\}$ of U and some analytic subsets $A_i \subset U_i$ of dimensions $\leq d$ such that $\sigma_i|_{(U_i \setminus A_i) \cap (U_i \setminus A_i)} = \sigma_j|_{(U_i \setminus A_i) \cap (U_i \setminus A_i)}$ for all i, j.

Theorem 14.1. (Y.-T.Siu, [Si1]). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on the ring domain $R_r^{n,2} := \Delta^{n-2} \times A_{r,1}^2$, $n \ge 3$, such that $\mathcal{F}^{[n-2]} = \mathcal{F}$. Suppose that for every t in some thick subset $T \subset \Delta^{n-2}$ the restriction $\mathcal{F}(t)$ of \mathcal{F} to $\{t\} \times A_{r,1}^2$ extends to a coherent analytic sheaf on $\{t\} \times \Delta^2$. Then \mathcal{F} extends to a coherent analytic sheaf $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ on Δ^n such that $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}^{[n-2]} = \tilde{\mathcal{F}}$.

Remark 14.1. a) Remark that a locally free sheaf obviously satisfies the gap-sheaf condition of this theorem and therefore extends (but not necessarily as a free sheaf) to the associated polydisk. A line bundle of course extends as a bundle. To be thick in this theorem means that T is not contained in a countable union of proper locally closed analytic subsets.

b) Theorem 14.1 contains as a special case the statement of the extendability of bundles/sheaves with gap conditions from the (n-2)-concave Hartogs domain $H_r^{n,n-2}$ to the associated polydisk.

Let us give the proof of this theorem for a very particular an easy case of *line* bundles. First of all one can easily classify the line bundles on the two-dimensional annulus $A_{r,R}^2 := \Delta_R^2 \setminus \overline{\Delta}_r^2$, here 0 < r < R are fixed. For this cover $A_{r,R}^2$ by two Stein subsets

$$U_1 := \Delta_R \times A_{r,R}$$
 and $U_2 := A_{r,R} \times \Delta_R$.

Let L be a holomorphic line bundle on $A_{r,R}^2$. Since restrictions $L|_{U_i}$ are holomorphically trivial our bundle L is completely determined by its transition function $f: U_{1,2} \to \mathbb{C}^*$. Here $U_{12} :=$ $U_1 \cap U_2 = A_{r,R} \times A_{r,R}$. Furthermore, since $H^1(A_{r,R}^2, \mathbb{Z}) = H^2(A_{r,R}^2, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ we get in the exponential sequence the following exact part

$$0 \to H^1(A^2_{r,R}, \mathcal{O}) \to H^1(A^2_{r,R}, \mathcal{O}^*) \to 0.$$

This means that holomorphic line bundles on $A_{r,R}^2$ are precisely the exponents of classes from $H^1(A_{r,R}^2)$. The last group can be easily computed if one takes into account that our covering $\{U_1, U_2\}$ is acyclic. Let g be a holomorphic function in $A_{r,R} \times A_{r,R}$. One obviously finds $g_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$ such that

$$g(z) - g_1(z) + g_2(z) = \sum_{k,l>0} \frac{a_{kl}}{z_1^k z_2^l} =: g_L(z).$$

Therefore our bundle L is *uniquely* defined by the transition function

$$f_L(z) = e^{g_L(z)} = e^{\sum_{k,l>0} \frac{a_{kl}}{z_1^k z_1^l}},$$
(14.2)

where series $\sum_{k,l>0} \frac{a_{kl}}{z_1^k z_2^l}$ converge in the annulus $(\mathbb{P} \setminus \bar{\Delta}_r) \times (\mathbb{P} \setminus \bar{\Delta}_r)$.

Now let L be a holomorphic line bundle on $R_r^{n,2}$. It is uniquely determined by its transition function $f_L \in \mathcal{O}^*(\Delta^{n-2} \times A_{r,1} \times A_{r,1})$. This function writes as

$$f(z'', z_{n-1}, z_n) = e^{\sum_{k,l>0} \frac{a_{kl}(z'')}{z_{n-1}^k z_n^l}},$$

with a_{kl} holomorphically depending on $z'' = (z_1, ..., z_{n-2})$. $\mathcal{F}(t)$ extends to $\{t\} \times \Delta^2$ if and only if $a_{kl}(t) = 0$ for all k, l > 0. Since the set T of such t-s is not analytic by the assumption of the theorem we conclude that all $a_{kl} \equiv 0$. I.e. L is trivial and therefore extends to Δ^n .

Remark 14.2. The role of the gap condition. In general, when \mathcal{F} is a sheaf the conclusion of the Theorem 14.1 fails to be true without the condition on the gap-sheaf. Take a curve A constructed in Example 5.1 and imbed it together with \mathbb{P}^2 to \mathbb{P}^3 in a canonical way as $\mathbb{P}^2 = \{z_3 = 0\} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$. Then A will be attached to the boundary of the unit ball $\mathbb{B}^6 \subset \mathbb{C}^3 \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ and will be not extendable to a neighborhood of any point on $A \cap \partial \mathbb{B}^6$. Let \mathcal{J}_A be the ideal sheaf of A and let $\mathcal{F}_A := \mathcal{O}/\mathcal{J}_A$ be the quotient sheaf. Then \mathcal{F}_A obviously doesn't extend to a neighborhood of any point on $A \cap \partial \mathbb{B}^6$ as a coherent analytic sheaf. Remark that \mathcal{F}_A fails to satisfy the gap-condition of Theorem 14.1 because $\mathcal{F}_A^{[1]} = 0 \neq \mathcal{F}_A$.

Now let us turn to subsheaves.

Definition 14.2. Let X be a complex space, \mathcal{F} a coherent sheaf on X, and $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{F}$ a coherent subsheaf. The d-th relative gap-sheaf of \mathcal{G} in \mathcal{F} is the sheaf $\mathcal{G}_{[d],\mathcal{F}}$ associated with the presheaf

 $U\mapsto \big\{s\in \Gamma(U,\mathcal{F})\,:\, s|_{U\setminus A}\in \Gamma(U\setminus A,\mathcal{G}) \,\, for \,\, some \,\, analytic \,\, subset \,\, A\subset U \,\, of \, \dim A\leq d\big\}.$

Therefore local sections of $\mathcal{G}_{[d],\mathcal{F}}$ are local sections of \mathcal{G} defined outside analytic sets of dimension $\leq d$ which extend as sections of \mathcal{F} .

Theorem 14.2. (Siu-Trautmann, [ST1]). Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent sheaf on Δ^n and \mathcal{G} a coherent subsheaf of $\mathcal{F}|_{R_r^{n,2}}$ such that $\mathcal{G}_{[n-2],\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{G}$. Assume that there exists a thick subset $T \subset \Delta^{n-2}$ such that for every $t \in T$ the sheaf $\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{G}|_{\{t\} \times A_{r,1}^2} \to \mathcal{F}|_{\{t\} \times A_{r,1}^2})$ extends to a coherent subsheaf of $\mathcal{F}|_{\{s\} \times \Delta^2}$. Then \mathcal{G} extends to Δ^n as a coherent analytic subsheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ of \mathcal{F} , such that $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{[n-2],\mathcal{F}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$.

For the proof of Theorems 14.1 and 14.2 we refer to the book [Si3]. For the proof of the following result we refer to the book [ST2], see Theorem 10.4.3. Let X be a reduced complex space and let $\rho: X \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be a proper strongly (n-2)-convex function. Set $X_c^+ = \{\rho > c\}$.

Theorem 14.3. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X and let \mathcal{G} be a coherent analytic subsheaf of $\mathcal{F}|_{X_c^+}$ which satisfies the relative (n-2)-gap condition: $\mathcal{G}_{[n-2]\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{G}$. Then \mathcal{G} extends to X as a coherent analytic subsheaf of \mathcal{F} satisfying $\mathcal{G}_{[n-2]\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{G}$.

Let us sketch the proof of the analogous statement in absolute case.

Theorem 14.4. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent analytic sheaf on X_c^+ satisfying $\mathcal{F}^{[n-2]} = \mathcal{F}$. Then \mathcal{F} uniquely extends to a coherent analytic sheaf $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ on X satisfying $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}^{[n-2]} = \tilde{\mathcal{F}}$.

Proof. Let x_0 be an (n-2)-concave boundary point and $\pi: (U, x_0) \to (V, 0)$ as in the Projection Lemma 18.1. The direct image $\pi_*\mathcal{F}$ is a coherent analytic sheaf on $i(H_r^{n,n-2})$ by Grauert's theorem, and it obviously satisfies the gap sheaf condition. Therefore by Theorem 14.1 extends to a coherent analytic sheaf $\widetilde{\pi_*\mathcal{F}}$ on $V = i(\Delta^n)$. Denote by $\mathcal{G} := \pi^*\widetilde{\pi_*\mathcal{F}}$ the *analytic* inverse image of $\widetilde{\pi_*\mathcal{F}}$. This is a coherent analytic sheaf, see §9.6 in [Dm2], which admits a natural epimorphism $m: \mathcal{G}|_{\pi^{-1}(i(H_r^{n,n-2}))} \to \mathcal{F}$. This epimorphism extends to $\{\rho > 0\} \cap U$, where ρ is the strongly (n-2)-convex function in question. Denote by \mathcal{K} the kernel of m. \mathcal{K} is a coherent analytic subsheaf of \mathcal{G} satisfying the relative gap-sheaf condition and therefore it extends to a neighborhood of x_0 by Theorem 14.3 as a coherent analytic sheaf $\tilde{\mathcal{K}}$. The quotient sheaf $\mathcal{G}/\tilde{\mathcal{K}}$ will be the desired extension of \mathcal{F} .

Remark 14.3. Theorems 14.1, 14.2, 14.3 and 14.4 hold for (sub)-sheaves satisfying the *d*-th (relative)gap condition across *d*-concave boundaries for $0 \le d \le n-2$. See the quoted sources. It is worth noting that when \mathcal{F} is the locally free sheaf of rank one then its extension will be the line bundle as well.

14.3. Slicing and separate extension of holomorphic vector bundles. Let us give one separate analyticity result for holomorphic vector bundles. Denote coordinates in the polydisk $\Delta^n = \Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta$ as $(w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1}, z)$, where $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1})$ are coordinates in Δ^{n-1} . By a (n-k)-index we understand a multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_{n-k})$ such that $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{n-k} \leq n-1$. For such I we denote by $\pi_I : \Delta^{n-1} \to \Delta^{n-k}$ the projection $(w_1, \ldots, w_{n-1}) \mapsto (w_{i_1}, \ldots, w_{i_{n-k}})$, and by $\Delta_{I,v}^{k-1}$ the slice $\pi_I^{-1}(v)$ for $v \in \Delta^{n-k}$. Let $A = A_{\rho,1} \subset \Delta$ be an annulus, E a holomorphic vector bundle over A, and E_1, E_2 two extensions of E over Δ . The latter means that we have fixed isomorphisms $\varphi_i : E_i |_A \xrightarrow{\cong} E, i = 1, 2$. We say that extensions E_1, E_2 coincide if the spaces of sections $\varphi_1[\mathcal{O}(\Delta, E_1)]$ and $\varphi_2[\mathcal{O}(\Delta, E_2)]$ coincide, considered as the subspaces of $\mathcal{O}(A, E)$.

Example 14.2. Let $A = A_{\frac{1}{2},1}$. Take $E = A \times \mathbb{C}$, this is the total space of the trivial bundle \mathcal{O} on A. For every $k \ge 1$ and every $p \in \Delta_{\frac{1}{2}}$ consider the bundle $E_{k,p}$ whose sheaf of sections is $\mathcal{O}(k[p])$, *i.e.*, the sheaf of holomorphic in $\Delta \setminus \{p\}$ functions having at p a pole of order at most k. Every $E_{k,p}$ is an extension of E, but they are all distinct.

Theorem 14.5. Let E be a holomorphic vector bundle over $\Delta^{n-1} \times A$, $n \geq 3$ and let for every (n-k)-index $I \subset \{1, ..., n-1\}$ and every $v \in \Delta^{n-k}$ a holomorphic extension $\widetilde{E}_{I,v}$ of $E|_{\Delta_{I,v}^{k-1} \times A}$ to $\Delta_{I,v}^{k-1} \times \Delta$ be given. Suppose that there exists a set $W^* \subset \Delta^{n-1}$ of full measure such that for every $w \in W^*$ and any two (n-k)-indices $I_1 \neq I_2$ we have that for $v_1 := \pi_{I_1}(w)$ and $v_2 := \pi_{I_2}(w)$ extensions \widetilde{E}_{I_1,v_1} and \widetilde{E}_{I_2,v_2} restricted to $\{w\} \times \Delta$ coincide. Then there exists an extension of E to the polydisk as a coherent analytic sheaf $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$, such that for every (n-k)-index I and almost every $v \in \Delta^{n-k}$ the restriction $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}|_{\Delta_{I,v}^{k-1} \times \Delta}$ is the sheaf of holomorphic sections of $\widetilde{E}_{I,v}$. Moreover, the singular set of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ is an analytic subset of Δ^n of codimension > k.

A special case of this statement can be found in §3 of [She2]. The proof of the general case will appear in [She3].

15. Levi flat hypersurfaces and roots of holomorphic line bundles

In this section we shall discuss a quite specific question about extension of *roots* of holomorphic line bundles. As a motivation for this question we refer to the paper [Oh] of T. Ohsawa, where extension of roots is related to the existence of real analytic Levi flat hypersurfaces in some (like \mathbb{P}^n , $n \ge 2$) compact complex manifolds. In particular, Corollary 15.1 below implies the non-existence of real analytic Levi flat hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n for $n \ge 3$ and shows that for n = 2 there is a specific obstruction for this method to work. It should be said that the case $n \ge 3$ is not new and is contained in a more general result of [LN].

Let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic line bundle on a (non compact) complex manifold X. Suppose that X admits a strongly (n-1)-convex exhaustion function ρ . Suppose that for some $t^* \in \rho(X)$ and

some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ our \mathcal{N} admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} on $X_{t^*}^+ := \{\rho > t^*\}$. I.e., \mathcal{F} is a holomorphic line bundle on $X_{t^*}^+$ such that $\mathcal{F}^{\otimes k}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{N}|_{X_{t^*}^+}$. Denote by $r_{t^*} : \mathcal{F}^{\otimes k} \to \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t^*}^+}$ some isomorphism. We want to extend \mathcal{F} to a neighborhood of Σ_{t^*} and then to the whole of X together with r_{t^*} .

15.1. Extension of roots. Following [Iv11] let us describe the obstructions to the extension of roots. Fix a point $x_0 \in \Sigma_{t^*}$ and take a polydisk neighborhood $V \ni x_0$. Set $V^+ := V \cap X_{t^*}^+$. Since $\mathcal{N}|_V$ is trivial its restriction to V^+ is trivial too. Therefore $c_1(\mathcal{N}|_{V^+}) = 0$. Since $kc_1(\mathcal{F}) = c_1(\mathcal{N}|_{V^+})$ we get that $c_1(\mathcal{F}) = 0$. Holomorphic line bundles with vanishing Chern class on an (arbitrary) complex manifold V^+ are described by the following exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to H^0(V^+, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\exp} H^0(V^+, \mathcal{O}^*) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{i} H^{0,1}(V^+) \to Pic^0(V^+) \to 0.$$
(15.1)

Here $i : H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{0,1}(V^+)$ is the composition of $H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O})$ with the Dolbeault isomorphism $D : H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O}) \to H^{0,1}(V^+)$. $Pic^0(V^+)$ appears here as the kernel of the map c_1 from the group $H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O}^*)$ of all holomorphic line bundles on X to $H^2(V^+, \mathbb{Z})$. I.e., $Pic^0(V^+)$ is exactly the group of holomorphic line bundles on V^+ with vanishing first Chern class, that is, topologically trivial ones. The arrow $H^{0,1}(V^+) \to Pic^0(V^+)$ is the composition of the inverse to the Dolbeault isomorphism $D^{-1}: H^{0,1}(V^+) \to H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O})$ and the exponential map $\exp: H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O}) \to H^1(V^+, \mathcal{O}^*)$. If the map

$$H^0(V^+, \mathcal{O}) \xrightarrow{\exp} H^0(V^+, \mathcal{O}^*)$$

is surjective then (15.1) writes as

$$0 \to H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{i} H^{0,1}(V^+) \to Pic^0(V^+) \to 0,$$
(15.2)

which means that

$$Pic^{0}(V^{+}) \cong H^{0,1}(V^{+})/H^{1}(V^{+},\mathbb{Z}).$$
 (15.3)

This is the case for example if all holomorphic functions on V^+ are constant or, all holomorphic functions from V^+ extend to some simply connected $V \supset V^+$ and this is exactly our case: all holomorphic functions from $V^+ = V \cap X_{t^*}^+$ extend to a neighborhood of $V^+ \cap \Sigma_{t^*}$ by Hartogs' Lemma. Remark furthermore that in our concrete situation the only case when V^+ is not simply connected is when ρ is strictly (n-1)-convex with index at x_0 equal to 2n-2, the maximal possible value. In that case $H_1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}$. Fix a generator C of $H_1(V^+, \mathbb{Z})$ and a cohomology class $A \in H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z})$ such that $\langle A, C \rangle = 1$. Set B := i(A), where $i : H^1(V^+, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{0,1}(V^+)$ is from (15.2) as above. For $0 \leq l < k$ denote by $\mathcal{F}_k(l)$ the holomorphic line bundle which corresponds to $\frac{l}{k}B$ under the isomorphism (15.3), $\mathcal{F}_k(0)$ is trivial.

Theorem 15.1. Let $\rho: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a strongly (n-1)-convex exhaustion function on a complex manifold X and let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic line bundle on X. Suppose that for some $t^* \in \rho(X)$ the restriction $\mathcal{N}|_{X^+_+}$ admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} . Then:

i) \mathcal{F} extends to a k-th root of \mathcal{N} to a neighborhood of Σ_{t^*} provided all points on Σ_t are either smooth, or strongly q-convex with $q \leq n-2$, or strictly (n-1)-convex with index of the critical point less then 2n-2;

ii) if Σ_{t^*} is strictly (n-1)-convex at some critical point $\mathbf{c} \in U_j \cap \Sigma_{t^*}$ of index 2n-2 then either \mathcal{F} extends to a neighborhood of \mathbf{c} to a k-th root of \mathcal{N} or there exist a neighborhood V of \mathbf{c} such that $\mathcal{F}|_{V^+}$ is isomorphic to some $\mathcal{F}_k(l)$ with $1 \leq l < k$ there.

Proof. *i*) In all cases collected in the first part $V^+ := V \cap X_{t^*}^+$ is connected and simply connected as well (by Morse Lemma). Therefore $Pic(V^+) = H^{0,1}(V^+)$. If ω represents \mathcal{F} in $H^{0,1}(V^+)$ then $k\omega$ represents $\mathcal{N}|_{V^+}$. Since $k\omega = 0$ we obtain that $\omega = 0$. Let us glue the local extensions obtained. Cover Σ_{t^*} by a finite number of such coordinate neighborhoods U_i that:

- i) Each U_j is biholomorphic to a polydisk Δ^n and $U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+$ are connected;
- ii) the associated Hartogs figures H_{ε}^n are contained in $U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+$;

iii) the double $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$ and triple $U_{ijk} := U_i \cap U_j \cap U_k$ intersections are connected, simply connected and moreover, $U_{ij} \cap X_{t^*}^+$ and $U_{ijk} \cap X_{t^*}^+$ are connected and simply connected as well.

Extend \mathcal{F}_{t^*} through all of them, *i.e.*, get line bundles $\mathcal{F}_{t^*}^j$ over $V_j := X_{t^*}^+ \cup U_j$ - extensions of \mathcal{F}_{t^*} . We need to prove that these extensions match together, *i.e.*, that transition functions extend from $U_i \cap U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+$ to $U_i \cap U_j$ for all $U_i \cap U_j \neq 0$. Denote by $\varphi_j : \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^j|_{X_{t^*}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t^*}$ the corresponding isomorphisms. Then we get the transition functions $\varphi_{ij} = \varphi_i^{-1} \circ \varphi_j : \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^j|_{U_i \cap U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^i|_{U_i \cap U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+}$. As it was said already, we need to extend φ_{ij} onto $U_i \cap U_j$ and this is not automatic as it was explained on the Fig. 6. Denote by $\psi_j : \mathcal{N}|_{V_j} \to (\mathcal{F}_{t^*}^j)^{\otimes k}$ the isomorphisms, obtained as extensions of the isomorphism $\psi_{t^*} : \mathcal{N}|_{U_{t^*}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^{\otimes k}$. From the diagram

we see that $\varphi_{ij}^{\otimes k} = \psi_i \circ \psi_j^{-1}$ on $U_i \cap U_j \cap X_{t^*}^+$. But ψ_j (resp. ψ_i) is defined over U_j (resp. U_i) and tr is a transition map of a globally existing bundle \mathcal{N} , therefore $\psi_i \circ \operatorname{tr} \circ \psi_j^{-1}$ is defined over $U_i \cap U_j$ extending $\varphi_{ij}^{\otimes k}$. But then φ_{ij} also extends onto $U_i \cap U_j$ as a k-th root on an extendable non-vanishing function on a simply connected domain. It is easy to see that the cocycle condition for the extended transition maps will be preserved. Indeed, it is satisfied on $U_{ijk} \cap X_{t^*}^+$, so it will be satisfied on U_{ijk} too. The case is proved.

ii) Let the index be 2n-2. By considerations as above for a cohomology class $\omega \in H^{0,1}(V^+)$ representing \mathcal{F} we have that $k\omega \in H^1(V^+,\mathbb{Z})$, *i.e.*, it is nothing but $\frac{l}{k}B$ for some integer $1 \leq l < k$. Bundle which corresponds to $\frac{l}{k}B$ we denoted as $\mathcal{F}_k(l)$. This finishes the proof.

Remark 15.1. Case $q \leq n-2$ in the theorem above is also served by the much more general Theorem 14.1 of Siu. But in the particular case of the roots of line bundles we prefer for the readers convenience to give an uniform approach which serves all cases.

Corollary 15.1. Let $\rho: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a strongly (n-1)-convex exhaustion function on a complex manifold X without critical points of index 2n-2 and let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic line bundle on X. Suppose that for some $t_0 \in \rho(X)$ the restriction $\mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_0}^+}$ admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} . Then \mathcal{F} extends to the whole of X as a k-th root of \mathcal{N} .

Proof. Let $r : \mathcal{F}^{\otimes k} \to \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_0}^+}$ be some isomorphism. Denote by T the set of points t on the interval $\rho(X)$ such that the pair (\mathcal{F}, r) extends to X_t^+ . T is non-empty, it contains t_0 .

T is open. Indeed, let (\mathcal{F}, r) be extended to $X_{t^*}^+$. By Theorem 15.1 our pair extends to a neighborhood of Σ_{t^*} because we forbid the case (\mathbf{i}) . Therefore our "analytic object" (\mathcal{F}, r) extends to $X_{t'}^+$ for some t' < t.

T is closed. By saying that \mathcal{F} extends to X_t^+ as a k-th root \mathcal{F}_t of \mathcal{N} , we mean the following:

a) Holomorphic line bundles \mathcal{F}_{t_1} on $X_{t_1}^+$ are defined for all $t_1 \ge t$ together with isomorphisms $\psi_{t_1} : \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_1}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t_1}^{\otimes k}$.

b) For all pairs $t_1 \ge t_2 \ge t$ the bundle \mathcal{F}_{t_2} is an extension of \mathcal{F}_{t_1} , *i.e.*, an isomorphism $\varphi_{t_1t_2}: \mathcal{F}_{t_2}|_{X_{t_1}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t_1}$ is given, and these isomorphisms satisfy:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{b})_1 \ \varphi_{t_1 t_1} &= \mathsf{Id}; \\ \mathbf{b})_2 \ \varphi_{t_1 t_2} \circ \varphi_{t_2 t_3} &= \varphi_{t_1 t_3} \ \text{for} \ t_1 \geqslant t_2 \geqslant t_3. \end{split}$$

c) Isomorphisms ψ_{t_1} and $\varphi_{t_1t_2}$ are natural in the sense that for every pair $t_1 \ge t_2 \ge t$ the following diagram is commutative:

Here $r_{t_1t_2} : \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_2^+}} \to \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_1^+}}$ is the natural restriction operator of the globally existing bundle \mathcal{N} .

Now suppose that for every $t > t^*$ the bundle \mathcal{F} extends onto X_t^+ as a k-th root \mathcal{F}_t of \mathcal{N} . We define the presheaf \mathcal{F}_{t^*} on $X_{t^*}^+$ as the projective limit of \mathcal{F}_t -s for $t > t^*$:

$$\mathcal{F}_{t^*} := \lim \mathcal{F}_t. \tag{15.6}$$

A section σ of \mathcal{F}_{t^*} over an open set $V \subset X_{t^*}^+$ is a product $\prod_{t>t^*} \sigma_t$ of sections σ_t of \mathcal{F}_t over $V \cap X_t^+$ such that $\varphi_{t_1t_2}(\sigma_{t_2}) = \sigma_{t_1}$ for every pair $t_1 \ge t_2 > t^*$. Restriction map for $W \subset V$ in \mathcal{F}_{t^*} is $\prod_{t>t^*} \sigma_t \to \prod_{t>t^*} \sigma_t|_{W \cap U_t^+}$, which is correctly defined.

It is easy to see that the presheaf, so defined, is actually a sheaf and that this sheaf is locally free of rank one. Isomorphisms $\varphi_{tt^*} : \mathcal{F}_{t^*}|_{X_t} \to \mathcal{F}_t$ for $t > t^*$ are naturally defined as $\varphi_{tt^*}(\prod_{t>t^*} \sigma_t) = \sigma_t$. For $t = t^*$ we set $\varphi_{t^*t^*} = \mathsf{Id}$.

Take some $t_1 > t^*$. It is not difficult now to see that $\psi_{t_1} : \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t_1}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t_1}^{\otimes k}$ extends to an isomorphism $\psi_{t^*} : \mathcal{N}|_{X_{t^*}^+} \to \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^{\otimes k}$ and the following diagram is commutative:

The proof goes by continuity: for, if ψ_{t_1} is already extended to ψ_t , then take the composition $(\varphi_{tt^*}^{-1})^{\otimes k} \circ \psi_t : \mathcal{N}|_{X_t} \to \mathcal{F}_{t^*}^{\otimes k}|_{X_t}$. It is an analytic morphism of sheaves and in local chats it is given by holomorphic functions. Therefore it can be extended through a pseudoconcave boundary.

15.2. Extension of roots across the contractible analytic sets. The complement to a Levi flat hypersurface could be not exactly Stein but only 1-convex. In this case one theorem of Grauert tells us that the only reason for such component of the complement not to be exhausted by a strictly psh-function is that it can contain a *contractible* analytic set. It turns not to be a problem in our case. Recall that a compact analytic set E in a normal complex space X is called *contractible* if there exists a normal complex space Y, a compact analytic set A in Y of codimension at least two and a holomorphic map (a contraction) $c : X \to Y$ which is a biholomorphism between $X \setminus E$ and $Y \setminus A$. If A is zero dimensional one calls E exceptional.

Theorem 15.2. Let E be a contractible analytic set in a normal complex space X and let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic line bundle on X. Suppose \mathcal{N} admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} on $X \setminus E$. Then \mathcal{F} extends to a holomorphic line bundle $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ on the whole of X. Moreover, $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}^{\otimes k}$ doesn't depend on k.

Remark 15.2. a) The extension $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ of \mathcal{F} can fail to be a k-th root of \mathcal{N} on E. Let X be the blown-up \mathbb{C}^2 at origin and E be the exceptional curve. Set $\mathcal{N} := [E]$. By the adjunction formula $\mathcal{N}|_E$ is the normal bundle of the imbedding $E \subset X$ i.e., is $\mathcal{O}_E(-1)$. At the same time $\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus E}$ is trivial and as such admits a trivial root $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}$ on $X \setminus E = \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}$, and this \mathcal{F} is a root of $\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus E}$ of any given degree $k \in \mathbb{N}$. But \mathcal{N} doesn't have roots of any degree k > 1 on E.

b) At the same time Theorem 15.2 means that $\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus E}$ can be (differently) extended to a line bundle, say $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}$ on X, having the extension $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$ of \mathcal{F} as its k-th root. And, moreover, $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}$ is the same for all k. I.e., we can once forever modify \mathcal{N} on the contractible set and make all roots of \mathcal{N} , which one can take on $X\setminus E$, to extend onto the whole of X as roots of the modified bundle.

c) Note that according to our definition of a contractible set all compact analytic sets of codimension at least two are contractible. For them, in fact, more is true, see Lemma 15.1: \mathcal{F} extends to a k-th root of \mathcal{N} (and not of some other $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}$).

The key point in the proof is the following statement.

Lemma 15.1. Let X be a normal complex space and A a codimension two analytic subset of X. Let a holomorphic line bundle \mathcal{N} over X be given. Suppose that $\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus A}$ admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} . Then \mathcal{F} extends as a k-th root of \mathcal{N} onto the whole of X.

For the proof we refer to [Iv11]. Let now $c: X \to Y$ be the contraction. Lemma 15.1 is now applicable to the direct images of $c_*\mathcal{F}|_{X\setminus E}$ and $c_*\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus E}$. Both are holomorphic line bundles on $Y \setminus A$. The second one extends onto Y as a coherent analytic sheaf by the Theorem about direct image sheaves of Grauert. Therefore it extends onto Y as a holomorphic line bundle. Denote this extension (with some abuse of notation) as $c_*\mathcal{N}$. By Lemma 15.1 $c_*\mathcal{F}$ extends as a holomorphic line bundle onto Y and stays there to be a k-th root of $c_*\mathcal{N}$. Denote by $c_*\mathcal{F}$ this extension. Now $c^*c_*\mathcal{F}$ will be an extension of \mathcal{F} to X, which is a k-th root of $c^*c_*\mathcal{N}$, and the last is an extension of $\mathcal{N}|_{X\setminus E}$ onto X. Theorem is proved.

Let us remark that the Thullen-type extension theorem for roots of holomorphic line bundles also holds true. For the proof of the following statement we refer to [Iv11].

Theorem 15.3. Let Y be an analytic set in a connected complex manifold X and let G be a domain in X, which contains $X \setminus Y$ and which intersects every irreducible component of Y of codimension one. Let \mathcal{N} be a holomorphic line bundle on X such that it admits a k-th root \mathcal{F} on G. Then \mathcal{F} extends to a holomorphic line bundle onto the whole of X and stays there to be a k-th root of \mathcal{N} .

16. Thullen-type extension of bundles with constraints on curvature

Certain analytic objects which do not possess a Hartogs-type extension property nevertheless do possess a weaker one, the so called Thullen-type, see Definition 12.1. In this section we shall describe few sufficient conditions on holomorphic vector bundle which imply a Thullen-type extension for them.

16.1. Limit holonomy and Sobolev extension of unitary connections. Let E be a complex vector bundle over a manifold X, ∇ a connection in E, *i.e.*, a complex linear mapping $\nabla : \Gamma(E) \to \Lambda^1 \otimes \Gamma(E)$ which satisfies the Leibnitz rule: $\nabla(fe) = df \otimes e + f \nabla e$ for every smooth function f and every section e. Let $\gamma : [0,1] \to X$ be a piece wisely smooth path and $x_0 := \gamma(0), x_1 := \gamma(1)$ be its ends. Then the ∇ -parallel transport along γ is a linear operator $\tau_{\gamma} : E_{x_0} \to E_{x_1}$ between the fibers over the end points of γ . If γ is closed, $\gamma(0) = \gamma(1)$, then τ_{γ} is an endomorphism of the fiber E_{x_0} .

Definition 16.1. The conjugacy class of the ∇ -parallel transport along a closed path γ is called the holonomy of the connection ∇ along γ and is denoted by η_{γ} .

It is known that η_{γ} is independent of the choice of the point on the closed path γ . If E is equipped with a Hermitian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and ∇ is a unitary connection, *i.e.*, $\nabla \langle e, h \rangle = \langle \nabla e, h \rangle + \langle e, \nabla h \rangle$ for any $e, h \in \Gamma(E)$, then the parallel transport $\tau_{\gamma} : E_{x_0} \to E_{x_1}$ is a unitary operator. Therefore in the unitary case we consider the holonomy η_{γ} as a conjugacy class of unitary matrices, *i.e.*, a conjugacy class in the unitary group $\mathbf{U}(k)$ where k is the rank of E. Such a conjugacy class is determined by its eigenvalues. The convergence $\eta_{\nu} \longrightarrow \eta_{\infty}$ of conjugacy classes of unitary matrices is understood as the convergence of the sets of eigenvalues counted with multiplicities. Or, equivalently, as existence of representatives $A_{\nu} \in \mathbf{U}(k)$ of the classes η_{ν} such that the A_{ν} converge. In this case the limit matrix $A_{\infty} = \lim A_{\nu}$ is a representative of the limit class $\eta_{\infty} = \lim \eta_{\nu}$. The following result was proved in [SS] in the case of $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} X = 4$ and $\operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{C}} E = 2$, and in [She1] in the general case. Let Y be the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^{m-2} , $m \ge 2$, and let B be the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^m . Set $\check{B} := B \setminus Y$ and identify Y with $Y \times \{0\} \subset B$. Suppose that E is a smooth Hermitian vector bundle of rank m over \check{B} equipped with a unitary connection ∇ . Denote by F_{∇} the curvature of ∇ , by $\gamma_{y,r}$ the circle of radius r in the disc $\{y\} \times \Delta$, and by $\eta_{y,r}$ the holonomy of ∇ along $\gamma_{y,r}$.

Theorem 16.1. a) (Existence of the limit holonomy). Assume that the curvature F_{∇} is locally integrable near Y. Then there exists a subset $Y^* \subset Y$ of full measure such that the limit $\lim_{r\to 0} \eta_{y,r} =: \eta_{y,0}$ exists for every y from Y^* .

b) (Constancy of the limit holonomy). Assume that the curvature F_{∇} is locally square integrable near Y. Then there exists a subset $Y^* \subset Y$ of full measure and the conjugacy class η^* such that for every y from Y^* the limit $\lim_{r\to 0} \eta_{y,r}$ exists and equals η^* .

Remark 16.1. Moreover, under the conditions of part (b) of this theorem the following is proved in [She1]. Let $U, \widetilde{U} \subset B$ be open subsets containing Y and $\Phi: U \to \widetilde{U}$ a \mathcal{C}^1 -diffeomorphism mapping Y onto Y, and $\tilde{\eta}_{y,r}$ the holonomy of the connection $\tilde{\nabla} := \Phi^* \nabla$ along $\gamma_{y,r}$. Then exists a subset $\widetilde{Y}^* \subset Y$ of full measure such that for every y from \widetilde{Y}^* the limit $\lim_{r\to 0} \tilde{\eta}_{y,r}$ exists and equals the same class η^* . This means that the limit holonomy stays invariant under the coordinate changes and is therefore well defined when Y is a real codimension two submanifold of a real manifold X.

Definition 16.2. In the situation (b) of the theorem above the conjugacy class η^* is called the limit holonomy of the connection ∇ around the submanifold Y. We say that the limit holonomy is trivial if the conjugacy class η^* consists of the identity matrix.

Let B_t be the ball of radius t, set $\check{B}_t := B_t \setminus Y$. We have the following result on local structure of connections with a given limit holonomy, for its proof we refer to [She1].

Theorem 16.2. (V. Shevchishin, [She1]). There exists a constant $\varepsilon > 0$, depending on $n \ge 4$, $m = \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{C}} E$, and a constant $C_p < \infty$ depending on n, m and $n/2 \le p < \infty$ such that the following holds. Let (E,h,∇) be a smooth Hermitian vector bundle with a unitary connection over \check{B} . Assume that $\|F_{\nabla}\|_{L^{m/2}(B)} < \varepsilon$ that the limit holonomy of ∇ around Y is trivial. Then there exists a flat unitary connection ∇^{\flat} in the bundle E over $\check{B}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ such that the $\operatorname{End}(E)$ -valued 1-form $A := \nabla - \nabla^{\flat}$ satisfies the following a priori estimate

$$\|A\|_{L^{p}(B_{\frac{1}{2}})} + \left\|\nabla^{\flat}A\right\|_{L^{p}(B_{\frac{1}{2}})} \le C_{p} \cdot \|F_{\nabla}\|_{L^{p}(B)}.$$
(16.1)

In addition the holonomy of ∇^{\flat} around Y is also trivial.

Let us make some remarks about this theorem. It means in other words that one can find a unitary frame ξ of E in $\check{B}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ such that $\nabla^{\flat} = d$ in this frame, $\nabla = d + A$, and (16.1) reads as

$$\|A\|_{L^{1,p}(B_{\frac{1}{2}})} \le C_p \cdot \|F_{\nabla}\|_{L^p(B)}.$$
(16.2)

Furthermore, the L^p -norm of a two-form $F_{\alpha,\beta}dx^{\alpha} \wedge dx^{\beta}$ is defined as

$$||F||_{L^{p}(B)}^{p} = \int_{B} \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta} |F_{\alpha,\beta}|^{2} \right)^{p/2}.$$
 (16.3)

 $L^{m/2}$ -norm is conformally invariant in the following sense. Let $\tau_t : B \to B$ be a contraction, *i.e.*, $\tau_t x = tx, \ 0 < t < 1$. The one easily checks that

$$\|F\|_{L^{m/2}(B_t)} = \|\tau_t^* F\|_{L^{m/2}(B)}.$$
(16.4)

Now the theorem implies that the unitary connection extends in the Sobolev sense to the whole of B.

16.2. Thullen-type extension theorem for holomorphic bundles with L^2 -bounds on curvature. Let X be a complex manifold of dim_CX := $n \ge 2$, $Y \subset X$ either an analytic subset of X or, a C^1 -submanifold of real codimension 2, and $G \subset X$ an open set which contains $X \setminus Y$ and intersects each irreducible component of Y of pure codimension 1 or resp. each connected component of Y. Set $Y' := Y \setminus G$. Recall that a Chern connection on a holomorphic Hermitian bundle E on a complex manifold is the unique connection which preserves both holomorphic and Hermitian structures of E. The former means that the (0,1)-component of the connection form A in holomorphic frame satisfies the following integrability condition

$$\overline{\partial}A^{0,1} + A^{0,1} \wedge A^{0,1} = 0. \tag{16.5}$$

Theorem 16.3. (V. Shevchishin, [She2]). Let (E,h) a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle over G. Assume that the curvature F_{∇} of the Chern connection ∇ is locally L^2 -integrable in a neighborhood of each point y on Y. Then E extends to X as a reflexive sheaf \mathscr{E} . Moreover, if the curvature F_{∇} is locally L^p -integrable for some $p \geq 2$, then the singular set $\operatorname{Sing}(\mathscr{E})$ has complex codimension at least [p] + 1 in X.

In particular, in complex dimension two E extends as a bundle. And more generally, if $F_{\nabla} \in L^n_{loc}(X)$, then E again extends as a bundle. We describe main steps of the proof indicating the techniques lying behind, referring to [She2] for the complete proof. It follows from the "Thullen-type" structure of the singular set $Y' = Y \setminus G$ that the limit holonomy of the Chern connection ∇ in E is trivial.

Step 1. Consider first the special case when the curvature is L^n_{loc} -integrable. In this situation Theorem 16.2 provides that for every point y on Y there exists a neighborhood $V \subset X$ of ybiholomorphic to the unit ball $B \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ and frame ξ of E in $V \setminus Y$ such that the connection form A of ∇ in the frame ξ is $L^{1,n}$ -regular and its (0,1)-component $A^{0,1}$ fulfills the integrability condition (16.5). Remark that Sobolev imbedding, which reads in $\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ as $L^{1,p}_{loc} \subset L^{\frac{2np}{2n-p}}$, gives $L^{1,n}_{loc} \subset L^{2n}_{loc}$, and therefore if $A \in L^{1,n}_{loc}$ then $A \wedge A \in L^n_{loc}$.

Step 2. Non-linear matrix-valued Dolbeault lemma. Let $V \subset X$ be an open set and ξ the unitary frame of E in $V \setminus Y$ constructed in the previous step. Set $k := \operatorname{rank}(E)$. Then every local frame η of E in an open set $W \subset V \setminus Y$ has the form $\eta = \xi \cdot g$ for some unique $\operatorname{Mat}(k, \mathbb{C})$ -valued function g in W. Such a frame η is holomorphic if and only if g satisfies the equation $\overline{\partial}g + A^{0,1}g = 0$. The latter equation can be written as $g^{-1} \cdot \overline{\partial}g = -A^{0,1}$.

Theorem 16.4. Let Γ be a L^{2n} -integrable $Mat(k, \mathbb{C})$ -valued (0,1)-form in the unit ball B in \mathbb{C}^n which satisfies the condition

$$\partial \Gamma + \Gamma \wedge \Gamma = 0$$

in the sense of distributions. Then there exists $Mat(k, \mathbb{C})$ -valued function g in B such that both g and g^{-1} are $L^{1,p}_{loc}$ -regular for every p < 2n, and such that g is a solution of the equation

$$\partial g + \Gamma \cdot g = 0.$$

Moreover, if g_1, g_2 are two matrix-valued functions with this property, then $g_2 = g_1 \cdot h$ for some holomorphic Mat (k, \mathbb{C}) -valued function in B.

Applying this result to $\Gamma = A^{0,1}$ we obtain the assertion of Theorem 16.3 in the case when the curvature F is L^n_{loc} -integrable for $n = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} X$. Moreover, E in this case extends as a bundle, and the sheaf of holomorphic sections of the extended bundle \tilde{E} admits the following characterization: for every $2 \le p < \infty$

$$\mathscr{O}(U, E) = \{ s \in \mathscr{O}(U \setminus Y, E) : s \in L^p_{loc}(U, E) \}.$$

Or, in another words, let $\eta = \xi \cdot g$ be the holomorphic frame obtained in this theorem. Write $\eta = (\eta_1, ..., \eta_k)$ and define an extension of E through Y as (\mathcal{O}^k, φ) , where $\varphi : \mathcal{O}^k|_{\check{B}} \to E$ is defined as

$$\varphi: (f_1, \dots, f_k) \to (f_1\eta_1, \dots, f_k\eta_k)$$

Step 3. Slicing and separate extension. Assume that the curvature F is locally L^{p} -integrable for some $2 \leq p < n = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} X$. Take maximal integer $k \leq p$. Consider a polydisk Δ^{n} in X and represent it as the product $\Delta^{k} \times \Delta^{n-k}$. For v in the second factor Δ^{n-k} we set $\Delta^{k}_{v} := \Delta^{k} \times \{v\} \subset$ $\Delta^{k} \times \Delta^{n-k}$. We imagine Δ^{n} to be "sliced" in the polydisks Δ^{k}_{v} . This induces a slicing of the singular set with slices $Y_{v} := Y \cap \Delta^{k}_{v}$. On each Δ^{k}_{v} we have the slice of the bundle $E_{v} := E|_{\Delta^{k}_{v} \setminus Y_{v}}$ equipped with the induced Hermitian metric and Chern connection whose curvature is the restriction of the total curvature F. By Fubini's theorem, for almost all $v \in \Delta^{n-k}$ the curvature is L^{k} -integrable on Δ^{k}_{v} . The limit holonomy of the restricted bundles $E_{v} = E|_{\Delta^{k}_{v} \setminus Y_{v}}$ around the corresponding singular set Y_{v} is trivial for almost all v. By the previous step, for almost all $v \in \Delta^{n-k}$ the bundle E_{v} extends holomorphically from $\Delta^{k}_{v} \setminus Y_{v}$ to Δ^{k}_{v} . One can show that holomorphic sections of those extensions are those holomorphic sections of E_{v} over $\Delta^{k}_{v} \setminus Y_{v}$ which are locally L^{q} -integrable for some fixed $2 \leq q < \infty$. In this situation Theorem 3.1 in [She2] or, Theorem 14.3 of this survey, ensures the assertion of Theorem 16.3 with the following description of the extension $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$: for every $2 \leq p < \infty$ and every open set $U \subset X$ as in Theorem 16.3 one has

 $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(U) = \big\{ s \in \mathscr{O}(U \backslash Y, E) : \ s \text{ is } L^p_{loc}\text{-integrable on almost all }k\text{-discs in }U \big\}.$

16.3. Holomorphic bundles with semipositive curvature. Let X be a complex manifold of dimension $n \ge 2$, $Y \subset X$ an analytic subset, and $G \subset X$ an open set containing $X \setminus Y$ meeting each irreducible component of Y of codimension 1. Let E be a holomorphic vector bundle over a complex manifold X. E is called *Nakano positive* if it carries a Hermitian metric with positive semidefinite curvature form, see definition below.

Theorem 16.5. Let (E,h) a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle over G with Nakano positive curvature. Then E admits an extension to X as a reflexive coherent sheaf $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$. Moreover, every local section of $\tilde{\mathscr{E}}$ over an open set $U \Subset X$ is L^2_{loc} -integrable with respect to h in U.

Proof. We follow main ideas of the paper [Si2]. Since the original proof in this paper is very brief we shall try to present a more detailed demonstration.

Step 1. Bochner-Nakano identity. Let X be a complex manifold of dimension n equipped with a Kähler metric with the Kähler form ω . In local coordinates, if ω has a representation $\omega = Im(h_{\omega}) = \frac{i}{2} \sum h_{jk} dz_j \wedge d\bar{z}_k$, then the metric is given by $h_{\omega} = \sum h_{jk} dz_j \otimes d\bar{z}_k$. We use the metric h_{ω} to define the volume form $dV = \frac{\omega^n}{n!}$ on X and the Hodge operator *. As usually, [A, B]denotes the commutator $A \circ B - B \circ A$ of linear operators. Further, for an operator S between Hermitian vector spaces or bundles we denote by S^* its adjoint operator and by \bar{S} its complex conjugate if the latter is well-defined. The Hodge-Lefschetz operators $L = L_{\omega}$ and $\Lambda = \Lambda_{\omega}$ on the spaces of (p, q)-forms are defined by $L_{\omega}(\alpha) := \alpha \wedge \omega$ and $\Lambda_{\omega}(\alpha) := *(L_{\omega}(*\alpha))$, so that $\Lambda_{\omega} = L_{\omega}^*$.

Now let (E, h_E) be a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle on X. We denote by ∇_E the operator of the Chern connection in E and by $D_E : \mathcal{A}^k(X, E) \to \mathcal{A}^{k+1}(X, E)$ its extension to E-valued differential forms. Set $D_E^{1,0} =: \partial_E$, $D_E^{0,1} =: \overline{\partial}_E$, and let ∂_E^* , $\overline{\partial}_E^*$ be the adjoint operators. Notice that the curvature of the Chern connection in (E, h_E) can be computed by $F_E := D_E^2 = \partial_E \overline{\partial}_E + \overline{\partial}_E \partial_E$. Besides, we introduce the Laplace operators $\Delta'_E := \partial_E \partial_E^* + \partial_E^* \partial_E$, and $\Delta''_E := \overline{\partial}_E \overline{\partial}_E^* + \overline{\partial}_E^* \overline{\partial}_E$. The following formula is known as the *Bochner-Nakano* identity.

Lemma 16.1. Assume that the metric given by ω is Kähler. Then

$$\Delta_E'' = \Delta_E' + [iF_E, \Lambda] \tag{16.6}$$

The proof, see [Na], is the same as the classical equality $\Delta' = \Delta''$ of the ∂ - and $\overline{\partial}$ -Laplacians on the (p,q)-forms on Kähler manifolds which is a special case of 16.6 with (E,h) being the trivial bundle \mathcal{O} equipped with the standard metric. First, one proves the Hodge identities

$$\begin{split} [\overline{\partial}_E^*, L] &= i\partial_E, \qquad \quad [\partial_E^*, L] = -i\overline{\partial}_E, \\ [\overline{\partial}_E, \Lambda] &= i\partial_E^*, \qquad \quad [\partial_E^*, \Lambda] = -i\overline{\partial}_E^*, \end{split}$$

and then substitute them in the definitions of Δ'_E and Δ''_E . The rest of calculation is the same as in the classical case, with the difference that now we have $\partial_E \overline{\partial}_E + \overline{\partial}_E \partial_E = F_E$ instead of $\partial \overline{\partial} + \overline{\partial} \partial = 0$. We refer to [Dm2], Ch. VII for the generalizations to the non-Kähler case.

Step 2. Positivity of the curvature of holomorphic Hermitian bundles. Recall that a holomorphic Hermitian bundle (E,h) with the curvature F_E on a complex manifold X is Nakano positive if for every section v of the bundle $T^{1,0}X \otimes E$ one has $\langle iF_E(v), v \rangle \geq 0$.

For a Kähler manifold (X, ω) and a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle (E, h_E) denote by $L^2_{(p,q)}(X, E)$ the space of L^2 -integrable *E*-valued (p,q)-form on X with the usual norm

$$||u||^{2}_{L^{2}_{(p,q)}(X,E,h)} = ||u||^{2}_{L^{2}_{(p,q)}} := \int_{X} \langle u, u \rangle dV.$$

Lemma 16.2. Let (X, ω) be a Kähler complex manifold of dimension n, (E,h) a holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle on X, and F its curvature. Then the Hermitian form

$$u, v \mapsto \int_X i \langle [F, \Lambda] u, v \rangle dV \tag{16.7}$$

on the space of smooth (n,1)-forms with compact support is semi-positive if and only if the bundle (E,h) is Nakano positive. Furthermore, let φ be a strictly psh function such that $i\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi \geq c \cdot \omega$ with some constant c > 0. Define the new metric $h_{\varphi} := e^{-\varphi}h$ on E and let F_{φ} be the curvature of (E,h_{φ}) . Then

$$\int_{X} \left\langle [iF_{\varphi}, \Lambda] u, u \right\rangle dV \ge c \cdot \|u\|_{L^{2}(X)}^{2}$$
(16.8)

for every $u \in L^2_{n,q}(X, E, h)$ and every $1 \le q \le n$.

Step 3. Solving with estimates the $\overline{\partial}$ -equation with values in a positive bundle.

Theorem 16.6. Let X be a Stein manifold of dimension n, ω a Kähler form on X, (E,h) a Nakano-positive holomorphic Hermitian vector bundle, and φ a strictly PSH function such that $i\partial \overline{\partial} \varphi \geq c \cdot \omega$ with some constant c > 0. Set $h_{\varphi} := e^{-\varphi}h$. Then for every $1 \leq q \leq n$ and every $u \in L^2_{n,q}(X, E, h_{\varphi})$ such that $\overline{\partial} u = 0$ in the weak sense there exists $v \in L^2_{n,q-1}(X, E, h_{\varphi})$ such that $\overline{\partial}_E v = u$ and $\overline{\partial}_E^* v = 0$ in the weak sense and

$$c \cdot \|v\|_{L^2_{n,q-1}(X,E,h_{\varphi})}^2 \le \|u\|_{L^2_{n,q}(X,E,h_{\varphi})}^2.$$

In the case when the metric on X is complete and E is the trivial bundle \mathcal{O} this result is the core of Hörmander's L^2 -theory, see [Ho1]. The generalization to the case of vector bundle was obtained by Nakano [Na]. An important improvement of the L^2 -method, allowing to treat the case of non-complete metric, was obtained by Demailly [Dm3]. The idea of the proof is as follows. Take a new Kähler form $\hat{\omega}$ on X such that the corresponding metric is complete. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ the metric defined by the Kähler form $\omega_{\varepsilon} := \omega + \varepsilon \cdot \hat{\omega}$ is also complete. Denote by $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{n,q}(X,\omega_{\varepsilon},E,h)}$ the L^2 -norm with respect to the metric given by the Kähler form ω_{ε} . Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ one has

$$\|u\|_{L^2_{n,q}(X,\omega_\varepsilon,E,h)} \le \|u\|_{L^2_{n,q}(X,\omega,E,h)}.$$

So by the "usual" Hörmander's L^2 -theory, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $v_{\varepsilon} \in L^2_{n,q-1}(X, \omega_{\varepsilon}, E, h)$ with

$$c \cdot \|v_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}_{n,q-1}(X,\omega_{\varepsilon},E,h)}^{2} \le \|u\|_{L^{2}_{n,q}(X,\omega_{\varepsilon},E,h)}^{2} \le \|u\|_{L^{2}_{n,q}(X,E,h)}^{2}$$

which satisfies the equations $\overline{\partial}_E v_{\varepsilon} = u$ and $(\overline{\partial}_E)_{\varepsilon}^* v_{\varepsilon} = 0$ (where $(\overline{\partial}_E)_{\varepsilon}^*$ is the operator adjoint to $\overline{\partial}_E$ with respect to the metric given by ω_{ε}). Finally, take a sequence ε_{ν} decreasing to 0. Then some subsequence of the sequence $v_{\varepsilon_{\nu}}$ converges to a desired solution $v \in L^2_{n,q-1}(X, E, h)$ with the properties stated in the theorem.

Step 4. Finding local sections L^2 -bounded near singularity. Consider the following situation. Let X be a Stein manifold of dimension n with a Kähler form ω , $Y \subset X$ an analytic set of pure codimension 1, $G \subset X$ an open set which contains $X \setminus Y$, (E,h) a holomorphic Hermitian bundle of rank m over G with Nakano positive curvature. Finally. let $V \Subset X$ be a relatively compact Stein domain, denote by \overline{V} the closure of V in X.

Theorem 16.7. Let $p \in V \cap G$ be a point. Assume that there exists a non-constant holomorphic function f on X which is vanishing at p and non-zero on $Y \setminus G$. Then there exist holomorphic sections $s_1, \ldots, s_m \in \mathcal{O}(V \cap G, E)$ which are L^2 -integrable in V and which generate the basis of the fiber of E at the point p.

Proof. The proof follows the ideas of [Si2]. Let $\det(TX) = \Lambda^n(TX)$ be the anti-canonical bundle, $h_{\det,\omega}$ the metric on $\det(TX)$ induced by Kähler metric on X, and $F_{\det,\omega}$ the corresponding curvature. Find a smooth real function ψ such that $i\partial \bar{\partial} \psi \geq iF_{\det,\omega}$ and set $h_{\det,\psi} := h_{\det,\omega} \cdot e^{-\psi}$. Then the holomorphic Hermitian line bundle $(\det(TX), h_{\det,\psi})$ is positive. Now define $(E', h') := (E, h) \otimes (\det(TX), h_{\det,\psi})$. Then (E', h') is a Nakano-positive bundle over G such that $E' \otimes \Lambda^{n,0} X \cong E$. In particular, holomorphic sections of $E' \otimes \Lambda^{n,0} X$ are holomorphic sections of E, and we can use *Step 3* to construct such sections.

Let $Z \subset X$ be the zero set of the function f. Then Z is Stein and lies in G. So by the theorem of Siu [Si6] Z admits a Stein neighborhood in U. Fix a smooth cut-off function χ on X which is identically 1 in some smaller neighborhood of Z and whose support supp (χ) lies in U.

Since U is Stein, every fiber of the bundle E is generated by global holomorphic sections. Take any vector v in the fiber E_p of this bundle at the point p and let $s^* \in \mathcal{O}(U, E)$ be a holomorphic section in U such that $s^*(p) = v$. We claim that $\alpha := f^{-1} \cdot \bar{\partial} \chi \cdot s^*$ is L^2 -integrable in V. To show this let us observe that the set $\overline{V} \cap \operatorname{supp}(\chi)$ is a compact set lies in $U \subset G$. Consequently, the vector valued form $\bar{\partial} \chi \cdot s^*$ is L^2 -integrable in V. Further, the set $\overline{V} \cap \operatorname{supp}(\bar{\partial}\chi)$ is also compact, and hence the function |f| achieves its minimum at some point q. This minimum can not be 0, since otherwise f would vanish at q and q would lie on the set Z, in contradiction to the fact that χ is identically 1 in some neighborhood of Z and hence $\operatorname{supp}(\bar{\partial}\chi) \cap Z = \emptyset$. Consequently, f^{-1} is uniformly bounded on $\overline{V} \cap \operatorname{supp}(\bar{\partial}\chi)$ and so $\alpha = f^{-1} \cdot \bar{\partial}\chi \cdot s^*$ is L^2 -integrable in V as asserted. Due to the isomorphism $E' \otimes \Lambda^{n,0} X \cong E$, we can write the L^2 -integrability as $\alpha \in L^2_{0,1}(V \setminus Y, E, \omega) =$ $L^2_{n,1}(V \setminus Y, E', \omega)$. Further, since f is non-vanishing in $V \cap \operatorname{supp}(\bar{\partial}\chi) \alpha = f^{-1} \cdot \bar{\partial}\chi \cdot s^*$ is $\bar{\partial}$ -closed, $\bar{\partial}\alpha = 0$. Now by Theorem 16.6, $\alpha = \bar{\partial}\psi$ for some $\psi \in L^2_{n,0}(V \setminus Y, E', \omega) = L^2(V \setminus Y, E, \omega)$. Consequently, $\bar{\partial}(\chi \cdot s^* - f \cdot \psi) = 0$. This means that $\chi \cdot s^* - f \cdot \psi =: s$ is a holomorphic section of E over $V \setminus Y$ which is L^2 -integrable. By Riemann's extension theorem, s extends holomorphically to the set $V \cap G$.

Next, recall that χ is identically 1 in a neighborhood of the point p. It follows that in a neighborhood of p the form $\alpha = f^{-1} \cdot \overline{\partial} \chi \cdot s^* = \overline{\partial} \psi$ vanishes identically, and so ψ is holomorphic near p. Thus $s(p) = \chi(p) \cdot s^*(p) - f(p) \cdot \psi(p) = 1 \cdot s^*(p) - 0 \cdot \psi(p) = s^*(p) = v$. This means that s(z) is a L^2 -integrable holomorphic section of E in $V \cap G$ which takes the prescribed value v at the point p. This implies Theorem 16.7 and subsequently Theorem 16.5.

17. PLATEAU PROBLEM, EXTENSION FROM THE BOUNDARY AND FILLINGS

17.1. Complex Plateau problem. We follow [Dh1]. Recall that a subset $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is called *m*-rectifiable if Γ is an image of a bounded set $B \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ under a Lipschitz continuous map $f: B \to \mathbb{R}^n$. Γ is called (\mathcal{H}^m, m) -rectifiable if $\mathcal{H}^m(\Gamma) < \infty$ and there exists at most countable

collection of *m*-rectifiable compacts $K_j \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ such that $\mathcal{H}^m(\Gamma \setminus \bigcup_i K_i) = 0$. Here \mathcal{H}^m stands for the *m*-Hausdorff measure in \mathbb{R}^n . In particular, the current $[\Gamma]$ of integration over such Γ is well defined. Such currents are called (\mathcal{H}^m, m) -rectifiable. We say that a compact $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is of class A_m if Γ is (\mathcal{H}^m, m) -rectifiable and its tangent cone at \mathcal{H}^m -almost all points is an *m*-dimensional subspace of \mathbb{R}^n . Recall that the tangent cone to Γ at x is

$$\mathsf{Tan}\,(\Gamma,x)\mathrel{\mathop:}=\{\mathbf{v}\in\mathbb{R}^n:\forall\varepsilon>0, \exists y\in\Gamma, \exists c>0 \text{ such that } |y-x|<\varepsilon \text{ and } |\mathbf{v}-c(y-x)|<\varepsilon\}.$$

Note that a connected, compact in \mathbb{R}^n of finite length is of class A_1 , see Lemma 1.3 in [Dh1].

An $(\mathcal{H}^{2p-1}, 2p-1)$ -rectifiable current Γ in \mathbb{C}^n is called maximally complex if it is a sum of currents of bidimensions (p, p-1) and (p-1, p). In other words if Γ annihilates all (k, 2p-1-k)forms except for k = p, p-1. If Γ is a \mathcal{C}^1 -manifold this means that its tangents at all points are maximally complex subspaces of \mathbb{C}^n . A holomorphic *p*-chain in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \Gamma$ is by definition a locally finite linear combination A with integer coefficients of pure *p*-dimensional analytic subsets of $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \Gamma$. If this chain has locally bounded 2p-dimensional volume in \mathbb{C}^n it defines a (p, p)-current [A] in \mathbb{C}^n . If, in addition $\partial[A] = [\Gamma]$ in the sense of currents then we say that $[\Gamma]$ bounds [A].

Theorem 17.1. (*T.-C. Dinh*, [Dh1].) Let $[\Gamma]$ be a closed current in \mathbb{C}^n with compact support Γ of class A_{2p-1} . Then the following holds.

i) If p = 1 then $[\Gamma]$ bounds a holomorphic 1-chain if and only if it satisfies the moment condition, i.e.,

$$\int_{\Gamma} \omega = 0 \tag{17.1}$$

for every polynomial 1-form in \mathbb{C}^n .

ii) If $p \ge 2$ then $[\Gamma]$ bounds a holomorphic p-chain if and only if $[\Gamma]$ is maximally complex.

The proof of this theorem goes roughly as follows. First one proves the part (i) and then cuts Γ by subspaces of dimension n-p+1. From maximal complexity of $[\Gamma]$ one deduces that these slices satisfy the moment condition (17.1). This permits to prove that they bound holomorphic 1-chains. Their union form then the needed holomorphic *p*-chain which solves the boundary problem. Let us give more details.

Step 1. The statement of this step is contained in the following lemma, see the corresponding Slicing Lemma 1.4 in [Dh1].

Lemma 17.1. Let Γ be a compact of class A_{2p-1} in \mathbb{C}^n . Then for almost all orthogonal projections $\Pi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^{p-1}$ and almost all $x \in \mathbb{C}^{p-1}$ the tangent cone $\operatorname{Tan} (\Gamma \cap \Pi^{-1}(x), y)$ is a real line for \mathcal{H}^1 -almost all $y \in \Gamma \cap \Pi^{-1}(x)$ and therefore $\Gamma \cap \Pi^{-1}(x)$ is of class A_1 .

Step 2. Let Π be a projection satisfying the conclusion of the previous step. By $< [\Gamma], \Pi, x >$ denote the corresponding slice current.

Lemma 17.2. If $[\Gamma]$ is maximally complex then for almost all x the slices $< [\Gamma], \Pi, x > satisfy$ the moment condition (17.1).

The case when Γ is a maximally complex, compact C^1 -submanifold of \mathbb{C}^n is due to Harvey and Lawson, [HL]. We send the interested reader to the lectures [Ha] for the detailed exposition of this case and to [Dh1] for the proof of Theorem 17.1. Using the techniques developed in [Dh1] the following statement was proved in [KS2].

Theorem 17.2. Let X be a q-complete complex manifold and $[\Gamma]$ a closed, maximally complex current in X of dimension 2p-1 with compact support of class A_{2p-1} . If $p \ge q+1$ then $[\Gamma]$ bounds a unique holomorphic p-chain.

17.2. Extension from the boundary. In [Bo] apart of Theorem 1.6 also the following statement was proved.

Theorem 17.3. Let D be a smoothly bounded relatively compact domain in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$. Then every CR-function on ∂D extends to a holomorphic function in D.

Theorem 17.2 implies the following corollary in the spirit of Bochner's result.

Corollary 17.1. Let D be a smoothly bounded, relatively compact domain with connected boundary in an (n-1)-complete complex space X, $n = \dim X \ge 2$. Them every CR-function extends to a holomorphic function in D.

Indeed, it is sufficient to solve the Plato problem for the graph of the function in question. Let D be a smoothly bounded domain in a Stein manifold X of dimension $n \ge 2$. A compact $K \subseteq \partial D$ is called *removable* if every CR-function on $\partial D \setminus K$ extends to a holomorphic function in D.

Theorem 17.4. (G. Lupacciolu [Lu], J.-P. Rosay - E.L. Stout [RS]). In the situation as above the following conditions are equivalent:

i) K is removable;

- ii) K is $\mathcal{O}(\bar{D})$ -convex if n = 2 or $H^{0,1}(X \setminus K) = 0$ if $n \ge 3$;
- $iii) H^{0,1}_{\Phi}(X \setminus K) = 0, if n \ge 3.$

Here $\mathcal{O}(\bar{D}) := \mathcal{C}(\bar{D}) \cap \mathcal{O}(D)$ and $H^{0,1}_{\Phi}$ stands for the cohomology group with compact supports. We refer to [CS2] for details and much more results in this direction.

17.3. Filling by disks a neighborhood of a CR-submanifold. All considerations in this subsection will be purely local. I.e., we shall consider the germs of smooth real submanifolds in \mathbb{C}^n . A submanifold of \mathbb{C}^n is called a Cauchy-Riemann submanifold, CR-submanifold for short, if the dimension of its complex tangent $T_x^c M := T_x M \cap i(T_x M)$ is independent of $x \in M$. An analytic disk $\varphi : \overline{\Delta} \to \mathbb{C}^n$ (we suppose here that φ is smooth up to the boundary) is said to be *attached* to M if $\varphi(\partial \Delta) \subset M$. The pioneering result in this direction was obtained by E. Bishop. Let (M,0) be a germ of a CR-submanifold in $(\mathbb{C}^n, 0)$. Choose coordinates in such a way that $T_0^c M = \mathbb{C}^m \times \{0^{n-m}\}$.

Theorem 17.5. (E. Bishop, [Bs2]). For every sufficiently small analytic disk $\varphi : \overline{\Delta} \to \mathbb{C}^m$ such that $\varphi(1) = 0^m$ there exists an analytic disk $\Phi = (\varphi, \psi)$ attached to M and such that $\Phi(1) = 0$.

These disks are commonly called Bishop's disks. Using Bishop's disks several remarkable results were obtained since. Let us mention only one of them.

Theorem 17.6. (J.-M. Trépreau, [Tr]). Let M be a germ of a real hypersurface in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$. Assume that there doesn't exist a germ of complex hypersurface in M through 0. Then all CR-functions on M holomorphically extend to the same one-sided neighborhood of M.

This result is obtained by filling this one-sided neighborhood by Bishop's disks. We send the interested reader to the survey [Tu] of A. Tumanov for the questions of one sided extensions of CR-functions and extensions to the wedges from hypersurfaces and also from submanifolds of higher codimension.

17.4. Fillings holes in complex manifolds. A 1-corona is a pair (X, ρ) , where X is a complex manifold and $\rho : X \to (t_1, t_2)$ is a proper strictly plurisubharmonic function. Possibilities $t_1 = -\infty$ and $t_2 = +\infty$ are not excluded. One also says that X has a concave end or a hole, here $n \ge 2$ always. If $t_1 = -\infty$ one says that X has a hyperconcave end. A completion of X is a normal Stein space \hat{X} with finitely many singular points and an imbedding $i : X \to \hat{X}$ such that for $t_1 < t^* < t_2$ the set

$$\left(\hat{X} \setminus i(X)\right) \cup i\left(\{\rho \leqslant c\}\right) \tag{17.2}$$

is a compact. One also says that \hat{X} fills in a hole in X.

Theorem 17.7. (H. Rossi, [Ro]). If the dimension of the 1-corona is ≥ 3 then it always admits a Stein completion.

For n = 2 this is not longer true. Take a double covering of D^- from Example 5.1 to get a counter example. However the following statement was proved in [DM].

Theorem 17.8. (*T.-C. Dinh, G. Marinescu,* [DM]). A hyperconcave end can be always completed also in dimension two.

It was proved in [BL] that a 1-corona can be completed if and only if the vector space $H^1(X, \mathcal{O})$ is Hausdorff, only if statement actually was proved in [AV]. In other words the space of $\overline{\partial}$ -exact $\mathcal{C}_{0,1}^{\infty}$ -forms should be closed in \mathcal{C}^{∞} -topology. If dimension is ≥ 3 then $H^1(X, \mathcal{O})$ is even finite dimensional by Andreotti-Grauert theorem.

Conjecture 4. One can introduce the object called q-corona requesting $\rho : X \to (t_1, t_2)$ to be proper and strongly q-convex. It is conjectured in [Si7] that q-corona can be also completed provided dim $X \ge q+2$.

18. Appendix I. Placements of Hartogs figures

Along this survey we used several times in certain way imbedded Hartogs figures. Let us give more details on this issue.

18.1. Normal form of a strictly *q*-convex function. Let $\rho: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real valued function on a complex manifold. It will be supposed in the sequel to be Morse and all perturbations will be supposed to be small enough in C^2 -norm in order for ρ to stay Morse. Function ρ is called *strictly q*-convex at x_0 if the Levi form L_{ρ,x_0} of ρ at x_0 has exactly n-q+1 positive eigenvalues, here $1 \leq q \leq n$. Our considerations will be local and therefore we suppose that ρ is defined in a coordinate chart centered at zero with $\rho(0) = 0$ and 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of ρ . Let $z = (z_1, ..., z_n)$ be the corresponding local coordinates. Then ρ writes as

$$\rho(z) = 2\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}} H_{\rho,0}(z) + L_{\rho,0}(z) + o(\|z\|^2)$$
(18.1)

in a neighborhood of the origin. Here

$$H^z_{\rho,0}[z] := \sum_{k,l=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho(0)}{\partial z_k \partial z_l} z_k z_l \quad \text{and} \quad L^z_{\rho,0}[z] := \sum_{k,l=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho(0)}{\partial z_k \partial \bar{z}_l} z_k \bar{z}_l$$

the complex Hessian and the Levi form of ρ at the origin respectively. Under a complex linear change of coordinates $z = U\zeta$ they undergo the change as follows

$$H_{\rho,0}^{\zeta} = U^t H_{\rho,0}^z U$$
 and $L_{\rho,0}^{\zeta} = U^t L_{\rho,0}^z \bar{U}.$

In the C-vector space $T_{x_0}X$ consider the non-degenerate Hermitian form g, which in the basis $\frac{\partial}{\partial z} := \{\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1}, ..., \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}\}$ is given by $g(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{w}) = \mathbf{v}^t L^z_{\rho,0} \bar{\mathbf{w}}$. By the well known theorem there exists a basis $\eta_1, ..., \eta_n$ in which g is diagonal of the form $I_{n,q} := [\underbrace{-1, ..., -1}_{q-1}, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{n-q+1}]$. Let $\zeta = (\zeta_1, ..., \zeta_n)$

be coordinates centered at x_0 such that $\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_k} = \eta_k$ for k = 1, ..., n. In these coordinated L_{ρ, x_0}^{ζ} will have the diagonal form as above.

Remark 18.1. In general, if a strongly q-convex function ρ is not (q-1)-convex the diagonalized Levi form will look as follows $\{\underbrace{0,...,0}_{1...s},\underbrace{-1,...,-1}_{s+1...q-1},\underbrace{1,...,1}_{q...n}\}$. Assuming that our coordinate chart is the unit ball B_1 take a cut-off function φ , which is 1 on [0,1/3] and zero on [2/3,1], and consider $\tilde{\rho}(z) :=$

unit ball B_1 take a cut-off function φ , which is 1 on [0, 1/3] and zero on [2/3, 1], and consider $\tilde{\rho}(z) := \rho(z) - \varepsilon \varphi(||z||)(|z_1|^2 + ... + |z_s|^2)$. For $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small we shall have that $\tilde{\rho} \leq \rho$, $\tilde{\rho}$ close to ρ in C^2 -norm on B_1 , and equal to ρ on $B_1 \setminus B_{2/3}$. Therefore we can replace ρ by $\tilde{\rho}$ globally on X and extend

$$\tilde{\rho}(z) = 2H_{\rho,0}(z) - \sum_{k=1}^{q-1} |z_k|^2 + \sum_{k=q}^n |z_k|^2 + o(||z||^2).$$
(18.2)

By a separate unitary changes in $z' := (z_1, ..., z_{n-q})$ and $z'' := (z_q, ..., z_n)$ we bring our strictly q-convex function to the *normal form*

$$\rho(z) = -\sum_{k=1}^{q-1} a_k (z_k^2 + \bar{z}_k^2) + \sum_{l=q}^n a_l (z_l^2 + \bar{z}_l^2) + 2\operatorname{Re} H(z', z'') - ||z'||^2 + ||z''||^2 + o(||z||^2),$$
(18.3)

where one can make $a_k, a_l \ge 0$ and the "mixed part" has the form

$$H(z',z'') = \sum_{k=1,l=q}^{q-1,n} a_{k,l} z_k z_l.$$

Remark that further simplification of the quadratic part is not possible, *i.e.*, one cannot get reed from the mixed terms, see Theorem 4.5.15 in [HJ]. After that, setting $\hat{\rho}(z) := \tilde{\rho}(z) - \varphi(\frac{||z||}{\varepsilon})o(||z||^2)$ with $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we obtain a new function close to $\hat{\rho}$ in C^2 -norm, which coincides with $\hat{\rho}$ in $B_{\varepsilon \setminus 3}$ and is a quadratic polynomial in $B_{\varepsilon/3}$. Therefore one often can suppose that ρ has only the *nice* critical points, which means that ρ near such x_0 is equal to its quadratic part. We shall assume this from now on, *i.e.*, we shall write

$$\rho(z) = -\sum_{k=1}^{q-1} a_k(z_k^2 + \bar{z}_k^2) + \sum_{l=q}^n a_l(z_l^2 + \bar{z}_l^2) + 2\operatorname{Re} H(z', z'') - ||z'||^2 + ||z''||^2.$$
(18.4)

18.2. Hartogs figures near q-concave boundaries: smooth case. If q = 1, *i.e.*, our ρ is strictly plurisubharmonic we can obviously transform (18.4) to

$$\rho(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{s} (x_k^2 - \varepsilon_k y_k^2) + \sum_{k=s+1}^{n} (x_k^2 + \varepsilon_k y_k^2), \qquad (18.5)$$

where $0 < \varepsilon_k < 1$ for k = 1, ..., s and $0 < \varepsilon_k \leq 1$ for k = s + 1, ..., n. Here s is he Morse index of ρ at x_0 . Consider the case of maximal index s = n. The slope of the cone $\sum_{k=1}^{n} (x_k^2 - \varepsilon_k y_k^2) = 0$ is bigger than 1 (this reflects strict plurisubharmonicity), and can be made arbitrarily big as it is explained on the Fig.7. There $U^+ := \{\rho > 0\}$ and $\Sigma_0 := \{\rho = 0\}$. For positive parameters t and



FIGURE 7. Σ_0 on the left is the zero level of ρ . It can be deformed to $\tilde{\Sigma}_0 := \{\tilde{\rho} = 0\}$ by perturbing ρ to $\tilde{\rho}$ appropriately in such a way that the slope becomes bigger. Then, after rescaling and cutting off the term $o(||z||^2)$ one gets the cone with bigger slope. If the analytic object in question extends across *smooth* 1-convex boundaries one can using this procedure extend it to $U \cap (\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \mathbb{R}^n)$ for some neighborhood of the origin U.

 τ consider the quadric

$$R_{t,\tau} := \{ z \in K^2 : (z_1 + t)^2 + z_2^2 + \dots + z_n^2 = \tau^2 \}.$$
(18.6)

Remark that $R_{0,\tau}$ lies in U^+ and moves to the left when t increases, see the Fig.8. Cutting each $R_{t,\tau}$ along an ε -neighborhood of the real demi-hyperplane $\{x_2 = 0, x_1 \leq -t\}$ one gets the discs $D_{t,\tau}$. From them it is not difficult to construct a Hartogs figure in U^+ such that the associated polydisk contains the origin, see Appendix in [Iv11] for more details.



FIGURE 8. When t runs along an appropriate interval in \mathbb{R} discs $D_{t,\tau}$ move as on this picture. One can complexify t to get a one-parameter holomorphic family of disks for t in a complex neighborhood of that interval. Remark that boundaries of $D_{t,\tau}$ stay in U^+ , while interiors sweep a neighborhood of the origin.

If x_0 is a strictly *q*-convex point then the picture as on Fig.8 depends on the parameter z' (\mathbb{R} -linearly) and one can imbed $H^{n-q+1,1}$ to $U^+ \cap \mathbb{C}^{n-q+1}_{z''}$ as in strictly pseudoconvex case and then multiply it by Δ_{ε}^q with $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. This product contains a (biholomorphic image of a) Hartogs figure $H_r^{n,q}$ such that the associated polydiks contains the origin.

18.3. Hartogs figures near \mathbb{R}^n . To put a polydisk near \mathbb{R}^n in \mathbb{C}^n , $n \ge 2$, one realizes \mathbb{R}^n as the Shilov boundary of the polydisk by exponential map

$$\exp:(z_1,...,z_n) \to (e^{iz_1},...,e^{iz_n}),$$

and then touches the convex set $\bar{\Delta}^n$ at $\mathbf{1} = (1, ..., 1) = e(0)$ by the hyperplane L with the equation

$$z_1 + \ldots + z_n = n.$$

Remark that $L \cap \overline{\Delta}^n = \{1\}$. Remark also that \exp is biholomorphic on the cube $K = (-\pi, \pi)^{2n}$ and set $V = \exp(K)$. Take an (n-1)-disk Δ^{n-1} on L centered at 1 and an 1-disk Δ in the orthogonal complement L^{\perp} such that $\Delta^{n-1} \times \Delta \subset V$. All what is left is to take a sufficiently small subdisk δ in $\Delta \cap \{\operatorname{Re}(z_1 + \ldots + z_n) > 0\}$. Then for r > 0 small enough the Hartogs figure

$$H_r^{n,1} := \left(\Delta^{n-1} \setminus \bar{\Delta}_{1-r}^{n-1}\right) \times \Delta \cup \left(\Delta^{n-1} \times \delta\right)$$

will be the needed one. See [Si3], Lemma 2.20 for more details.

18.4. Hartogs figures near *q*-concave boundaries: singular case. In general we have the following powerful technical statement.

Lemma 18.1. (Projection Lemma). If x_0 is a q-concave point of ∂D , $q \leq n-1$, then one can find a neighborhood $U \ni x_0$ and a finite, proper holomorphic map $\pi : (U, x_0) \to (\Delta^n, 0)$ such that $\pi(U \cap D)$ contains the q-concave Hartogs figure $H_r^{n,q}$ for some r > 0.

For q = n - 1 this was proved in [Fu1], see Lemma 5.2, for the case of general any $1 \le q \le n - 1$ we refer to Theorem 8.4 in [ST2].

Appendix II. Historical notes

19. Appendix II. Historical notes

These notes are not exhaustive, they only give a complementary information to that what is contained in the corresponding chapters and sections of the main body of this survey.

Chapter I.

1. Theorem 1.1 should be in my opinion attributed to A. Hurwitz, who in his talk on the 1st ICM remarked, see [Hw] p.104, that an analytic function of several complex variables cannot possess isolated singularities "as one can easily prove with the help of generalized Laurent theorem". And this is exactly the proof we gave. Hartogs figures with corresponding statement known as Hartogs' Lemma appeared in [Ht2], where the Theorem 1.6 is also stated. The proof however goes as on Fig. 2 (b). Another attempt to derive this theorem from Hartogs' Lemma was made in the lectures of W. Osgood [Os2], but, in my opinion his arguments are even less convincing than that of Hartogs. Therefore it is generally recognized that Hartogs proved Theorem 1.6 for the case when D and K are round balls and the first proof of the general statement belongs to S. Bochner. At the same time the proof we gave in this text shows that nevertheless Theorem 1.6 directly and reasonably obviously follows from the Hartogs' Lemma.

Theorem 1.3 was proved by E. Levi in [Lv] and the proof we gave is that of Levi. Holomorphicity of bounded separately analytic functions was proved by W. Osgood in [Os1]. F. Hartogs in [Ht1] removed the boundedness condition. Non-trivial and far reaching "cross" version of separate analyticity of Theorem 1.10 is due to J. Siciak. Poincaré problem (more precisely the weak Poincaré problem) of Corollary 1.4 was proved for domains in Stein manifolds in [KS1]. For $D = \mathbb{C}^2$ the statement was obtained in [P2] in a stronger form: the corresponding entire functions can be chosen to have relatively prime germs at every point. In this stronger form theorem doesn't hold already for domains in \mathbb{C}^2 , an example can be found in [Ni].

2. A non-linear version of Levi's theorem, *i.e.*, Theorem 2.1 was obtained in [Iv12]. In the case when $\{C_t\}_{t\in T}$ are non-horizontal straight disks, *i.e.*, intersections of lines with Δ^2 , Corollary 2.1 is due to T.-C. Dinh, see [Dh2] Corollaire 1. Again for straight disks and Kähler manifolds in the image Corollary 2.1 was obtained by F. Sarkis in [Sr]. Theorem 2.3 was proved in [IS1, IS2] answering a question of A. Vitushkin. The method of construction of envelopes, which is used here is based on the Gromov's theory of pseudoholomorphic curves, [Gro]. The formulation of the "local version" of Theorem 2.3, *i.e.*, Theorem 2.2 was proposed by A. Domrin (see Introduction in [Ch3]) as a sort of test question for Theorem 2.3 and was proved by E. Chirka in [Ch3] following the methods of [IS1] but in a more simple way using the Vekua theory. He called it "a generalized Hartogs' Lemma". Answering the question, posed by Chirka, J.-P. Rosay in [Rs] constructed an example showing that a "generalized Hartogs' Lemma" doesn't hold in \mathbb{C}^3 . Another approach to envelopes, based on Seiberg-Witten theory, was proposed by S. Nemirovski in [Nm2].

3. Reflection principle is due to H.A. Schwarz, see [Sw1]. For non-integrable structures the statements of Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 were obtained in [IS7]. Segre varieties were introduced by B. Segre in [Sg1] and first used for the task of extension by S. Webster in [We].

4-5. Construction used in the proof of Theorem 4.1 is due to H. Cartan and P. Thullen, [CT]. The notion of *q*-convexity on complex spaces was introduced by W. Rothstein in [Rt2].

6. Theorem 6.3 was proved in [Iv3]. Theorem 6.5 was conjectured by S.-S. Chern in [Che] and proved independently by B. Shiffman in [Sh1] and P. Griffiths in [Gr].

Chapter II.

7-8-9-10. Theorem 7.1 was proved in [Iv6]. Cycle space theory was developed by D. Barlet in [Ba1]. The necessary adaption for meromorphic mappings was done in [Iv8]. Theorem 8.1 was proved in [Iv4] answering the conjecture of Griffiths from [Gr]. The Thullen-type case, *i.e.*, Lemma 8.1 was proved earlier by Y.-T. Siu in [Si5] by a different method. Nonlinear version, *i.e.*, Corollary 8.1 was proved in [Iv12]. Continuity Principle of Theorem 8.2 was proved in [IS1, IS2]. Theorem 9.1 was proved in [Iv8].

Chapter III.

11. Corollary 10.2 was conjectured in [CH] and proved in [Iv4] (in fact it follows already from the result of [Iv3], *i.e.*, from Theorem 6.3 of this text).

12. Domains of convergence of holomorphic/meromorphic functions where, probably, for the first time considered by G. Julia in [J] and then by Cartan and Thullen in [CT] and W. Saxer in [Sa] simultaneously

with their domains of existence. In particular in [J] and [CT] it was proved that these domains are (in some sense) pseudoconvex. Later domains of convergence of meromorphic functions were studied in [Ru]. In these early papers convergence was understood as convergence of holomorphic functions/mappings, *i.e.*, outside of the union of the indeterminacy sets. The same notion is used in many of recent papers. Three types of convergence which were discussed in this text were introduced in [Iv7], were the Rouché Principle of Theorem 11.2 and Propagation principle of Theorem 11.3 where proved. Convergence of meromorphic mappings with values in \mathbb{P}^n as in the part (*i*) of Theorem 11.4 was introduced and studied by Fujimoto in [Fu2], who called it *meromorphic*, or *m*-convergence. Theorems 11.4 and 11.5 were proved in [IN]. Example 11.4 was proposed to us by A. Rashkovski and published in [IN].

13. In the case of $X = \mathbb{C}$, *i.e.*, for holomorphic functions Corollary 12.1 (\ddot{u}) is due to F. Hartogs, [Ht1], in the case of $X = \mathbb{P}^1$, *i.e.*, for meromorphic functions to W. Rothstein, see [Rt1]. Separate analyticity in the form of Corollary 12.2 (\ddot{u}) is due to the same authors for holomorphic (resp. meromorphic) cases. Theorem 12.2 for meromorphic functions is due to M. Kazaryan, see [Kz]. Rothstein-type Theorem 12.1 for holomorphic mappings is due to B. Shiffman, see [Sh2]. Theorem 12.2 for holomorphic mappings to manifolds with hol. ext. prop was proved in [Al], using approach of B. Shiffman. Theorems 12.1 and 12.2 as they are stated here were proved in [Iv6], see Corollaries 2.5.1 and 2.5.3 respectively.

14. Theorem 13.1 was proved in [Iv9], Example 13.1 was constructed in [CI] and it shows the necessity of modifying the notion of a vanishing end, which belongs to M. Brunella, see discussion before the Theorem 3.1 in [Br3]. The necessary modification was undertaken in [Br1], where for this task a certain version of unparametrized Hartogs-type extension lemma was proved. Corollary 13.2 was independently obtained in [Br2] and [Iv9].

Chapter IV

15-16-17-18. For the historical notes on extensions of sheaves we refer to the Historical Notes in [ST2]. The idea to use extensions of roots of holomorphic line bundles was proposed by T. Ohsawa in [Oh]. Results of section 15 were obtained in [Iv11]. A special case of Theorem 14.5 was proved in [She1], a general case will appear in [She3]. Results of subsection 16.1 were obtained in [She2], Theorem 16.3 was proved in [She1]. The idea of the proof of Theorem 16.5 belongs to Y.-T. Siu, see [Si2], the necessary L^2 -estimate of Theorem 16.6 was obtained using Hörmander theory by J.-P. Demailly in [Dm3]. A complete proof, sketched here, will appear in [She3]. Conjecture 4 can be found in [Si7].

- [Al] ALEHYANE O.: Une extension du théorème de Hartogs pour les applications séparément holomorphes. C.R.Acad.Sci. Paris, t.323, Série I, 149-152 (1997).
- [Ad] ALEXANDER H.: Continuing 1-dimensional Analytic Sets. Math. Ann. 191 (1971), 143-144.
- [AV] ANDREOTTI A., VESENTINI E.: Carleman estimates for the Laplace-Beltrami equation on complex manifolds. Publ. Math. I.H.E.S. 25, 81-130 (1965).
- [Ba1] BARLET D.: Espace analytique reduit des cycles analytiques complexes compacts d'un espace analytique complexe de dimension finie. Seminar Norguet IX, Lect. Notes Math., **482**, 1-157, (1975).
- [Ba2] BARLET D.: Convexite de lespace des cycles. Bull. Soc. Math. France, **106**, 373-397 (1978).
- [BR] BAOUENDI S., ROTHSCHILD L.: Germs of CR maps between real analytic hypersurfaces. Invent. Math.93, no. 3, 481500 (1988).
- [BER] BAOUENDI S., EBENFELT F., ROTHSCHILD L.: Local geometric properties of real submanifolds in complex space. BAMS, **37**, no.: 3, 309-336 (2000).
- [Be] BENEDETTI R.: Density of Morse Functions on a Complex Space. Math. Ann. 229, 135-139 (1977).
- [Bs1] BISHOP E.: Conditions for the analyticity of certain sets. Michigan Math. J. 11,289-304 (1964).
- [Bs2] BISHOP E.: Differential manifolds in complex Euclidean space. Duke Math. J. **32**, 1-21 (1965).
- [Bl] BLANK S.: Extending immersions of the circle. Dissertation, Brandeis University, Mass., (1967), cf.
 V. Poenaru: Extensions des immersions en codimension 1. Bourbaki seminar 1967/68, Exp N 342, Benjamin, New York (1969).
- [Bo] BOCHNER, S. : Analytic and meromorphic continuation by means of Green's formula. Ann. of Math. (2) 44, 652–673 (1943).
- [BL] BRUMBERG M.; LEITERER J.: On the compactification of concave ends. Math. Ann. 347, no. 1, 235-244 (2010).
- [Br1] BRUNELLA M.: On entire curves tangent to a foliation. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 47, 717-734 (2007).

- [Br2] BRUNELLA M.: Uniformisable foliations on compact complex surfaces. Moscow Mathematical Journal 9, no. 4, 729-748 (2009).
- [Br3] BRUNELLA M.: Uniformisation of foliations by curves. Holomorphic dynamical systems, Lecture Notes in Math., Springer, Berlin, **1998** 105-163, (2010).
- [Ca] CARATHÉODORY C.: Über die gegenseitige Beziehung der Ränder bei der konformen Abbildung des Inneren einer Jordanschen Kurve auf einen Kreis. Math. Ann. 73, no. 2, 305-320 (1913).
- [CH] CARLSON J., HARVEY R.: A remark on the universal cover of a Moishezon space. Duke Math. J. 43, 497-500 (1976).
- [CT] CARTAN B., THULLEN P.: Zur Theorie der Singularitäten der Funktionen mehrerer komplexen Verandenlichen. Regularitäts- und Konvergenzbereiche. Math. Ann. **106**, 617-647 (1932).
- [Cha] CHAZAL F.: Un thorme de prolongement d'applications mromorphes. Math. Ann. **320**, no. 2, 285-297 (2001).
- [Che] CHERN S.-S.: Differential geometry; its past and future. Proc. Int. Congress of Mathematicians, Nice, (1970).
- [CM] CHERN S.-S.:, MOSER J.: Real hypersurfaces in complex manifolds. Acta Math. 133, 219-271 (1974).
- [Ch1] CHIRKA E.: Complex analytic sets. Nauka, Moscow (1985). Translated from the Russian by R. A. M. Hoksbergen. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series), 46. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht, xx+372 pp. (1989).
- [Ch2] CHIRKA E.: On the extension of pluripolar singular sets. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. no. 2 (200), 369-373 (1993)
- [Ch3] CHIRKA E.: On generalized Hartogs lemma and non-linear $\overline{\partial}$ -equation. In B. Shabat Memorial volume, Moscow, FASIS, 19-31, (2001).
- [CI] CHIRKA E., IVASHKOVICH S.: On nonimbeddability of Hartogs figures into complex manifolds. Bull. Soc. Math. France 134, 261-267 (2006).
- [CS2] CHIRKA E., STOUT E.L.: Removable singularities in the boundary. Contributions to complex analysis and analytic geometry, Aspects Math., **E26**, 43-104, Vieweg, Braunschweig, (1994).
- [Co] COLTOIU M.: Complete locally pluripolar sets. J. Reine Angew. Math. **412**, 108-112 (1990).
- [DEM] DABBEK K., ELKHADHRA F., EL MIR H.: Extension of plurisubharmonic currents. Math. Z. 245, 455-481 (2003).
- [De] DETHLOFF, G.: A new proof of a theorem of Grauert and Remmert by L_2 -methods. Math. Ann. 286, no. 1-3, 129-142 (1990).
- [Dm1] DEMAILLY J.-P.: Cohomology of q-convex Spaces in Top Degrees. Math. Z. 204, 283-295 (1990).
- [Dm2] DEMAILLY J.-P.: Complex Analytic and Differential Geometry Avaiable at http://www-fourier.ujfgrenoble.fr/ demailly/documents.html .
- [DF] DIEDERICH K.; FORNSS, J. E.: Proper holomorphic mappings between real-analytic pseudoconvex domains in \mathbb{C}^n . Math. Ann. **282**, no. 4, 681-700 (1988).
- [DP1] DIEDERICH K., PINCHUK S.: Proper holomorphic maps in dimension 2 extend. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 44, 1089-1126 (1995).
- [DP2] DIEDERICH K., PINCHUK S.: Regularity of continuous CR maps in arbitrary dimension. Michigan Math. J. 51, 111-140 (2003).
- [DP3] DIEDERICH K., PINCHUK S.: The geometric reflection principle in several complex variables: a survey. Compl. Var. Ellipt. Equat. 54, 223-241 (2009).
- [Dh1] DINH T.-C.: Enveloppe polynomiale d'un compact de longueur finie et chaînes holomorphes à bord rectifiable. Acta Math., 180, 31-67 (1998).
- [Dh2] DINH T.-C.: Problème du bord dans l'espace projectif complexe. Annales de l'Institut Fourier 48, n 5, 1483-1512 (1998).
- [DM] DINH T.-C., MARINESCU G.: On the compactification of the hyperconcave ends and the theorems of Siu-Yau and Nadel. Invent. math. **164**, 233-248 (2006).
- [Dl] DLOUSSKY G.: Enveloppes d'holomorphie et prolongements d'hypersurfaces. LNM **578**, 217-235 (1977).
- [DG] DOCQUIER F., GRAUERT H.: Levisches Problem und Rungescher Satz für Teilgebiete Steinscher Mannigfaltikeiten. Math. Ann. **140**, 94-123, (1960).
- [E11] EL MIR H.: Sur le prolongement des courants positifs fermés. Acta Math. 153, 1-45 (1984).

100	References
[El2]	EL MIR H.: <i>Courant plurisousharmonique</i> . Lectures on Ecole d'été Analyse et Géométrie Complexe, Mahdia (2004).
[Eh]	EHRENPREIS L.: A new proof and an extension of Hartogs theorem. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 67, 507509, (1961).
[Fe]	FEFFERMAN C.: The Bergman kernel and biholomorphic mappings of pseudoconvex domains. Invent. Math. 26 , 1-65 (1974).
[FS]	FORNAESS JE., SIBONY N.: Oka's unequality for currents and applications. Math. Ann. 301 , N4, 813-820 (1995).
$[\mathbf{F}]$	FORSTNERIC F.: Complex tangents of real surfaces in complex surfaces. Duka. Math. J. 67, 353-376 (1992).
[Fri]	FRIEDMAN R.: Algebraic Surfaces and Holomorphic Vector Bundles. Universitext, Springer (1998).
[Fj]	FUJIKI A.: Closedness of the Douady Space of Compact Kähler Spaces. Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 14, 1-52, (1978).
[Fu1]	FUJIMOTO H.: On the continuation of analytic sets. J. Math. Soc. Japan 18, no.1, 51-85 (1966).
[Fu2]	FUJIMOTO H.: On families of meromorphic maps into the complex projective space. Nagoya Math. J. 54, 21-51, (1974).
[Ga]	GAUDUCHON P.: Les metriques standard d'une surface a premier nombre de Betti pair. Astérisque. Soc. Math. France. 126 , 129-135, (1985).
[Gl]	GOLYSIN G.: Geometric function theory. Nauka, Moscow (1966).
[GR1]	GRAUERT H., REMMERT R.: Komplexe Räume. Math. Ann. 136, 245-318 (1958).
[GR2]	GUNNING R., ROSSI H.: Analytic Functions of Several complex Variables. Prentice-Hall, N.J. (1965).
[Gr]	GRIFFITHS P.: Two theorems on extensions of holomorphic mappings. Invent. math. 82, 307-347 (1971).
[Gro]	GROMOV M.: Pseudo holomorphic curves in symplectic manifolds. Invent. mat. 82, 307–347 (1985).
[H]	HAEFLIGER A.: Travaux de Novikov sue les feuilletages. Séminaire Bourbaki 339 (1967/68).
[Ht1]	HARTOGS F.: Zur Theorie der analytischen Funktionen mehrerer unabhängiger Veränderlichen ins- besondere über die Darstellung derselben durch Reihen, wel che nach Potenzen einer Veränderlichen fortschreiten. Math. Ann. 62 1-88, (1906).
[Ht2]	HARTOGS F.: Einige Folgerungen aus der Cauchyschen Integral formel bei Funktionen mehrerer Veränderlichen. Sitzungsberichte der mathematisch-physikalischen Klasse der Königlichen Bayerischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu München, 36 , 223-242 (1906).
[Ht3]	HARTOGS F.: Über die aus den Singulären Stellen einer analytischen Funktion mehrerer Veränderlichen bestehenden Gebilde. Acta. Math. 32 , no. 1, 57-79 (1909).
[Ha]	HARVEY R.: Holomorphic chains and their boundaries. Proc. Symp. Pure. Math. 30 , part 1, 309-382 (1977).
[HL]	HARVEY R., LAWSON B.: On boundaries of complex analytic varieties I. Annals of Math. 102, 233-290 (1975).
[Hi]	HIRONAKA H.: An example of a non-Kählerian complex-analytic deformation of Kählerian complex structures. Ann. of Math. (2) 75 190 - 208 (1962).
[Hr]	HIRSCHOWITZ A.: Les deux types de méromorphie différent. J. Reine Angew. Math. 313 , 157-160 (1980).
[Ho1]	HÖRMANDER L.: An introduction to complex analysis in several variables. Third edition, North-Holland Mathematical Library, 7, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, (1990).
[Ho2]	HÖRMANDER L.: Notions of convexity. Birkhäuser (1994).
[HJ]	HORN R., JOHNSON C.: Matrix analysis. Cambridge Univ. Press (1985).
[Hw]	HURWITZ A.: Über die Entwickelung der allgemeinen Theorie der analytischen Funktionen in neuerer Zeit. Verh. des ersten Int. Mathematiker-Kongresses in Zürich, 9-11 August 1897, 91-112 (1898).
[Iy]	ILYASHENKO J.: Fibering onto analytic curves. Math. USSR Sbornik 17, no. 4, 551-569 (1972).
[Iv1]	IVASHKOVICH S.: Extension of locally biholomorphic mappings of domains into complex projective space. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 47, 197-206 (1983); English transl. in Math. USSR Izv. 22, no.1, 181-189 (1984).
[Iv2]	IVASHKOVICH S.: Extension of locally biholomorphic mappings into a product of complex manifolds. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 49 , no.4, 884-890 (1985); English transl. in Math. USSR Izv. 27 , no.1, 193-199 (1984).

- [Iv3] IVASHKOVICH S.: The Hartogs phenomenon for holomorphically convex Kähler manifolds. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 50, no.4, 866-873 (1986); English. transl. in Math. USSR Izv. 29, no: 1, 225-232 (1987).
- [Iv4] IVASHKOVICH S.: The Hartogs-type extension theorem for meromorphic mappings into compact Kähler manifolds. Invent. math. **109**, 47-54 (1992).
- [Iv5] IVASHKOVICH S.: Spherical shells as obstructions for the extension of holomorphic mappings. The Journal of Geometric Analysis. 2, N 4, 351-371, (1992).
- [Iv6] IVASHKOVICH S.: An example concerning separate analyticity and extension properties of meromorphic mappings. Amer. J. Math. 121, no.: 1, 97-130 (1999).
- [Iv7] IVASHKOVICH S.: On convergency properties of meromorphic functions and mappings (russian). In B.
 Shabat Memorial volume, Moscow, FASIS, 145-163 (2001). English version arXiv:math/9804007v1.
- [Iv8] IVASHKOVICH S.: Extension properties of meromorphic mappings with values in non-Kähler complex manifolds. Annals of Mathematics 160, 795-837 (2004).
- [Iv9] IVASHKOVICH S.: Extra extension properties of equidimensional holomorphic mappings: results and open questions. Mat. Stud. 30, no. 2, 198-213 (2008).
- [Iv10] IVASHKOVICH S.: Vanishing cycles in holomorphic foliations by curves and foliated shells. GAFA, 21, 70-140 (2011).
- [Iv11] IVASHKOVICH S.: Bochner-Hartogs Type Extension Theorem for Roots and Logarithms of Holomorphic Line Bundles. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 279, Issue 1, 257-275 (2012).
- [Iv12] IVASHKOVICH S.: Banach analytic sets and a non-linear version of the Levi extension theorem. Arkiv för matematik, DOI: 10.1007/s11512-013-0180-5, see also math.CV arXiv:1203.1433v2 .
- [IN] IVASHKOVICH S., NEJI F.: Weak normality of families of meromorphic mappings and bubbling in higher dimensions. arXiv:1104.3973.
- [IS1] IVASHKOVICH S., SILVA A.: The Hartogs-type extension theorem for meromorphic mappings into q-complete complex spaces. Boll. Unione Mat. Ital. Sez. B Artic. Ric. Mat. (8) 2, no. 2, 251-261 (1999).
- [IS2] IVASHKOVICH S., SHEVCHISHIN V.: Structure of the moduli space in a neighborhood of a cusp-curve and meromorphic hulls. Invent. math. **136**, 571-602 (1999).
- [IS3] IVASHKOVICH S., SHEVCHISHIN V.: Deformations of non-compact complex curve and envelopes of meromorphy of spheres. Sbornik Mathematics 189, 1295-1333 (1998).
- [IS4] IVASHKOVICH S., SHEVCHISHIN V.: Gromov Compactness Theorem for J-Complex Curves with Boundary. Int. Math. Res. Notices, N 22, 1167-1206 (2000).
- [IS5] IVASHKOVICH S., SHIFFMAN B.: Compact singularities of meromorphic mappings between 3dimensional manifolds. Math. Res. Letters 7, 695-708 (2000).
- [IS6] IVASHKOVICH S., SHEVCHISHIN V.: Reflection principle and J-complex curves with boundary on totally real immersions. Comm. Contemp. Math., v. 4, N 1, 65-106 (2002).
- [IS7] IVASHKOVICH S., SUKHOV A.: Schwarz Reflection Principle and Boundary Uniqueness for J-Complex Curves. Annales de l'Institute Fourier 60, no. 4, 1489-1513 (2010).
- [JP] JARNICKI M., PFLUG P.: Separately Analytic Functions. Tracts in Mathematics 16, EMS Publ. House (2011).
- [J] JULIA G.: Sur les familles de fonctions analytiques de plusieurs variables. Acta Math. 47, 53-115 (1925).
- [KS1] KAJIWARA J., SAKAI E.: Generalization of Levi-Oka's theorem concerning meromorphic functions. Nagoya Math. J. 29, 7584 (1967).
- [KS2] KOZIARZ V., SARKIS F.: Problème du bord dans les variétés q-convexes et phénomène de Hartogs-Bochner. Math. Ann. 321, 569-585 (2001).
- [Ka1] KATO, M.: Compact complex manifolds containing "global spherical shells". Proc. Int. Symp. Alg. Geom. Kyoto. 45-84, (1977).
- [Ka2] KATO, M.: Examples on an Extension Problem of Holomorphic Maps and Holomorphic 1-Dimensional Foliations. Tokyo Journal Math. 13, n 1, 139-146, (1990).
- [Ka3] KATO M.: A non-Kähler structure on an \mathbb{S}^2 -bundle over a ruled surface. Unpublished preprint (1992).
- [Kz] KAZARYAN M.: Meromorphic extension with respect to groups of variables. Math. USSR Sbornik 53, n 2, 385-398, (1986).

102	References
[Kg]	KING J.: A residue formula for complex subvarieties. Proc. Carolina Conf. on Holomorphic Mappings and Minimal Surfaces (Chapel Hill, N.C., 1970) pp. 43-56 Dept. of Math., Univ. of North Carolina.
[Kl]	KLIMEK M.: Pluripotential theory. London. Math. Soc. Monographs, New Series 6, (1991).
[Ko]	KOBAYASHI, S.: Hyperbolic manifolds and holomorphic mappings. An introduction. Second edition, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ, (2005).
[Kw]	KWACK M.: Generalization of the Big Picard theorem. Ann. of Math. 90, 9-22 (1969).
[La]	LÁRUSSON F.: Compact quotioens of large domains in complex projective space. Annales de l'Institute Fourier 48 , N 1, 223-246 (1998).
[Lg]	LELONG P.: Plurisubharmonic Functions and Positive Differential Forms. Gordon and Breach. New-York. (1969) 78 p.
[Lv]	LEVI E.: Studii sui punti singolari essenziali delle funzioni analitiche di due o più variabili complesse. Annali di Mat. Pura ed Appl. 17 no 3, 61-87 (1910).
[LN]	LINS NETO A.: A note on projective Levi flats and minimal sets of algebraic foliations. Ann. Inst. Fourier 49 1369-1385 (1999).
[Lu]	LUPACCIOLU G.: Characterization of removable sets in strongly pseudoconvex boundaries. Ark. Mat. 32 , no. 2, 455473 (1994).
[Mt]	MATTILA P.: Geometry of Sets and Measures in Euclidean Space. Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 44 (1995).
[Mz]	MAZET P.: Un théorème d'image directe propre. Séminaire P. Lelong, LNM 410, 107-116 (1973).
[McK]	MCKAY B.: Extension Phenomena for Holomorphic Geometric Structures. SIGMA 5, 058 (2009).
[MP]	MERKER J., PORTEN E.: The Hartogs extension theorem on (n1)-complete complex spaces. J. Reine Angew. Math. 637 , 23-39 (2009).
[Na]	NAKANO, S.: Vanishing theorems for weakly 1-complete manifolds. Number theory, algebraic geometry and commutative algebra, in honor of Yasuo Akizuki, pp. 169–179. Kinokuniya, Tokyo, 1973.
[Nr]	NARASIMHAN R.: The Levi problem for complex spaces. Math. Ann. 142, no.: 4, 355-365 (1961).
[Ne]	NEJI F.: Equicontinuous families of meromorphic mappings with values in compact complex surfaces. To appear in Comp. Var. and Ell. Eq., see math. $CV/1102.3608$.
[Nm1]	NEMIROVSKI S.: Stein domains on algebraic surfaces. Russian Math. Notes 60 , 295-298 (1996).
[Nm2]	NEMIROVSKI S.: Holomorphic functions and imbedded real surfaces. Russian Math. Notes 63 , 527-532 (1998).
[Ni]	NISHINO T.: Function Theory in Several Complex Variables. AMS Transl. Math. Mon. 193 (1996).
[NS]	NORGUET F., SIU YT.: Holomorphic convexity of spaces of analytic cycles. Bull. Soc. Math. France 105 , 191-223 (1977).
[N]	NOVIKOV S.: Topology of foliations. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 268-304 (1965).
[Oh]	OHSAWA T.: Nonexistence of real analytic Levi flat hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^2 . Nagoya Math. J. 158 , 95-98 (2000).
[Ok]	OKA K.: Sur les fonctions analytiques de plusieurs variables, IX: Domains finis sans point critique intérieur. Japan J. Math., 23, 97-155 (1953).
[Os1]	Osgood W.: Note über analytische Funktionen mehrerer Veränderlichen. Math. Ann. 52 , 462-464 (1899).
[Os2]	OSGOOD W.: Topics in the theory of functions of several complex variables. Madison Colloquium 1913, AMS Colloquium Lectures, IV (1914).
[Pn]	PINCHUK S. On the analytic continuation of holomorphic mappings. Math. USSR Sbornik 27, no. 3, 375-392 (1975).
[PS]	PINCHUK S., SUKHOV A.: Extension of CR maps of positive codimension. Tr. Math. Inst. Steklova, 253 , 267-276 (2006).
[P1]	POINCARÉ H.: Sur les courbes définies par une équation différentielle. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées 7 375-422 (1881), 8 251-296 (1882) see also Oeuvres, t. 1, Paris (1892).
[P2]	POINCARÉ H.: Sur les fonctions de deux variables. Acta Math. 2, 97-113 (1883).
[Rm]	RAMIS JP.: Sous-ensemples analytiques d'une variété banachique complexe. Springer, Berlin (1970).
[R]	REMMERT R.: Holomorphe und meromorphe Abbildungen komplexer Räume. Math. Ann. 133, 328-370 (1957).

- [Rn] RIEMENSCHNEIDER O.: Über den Flächeninhalt analytischer Mengen und die Erzeugung kpseudokonvexer Gebiete. Invent. Math. 2, 307-331, (1967).
- [Rh] DE RHAM G Variété différentiables. Hermann, Paris (1960).
- [Ro] Rossi H.: Attaching Analytic Spaces to an Analytic Space Along a Pseudoconcave Boundary. Proc. Conf. Compl. Anal. Minneapolis 1964, Springer, 242-256 (1965).
- [Rs] ROSAY J.-P.: A counterexample related to Hartogs phenomenon (a question by E. Chirka). Michigan Math. J. 45, no. 3, 529-535 (1998).
- [RS] ROSAY J-P., STOUT E. L.: Radó's theorem for CR-functions. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 106, no. 4, 10171026 (1989).
- [Rt1] ROTHSTEIN W.: Ein neuer Beweis des Hartogschen Hauptsätzes und seine Ausdehnung auf meromorphe Funkzionen. Math. Zeitschrift 53, 84-95 (1950).
- [Rt2] ROTHSTEIN W.: Zur Theorie des analytischen Mannigfaltigkeiten im Raume von n komplexen varänderlichen. Math. Ann. 144, 345-360 (1955).
- [Ru] RUTISHAUSER H.: Über Folgen und Scharen von analytischen und meromorphen Functionen mehrerer variabeln, sowie von analytischen und Abbildungen. Acta Math. 83 249-325, (1950).
- [Sr] SARKIS F.: Problème de Plateau complexe dans les variétés khlriennes. Bull. Soc. Math. France 130, no. 2, 169 - 209, (2002).
- [Sa] SAXER W.: Über die normalen Scharen meromorpher Funktionen mehrerer Variablen. Comm. Math. Helv. 4, 256-267 (1932).
- [Sk1] SKODA H.: Prolongement des courants, positifs, fermés de masse finie. Invent. math. 66, 361-376 (1982).
- [Sk2] SKODA H.: Extension problems and positive currents in complex analysis. Contributions to several complex variables, 299-327, Aspects Math., E9, Vieweg, Braunschweig, (1986).
- [Sw1] SCHWARZ H.A.: Über einige Abbildungsaufgaben. J. für die reine und angewandte Math. 70, 105-120 (1869). See also Ges. Math. Abh. II, 65-80, Springer (1890). Or, the Second Edition, Bronx, N.Y., Chelsea Pub. Co. (1972).
- [Sw2] SCHWARZ H.A.: Über die Integration der partiellen Differentialgleichung $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} = 0$ unter vorgeschrieben Grenz- und Unstetigkeitsbedingungen. Monatsberichte Kön. Akad. Wiss. zu Berlin, 767-795 (1870). See also Ges. Math. Abh. **II**, 144-171, Springer (1890).
- [Sw3] SCHWARZ H.A.: Zur Integration der partiellen Differentialgleichung $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} = 0$. J. für reine und angewandte Math., **74**, 218-253 (1872). See also Ges. Math. Abh. **II**, 175-210, Springer (1892).
- [Sg1] SEGRE B.: Intorno al problem di Poincaré della rappresentazione pseudo-conform. Rend. Acc. Lincei
 13, 676-683, I (1931)
- [Sb] SIBONY N.: Quelques problemes de prolongement de courants en analyse complexe. Duke Math. J.
 52, 157-197, (1985).
- [Sc] SICIAK J.: Separately analytic functions and envelopes of holomorphy of some lower dimensional subsets of \mathbb{C}^n . Ann. Polon. Math. **22**, 145-171 (1969/1970).
- [Sg2] SIEGEL C.: Analytic functions of several complex variables. Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton (1949).
- [Si1] SIU Y.-T.: A Hartogs-type extension theorem for coherent analytic sheaves. Ann. Math., 93, 166-188 (1971).
- [Si2] SIU Y.-T.: A Thullen type extension theorem for positive holomorphic vector bundles. Bull. AMS, 78(1972), 775–776.
- [Si3] SIU Y.-T.: Techniques of Extension of Analytic Objects. Marcel Dekker, New York (1974).
- [Si4] SIU Y.-T.: Analyticity of sets associated to Lelong numbers and the extension of closed positive currents. Invent. Math. 27, 53-156 (1974).
- [Si5] SIU Y.-T.: Extension of meromorphic maps into Kähler manifolds. Ann. Math. **102**, 421-462 (1975).
- [Si6] SIU Y.-T.: Every Stein subvariety admits a stein neighborhood. Invent. Math. 38, N 1, 89-100, (1976).
- [Si7] SIU Y.-T.: Extension Problems in Several Complex Variables. Proc. ICM, Helsinki, 669-674 (1978).
- [ST1] SIU Y.-T., TRAUTMANN G.: Extension of coherent analytic subsheaves. Math. Ann. 188, 128-142 (1970).
- [ST2] SIU Y.-T., TRAUTMANN G.: Gap-Sheaves and Extension of Coherent Analytic Subsheaves. Lect. Notes. Math 172 Springer (1971).

104	References
[She1]	SHEVCHISHIN V.: Limit holonomy and extension properties of Sobolev and Yang-Mills bundles. J. Geom. Anal., 12 (2002), no.3, 493–528.
[She2]	SHEVCHISHIN V.: The Thullen type extension theorem for holomorphic vector bundles with L^2 -bounds on curvature. Math. Ann., 305 (1996), no.3, 461–491.
[She3]	SHEVCHISHIN V.: Three theorems on extension of holomorphic vector bundles. In preparation.
[SS]	SIBNER, L. M.; SIBNER, R. J.: Classification of singular Sobolev connections by their holonomy. Comm. Math. Phys., 144 (1992), no.2, 337–350.
[Sf]	SHAFIKOV R.: Analytic continuation of holomorphic correspondences and equivalence of domains in \mathbb{C}^n . Invent. Math. 152 , 665-682 (2003).
[Sh1]	SHIFFMAN B.: Extension of Holomorphic Maps into Hermitian Manifolds. Math. Ann. 194 , 249-258 (1971).
[Sh2]	SHIFFMAN B.: Hartogs theorems for separately holomorphic mappings into complex spaces. C.R.Acad.Sci. Paris, t.310, Série I, 89-84, (1990).
[Sh3]	SHIFFMAN B.: Separately meromorphic mappings into compact Kähler manifolds. Contributions to Complex Analysis and Analytic Geometry (H. Skoda and JM.Trépreau, eds) Vieweg, Braunschweig, Germany, 243-250 (1994).
[Sh4]	SHIFFMAN B.: Extension of positive line bundles and meromorphic maps. Invent. Math., 15(1972), 332–347.
[Stl]	STOLL W. The growth of the area of a transcendental analytic set, I and II. Math. Ann. 156 , 47-48 and 144-170, (1964).
[St]	STOLZENBERG G.: Polynomially and rationally convex sets. Acta Math. 109 259–289 (1963).
[Ti]	TITUS C.: The combinatorial topology of analytic functions on the boundary of a disk. Acta Math. 106 , 45-64 (1961).
[Tr]	TRÉPREAU JM.: Sur le prolongement holomoprhe des fonctions CR définies sur une hypersurface relle de classe C^2 dans \mathbb{C}^n . C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér. I Math. 301 , no. 3, 61-63 (1985).
[Tu]	TUMANOV A.: Analytic discs and the extendibility of CR functions. Lecture Notes in Math., 1684, 123141 (1998).
[V]	VAROUCHAS J.: Kähler spaces and proper open morphisms. Math. Ann. 283, no. 1, 13-52 (1989).
[Vit]	VITUSHKIN A.: Holomorphic mappings and the geometry of hypersurfaces. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 7, SCV I, Springer-Verlag, 159-214 (1985).
[We]	WEBSTER S.: On the mapping problem for algebraic real hypersurfacers. Invent. math. 43, 53-68 (1977).
Univer	sité de Lille-1, UFR de Mathématiques, 59655 Villeneuve d'Ascq, France

E-mail address: ivachkov@math.univ-lille1.fr

IAPMM Nat. Acad. Sci. Ukraine Lviv, Naukova 3b, 79601 Ukraine